

UNIVERSIDADE DA BEIRA INTERIOR Ciências da Saúde

Prostate cancer cells metabolism on the interplay of androgenic regulation and metabolic environment

Henrique José Matos Morão Mingote Cardoso

Tese para obtenção do Grau de Doutor em **Biomedicina** (3° ciclo de estudos)

Orientador: Prof. Doutora Sílvia Socorro Co-orientador: Prof. Doutora Patrícia Madureira

Covilhã, Janeiro de 2020

«Sei que tenho um cancro e que um dia me vai vencer. Mas esse dia não chegou e até lá Tenciono continuar a aproveitar cada momento. Tive várias derrotas na vida, Mas de todas as vezes caí de pé. É preciso nunca deixar de viver.

> A vida continua e continuarei a vivê-la, Todos os dias, sem nunca me distrair

Eu provavelmente morrerei da doença Mas o que nunca acontecerá é a doença matar-me»

Passados 5 anos de ter colocado esta citação na dissertação, reafirmo e dedico: a todos os investigadores que continuam a acreditar que um dia daremos mais esperança a todos os lutadores desta doença. "Juntos, somos mais fortes, seremos o céu que abraço o mundo"

Dedico às pessoas que amo e me possibilitaram hoje estar aqui!

Agradecimentos

O espaço que tenho nesta secção não é suficiente para agradecer a todas as pessoas que ao longo deste Doutoramento, direta ou indiretamente, me ajudaram a terminar esta fase da minha vida. Por isso se esquecer alguém não deixo de ter um agradecimento profundo.

A vida é feita de oportunidades e de lutas e por isso quero expressar o meu profundo agradecimento à minha orientadora Professora Doutora Sílvia Socorro. Sempre acreditou nas minhas capacidades, deu-me o suporte e apoio fundamental, mesmo quando não correu bem, ou ouvi um não como resposta. Quero também agradecer por toda a dedicação prestada, principalmente nas difíceis correções que toda a tese exigiu. De todas as vezes que fiquei frustrado e me deu-me uma palavra de incentivo, um muito obrigado, não me deixou desistir.

À Professora Doutora Patrícia Madureira queria agradecer pela aceitação da coorientação deste projeto, pelas opiniões relevantes que deu, bem como a disponibilidade para ajudar quando foi necessário. Quero ainda agradecer à Doutora Vilma Sardão por todo o apoio prestado na realização e interpretação dos resultados do Seahorse.

A todas as pessoas do Centro de investigação em Ciências da Saúde, em especial à Sofia Duarte, Margarida Carrilho pela disponibilidade que sempre demonstraram.

Agradeço ainda aos meus colegas do laboratório que de uma forma ou outra me foram ajudando ao longo destes anos no laboratório Ana Manuela Silva, Ricardo Marques, Luís Rato, Carlos Gaspar, Margarida Grilo, Luís Espínola, Gonçalo Silva, Sara Gonçalves, Inês Mateus, Mariana Feijó, Joana Monteiro, Luís Brás, Catarina Serra, Lara Fonseca. Um agradecimento especial à Doutora Cátia Vaz e Doutora Sara Correia porque tudo o que aprendi no laboratório há uns anos atrás, sem elas não tinha sido possível. Um agradecimento pela partilha de conhecimento que foram feito ao longo destes anos. Um agradecimento também à Micaela Almeida por sempre acreditar nas minhas capacidades e pelos momentos de partilha e frustrações. Por último, mas não menos importante quero agradecer ao Tiago Carvalho e à Marília Figueira, sem vocês chegar aqui tinha sido bem mais difícil. Pelas noitadas que me ficaram a ajudar, pelas vezes que me levantaram nos momentos difíceis, e pela felicidade das vitórias conseguidas. Um muito obrigado pela amizade!

Não posso também fugir de agradecer à loucura que ao longo deste processo aconteceu, que foi a criação da inSci! Quero agradecer às minhas sócias que tiveram a compreensão de me ajudar na empresa quando eu não consegui conciliar com o resto das tarefas, cresci muito com vocês e espero assim continuar. Um obrigado Margarida Gonçalves, Cátia Vaz, Marília Figueira e Micaela Almeida.

De seguida quero agradecer à amizade especial de algumas pessoas fundamentais ao longo deste tempo, que não posso enumerar aqui todas, mas um especial obrigado Duarte Diogo e Óscar Nunes, obrigado por me empurrarem sempre para lutar! Nenhuma casa se constrói sem alicerces! A minha família foi tudo mais que isso, deume o suporte todos os dias, estou eternamente grato. Aos meus pais que me deram esta educação que tanto me orgulho, e por serem um exemplo. À minha avó, que sempre foi a minha segunda mãe, que esteve ao meu lado desde que nasci e nunca deixou de estar lá para quando mais precisei. À minha irmã, que longe ou perto esteve sempre comigo, com a palavra certa de força e amizade, e porque trouxe duas princesas que tanto me fizeram sorrir e deixar com mais força para a próxima etapa. À minha Prima Odete que é uma força que me protege sempre com o seu abraço e ao Tio Humberto que sei que gostaria de ver esta tese, mas estará sempre a olhar por mim. Quero também agradecer à Daniela, pela paciência de me aturar, sei que fui insuportável em alguns dias, mas acima de tudo, foste a única pessoa que nunca me deixou ter um discurso derrotista, partilhaste comigo sorrisos, choradeiras, loucuras, mas acima de tudo ensinas-me a saber saborear a vida com a máxima intensidade! Foste o meu apoio, deste-me sempre a palavra certa no momento certo, e fez-me sempre feliz com todo esse amor que sobressai dos teus olhos!

Por último gostaria de agradecer à FCT pelo financiamento (SFRH/BD/111351/2015).



List of publications

Publications included in this thesis:

- Cardoso HJ[#], Vaz CV[#], Carvalho TM, Figueira MI, Socorro S. Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Imatinib Modulates the Viability and Apoptosis of Castrate-Resistant Prostate Cancer Cells Dependently on the Glycolytic Environment. Life Sci. 2019 1;218:274-283. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.12.055.
 # Contributed equally
- Carvalho TM[#], Cardoso HJ[#], Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S. The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: a route to metastasization and a target for therapy. Eur J Med Chem. 2019 1;171:343-363. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.03.053
 [#] Contributed equally
- Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Carvalho TM, Vaz CV, Madureira PA, Oliveira PJ, Sardão VA, Socorro S. Glutaminolysis is a metabolic route essential for survival and growth of prostate cancer cells, and a target of 5α-dihydrotestosterone regulation. Submitted to Cellular Oncology. 2019
- Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Carvalho TM, Vaz CV, Madureira PA, Socorro S. The interplay between androgens and LDL-cholesterol modulating prostate cancer cells fate: enhanced proliferation and migration, and altered lipid metabolism. Submitted to Andrology. 2019
- Cardoso HJ, Carvalho TM, Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S. Revisiting prostate cancer metabolism: from metabolites to disease and therapy. Submitted to Medicinal Research Reviews. 2019

Other publications during the PhD:

- Silva GR, Vaz CV, Catalão B, Ferreira S, Cardoso HJ, Duarte AP, Socorro S. Sweet Cherry Extract Targets the Hallmarks of Cancer in Prostate Cells: Diminished Viability, Increased Apoptosis and Suppressed Glycolytic Metabolism. Nutr Cancer. 2019 11:1-15. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2019.1661502
- Figueira MI[#], Cardoso HJ[#], Correia S, Maia CJ, Socorro S. The stem cell factor (SCF)/c-KIT system in carcinogenesis of reproductive tissues: What does the hormonal regulation tell us? Cancer Lett. 2017 1;405:10-21. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.07.017

Contributed equally

 Cardoso HJ[#], Figueira MI[#], Socorro S. The stem cell factor (SCF)/c-KIT signalling in testis and prostate cancer. J Cell Commun Signal. 2017 11(4):297-307. doi: 10.1007/s12079-017-0399-1

Contributed equally

- Figueira MI, Correia S, Vaz CV, Cardoso HJ, Gomes IM, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S.Estrogens down-regulate the stem cell factor (SCF)/c-KIT system in prostate cells: Evidence of antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects. Biochem Pharmacol. 2016 1;99:73-87. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2015.11.016
- Vaz CV, Correia S, Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S. The Emerging Role of Regucalcin as a Tumor Suppressor: Facts and Views. Curr Mol Med. 2016;16(7):607-619
- Vaz CV, Marques R, Cardoso HJ, Maia CJ, Socorro S.Suppressed glycolytic metabolism in the prostate of transgenic rats overexpressing calcium-binding protein regucalcin underpins reduced cell proliferation. Transgenic Res. 2016 25(2):139-48. doi: 10.1007/s11248-015-9918-0

Resumo

O cancro da próstata (PCa, "prostate cancer") é um dos cancros que mais frequentes nos homens, representando a quinta maior causa de morte por cancro na população masculina. Numa fase inicial da doença, a fase conhecida como sensível aos androgénios, a sobrevivência e proliferação das células tumorais dependem grandemente da ação estimuladora dos androgénios. Esta dependência é a característica que permite a utilização da terapêutica de privação androgénica (ADT, "androgen-deprivation therapy"), a qual tem por base a redução dos níveis circulantes de androgénios ou o bloqueio das suas ações. A administração contínua desta terapia leva a que as células de PCa se tornem resistentes ao tratamento, sendo capazes de sobreviver e originar metástase, ainda que na ausência ou sob a influência de níveis baixos de androgénios. Este estado corresponde à fase da doença designada como PCa resistente à castração (CRPC, "castrate-resistant prostate cancer"), a qual apresenta elevada mortalidade e cujas opções de tratamento têm maiores limitações.

Nos últimos anos, uma quantidade substancial de informação relevante tem demonstrado que as células cancerosas têm a capacidade de reprogramar o seu metabolismo optimizando a sobrevivência e potencial metastático. Os estudos de Warburg foram pioneiros a demonstrar que as células tumorais usam predominantemente a glicólise para obtenção de energia, em detrimento da fosforilação oxidativa, produzindo assim grandes quantidades de lactato. Esta descoberta abriu portas para anos mais tarde, se vir a considerar a adaptação metabólica como um "hallmark" do cancro. Atualmente, é aceite que, quer a respiração mitocondrial quer a glicólise, sustentam a sobrevivência e crescimento das células cancerosas. No caso do PCa, os tumores primários diferem de outros tipos de cancros pelo facto de serem menos glicolíticos, característica que tem alimentado a ideia de que na fase inicial as células de PCa usam predominantemente ácidos gordos e glutamina como fonte de energia. Efetivamente, tem sido demonstrado que a glicólise apenas se encontra sobreativada nas fases mais avançadas da doença, predominantemente no CRPC. No entanto, a compreensão de como cada uma das diferentes vias metabólicas sustenta a sobrevivência e crescimento das células do PCa ainda necessita de alguma clarificação. Os androgénios, para além das suas reconhecidas funções como os principais responsáveis pela sobrevivência e crescimento do PCa, têm, igualmente, vindo a ser apontados como importantes reguladores metabólicos, modulando, essencialmente, a glicólise e a utilização de lípidos. Ainda assim, existem muitos aspetos ligados à ação dos androgénios na regulação do metabolismo do PCa que permanecem por esclarecer.

Apesar dos esforços feitos nos últimos anos para o desenvolvimento de novos fármacos para o tratamento do PCa, nomeadamente, para o CRPC, estes compostos têm demonstrado uma duração limitada dos benefícios clínicos e da sobrevivência. Seguindo a tendência observada noutros tipos de cancros, também no caso do PCa e CRPC, têm sido testadas abordagens terapêuticas tendo como alvo o metabolismo energético. No entanto, existem lacunas importantes no conhecimento existente no que diz respeito ao metabolismo específico das células do PCa, as quais devem ser colmatadas para assim se a aumentar a eficácia e evitar a resistência metabólica de muitas das terapias usadas.

A presente tese teve como objetivo principal a clarificação do papel dos androgénios e do "ambiente metabólico" na modulação do metabolismo do PCa, e de que modo esta relação pode afetar o "destino" ("cell fate") das células tumorais. Este trabalho estabeleceu pela primeira vez de que modo as células do PCa dependem das diferentes vias metabólicas (glicólise, glutaminólise e metabolismo lipídico). Foi ainda demonstrado que as células de CRPC apresentam uma taxa metabólica mais elevada, sendo mais glicolíticas que as células sensíveis à ação dos androgénios, o que foi particularmente evidente no caso das células PC3, as quais também demonstraram uma maior capacidade de oxidação da glutamina. As células LNCaP, as quais são sensíveis aos androgénios, exibiram uma maior capacidade para usar ácidos gordos como "combustível" para a mitocôndria. Estes resultados demonstraram assim uma capacidade e dependência diferencial no uso de fontes de energia entre as células sensitivas aos androgénios e as que mimetizam o CRPC. De seguida, foi determinada qual a importância da glutaminólise para a sobrevivência e crescimento das células do PCa, assim como os efeitos dos androgénios na regulação do metabolismo da glutamina. O tratamento das células do PCa com 5α-dihidrotestosterona (DHT, 10 nM) potenciou o metabolismo da glutamina nas células do PCa, enquanto que a inibição da atividade da glutaminase diminui a viabilidade celular e migração, aumentando a apoptose. Estes efeitos foram particularmente evidentes nas células de CRPC. Para além disso, o tratamento simultâneo com o inibidor da glutaminase (BPTES) e o antiandrógeno (bicalutamida) teve um efeito sinérgico na supressão da viabilidade das células LNCaP, o que indica os potenciais benefícios de se atuar simultaneamente ao nível do recetor de androgénios e metabolismo da glutamina como forma de tratamento do PCa.

O papel dos androgénios na regulação do metabolismo lipídico e a influência destas hormonas e do colesterol-LDL na modulação do destino das células do PCa foram outro dos focos desta dissertação. A DHT aumentou a expressão da síntase de ácidos gordos e da carnitina palmitoiltransferase 1A nas células de PCa sensíveis aos androgénios. O enriquecimento em colesterol-LDL aumentou a viabilidade, proliferação e migração das células do PCa de forma dependente da presença da DHT. Os resultados desta abordagem *in vitro* sustentam os dados clínicos e epidemiológicos que ligam a obesidade e colesterol com o PCa, e implicaram, pela primeira vez, a ação dos androgénios nesta relação.

Por fim, investigou-se de que modo diferentes concentrações de glucose podem afetar a resposta das células de PCa a terapias anti-cancro. Com este propósito, foi usado um inibidor do recetor tirosina cinase, o imatinib, tendo-se testado os seus efeitos em dois modelos celulares de CRPC. A maior disponibilidade de glicose aumentou os efeitos do imatinib na supressão da sobrevivência e crescimento das células de CRPC. Para além disso, o tratamento com imatinib estimulou o metabolismo glicolítico destas células. No geral, demonstrou-se que a hiperglicemia, a principal alteração observada no soro dos pacientes diabéticos, potenciou os efeitos do imatinib nas células CRPC, o que aumenta a curiosidade acerca da eficácia deste fármaco no tratamento de pacientes diabéticos na fase de CRPC.

Em conclusão, os principais resultados desta tese confirmaram assim a ação crucial dos androgénios na regulação do metabolismo das células do PCa. Estes efeitos foram essenciais para a obtenção de energia por parte das células de PCa e no desencadeamento dos processos de migração e proliferação celular. Outro resultado inovador da presente tese foi a identificação da inter-relação entre colesterol e androgénios na indução da sobrevivência das características de invasão das células do PCa. Esta dissertação demonstrou ainda a flexibilidade das células de PCa no uso de diferentes metabolitos energéticos, contribuindo assim para uma melhor compreensão do papel dos lípidos e glutamina no PCa. Foram igualmente revelados alguns dos mecanismos moleculares subjacentes ao papel de suporte do metabolismo na sobrevivência e crescimento das células cancerosas. No global, a informação e os resultados obtidos nesta tese suportam a existência de uma ação cúmplice do "ambiente metabólico" e dos androgénios na orquestração da reprogramação do metabolismo do PCa, e no desenvolvimento do cancro. Investigação adicional sobre esta relação poderá vir a ser uma base fundamental para o desenvolvimento de novas abordagens terapêuticas para o PCa.

Palavras-chave

Androgénios, cancro da próstata, cancro da próstata resistente à castração, glicólise glutaminólise, imatinib, metabolismo lipídico

Resumo Alargado

O cancro da próstata (PCa, "prostate cancer") é um dos cancros que mais frequentes nos homens, representando a quinta maior causa de morte por cancro na população masculina. Vários fatores de risco têm vindo a ser associados ao desenvolvimento desta doença, o que inclui fatores endógenos como a idade, antecedentes familiares, fatores genéticos, etnia, hormonas, inflamação e o stress oxidativo, e também vários fatores exógenos, nomeadamente, adieta, reduzida atividade física, obesidade, fatores ambientais e ocupacionais, e tabagismo. Numa fase inicial da doença, a fase conhecida como sensível aos androgénios, a sobrevivência e proliferação das células tumorais dependem grandemente da ação estimuladora dos androgénios. Esta dependência é a característica que permite a utilização da terapêutica de privação androgénica (ADT, "androgen-deprivation therapy"), a qual tem por base a redução dos níveis circulantes de androgénios ou o bloqueio das suas ações. A administração contínua desta terapia leva a que as células de PCa se tornem resistentes ao tratamento, sendo capazes de sobreviver e originar metástase, ainda que na ausência ou sob a influência de níveis baixos de androgénios. Este estado corresponde à fase da doença designada como PCa resistente à castração (CRPC, "castrate-resistant prostate cancer"), o acontece em média 38 meses após o inicio da administração da ADT. Os mecanismos subjacentes ao desenvolvimento do CRPC são complexos, e ainda não totalmente conhecidos. Contudo, atualmente, é aceite que o desenvolvimento da resistência à castração resulta de mudanças adaptativas na via de sinalização do recetor de androgénios (AR, "androgen receptor"). Estas alterações resultam de diversas modificações na sinalização mediada pelo AR, nomeadamente, em consequência da ocorrência de mutações, da existência de transcritos de RNA alternativos ou de amplificação genómica, assim como no aumento da produção intra-prostática de androgénios, ou na desregulação da expressão de co-reguladores do AR, entre outros aspectos. O CRPC representa uma fase da doença, normalmente letal, na qual a falha da ADT não consegue ser ultrapassada com eficácia. As alternativas terapêuticas que têm surgido e que têm vindo a ser utilizadas, continuam a apresentar muitas limitações, e os benefícios em termos de progressão da doença e aumento da sobrevivência são ainda relativamente modestos. É o caso das combinações de fármacos como o doxetaxel ou mitoxantrona, e que têm vindo a ser usados de forma isolada ou em combinação com outros agentes, contudo o beneficio clinico tem sido pouco evidente. A metastização para outros órgãos como o osso, pulmões e nódulos linfáticos é comum e, inevitavelmente, acaba por acontecer.

Nos últimos anos, uma quantidade substancial de informação relevante tem demonstrado que as células cancerosas têm a capacidade de reprogramar o seu metabolismo optimizando a sobrevivência e potencial metastático. Os estudos de Warburg foram pioneiros a demonstrar que as células tumorais usam predominantemente a glicólise para obtenção de

energia, em detrimento da fosforilação oxidativa, produzindo assim grandes quantidades de lactato. Esta descoberta abriu portas para anos mais tarde, se vir a considerar a adaptação metabólica como um "hallmark" do cancro. Atualmente, é aceite que, quer a respiração mitocondrial quer a glicólise, sustentam a sobrevivência e crescimento das células cancerosas. O aparecimento de metástase está, igualmente, associado à readaptação metabólica resultante da pressão do microambiente tumoral e de uma disponibilidade de nutrientes limitada. A reativação de diversas vias metabólicas, sendo de referir a glicólise, glutaminólise, e o metabolismo lipídico e de outros aminoácidos para além da glutamina, tem vindo a ser descrita como um fenómeno comum em diversos tipos de cancro. No caso do PCa, os tumores primários diferem de outros tipos de cancros pelo facto de serem menos glicolíticos, característica que tem alimentado a ideia de que na fase inicial as células de PCa usam predominantemente ácidos gordos e glutamina como fonte de energia. Efetivamente, tem sido demonstrado que a glicólise apenas se encontra sobreativada nas fases mais avançadas da doença, predominantemente no CRPC. Para além disso, a desregulação do metabolismo do PCa encontra-se relacionada com a sobre ativação de diversos oncogenes, assim como à perda de função de genes supressores de tumor. No entanto, a compreensão de como cada uma das diferentes vias metabólicas sustenta a sobrevivência e crescimento das células do PCa ainda necessita de alguma clarificação. Os androgénios, para além das suas reconhecidas funções como os principais responsáveis pela sobrevivência e crescimento do PCa, têm, igualmente, vindo a ser apontados como importantes reguladores metabólicos, modulando, essencialmente, a glicólise e a utilização de lípidos. Ainda assim, existem muitos aspetos ligados à ação dos androgénios na regulação do metabolismo do PCa que permanecem por esclarecer.

Apesar dos esforços feitos nos últimos anos para o desenvolvimento de novos fármacos para o tratamento do PCa, nomeadamente, para o CRPC, estes compostos têm demonstrado uma duração limitada dos benefícios clínicos e da sobrevivência. Seguindo a tendência observada noutros tipos de cancros, também no caso do PCa e CRPC, têm sido testadas abordagens terapêuticas tendo como alvo o metabolismo energético. No entanto, existem lacunas importantes no conhecimento existente no que diz respeito ao metabolismo específico das células do PCa, as quais devem ser colmatadas para assim se a aumentar a eficácia e evitar a resistência metabólica de muitas das terapias usadas.

A presente tese teve como objetivo principal a clarificação do papel dos androgénios e do "ambiente metabólico" na modulação do metabolismo do PCa, e de que modo esta relação pode afetar o "destino" (*"cell fate"*) das células tumorais. Este trabalho estabeleceu pela primeira vez de que modo as células do PCa dependem das diferentes vias metabólicas (glicólise, glutaminólise e metabolismo lipídico). Foi ainda demonstrado que as células de CRPC apresentam uma taxa metabólica mais elevada, sendo mais glicolíticas que as células sensíveis à ação dos androgénios, o que foi particularmente evidente no caso das células PC3, as quais também demonstraram uma maior capacidade de oxidação da glutamina. As células ácidos gordos como "combustível" para a mitocôndria. Estes resultados demonstraram assim uma capacidade e dependência diferencial no uso de fontes de energia entre as células sensitivas aos androgénios e as que mimetizam o CRPC. Para além disso, foi demonstrado que altas concentrações de glucose inibem a atividade glicolítica promovendo o metabolismo lipídico. Este resultado demonstra a capacidade de adaptação metabólica das células de PCa em função da disponibilidade de glucose. De seguida, foi determinada qual a importância da glutaminólise para a sobrevivência e crescimento das células do PCa. O tratamento das células do PCa com 5α -dihidrotestosterona (DHT, 10 nM) potenciou o metabolismo da glutamina nas células do PCa, traduzido pelo aumento do consumo da glutamina, resultante do aumento da expressão do transportador de glutamina (ASCT2) e da glutaminase, a enzima mitocondrial que converte a glutamina em glutamato. Os efeitos da DHT na regulação da expressão do ASCT2 e da glutaminase foram observados, de igual modo, na próstata de rato, transpondo-se estes resultados para um modelo in vivo. A inibição da atividade da glutaminase através da utilização de um inibidor específico, o BPTES, diminui a viabilidade celular e migração, aumentando a apoptose. De salientar que estas alterações foram acompanhadas por um aumento pronunciado da expressão do oncogene c-Myc, o qual tem vindo a ser indicado como um regulador central da glutaminólise. Os efeitos do BPTES foram particularmente evidentes nas células de CRPC. Para além disso, o tratamento simultâneo com o inibidor da glutaminase e o antiandrógeno bicalutamida teve um efeito sinérgico na supressão da viabilidade das células LNCaP, o que indica os potenciais benefícios de se atuar simultaneamente ao nível do AR e metabolismo da glutamina como forma de tratamento do PCa. A inibição da glutaminase apresentou ainda efeitos na resposta metabólica das células de PCa, afetando a glicólise e o metabolismo lipídico, embora de forma diferencial nas células sensíveis aos androgénios e nas CRPC. Estes resultados demonstraram que a inibição de uma via metabólica nas células cancerosas pode induzir alterações importantes noutras vias, o que deve ser tomado em consideração quando se pretende inibir o metabolismo com objetivos terapêuticos.

O papel dos androgénios na regulação do metabolismo lipídico e a influência destas hormonas e do colesterol-LDL na modulação do destino das células do PCa foram outro dos focos desta dissertação. A DHT aumentou a expressão da síntase de ácidos gordos e da carnitina palmitoiltransferase 1A nas células de PCa sensíveis aos androgénios. A estimulação da expressão da sintase de ácidos gordos pela DHT manteve-se em condições de depleção de lípidos, no entanto a presença de LDL aboliu os efeitos da DHT inibindo a expressão da sintase de ácidos gordos. Foi ainda confirmado que o efeito da DHT na regulação dos níveis desta enzima depende da ação do fator de transcrição SREBP-1. O enriquecimento em colesterol-LDL aumentou a viabilidade, proliferação e migração das células do PCa de forma dependente da presença da DHT. Para além disso, a mesma conjugação (LDl(+)/DHT(+)) aumentou o conteúdo de lípidos nos corpos lipídicos. Por outro lado, a inibição do recetor de LDL e da carnitina palmitoiltransferase 1 suprimiu os efeitos da LDL sobre a viabilidade das células de PCa. Os resultados desta abordagem *in vitro* sustentam os dados clínicos e epidemiológicos

que ligam a obesidade e colesterol com o PCa, e implicaram, pela primeira vez, a ação dos androgénios nesta relação.

Por fim, investigou-se de que modo diferentes concentrações de glucose podem afetar a resposta das células de PCa a terapias anti-cancro. Com este propósito, foi usado um inibidor do recetor tirosina cinase, o imatinib, tendo-se testado os seus efeitos em dois modelos celulares de CRPC. A maior disponibilidade de glicose aumentou os efeitos do imatinib na supressão da sobrevivência e crescimento das células de CRPC. Para além disso, o tratamento com imatinib estimulou o metabolismo glicolítico destas células, aumentando o consumo de glucose, a produção de lactato, assim como a expressão e a atividade da enzima lactato desidrogenase. No geral, demonstrou-se que a hiperglicemia, a principal alteração observada no soro dos pacientes diabéticos, potenciou os efeitos do imatinib nas células CRPC, o que aumenta a curiosidade acerca da eficácia deste fármaco no tratamento de pacientes diabéticos na fase de CRPC.

Em conclusão, os principais resultados desta tese confirmaram assim a ação crucial dos androgénios na regulação do metabolismo das células do PCa. Estes efeitos foram essenciais para a obtenção de energia por parte das células de PCa e no desencadeamento dos processos de migração e proliferação celular. Outro resultado inovador da presente tese foi a identificação da inter-relação entre colesterol e androgénios na indução da sobrevivência das características de invasão das células do PCa. Esta dissertação demonstrou ainda a flexibilidade das células de PCa no uso de diferentes metabolitos energéticos, contribuindo assim para uma melhor compreensão do papel dos lípidos e glutamina no PCa. Foram igualmente revelados alguns dos mecanismos moleculares subjacentes ao papel de suporte do metabolismo na sobrevivência e crescimento das células cancerosas. No global, a informação e os resultados obtidos nesta tese suportam a existência de uma ação cúmplice do "ambiente metabólico" e dos androgénios na orquestração da reprogramação do metabolismo do PCa, e no desenvolvimento do cancro. Investigação adicional sobre esta relação poderá vir a ser uma base fundamental para o desenvolvimento de novas abordagens terapêuticas para o PCa.

Palavras-chave

Androgénios, cancro da próstata, cancro da próstata resistente à castração, glicólise glutaminólise, imatinib, metabolismo lipídico

Abstract

Prostate Cancer (PCa) is one of the most common cancer in men and represents the fifth leading cause of cancer deaths. In an initial phase of PCa, the so-called androgen-sensitive stage, PCa cells are extremely dependent on androgens actions to survive and proliferate. This condition allows the effectiveness of androgens deprivation therapy (ADT) that reduce the circulating levels of androgens or block their action. The continuous administration of ADT renders PCa cells resistant to treatment, becoming capable of survive and metastasize even in the absence or very low circulating levels of androgens. At this moment, it is reached the stage of castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC), a condition with high mortality rates and treatment limitations.

In the last years, a substantial amount of data showed that cancer cells have the ability of reprogramming metabolism to survive and metastasize. Warburg studies were pioneer showing that tumour cells predominantly use glycolysis for obtaining energy, in detriment of oxidative phosphorylation, with the production of high amounts of lactate. These findings opened the door to the metabolic adaptation being considered a hallmark of cancer. Currently, it is accepted that mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and glycolysis, support tumour cells survival and growth. Primary PCa cases differ from other cancer types by the fact that is less glycolytic, and the idea that predominantly use fatty acids and glutamine as energy substrates has been gaining consistency. Indeed, glycolysis is only overactivated in more advanced stages of the disease, in CRPC. However, the understanding of how each metabolic pathway sustains PCa cells survival and growth still is incomplete. Besides the recognized functions as the main drivers of PCa survival and growth, androgens have been indicated as metabolic regulators in PCa, modulating glycolysis and cell lipid handling. Nevertheless, there are several issues in the role of androgens controlling PCa metabolism that need to be clarified.

Although efforts have been made in recent years to develop new drugs for PCa treatment, namely, for CRPC, they have shown limited duration of clinical and survival benefits. Following the trend observed in other cancer types, treatment approaches targeting metabolism also have been explored in the case of PCa and CRPC. However, there are important knowledge gaps in the understanding of PCa cells metabolism that should be fulfilled to improve its efficacy and to avoid resistance and bypassing metabolic pathways.

The main goal of this thesis was to clarify the role androgens and the metabolic environment in shaping PCa metabolism, and how this interplay can affect PCa cell fate. The present thesis first established the PCa cells dependency on the different metabolic pathways (glycolysis, glutaminolysis and lipid metabolism). It was demonstrated that CRPC cells have higher metabolic rates being more glycolytic than the androgen-sensitive cells, especially the PC3 cells, which also showed a higher capacity to oxidize glutamine. Androgen-responsive LNCaP cells displayed a higher capacity for using fatty acids as mitochondrial fuels. These findings allowed to demonstrate a differential dependency and capacity of fuel use between androgen-sensitive and CRPC cells. Next, we determined the relevance of glutaminolysis for PCa cells survival and growth and the effect of androgens in the regulation of glutamine metabolism. Treatment of PCa cells with 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT, 10nM) potentiated glutamine metabolism in PCa cells, whereas the inhibition of glutaminase activity diminished cell viability and migration, and increased apoptosis, particularly in the CRPC. Moreover, cotreatment with glutaminase inhibitor BPTES and the anti-androgen bicalutamide had a synergic effect suppressing LNCaP cells viability, which highlights the benefit of co-targeting androgen receptor and glutamine metabolism in PCa treatment. Glutaminolysis inhibition also had an impact on glycolysis and lipid metabolism.

The role of androgens in regulating lipid metabolism and the influence of these hormones and LDL-cholesterol modulating PCa cells fate were evaluated. DHT upregulated the expression of fatty acid synthase and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A in androgensensitive PCa cells. LDL-cholesterol enrichment increased PCa cells viability, proliferation, and migration dependently on DHT. This *in vitro* approach supports clinical and epidemiological data linking obesity and cholesterol with PCa, and first implicated androgens in this relationship.

Finally, we investigated the effect of different glucose availability on the PCa cells response to therapy. For this purpose, it was used the receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib and two cell line models of CRPC. Higher glucose availability improved the effectiveness of imatinib suppressing survival and growth of CRPC cells Moreover, imatinib treatment stimulated the glycolytic metabolism of CRPC cells. Overall, it was showed that hyperglycemia, the main serum alteration in diabetic patients, potentiated the effects of imatinib in CRPC cells, which raises the curiosity about the efficacy of this drug for treatment of castration-resistant diabetic patients.

In conclusion, the main findings of this thesis confirmed the crucial actions of androgens in regulating the metabolism of PCa cells. These effects were pivotal for PCa cells obtaining energy and triggered proliferation and metastasis. Another innovative result of the present thesis was the identification of the cholesterol and androgens interplay in inducing survival and invasiveness features of PCa cells. Moreover, this dissertation demonstrated the flexibility of PCa cells using different energy sources and contributed to a better understanding of the role of lipids and glutamine in PCa. The molecular mechanism underlying the metabolic support of cancer cell survival and growth were highlighted. Overall, the information gathered in this thesis supports the metabolic environment and androgens as "co-authors" orchestrating the reprogramming of PCa and cancer development. Further research on this interplay could be a basis for the development of new treatment approaches for PCa.

Keywords

Androgens, glutaminolysis, lipid metabolism, glycolysis, imatinib, castrate-resistant prostate cancer, prostate cancer

Table of Contents

Chapter 12
Prostate Cancer: from aetiology to therapy2
1.1. Onset and progression of prostate cancer
1.2. Risk factors
1.3. From androgen-sensitive to castration-resistant prostate cancer
1.4. Prostate cancer diagnosis and therapy 14
1.5. References
Chapter 2 42
The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: a route to metastasization and a target for therapy
Abstract
2.1. Introduction
2.2. Generalities of the metastatic process
2.3. The pressure of tumour microenvironment to cancer cell dissemination and metastasis
2.3.1. Hypoxia
2.3.2. pH
2.4. Glucose metabolism in association with cancer metastasis
2.4.1. Glucose transporters
2.4.2. Glycolytic enzymes51
2.5. Lipid metabolism pathways promoting cancer metastasis
2.5.2. Lipid catabolism55
2.5.3. Fatty acid uptake56
2.6. Glutaminolysis and non-essential amino acids in the metastatic process
2.6.1. Glutamine
2.6.2. Proline
2.6.3. Serine
2.6.4. Sarcosine
2.7. The role of metabolic waste driving metastasization60

2.8. Therapeutic approaches targeting metastasis through metabolism	61
2.8.1. Glycolytic approach	61
2.8.2. Targeting lipid metabolism	63
2.8.3. Amino acid-dependent pathways	63
2.8.4. Other routes and general perspective	70
2.9. Conclusion	70
2.10. Funding	71
2.11. Conflict of interest	71
2.12. References	71
Chapter 31	107
Revisiting prostate cancer metabolism: from metabolites to disease and therapy1	107
3.1. Introduction	109
3.2. Prostate metabolic phenotype towards malignancy1	110
3.3. Bioenergetics sources and their relevance in prostate cancer	112
3.3.1. Glucose	112
3.3.2. Glutamine1	114
3.3.3. Lipids1	115
3.4. Oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes driving the metabolic reprogramming in	
prostate cancer1	119
3.5. The role of sex steroids in regulating prostate cancer metabolism1	122
3.6. Emerging therapeutic approaches targeting prostate cancer metabolism1	124
3.7. Conclusions	133
3.8. Funding1	134
3.9. Conflict of interest1	134
3.10. References 1	134
Chapter 41	175
Aim and Outline of the thesis1	175
Chapter 51	179
Metabolic features of human androgen-sensitive and castrate-resistant prostate cancer cells	5
	179
Abstract1	81
5.1. Introduction	81

5.2. Materials and methods182
5.2.1. Chemicals
5.2.2. Cell lines and treatments182
5.2.3. Glycolytic Rate and Mito Fuel Flex Assays183
5.2.3. Western blot (WB) analysis183
5.2.4. Statistical analysis184
5.3. Results and Discussion184
5.4. Acknowledgments
5.5. Funding
5.6. Conflict of Interest190
5.7. References
Chapter 6195
Glutaminolysis is a metabolic route essential for survival and growth of prostate cancer cells,
and a target of 5α -dihydrotestosterone regulation
Abstract
6.1. Introduction
6.2.1. Chemicals
6.2.2. Cell lines and treatments199
6.2.3. Animals and hormone treatment199
6.2.4. Protein extraction
6.2.5. Western blot (WB) analysis200
6.2.6. Fluorescence immunocytochemistry
6.2.7. Cell viability assay201
6.2.8. Migration assay201
6.2.9. Caspase-3-like activity201
6.2.10. Quantification of glutamine, glucose and lactate
6.2.11. Glycolytic rate assay202
6.2.12. Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) enzymatic activity
6.2.13. Statistical analysis203
6.3. Results
6.3.1. ASCT2 and glutaminase are differentially expressed in androgen-sensitive compared to CRPC cells

6.3.2. DHT stimulated glutamine metabolism in LNCaP cells and rat prostate in vivo 204
6.3.3. Inhibition of glutamine metabolism decreased PCa cells viability and migration whereas increasing caspase-3-like activity
6.3.4. BPTES increased the sensitivity of LNCaP cells to the anti-androgen bicalutamide
6.3.5. Glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells was affected by inhibition of glutaminase 209
Chapter 7231
The interplay between androgens and LDL-cholesterol modulating prostate cancer cells fate: enhanced proliferation and migration, and altered lipid metabolism
Abstract
7.1. Introduction
7.2. Materials and methods234
7.2.1. Chemicals234
7.2.2. Cell lines and treatments234
7.2.3. Cell Viability Assay235
7.2.4. Ki-67 immunocytochemistry235
7.2.5. Migration Assay236
7.2.6. Oil Red O Assay236
7.2.7. Western Blot (WB)236
7.2.8. Statistical Analysis237
7.3. Results
7.3.1. Fatty acid metabolism regulators are differential expressed in PCa cells and regulated by androgens237
7.3.2. LDL-cholesterol increased PCa cells viability, proliferation and migration dependently on DHT239
7.3.3. LDL/DHT effects are accompanied by altered fatty acid metabolism with accumulation of lipid droplets242
7.3.4. The transcription factor SREBP mediates the DHT actions regulating fatty acid metabolism and p-AKT levels243
7.3.5. Anti-LDLR antibody and etomoxir blocked the LDL-effects increasing viability of PCa cells
7.5. Acknowledgments
7.6. Funding

Chapter 8
Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Imatinib Modulates the Viability and Apoptosis of Castrate-Resistant
Prostate Cancer Cells Dependently on the Glycolytic Environment
Abstract
8.1. Introduction
8.2. Materials and methods260
8.2.1. Cell lines and treatments260
8.2.2. Cell viability assay261
8.2.3. Quantification of glucose and lactate261
8.2.4. Protein extraction
8.2.5. Western blot (WB)261
8.2.6. Caspase-3 activity assay262
8.2.7. LDH activity
8.2.8. Statistical analysis262
8.3. Results
8.3.1. Imatinib decreased DU145 and PC3 cells viability under hyperglycemic conditions
8.3.2. Hyperglycemic conditions improved the pro-apoptotic effect of imatinib263
8.3.3. The glycolytic metabolism of DU145 and PC3 cells is altered by glycaemia
conditions and imatinib265
8.5. Conclusion
8.6. Acknowledgments
8.7. Funding273
8.8. Conflict of Interest273
8.9. References
Chapter 9
Summarizing discussion and final remarks278
Summarizing discussion
Final Remarks

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of prostate anatomy and prostate epithelium.	3
Figure 1.2. Schematic representation of the proposed model of the cellular events	5
associated with development and progression of PCa.	
Figure 1.3. The diverse exogenous and endogenous risk factors contributing for	9
prostate carcinogenesis, and the protective factors against prostate malignancy.	
Figure 1.4. Molecular pathways associated with the development of CRPC	12
Figure 2.1. Glycolytic metabolism in cancer cells.	50
Figure 2.2. Fatty-acid (FA) uptake, oxidation and biosynthesis in the interplay of	53
carcinogenesis and metastasization	
Figure 2.3. Glutaminolysis and non-essential amino acids in cancer cells at the	58
interplay of one-carbon metabolism, glycolysis and redox balance.	
Figure 3.1. General metabolic features of non-neoplastic prostate cells and prostate	112
cancer.	
Figure 3.2. Bioenergetic sources and metabolism in prostate cancer (PCa) cells.	118
Figure 5.1. Glycolytic profile of LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells, and dependency and	185
capacity of utilization of glucose, glutamine and fatty acids.	
Figure 5.2. Effect of glucose deprivation and hyperglycaemia (30 mM glucose) on	187
Basal Proton Efflux Rate (PER), Glycolytic PER, Compensatory Glycolysis, and Post 2-	
DG Acidification in LNCaP, DU145, PC3 cells.	
Figure 5.3. Effect of glucose deprivation and hyperglycaemia (30 mM glucose) on the	188
expression of target regulators of lipid metabolism in LNCaP, DU145, PC3 cells.	
Figure 6.1. ASCT2 and glutaminase in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145	204
and PC3) cell line models.	
Figure 6.2. Effect of DHT (10 nM) on glutamine consumption (A), ASCT2 (B) and	205
glutaminase (C) expression, and ASCT2 subcellular localization (E, F) in androgen-	
sensitive (LNCaP) and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells treated for 12, 24, or 48 h.	
Figure 6.3. Effect of DHT (500 μ g/kg/day) on ASCT2 and glutaminase protein	206
expression levels in rat dorsolateral prostate.	
Figure 6.4. Effect of BPTES (1-50 $\mu\text{M})$ on cell viability (A), migration (B), caspase-3-	207
like activity (C), and p21 and c-Myc protein expression (D, E) in androgen-sensitive	
(LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells treated for 24 h.	
Figure 6.5. Viability of androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRCP (DU145 and PC3) cells	208
after BPTES-treatment (10 μM) together with bicalutamide (Bica, 10-40, μM) for 24 h.	
Figure 6.6. Glucose consumption (A), lactate production (B) and GLUT1 (C), GLUT2	209
(C), GLUT3 (C), PFK1 (C), LDH (C) and MCT4 (C) protein levels in androgen-sensitive	
(LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells treated with BPTES (10 μM).	

Figure 6.7. Effect of BPTES (10 μ M) on glycolysis and extracellular acidification in 211 and rogen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells.

Figure 6.8. Effect of BPTES (10 μ M) on enzymatic activity of ALT in androgen- 212 sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells.

Figure 6.9. Effect of BPTES (10 μ M) on the expression of FASN and CPT1A in 213 and rogen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells.

Figure 6.10. Glutaminolysis is an essential metabolic route in androgen-sensitive 219 (LNCaP) and CRPC cells.

Figure 7.1. Lipid metabolism regulators, CD36, FASN and CPT1A, in PCa cell line 238 models, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells.

Figure 7.2. Effect of DHT (10 nM) on the expression of CD36 (A), FASN (B) and CPT1A 239 (C) in neoplastic (LNCaP, DU145 and PC3) and non-neoplastic (PNT1A) prostate cells treated for 12, 24, or 48 h.

Figure 7.3. Effect of LDL (100 μ g/ml) and DHT (10 nM) on PCa cells viability (A), 240 proliferation (B, C) and migration (D).

Figure 7.4. Effect of LDL (100 μ g/ml) and DHT (10 nM) on the expression of AKT, p- 241 AKT, ERK, p-ERK, c-Myc and E-cadherin in LNCaP cells treated for 24 h.

Figure 7.5. Effect of LDL (100 μ g/ml) and DHT (10 nM) on the expression of FASN (A) 242 and CPT1A (A), and accumulation of lipid droplets (B) in LNCaP cells treated for 24 h.

Figure 7.6. Effect of fatostatin (20 μ M) suppressing DHT (10 nM) actions regulating 243 the expression of AKT, p-AKT, FASN in LNCaP cells treated for 24 h in lipid-depleted conditions.

Figure 7.7. Effect of anti-LDLR antibody (5 μ g/mL) (A) and etomoxir (40 μ M) (B) over 244 LDL actions sustaining LNCaP cells viability.

Figure 7.8. DHT and LDL-cholesterol actions in modulating PCa cells fate and lipid 249 metabolism.

Figure 8.1. Viability of DU145 (A) and PC3 (B) cells after treatment with imatinib (20 263 μ M) at different glucose concentrations (5 and 30 mM) for 48 and 72 h determined by the MTS assay.

Figure 8.2. Effect of imatinib (20 μ M) on the expression of apoptosis regulators and 264 caspase-3 activity in DU145 and PC3 cells under hypoglycemic (5 mM) and hyperglycemic conditions (30 mM) for 72 h of treatment.

Figure 8.3. Glucose consumption (A, B) and lactate production (C, D) in DU145 and 266 PC3 cells treated with imatinib (20μ M) under hypoglycemic (5 mM) or hyperglycemic conditions (30μ M) for 72 h.

Figure 8.4. Protein levels of glycolytic metabolism-associated proteins, GLUT1 (A, B), 267 GLUT3 (C, D) and PFK1 (E, F) in DU145 and PC3 cells treated with imatinib (20 μ M) under hypoglycemic (5 mM) or hyperglycemic conditions (30 mM) for 72 h.

Figure 8.5. LDH activity (A, B) and protein levels of LDH (C, D) and MCT4 (E, F) in 268 DU145 and PC3 cells treated with imatinib (20 μ M) under hypoglycemic (5 mM) or
hyperglycemic conditions (30 mM) for 72 h.

Figure 8.6. The glycolytic environment modulated the effect of the tyrosine kinase 272 inhibitor imatinib in CRPC cells.

Figure 9.1. An integrative view of the metabolic specificities of androgen-sensitive 282 LNCaP cells and castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) cells.

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Overview of target metabolic pathways for cancer treatment.	64
Table 3.1. Overview of target metabolic pathways for prostate cancer treatment.	128

List of Abbreviations

2-DG	2-deoxy-D-glucose
3PO	3-(3-pyridinyl)-1-(4-pyridinyl)-2-propen-1-one
ABHD5	Alpha-beta Hydrolase Domain Containing 5
ACAT	Acyl-CoA cholesterol acyl transferase
ACC	Acetyl-CoA carboxylase
Ac-DEVD-pNA	Ac-DEVD-pNA
ACLY	Adenosine triphosphate citrate lyase
ADT	Androgen-deprivation therapy
AKT	Protein kinase B
ALDO	Aldolase
ALT	Alanine aminotransferase
AMF	Autocrine motility factor
AMPK	AMP-activated protein kinase
AR	Androgen receptor
ASCT2	Sodium dependent antiporter, the alanine, serine, cysteine, glutamine
	transporter
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
BPH	Benign prostatic hyperplasia
Ca ²⁺	Calcium
CaMKK2	Calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase 2
СКІ	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor (CKI
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CPT1	Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1
CPT1A	Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase 1A
CRPC	Castrate-resistant prostate cancer
CYP17	Cytochrome P
CZ	Central zone
DGAT	Diglyceride acyltransferase
DHT	5-α-Dihydrotestosterone
DTT	DiThioThreitol
EMT	Epithelial mesenchymal transition
ER	Estrogen receptor
FA	Fatty acid
FABPm	Fatty acid binding protein

FASN	FA synthase
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FDG	[18F]fluorodeoxyglucose
G6PD	Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
GDH	Glutamate dehydrogenase
GLN	Glutamine
GLS	Glutaminase
GLUT	Glucose transporter
HGPIN	High-grade PIN
HIF-1	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1
НК	Hexokinase
HK-2	Hexokinase-2
HMGCR	HMG-CoA reductase
HMGCR	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase
HMGCS1	3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase 1
IDO	Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase
IL	Interleukin
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
LD-FBS	Lipid Depleted FBS
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
LDL	Low density lipoproteins
LDLr	Low density lipoproteins receptor
LMW-E	Low molecular weight isoform of cyclin E
MAGL	Monoacylglycerol lipase
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
МСТ	Monocarboxylate transporter
MCT4	Monocarboxylate transporter 4
MICs	Metastasis-initiating cells
miR-22	MicroRNA-22
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinases
MSR1	Macrophage scavenger receptor 1
MTS	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxy-methoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-
	2M
мтт	1-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-3,5-diphenylformazan
MUFAs	Monounsaturated fatty acids
ORCHX	Orchidectomised
OXPHOS	Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation
P5C	Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate

P5CR	Pyrroline-5-carboxylatereductase
PAP	Prostatic acid phospathase
PBS-T	PBS containing 0.1% (w/v) Tween-20
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PCa	Prostate cancer
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PDK	Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase
PDK1	Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-1
PE	Phosphatidylethanolamine
PEP	Phosphoenolpyruvate
PER	Proton efflux rate
PFA	ParaFormAldehyde
PFK	Phosphofructokinase
PFK1	Phosphofructokinase 1
PFK15	1-(4-pyridinyl)-3-(2-quinolinyl)-2-propen-1-one
PFKFB	6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase
PHI	Phosphohexose isomerase
PI3K	Phosphoinositide-3-kinase
PIA	Proliferative inflammatory atrophy
PIN	Prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia
РКМ	Pyruvate kinase
PKM2	Pyruvate kinase isozyme M2
PKM2	Pyruvate kinase isozyme M2
PLA2	Phospholipase A2
PLD	Phospholipase D
PMSF	PhenylMethylSulfonyl Fluoride
pNA	p-Nitro-Aniline
PRODH	Proline dehydrogenase
PSA	Prostate-specific antigen
PTEN	Phosphatase and tensin homolog
PVDF	PolyVinylidene DiFluoride
PZ	Peripheral zone
RIPA	radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer
RNASEL	Ribonuclease L
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SAH	S-adenosylhomocysteine
SAM	S-adenosylmethionine
SARDH	Sarcosine dehydrogenase

SCAP	SREBP-cleavage activating protein
SCD	Stearoyl-CoA desaturase
SDS-PAGE	Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate-PolyAcrylamide Gel Electrophoresis
SQLE	Squalene monooxygenase
SRB	Sulforhodamine B
SREBP	Sterol regulatory element-binding protein
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
ТСА	Tricarboxylic acid
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor-α
TRAMP	Transgenic adenocarcinoma of mouse prostate
TZ	Transition zone
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WB	Western Blot
α-KG	α-ketoglutarate

Chapter 1

Prostate Cancer: from aetiology to therapy

1.1. Onset and progression of prostate cancer

The prostate is the major accessory gland of the male reproductive tract, being a pyramidshaped organ located posterior to the symphysis pubis, anterior to the rectum, and inferior to the bladder. The prostate gland is enclosed by a fibrous capsule containing smooth muscle cells and innumerous veins and nerves [1,2]. Studies by McNeal and colleagues described the prostate as a single gland with different histological zones, namely, the central zone (CZ), the transition zone (TZ), and the peripheral zone (PZ) (Fig. 1.1.). An alternative anatomical classification divides the prostate in an anterior lobe, a dorsal lobe, a lateral lobe and a ventral lobe [3]. The Mcneal classification is based on different embryologic origins and can be distinguished by histology, anatomic landmarks, biological functions, and susceptibility to pathologic disorders [1,4-6]. The PZ is enfolded around the outer portion distally and represents 70-75 % of the prostate, being recognized as the most susceptible zone for the development of prostate cancer (PCa) [3,7,1]. Towards the base, the PZ surrounds the CZ and the TZ (Fig. 1.1.) [1,4-6]. The PZ contains the ducts of urethra, in the mild-prostate, to the prostatic apex [5]. The TZ is situated in bilateral regions in the middle to the base of the gland located near the prostatic urethra, constituting about 5% of the prostate in young adults [5]. In older men the TZ is commonly augmented, a condition compatible with the socalled benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH). The CZ has a conical structure, with the broader portion at the base of the prostate and the apex at the verumontanum (glandular-stroma tissue) (Fig. 1.1.). It is composed by ducts diverging from the mid-prostate to the prostatic



Figure 5.1. Schematic representation of prostate anatomy and prostate epithelium. (A) The anterior and apical surfaces are bounded by anterior fibromuscular stroma (AFS). In addition, three main zones can be identified in prostate anatomy, the transition zone (TZ) that surrounds proximal prostatic urethra, the central zone (CZ) that surrounds the ejaculatory ducts, and the peripheral zone (PZ), which encompasses approximately 70-75 % of the prostate gland. (B) Detail of prostate epithelium composed by the columnar luminal cells that produce the prostatic secretions, including the prostate-specific antigen. Basal cells are located on the base of epithelieum in contact with the basement membrane. A third type of cells, the neuroendocrine cells, are located among the epithelial cells and seem to be involved in the regulation of secretory activity and prostate cell growth. Prostate epithelial cells maintain contact with stroma, including fibroblasts and several types of immune cells.

base. The CZ has not been identified as a site of origin for any disease. It accounts for 25% of the glandular prostate in young adults and its size decreases gradually in older men [5,8]. The prostate gland also includes a fourth non-glandular region that comprises the fibromuscular stroma (Fig. 1.1.), which covers the urethra in the anteromedial prostate [9,3]. The supporting stroma is a mixture of collagenous fibrous tissue and smooth muscle fibers, that does not contain glandular tissue and is not associated with prostate pathology [9].

The glandular prostatic epithelium (Fig. 1.1.) is composed of acini and ducts constituted by three types of cells, epithelial luminal cells, basal cells and neuroendocrine cells. The majority of luminal cells, are columnar luminal cells active in the production of prostatic secretions and responsible for main prostate functions. Luminal cells also produce the prostate-specific antigen (PSA), a secretory product that has been used over the year in PCa screening and disease monitoring [3]. Luminal cells express typical markers such as the androgen receptor (AR) and PSA. PSA is produced by ductal epithelial cells and normally secreted into the lumen, being removed with ejaculation. The population of basal cells is present on the base of the prostate gland in contact with the basement membrane [3]. Neuroendocrine cells comprise no more than 1% of the epithelial cells and can secret neurosecretory products that promote prostate growth [10,11]. It was proposed a cell hierarchy in prostate epithelium pointing that epithelial and neuroendocrine cells are originated from stem cells [12]. Prostate stem cells are a heterogenous small population confined to the basal compartment, uncommitted stem cells that differentiate to form semicommitted progenitors, or multiple populations of stem cells [13,14].

The main function of the prostate gland is to produce a set of semen constituents, including PSA, citrate, choline and proteolytic enzymes that provide a good environment for the spermatozoa, crucial to support sperm motility, survival and delivery to the female reproductive tract. These secretions represent 30 % of the semen volume and have a basic pH that neutralizes the acidic environment of the duct deferent and female vagina [15-17].

The human prostate is small in childhood, but in puberty rises in size to approximately 20-25 g. During the period of prostate growth increased rate of cell proliferation over death occurs, which is regulated by hormones, mainly androgens. At peripheral tissues, including prostate, testosterone is metabolized to 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT), a powerful androgen that binds to the AR, strongly enhancing its activity as a transcription factor [18,19]. The AR upon activation regulates the expression of several genes involved in prostate cell proliferation and development [20-23]. From around 30 years old, the prostate weight rises slowly and typically upon reaching 50 years of age present the onset of BPH nodules [24-26].

PCa is the most common cancer in men and represents the fifth leading cause of cancer deaths. In 2018, 1.3 million new cases of PCa were diagnosed and 359,000 associated deaths were reported worldwide [27]. In Portugal, statistics indicate that the mortality by PCa has been growing, and that, only in 2017, 1796 men's lost their life in consequence of this disease [28]. PCa is a heterogeneous and multifactorial disease arising from the contribution of several factors. Several transformations can be identified from PCa onset to the establishment of prostate adenocarcinoma and development of metastatic PCa (Fig. 1.2.). The prostatic epithelium can be damaged due to inflammation, infection and/or exposure to carcinogens [29]. The first identifiable histological alteration is the prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN). PIN lesions are asymptomatic and characterized by the thickening of the epithelial cells in the PZ of prostate, and loss of distinct basal and secretory layers [30-32]. The development of PIN is characterized by the contact of inflammatory cells with prostate cells. The High-grade PIN (HGPIN) lesions can be considered as the precursors of PCa [30,31,33]. PIN and HGPIN lesions are frequently found in PCa patients [34,35]. In fact, HGPIN



Figure 1.6. Schematic representation of the proposed model of the cellular events associated with development and progression of PCa. The pathophysiology of prostate comprises multiple steps and starts with the appearance of pre-malignant lesions and the transformation of prostate epithelial cells, which in turn may generate cancer progenitor cells and the prostate intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) emerges. In turn, PIN lesions progress to localized prostate adenocarcinoma, which then becomes locally invasive carcinoma as the basal cell layer is degraded and cancer cells invade the basal lamina. The constant activation of distinct growth signalling pathways in PCa cells, including the activation of AR, leads to the development of local and invasive carcinoma and ultimately to the metastization to different organs, including liver, lungs and bones.

and PCa present many similarities. HGPIN also shows moderate high levels of PSA and abnormal proliferation, with basal and luminal cells presenting dysplastic features including nuclear hyperchromasia, nuclear crowding and prominent nucleoli [36,37]. Other inflammatory alteration described to be associated with PCa is the proliferative inflammatory atrophy (PIA). PIA is characterized by the presence of inflammatory and proliferating epithelial cells with a stromal atrophy and increased oxidative stress, most likely derived from the inflammatory cells signals or malignancy itself [38]. The induction of inflammatory processes, and consequently the appearance of PIA and PIN lesions, is related with a decreased number of basal cells, accumulation of luminal cells, hyperplasia and appearance of somatic mutations [39]. PIA lesions may give rise directly to carcinoma, but are frequently associated with the development of HGPIN [29,40,30]. Thereafter, it is possible the development of localized PCa followed by the establishment of advanced prostate adenocarcinoma (Fig. 1.2.). Although initially confined to the prostate, PCa spreads to adjacent lymph nodes and distant organs such as the liver, brain, lungs and bones [41-43] (Fig. 1.2.). PCa cells undergo epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) and are capable of colonizing other organs, mainly the bone marrow [41]. In fact, the highest incidence of PCa metastases are detected in bone, with rearrangement of the bone matrix, severe pain and frequent fractures [44,43].

Overall, PCa is a complex pathology involving several possible processes that determine the initiation of disease, which are not totally understood. In a classical view epithelial luminal cells are considered the principal cells in the origin of PCa, whereas basal cells (Fig. 1.1.) are viewed as a barrier to protect luminal cells from oncogenic stimulus [45]. In fact, reports establish epithelial cells as more responsive to oncogenic stimulus, whereas basal cells are resistant [46]. Nevertheless, basal cells stay in direct contact with the stroma that can receive, for example, cytokines, which can drive cancer signalling to the epithelial cells [46]. Moreover, basal cells can also intermediate the processes underlying the development of metastatic PCa, because they present higher expression levels of genes involved in the EMT compared with the epithelial luminal cells and, thus, are highly responsive to oncogenic signalling [47].

Prostate stem cells also have been implicated in the malignant transformation of prostatic tissues [48]. Prostate stem cells can be reactivated and differentiate into intermediate epithelial cells that can originate PCa initiators cells [49-51]. In addition, the activity of molecules produced and secreted by stromal cells, and the cross-talk between cancer cells and the stroma have been identified as crucial aspects in carcinogenesis. This includes the secretion of growth factors and cytokines by stromal cells, which modulate the behavior of cancer cells. The stroma also may sustain invasiveness of PCa by releasing products capable of digesting the extracellular matrix [52], which favors the spread of cancer cells, invasion and migration to other tissues.

The histological patterns of PCa are distinguished by the Gleason grading system [53,54], which has been modified over the years, but continues to constitute the grading

system commonly used to classify and stage PCa. The Gleason grading method is entirely based on the architectural arrangements of prostatic carcinoma. The histologic patterns are categorized into five basic grade patterns at relatively low magnification. Gleason patterns 1 and 2 should no longer be assigned by needle core biopsy [53]. Gleason pattern 3 normally have well-formed, individual glands of various sizes including branching glands [53]. Gleason pattern 4 includes poorly-formed, fused, and cribriform glands [53]. Gleason pattern 5 consists of sheets of tumour, individual cells, and cords of cells [53]. These five basic grade patterns are used to generate a histologic score that ranges from 2 to 10. Currently, the subtypes of prostatic carcinoma are classified as, glandular neoplasms (acinar, intraductal, ductal adenocarcinoma), neuroendocrine carcinoma, basal cell carcinoma, squamous neoplasms (squamous cell carcinoma and adenosquamous carcinoma), or urothelial carcinoma [55]. Intra-acinar and/or intraductal adenocarcinoma has some similarities with HGPIN, but have more cytological atypia [55]. Typically they are characterized by intraductal spread of advanced prostatic carcinoma, but may also reflect a preinvasive carcinoma derived from HGPIN [56]. The ductal adenocarcinoma is located in the periurethral area, often protruding into the urethra, and normally presents a mass arising from verumontanum [55]. Its clinical stage often is more advanced than that of typical acinar adenocarcinoma, and can mestastasize to the penis, testis and lung [57,58]. Neuroendrocrine carcinoma is classified as an acinar or ductal adenocarcinoma without a detectable neuroendocrine morphology [55]. Basal cell carcinoma is extremely rare and include adenoid cystic/cribriform patterns and small solid nests with palisading [55]. Squamous cell and adenosquamous carcinoma approximately arise in patients with prostatic acinar adenocarcinoma subsequent to hormone therapy or radiotherapy [55,59]. These tumours are usually large and originated in the periurethral glands or prostatic acini as well as from the lining basal cells [55,59]. Prostatic urothelial carcinoma is originated from the urothelium of the prostatic urethra or the prostatic ducts. Commonly prostatic urothelial carcinoma is presented with bladder carcinoma [55]. This comprehensive characterization of PCa and the underpinning molecular alterations help clinicians selecting the best treatment approaches.

Over the years, several large-scale genomic studies have identified recurrent changes on DNA copy number, chromosomic rearrangements, mutations and gene fusions in PCa. The most common genomic alterations in PCa are translocations involving androgen-regulated promoters and E26 transformation-specific, such *ERG [60]*. *TMPRSS2:ERG* fusion is present in ~50% of localized PCa [60]. Mutations are also common in PCa and can result in genomic rearrangements including alterations on the expression of several important genes [61-64]. The gain-of-function mutations in oncogenes and the deletion of tumor suppressor genes are also implicated in prostate carcinogenesis [65]. AR mutations, but also gain of function of AR coactivators, and loss of AR corepressors are genomic alterations in the AR pathway mostly associated with PCa development [66-68]. A frequent mutation is found in SPOP, a component of E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase complex, that is associated with the stabilization of oncogenic substrates (AKT, JNK) promoting prostate tumorigenesis [69,70]. The amplification of the oncogene *c-MYC* is also detected in 50% of prostate tumors [71]. On the other hand, loss of PTEN and TP53 proteins is frequent in PCa and correlates with poor prognosis [67,72]. A combination of alterations in several genes can concur to exacerbate proliferation, disrupt apoptosis and alter the metabolic profile of prostate cells towards malignant transformation [73-75].

1.2. Risk factors

In the last years, a substantial amount of epidemiologic studies have identified several biologic and lifestyle factors influencing the appearance and progression of PCa. Overall, the risk factors that contribute to the development of PCa (Fig. 1.3.) can be divided in two main classes [76,77]: endogenous (age, family, genetic factors, ethnicity, hormones, inflammation and oxidative stress) and exogenous (dietary factors, physical inactivity, obesity, environmental factors, occupation, smoking).

Nevertheless, the only total risk factors intimately associated with the incidence of PCa are age, African-American race, and a genetic risk [78,77]. Moreover, age is considered the highest risk factor for the development of PCa [79,80]. PCa is more prevalent in men older than 40 years of age, and the incidence of diseases strongly increases after 55 [81,82]. Race and family history seem to contribute to the development of PCa and, in fact, a higher prevalence of disease is found in African descents [78,83]. Contrastingly, PCa incidence and mortality rates are lower amongst Asian, American Indian, and Hispanic men [84,85]. This difference in PCa risk associated with the populations ethnicity has been attributed to genetic variants, lifestyle factors and also the hormone levels, including androgens [86-88]. Considering the familiar antecedents, men whose first-degree family members (brother or father) had PCa, are at a two-three higher risk of being diagnosed with PCa, and the risk is nearly nine times higher for men with both [89,90]. In fact, some studies identified genetic factors involved in prostate carcinogenesis [91,92]. Genome-wide analysis and gene linkage studies also revealed several susceptibility genes in PCa. Ribonuclease L (RNASEL), involved in immune defense mechanisms, is one of the most promising susceptibility genes discovered, and modifications in this gene expression seem to be related to the progression and poor prognosis of PCa [93-96]. Other genes like HPC2/ ELAC2, macrophage scavenger receptor 1 (MSR1), BRCA1 and 2, or mutations in the X chromosome, that encodes for the AR, are among the genetic factors that can contribute for PCa development [97-101].

Hormones, more precisely androgens are other risk factors in PCa. Several studies have reported that PCa cells growth is dependent on androgens levels [102,20]. High serum and intraprostatic androgens concentrations have a positive association with PCa risk [103,104]. Also, mutations and polymorphisms in genes associated with androgen biosynthesis have been significantly linked with the onset of PCa, namely on those encoding for the enzymes involved in DHT synthesis, such as 5α -reductase or CYPs [105-108]. Currently, it is widely accepted that androgens and AR signalling have a central role in PCa development and progression. Due to its importance this issue will be explored in a specific section of this chapter below.

Several epidemiologic studies have suggested that chronic inflammation or sexually transmitted infectious agents also have a role on the pathogenesis of some types of PCa [109,110]. In fact, a persistent inflammation, or prostatitis are significantly associated with PCa [110,111]. Chemical or physical trauma, transmitted pathogens, urine reflux are enhancers of prostatitis development, and consequently positively related with PCa [112-114]. Several genes involved in inflammation like cyclooxygenase (*COX-2*), interleukins or tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) have also been associated with PCa risk [115-118]. Sexually transmitted diseases, like gonorrhea and syphilis, are among the principal simulators of the inflammatory process and intimately related with PCa [119].

Exogenous factors like lifestyle or dietary factors have also been implicated in the aetiology of PCa. Obesity, a growing public health problem in our society nowadays has been strongly linked with an increased risk of PCa development [120,121]. Obesity lead to metabolic disorders related with the deregulation of hormone synthesis and action, and inflammation [121,122]. Several molecules secreted by the adipose tissue like cytokines and adipokines (e.g. leptin and adiponectin) [123,124] have been shown to deregulate prostate tissue homeostasis. Adipokines, for example, have been related with the progression of PCa





by driven angiogenesis, cell proliferation, metastasis, and alterations in sex-steroid hormone levels [125]. Also, it was demonstrated that the periprostatic adipose tissue has a paracrine role in prostate cells, directly prompting the development and progression of PCa. Periprostatic adipocytes secrete the CCL7 chemokine that, acting through the CCR3 receptor present in cancer cells, induces migration and invasion of PCa, an effect that is empowered in obesity [126]. More recently, the same authors showed that a bidirectional crosstalk exists between adipocytes and tumor cells, with PCa cells inducing lipolysis of adipocytes, and the release of exogenous fatty acids that can be taken by tumor cells promoting invasion [126,127]. However, additional studies and further research efforts are still needed to clarify the relationship between obesity and PCa.

Hyperglycemia and insulin deregulation are other metabolic disorders that have significant, but controversial, association with PCa. Some studies have shown a higher risk for

PCa onset linked to high glucose levels, whereas others studies verified that hyperglycemia or type II diabetes have a protective role in PCa [128-130]. Diets highly enriched in red meats and excessive calcium ingestion have been positively associated with PCa, and related with a higher risk of lethal forms of PCa [131-133]. Smoking also has a negative association with PCa, and smokers are at higher risk of PCa-related mortality [134]. Vitamin D deficiency is another agent that has been linked to increasing PCa risk [135,136].

On the other hand, several other diet products have been identified as having a protective role in PCa (Fig. 1.3.). This is the case for diets rich in fish, or tomato-based products and coffee [137-140]. Also, physical activity has been described as having an inverse association with PCa, and has been associated with improved survival and decreased rates of PCa progression [141,142].

1.3. From androgen-sensitive to castration-resistant prostate cancer

Testosterone circulating in the blood stream is metabolized in the prostate to DHT by the activity of 5α -reductase. DHT has more affinity to AR than testosterone, and its binding to this receptor induces the dissociation of heat-shock proteins, and subsequent receptor phosphorylation and dimerization [143,144]. AR dimers bind to the androgen-response elements in the promoter regions of target genes, which upon recruitment of co-regulatory proteins (co-activators or co-repressors) form the AR-transcriptional complex regulating gene transcription [144]. The AR transcriptional complex regulates the expression of several genes that encode for protein network involved in PCa growth, with cancer cells being extremely dependent on androgens actions to survive and proliferate [145-148]. This represents an initial phase of PCa, the so-called androgen-sensitive stage, which can be controlled by the application of androgens deprivation therapy (ADT) aiming to reduce the circulating levels of androgens or blocking their action [149,150].

ADT can be achieved mechanically by orchiectomy or chemically with the use of antiandrogenic drugs [151-154]. The continuous administration of ADT renders PCa cells resistant to treatment, becoming capable to survive and metastasize even in the absence or very low levels of androgens [155,156]. At this stage, it is reached the castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC), which develops on an average of 38 months upon administration of ADT. The 2015 guidelines indicate that two conditions should be followed for the establishment of CRPC: 1. serum testosterone level of the castrated patient has to be lower than 1.7 nmol/l; and 2. PSA expression levels should have increased twice in a row from an interval of 1 week or more than 3 consecutive measurements with the lowest value increased >50% and >2 g/l, and more than 2 increases in novel lesions based on bone scanning or soft tissue lesions [157,158].

The molecular mechanisms and the intracellular pathways underlying the development of CRPC remain a challenge for researchers and clinicians. The understanding of

the mechanisms that support the acquisition of the androgen-resistant phenotype is a key element to improve treatment. Currently, the existent knowledge establishes that the mechanisms driving CRPC include the adaptative capacity of the AR-pathway, modifications on the expression of AR coregulator proteins, as well as changes in AR-associated cell signaling pathways (Fig. 1.4.).

The amplification of the *AR* gene is one of the most recognized events in CRPC development. The AR gene amplification, rarely observed in untreated patients, is quite common in CRPC patients. It causes an overexpression of the AR protein that allows activation of the AR pathway even when androgens levels are extremely reduced (Fig. 1.4.) [159,160]. Also, post-translational modifications of the AR protein have been found in CRPC samples like acetylation, methylation ubiquitination, sumoylation and phosphorylation [161-163]. However, their impact on AR activity and driven of CRPC remains to be clarified.

Furthermore, various of the identified *AR* gene mutations have been linked with the establishment of CRPC (Fig. 1.4.) [164,165]. Mutations regularly found in CRPC cases are more frequent in the ligand-binding domain [166-169] and have been shown to affect AR specificity, allowing receptor activation by other molecules than androgens. The ACT>GCT mutation responsible for changing Thr877 to Ala in the hormone-binding domain is frequently detected in CRCP patients and is one of the most recognized examples of how a single mutation can alter the AR specificity [170,171]. LNCaP cells harboring this mutation displayed increased growth in response to androgens but also to non-androgenic steroids (Fig. 1.4.) [170,171].

Additionally, several AR splice variants have been shown to be involved in PCa resistance to ADT [172]. These variants are typical of resistance conditions being nondetectable in men not receiving any therapy [173,174]. It is the case of AR-Vs variants, which are characterized by lacking the ligand-binding domain, and thus are unable to bind androgens ligands. Among the AR-Vs, the AR-V7 is the most studied AR variant in PCa and has been associated with advanced stages and reduced survival in patients with CRPC [175]. The AR-V7 is a constitutively active variant of AR and its action has been related with repression of tumour-suppressor genes [176-179], being a driving force in tumour growth. This is a feature also identified in patients. It was found that the AR-V7 variant can regulate androgen-responsive genes, namely target oncogenes that contribute to the development of CRPC [180]. The AR-V7 was also shown to circumvent anti-androgen-chemotherapy treatment in CRPC [181-184].



Figure 1.8. Molecular pathways associated with the development of CRPC. The amplification of the AR gene with the enhanced sensitivity to androgens is the most common event occurring in CRPC. The augmented production of DHT due to increased activity of 5α -reductase has also been implicated. Moreover, mutations in the receptor ligand-binding domain may allow that other molecules, like estrogens, corticosteroids, or even anti-androgens can bind to and activate the AR pathway. On the other hand, several AR variants, like the ARvs, devoid of the ligand-binding domain have been connected with treatment resistance. Furthermore, the AR can be activated by others receptors, like the receptor tyrosine kinases), which when overactivated can phosphorylate AR activating it, through AKT, SRC and/or the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways. Finally, it can be mentioned the deregulated actions of AR co-activators inducing transcription or recruiting other transcription factors enhancing the transactivation of AR-regulated genes.

AR regulation of transcription depends on its interaction with other co-factors responsible to co-activate or co-repress receptor function (Fig. 1.4.). At this moment, there are >150 different co-activators or co-repressors of AR [185]. AR co-activators recruit other transcription factors to initiate transactivation of AR-regulated genes enhancing receptor activity. Mostly, these co-regulators are enzymes that modulate other proteins, but can also be chaperones and regulators of the RNA splicing machinery [186,187]. Some of these AR co-activators, like ARA70, Tip60, TIF2 or SCR1 have been shown to be up-regulated in CRPC samples [188-190]. Moreover, inflammatory signals like, IL-4 and 8 could promote the activity of coactivators of AR, consequently activating the AR and regulating the development of CRPC [191,192].

On the other hand, co-repressors inhibit the transcription of AR-regulated genes, and the alteration of co-repressors like SMRT seems to be involved in progression of advanced stages of PCa [193].

Other androgen-independent pathways capable of cross-talk with the AR have been shown to be activated during ADT, modulating cell survival and promoting the development of CRPC (Fig. 1.4.). The PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway is the best studied in the context of

progressing CRPC. Activation of PI3K/AKT/mTOR leads to increased cell proliferation and survival. AKT activity is increased in CRPC cell lines compared to androgen-dependent cells [194,195]. The loss or AR signaling by enzalutamide treatment was shown to drive PTEN loss and, thus, increased AKT signaling [196,197]. On the other hand, PI3K inhibition in the absence of PTEN contributed to increasing AR levels [197]. In this way, the PI3K/AKT/mTOR and AR signaling interact and compensate each other in response to ADT therapy. Proteins with kinase activity and downstream effectors in intracellular signaling like SRC and MAPK are also increased in CRPC [198,199]. SRC and MAPK family kinases have been shown regulate the AR signal and the development of CRPC [200,199]. MAPK is related with the HER2/Neu pathway and can directly phosphorylate AR [200,201]. Also, SRC family members were shown to directly phosphorylate AR with its subsequent activation [199,202]. The overexpression of epidermal growth factor receptor in CRPC cell lines was capable of activating the transcription of AR-target genes independently of androgens [203,200,204,205].

The increased intra- and extra-prostatic production of androgens have been indicated as another mechanism underlying the development of CRPC. Currently, it is accepted that the transition to CRPC is related with increased activity of 5α -reductase, which enhances DHT biosynthesis and actions, and, thus, maintain AR signaling active even when androgens circulating levels are low [206-209]. Recently, it was also verified that the androgens production in CRPC cases is higher than that observed in hormone sensitive patients [210]. This growing source of androgens can also be sustained by *de novo* steroidogenesis from cholesterol within tumor tissues or by its conversion in the adrenal glands [211,212].

Other evidence pointed out that CRPC develops from a reserve of stem cells that do not depend on the presence of androgens but can respond to this hormone [213]. In fact, a minority sub-population of cells in prostate tumors that do not express the AR have been identified as PCa stem or progenitor cells [214]. These cells are drug-resistant and can continue proliferating upon ADT, existing as a darwinian selection of resistant-cancer cells [214,215]. It is currently known that mutations in prostate stem cells can generate PCa stem cells that are associated with resistance to PCa treatment [216,214,217].

Finally, the progression of PCa is also related with a metabolic adaptation. Like other cancer cell types, PCa cells have the ability of reprogramming metabolism and alterations on glycolysis, fatty acid metabolism and other metabolic pathways have been characterized as features accompanying the progression of disease [218]. It is a matter of fact that non-neoplastic prostate cells produce, accumulate, and secrete high levels of citrate, which is essential to sperm function [219]. This ability of PCa cells to accumulate and secrete citrate is a consequence of the reduced flux of this metabolite to the mitochondria for metabolization into the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle [220,221]. Contrastingly, PCa cells produce very low levels of citrate [221,222]. Interestingly, increasing evidence has shown that glycolysis, fatty-acid and glutamine metabolism are the principal sources of energy in PCa cancer cells, and that this metabolic activity is exacerbated in CRPC [73,223,224]. The details

of PCa cells metabolism and its impact in progression of the disease will be further explored in a chapter 3.

1.4. Prostate cancer diagnosis and therapy

The principal methods to detect the initial phases of PCa include, the digital rectal examination, PSA serum levels and transrectal ultrasound guided biopsy followed by histologic examination [225]. Rectal examination is a systematic inspection to screen dysfunction in male and remains an indicator for PCa biopsy if an irregularity or nodule is detected [226]. However, the performance of digital rectal examination to detect initial stages of PCa is limited. Historically, the human prostatic acid phosphatase (PAP) was the first serum biomarker for PCa screening, but it showed insufficient sensitivity [227,228]. Later on, PSA was considered the ideal biomarker, which, despite the known limitations, still is the most used diagnosis marker [227,229,230]. It is known that 15 % of men with normal or low levels of PSA had PCa [231,232]. On the other hand, PSA can generate false positives, as benign diseases and prostatitis are also known to increase its levels [233,234]. In the last years, to improve the use of PSA ceras screening method, several derivatives of its measurement were implemented, such as total vs free-PSA, PSA density, PSA age-adjusted or PSA velocity [235-238].

Collection of biopsy materials is a fundamental and standard piece for diagnosis of PCa, eliminating the presence of false positives and false negatives by PSA screening [239]. The heterogeneity, multifocal nature, and the complex mechanisms driving PCa progression, have made difficult the identification of sensitive and accurate biomarkers. Nevertheless, molecular markers like *PCA3* gene, *TMPRSS2:ERG* fusion gene, *PTEN*, *AR*, microRNAs, metabolic molecules, or circulating tumor cells and exossomes, are promising biomarkers that should be used more frequently in the diagnosis of PCa [240-242].

Imaging techniques based on the detection of cancer metabolites are also important tools helping the diagnosis of PCa, but cannot be used as primary techniques due to their still limited accuracy. PET/CT based on increased tumors glycolysis and enhanced incorporation of [18F]fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) has been used in several types of cancer. However, it showed modest results with limited sensitivity in PCa, which displays a high glycolytic profile only in advanced stages [243]. [11C]acetate uptake is another diagnostic tool for the detection of tumour cells, which is related with the overexpression of fatty acid synthase (FASN), a key enzyme in lipid synthesis in cancer cells [244,245]. Despite the fact that PCa displays increased FASN expression, PET/CT scanning based on detection of [11C]acetate also showed poor results in PCa diagnosis because it is not a cancer-specific tracer [246]. C-choline PET/CT showed better results and has been identified as useful for advanced stages of PCa [247]. Magnetic resonance imaging is also used for detection, localization and definition of local extent of PCa and is recommended as an additional imaging in patients with negative

biopsy and suspected primary PCa [248]. Treatment approaches for PCa differ according with the stage of the disease.

Radical prostatectomy is common for treatment of localized PCa, and encompasses removing the prostate gland and if necessary the surrounding tissue [249,250]. Radiotherapy is also used at this stage with the objective of eradicating local PCa before it metastasizes [251,252]. ADT is also used for treatment at this stage together with prostatectomy in patients with high risk to develop metastasis [252]. ADT suppresses the production of testosterone or the action of androgens by inhibiting the AR. ADT also is the first-line treatment for metastatic PCa. However, several adverse effects of ADT are known, such as decreased bone mineral density, metabolic changes, and sexual dysfunction [253,254]. Firstgeneration anti-androgens used for several years include bicalutamide, flutamide and nilutamide. Bicalutamide is the most common ADT therapy as a nonsteroidal anti-androgen for PCa treatment and has less hepatotoxicity compared with flutamide or nilutamide [255]. To improve the efficacy and minimize adverse side-effects of treatment the secondgeneration of anti-androgens was developed, such as enzalutamide, a competitive AR antagonist, that is administered orally. It binds to the receptor ligand-binding domain and inhibits AR translocation to the nucleus [256]. Enzalutamide treatment was shown to improve patient's survival and its use in combination with other drugs is in phase of evaluation[257,258].

As mentioned above, within 38 months of administrating ADT, the CRPC emerge, and other treatment options have to be envisaged, namely chemotherapy. Mitoxantrone was the first cytotoxic chemotherapy approved for the treatment of CRPC [259]. Next, Docetaxel, an inhibitor of microtubules disassembling, showed a positive effect increasing overall survival in mCRPC patients in approximately 21 months [260-262]. In the last years, several agents based in docetaxel have been developed. Cabazitaxel is a taxane microtubule dynamics inhibitor by promoting tubulin assembly and blocking its dissociation. It has shown good activity in docetaxel-resistant PCa [259]. In clinical trials, the combination of cabazitaxel and prednisone resulted in longer progression-free survival and overall survival [263]. Moreover, to overcome the taxane resistance an early switch between docetaxel and cabazitaxel showed an improvement in the overall survival [264]. However, the clinical benefit of cabazitaxel administration is still very limited in CRPC treatment, increasing survive modestly, displaying toxicity and some studies also reported patients death [263,265]. In the effort of trying to find alternatives to ADT and taxanes, radium-223 was also approved for bone metastasis PCa improving the survival in these patients [266].

The continued production of androgens in CRPC makes the inhibition of intra-tumoral androgen synthesis an alternative strategy for treatment with clinical benefits. At this level, the inhibition of cytochrome P (CYP17), which converts pregnanes into steroid hormones, by abiraterone acetate showed a preventive action in PCa growth [267,268]. Nowadays, the combination of abiraterone acetate with other therapies is being tested.

Immunotherapy has emerged as a promising treatment approach in several types of cancer, and diverse immune-based therapies are currently in test or being investigated. The application of immunotherapy, i.e targeting the immune system to control cancer growth also has been studied in PCa. Immunotherapy with Sipuleycel-T was recently approved for the treatment of CRPC [269]. The treatment is composed by antigen-presenting cells cultured in the presence of recombinant PAP linked to granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor for maturation of antigen-presenting cells [269]. Clinical benefits were shown with this therapy, but it has high costs associated [270].

Despite the advances made in the last years, CRPC treatment still is a puzzling issue for clinicians. Only further research efforts deepening the knowledge of the molecular pathways underpinning the development of PCa and CRPC, may lead to the establishment of new and effective therapies, alone or in combination.

1.5. References

1. Lee CH, Akin-Olugbade O, Kirschenbaum A (2011) Overview of prostate anatomy, histology, and pathology. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America 40 (3):565-575, viii-ix. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2011.05.012

2. Ali M, Johnson IP, Hobson J, Mohammadi B, Khan F (2004) Anatomy of the pelvic plexus and innervation of the prostate gland. Clinical anatomy (New York, NY) 17 (2):123-129. doi:10.1002/ca.10187

3. Young B, Woodford P, O'Dowd G (2014) Wheater's functional histology : a text and colour atlas - Chapther 18 Reprodutive System. Churchill Livingston/Elsevier, Philadelphia

4. McNeal JE (1984) Anatomy of the prostate and morphogenesis of BPH. Progress in clinical and biological research 145:27-53

5. McNeal JE (1981) The zonal anatomy of the prostate. The Prostate 2 (1):35-49

6. McNeal JE (1972) The prostate and prostatic urethra: a morphologic synthesis. The Journal of urology 107 (6):1008-1016

7. Al-Ahmadie HA, Tickoo SK, Olgac S, Gopalan A, Scardino PT, Reuter VE, Fine SW (2008) Anterior-predominant prostatic tumors: zone of origin and pathologic outcomes at radical prostatectomy. The American journal of surgical pathology 32 (2):229-235. doi:10.1097/PAS.0b013e31812f7b27

8. Kitzing YX, Prando A, Varol C, Karczmar GS, Maclean F, Oto A (2016) Benign Conditions That Mimic Prostate Carcinoma: MR Imaging Features with Histopathologic Correlation. RadioGraphics 36 (1):162-175. doi:10.1148/rg.2016150030

9. Farnsworth WE (1999) Prostate stroma: physiology. The Prostate 38 (1):60-72

10. Bonkhoff H (1998) Neuroendocrine cells in benign and malignant prostate tissue: morphogenesis, proliferation, and androgen receptor status. The Prostate Supplement 8:18-22

11. Huang J, Yao JL, di Sant'Agnese PA, Yang Q, Bourne PA, Na Y (2006) Immunohistochemical characterization of neuroendocrine cells in prostate cancer. The Prostate 66 (13):1399-1406. doi:10.1002/pros.20434

12. Isaacs JT, Coffey DS (1989) Etiology and disease process of benign prostatic hyperplasia. The Prostate Supplement 2:33-50

13. Blum R, Gupta R, Burger PE, Ontiveros CS, Salm SN, Xiong X, Kamb A, Wesche H, Marshall L, Cutler G, Wang X, Zavadil J, Moscatelli D, Wilson EL (2010) Molecular signatures of the primitive prostate stem cell niche reveal novel mesenchymal-epithelial signaling pathways. PloS one 5 (9). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0013024

14. Chen X, Rycaj K, Liu X, Tang DG (2013) New insights into prostate cancer stem cells. Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 12 (4):579-586. doi:10.4161/cc.23721

15. Frick J, Aulitzky W (1991) Physiology of the prostate. Infection 19 Suppl 3:S115-118

16. Hayward SW, Cunha GR (2000) The Prostate: Development and Physiology. Radiologic Clinics of North America 38 (1):1-14. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0033-8389(05)70146-9

17. VanPutte CL, Reggan JL, Russo AF (2014) Seeley's anatomy & physiology-Chapter 28 Reprodutive System. 10th ed. edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, NY

18. Geller J, Albert J, de la Vega D, Loza D, Stoeltzing W (1978) Dihydrotestosterone concentration in prostate cancer tissue as a predictor of tumor differentiation and hormonal dependency. Cancer research 38 (11 Pt 2):4349-4352

19. Deslypere JP, Young M, Wilson JD, McPhaul MJ (1992) Testosterone and 5 alphadihydrotestosterone interact differently with the androgen receptor to enhance transcription of the MMTV-CAT reporter gene. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 88 (1-3):15-22. doi:10.1016/0303-7207(92)90004-p

20. Hsing AW (2001) Hormones and prostate cancer: what's next? Epidemiologic reviews 23 (1):42-58. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.epirev.a000795

21. Bartsch G, Rittmaster RS, Klocker H (2002) Dihydrotestosterone and the concept of 5alpha-reductase inhibition in human benign prostatic hyperplasia. World journal of urology 19 (6):413-425

22. Gelmann EP (2002) Molecular biology of the androgen receptor. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 20 (13):3001-3015. doi:10.1200/jco.2002.10.018

23. Banerjee PP, Banerjee S, Brown TR, Zirkin BR (2018) Androgen action in prostate function and disease. American journal of clinical and experimental urology 6 (2):62-77

24. Berry SJ, Coffey DS, Walsh PC, Ewing LL (1984) The development of human benign prostatic hyperplasia with age. The Journal of urology 132 (3):474-479

25. Wong YC, Wang XH, Ling MT (2003) Prostate development and carcinogenesis. International review of cytology 227:65-130

26. Timms BG (2008) Prostate development: a historical perspective. Differentiation; research in biological diversity 76 (6):565-577. doi:10.1111/j.1432-0436.2008.00278.x

27. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians 68 (6):394-424. doi:10.3322/caac.21492

28. Instituto Nacional de Estatística IP (2019) Causas de Morte 2017. Instituto Nacional de Estatística, IP ISSN 2183-5489

29. De Marzo AM, Marchi VL, Epstein JI, Nelson WG (1999) Proliferative inflammatory atrophy of the prostate: implications for prostatic carcinogenesis. Am J Pathol 155 (6):1985-1992. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)65517-4

30. Wang W, Bergh A, Damber JE (2009) Morphological transition of proliferative inflammatory atrophy to high-grade intraepithelial neoplasia and cancer in human prostate. The Prostate 69 (13):1378-1386. doi:10.1002/pros.20992

31. Brawer MK (2005) Prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia: an overview. Reviews in urology 7 Suppl 3:S11-18

32. Davidsson S, Fiorentino M, Andren O, Fang F, Mucci LA, Varenhorst E, Fall K, Rider JR (2011) Inflammation, focal atrophic lesions, and prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia with respect to risk of lethal prostate cancer. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 20 (10):2280-2287. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-11-0373

33. Adamczyk P, Wolski Z, Butkiewicz R, Nussbeutel J, Drewa T (2014) Significance of atypical small acinar proliferation and extensive high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasm in clinical practice. Central European journal of urology 67 (2):136-141. doi:10.5173/ceju.2014.02.art4

34. Joshua AM, Evans A, Van der Kwast T, Zielenska M, Meeker AK, Chinnaiyan A, Squire JA (2008) Prostatic preneoplasia and beyond. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1785 (2):156-181. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2007.12.001

35. Qian J, Wollan P, Bostwick DG (1997) The extent and multicentricity of high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia in clinically localized prostatic adenocarcinoma. Human pathology 28 (2):143-148. doi:10.1016/s0046-8177(97)90097-6

36. McNeal JE, Bostwick DG (1986) Intraductal dysplasia: a premalignant lesion of the prostate. Human pathology 17 (1):64-71. doi:10.1016/s0046-8177(86)80156-3

37. Zynger DL, Yang X (2009) High-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia of the prostate: the precursor lesion of prostate cancer. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 2 (4):327-338

38. De Marzo AM, Marchi VL, Epstein JI, Nelson WG (1999) Proliferative inflammatory atrophy of the prostate: implications for prostatic carcinogenesis. The American journal of pathology 155 (6):1985-1992. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65517-4

39. Gao Y, Wei L, Wang C, Huang Y, Li W, Li T, Mo C, Qin H, Zhong X, Wang Y, Tan A, Mo Z, Jiang Y, Hu Y (2019) Chronic prostatitis alters the prostatic microenvironment and accelerates preneoplastic lesions in C57BL/6 mice. Biological research 52 (1):30. doi:10.1186/s40659-019-0237-4

40. Putzi MJ, De Marzo AM (2000) Morphologic transitions between proliferative inflammatory atrophy and high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia. Urology 56 (5):828-832. doi:10.1016/s0090-4295(00)00776-7

41. Wang G, Zhao D, Spring DJ, DePinho RA (2018) Genetics and biology of prostate cancer. Genes & development 32 (17-18):1105-1140. doi:10.1101/gad.315739.118

42. Datta D, Aftabuddin M, Gupta DK, Raha S, Sen P (2016) Human Prostate Cancer Hallmarks Map. Scientific reports 6:30691. doi:10.1038/srep30691

43. De S, Chen J, Narizhneva NV, Heston W, Brainard J, Sage EH, Byzova TV (2003) Molecular pathway for cancer metastasis to bone. The Journal of biological chemistry 278 (40):39044-39050. doi:10.1074/jbc.M304494200

44. Chung LW, Baseman A, Assikis V, Zhau HE (2005) Molecular insights into prostate cancer progression: the missing link of tumor microenvironment. The Journal of urology 173 (1):10-20. doi:10.1097/01.ju.0000141582.15218.10

45. El-Alfy M, Pelletier G, Hermo LS, Labrie F (2000) Unique features of the basal cells of human prostate epithelium. Microscopy research and technique 51 (5):436-446. doi:10.1002/1097-0029(20001201)51:5<436::aid-jemt6>3.0.co;2-t

46. Tuxhorn JA, Ayala GE, Rowley DR (2001) Reactive stroma in prostate cancer progression. The Journal of urology 166 (6):2472-2483

47. Barron DA, Rowley DR (2012) The reactive stroma microenvironment and prostate cancer progression. Endocrine-related cancer 19 (6):R187-204. doi:10.1530/erc-12-0085

48. Mei W, Lin X, Kapoor A, Gu Y, Zhao K, Tang D (2019) The Contributions of Prostate Cancer Stem Cells in Prostate Cancer Initiation and Metastasis. Cancers (Basel) 11 (4). doi:10.3390/cancers11040434

49. Verhagen AP, Ramaekers FC, Aalders TW, Schaafsma HE, Debruyne FM, Schalken JA (1992) Colocalization of basal and luminal cell-type cytokeratins in human prostate cancer. Cancer research 52 (22):6182-6187 50. van Leenders GJ, Gage WR, Hicks JL, van Balken B, Aalders TW, Schalken JA, De Marzo AM (2003) Intermediate cells in human prostate epithelium are enriched in proliferative inflammatory atrophy. Am J Pathol 162 (5):1529-1537. doi:10.1016/s0002-9440(10)64286-1

51. Tran CP, Lin C, Yamashiro J, Reiter RE (2002) Prostate stem cell antigen is a marker of late intermediate prostate epithelial cells. Molecular cancer research : MCR 1 (2):113-121

52. Bhowmick NA, Moses HL (2005) Tumor-stroma interactions. Current opinion in genetics & development 15 (1):97-101. doi:10.1016/j.gde.2004.12.003

53. Gordetsky J, Epstein J (2016) Grading of prostatic adenocarcinoma: current state and prognostic implications. Diagnostic pathology 11:25. doi:10.1186/s13000-016-0478-2

54. Sehn JK (2018) Prostate Cancer Pathology: Recent Updates and Controversies. Mo Med 115 (2):151-155

55. Inamura K (2018) Prostatic cancers: understanding their molecular pathology and the 2016 WHO classification. Oncotarget 9 (18):14723-14737. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.24515

56. Robinson BD, Epstein JI (2010) Intraductal carcinoma of the prostate without invasive carcinoma on needle biopsy: emphasis on radical prostatectomy findings. The Journal of urology 184 (4):1328-1333. doi:10.1016/j.juro.2010.06.017

57. Ellis CL, Epstein JI (2015) Metastatic prostate adenocarcinoma to the penis: a series of 29 cases with predilection for ductal adenocarcinoma. The American journal of surgical pathology 39 (1):67-74. doi:10.1097/pas.0000000000289

58. Humphrey PA (2017) Histopathology of Prostate Cancer. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 7 (10). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a030411

59. Parwani AV, Kronz JD, Genega EM, Gaudin P, Chang S, Epstein JI (2004) Prostate carcinoma with squamous differentiation: an analysis of 33 cases. The American journal of surgical pathology 28 (5):651-657. doi:10.1097/00000478-200405000-00014

60. Tomlins SA, Rhodes DR, Perner S, Dhanasekaran SM, Mehra R, Sun XW, Varambally S, Cao X, Tchinda J, Kuefer R, Lee C, Montie JE, Shah RB, Pienta KJ, Rubin MA, Chinnaiyan AM (2005) Recurrent fusion of TMPRSS2 and ETS transcription factor genes in prostate cancer. Science (New York, NY) 310 (5748):644-648. doi:10.1126/science.1117679

61. Mao X, Boyd LK, Yanez-Munoz RJ, Chaplin T, Xue L, Lin D, Shan L, Berney DM, Young BD, Lu YJ (2011) Chromosome rearrangement associated inactivation of tumour suppressor genes in prostate cancer. American journal of cancer research 1 (5):604-617

62. Reid AH, Attard G, Brewer D, Miranda S, Riisnaes R, Clark J, Hylands L, Merson S, Vergis R, Jameson C, Hoyer S, Sorenson KD, Borre M, Jones C, de Bono JS, Cooper CS (2012) Novel, gross chromosomal alterations involving PTEN cooperate with allelic loss in prostate cancer. Modern pathology : an official journal of the United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology, Inc 25 (6):902-910. doi:10.1038/modpathol.2011.207

63. Berger MF, Lawrence MS, Demichelis F, Drier Y, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko AY, Sboner A, Esgueva R, Pflueger D, Sougnez C, Onofrio R, Carter SL, Park K, Habegger L, Ambrogio L, Fennell T, Parkin M, Saksena G, Voet D, Ramos AH, Pugh TJ, Wilkinson J, Fisher S, Winckler W, Mahan S, Ardlie K, Baldwin J, Simons JW, Kitabayashi N, MacDonald TY, Kantoff PW, Chin L, Gabriel SB, Gerstein MB, Golub TR, Meyerson M, Tewari A, Lander ES, Getz G, Rubin MA, Garraway LA (2011) The genomic complexity of primary human prostate cancer. Nature 470 (7333):214-220. doi:10.1038/nature09744

64. Saramaki O, Visakorpi T (2007) Chromosomal aberrations in prostate cancer. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 12:3287-3301

65. Iurlaro R, Leon-Annicchiarico CL, Munoz-Pinedo C (2014) Regulation of cancer metabolism by oncogenes and tumor suppressors. Methods in enzymology 542:59-80. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-416618-9.00003-0

66. Hodgson MC, Astapova I, Cheng S, Lee LJ, Verhoeven MC, Choi E, Balk SP, Hollenberg AN (2005) The androgen receptor recruits nuclear receptor CoRepressor (N-CoR) in the presence of mifepristone via its N and C termini revealing a novel molecular mechanism for androgen receptor antagonists. The Journal of biological chemistry 280 (8):6511-6519. doi:10.1074/jbc.M408972200

67. Taylor BS, Schultz N, Hieronymus H, Gopalan A, Xiao Y, Carver BS, Arora VK, Kaushik P, Cerami E, Reva B, Antipin Y, Mitsiades N, Landers T, Dolgalev I, Major JE, Wilson M, Socci ND, Lash AE, Heguy A, Eastham JA, Scher HI, Reuter VE, Scardino PT, Sander C, Sawyers CL, Gerald WL (2010) Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer. Cancer cell 18 (1):11-22. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2010.05.026

68. Visakorpi T, Hyytinen E, Koivisto P, Tanner M, Keinanen R, Palmberg C, Palotie A, Tammela T, Isola J, Kallioniemi OP (1995) In vivo amplification of the androgen receptor gene and progression of human prostate cancer. Nat Genet 9 (4):401-406. doi:10.1038/ng0495-401

69. Blattner M, Liu D, Robinson BD, Huang D, Poliakov A, Gao D, Nataraj S, Deonarine LD, Augello MA, Sailer V, Ponnala L, Ittmann M, Chinnaiyan AM, Sboner A, Chen Y, Rubin MA, Barbieri CE (2017) SPOP Mutation Drives Prostate Tumorigenesis In Vivo through Coordinate Regulation of PI3K/mTOR and AR Signaling. Cancer cell 31 (3):436-451. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2017.02.004

70. Theurillat JP, Udeshi ND, Errington WJ, Svinkina T, Baca SC, Pop M, Wild PJ, Blattner M, Groner AC, Rubin MA, Moch H, Prive GG, Carr SA, Garraway LA (2014) Prostate cancer. Ubiquitylome analysis identifies dysregulation of effector substrates in SPOP-mutant prostate cancer. Science (New York, NY) 346 (6205):85-89. doi:10.1126/science.1250255

71. Jenkins RB, Qian J, Lieber MM, Bostwick DG (1997) Detection of c-myc oncogene amplification and chromosomal anomalies in metastatic prostatic carcinoma by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Cancer research 57 (3):524-531

72. Pourmand G, Ziaee AA, Abedi AR, Mehrsai A, Alavi HA, Ahmadi A, Saadati HR (2007) Role of PTEN gene in progression of prostate cancer. Urology journal 4 (2):95-100

73. Vaz CV, Alves MG, Marques R, Moreira PI, Oliveira PF, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2012) Androgenresponsive and nonresponsive prostate cancer cells present a distinct glycolytic metabolism profile. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 44 (11):2077-2084. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.08.013

74. Lorenzo PI, Arnoldussen YJ, Saatcioglu F (2007) Molecular mechanisms of apoptosis in prostate cancer. Critical reviews in oncogenesis 13 (1):1-38

75. Clarke NW, Hart CA, Brown MD (2009) Molecular mechanisms of metastasis in prostate cancer. Asian journal of andrology 11 (1):57-67. doi:10.1038/aja.2008.29

76. Malik SS, Batool R, Masood N, Yasmin A (2018) Risk factors for prostate cancer: A multifactorial case-control study. Current problems in cancer 42 (3):337-343. doi:10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2018.01.014

77. Leitzmann MF, Rohrmann S (2012) Risk factors for the onset of prostatic cancer: age, location, and behavioral correlates. Clinical epidemiology 4:1-11. doi:10.2147/clep.s16747

78. Gaines AR, Turner EL, Moorman PG, Freedland SJ, Keto CJ, McPhail ME, Grant DJ, Vidal AC, Hoyo C (2014) The association between race and prostate cancer risk on initial biopsy in an equal access, multiethnic cohort. Cancer causes & control : CCC 25 (8):1029-1035. doi:10.1007/s10552-014-0402-6

79. Leitzmann MF, Rohrmann S (2012) Risk factors for the onset of prostatic cancer: age, location, and behavioral correlates. Clinical epidemiology 4:1-11. doi:10.2147/CLEP.S16747

80. Stangelberger A, Waldert M, Djavan B (2008) Prostate cancer in elderly men. Rev Urol 10 (2):111-119

81. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians 68 (6):394-424. doi:10.3322/caac.21492

82. Frankel S, Smith GD, Donovan J, Neal D (2003) Screening for prostate cancer. Lancet (London, England) 361 (9363):1122-1128. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(03)12890-5

83. Petersen DC, Jaratlerdsiri W, van Wyk A, Chan EKF, Fernandez P, Lyons RJ, Mutambirw SBA, van der Merwe A, Venter PA, Bates W, Bornman MSR, Hayes VM (2019) African KhoeSan ancestry linked to high-risk prostate cancer. BMC Med Genomics 12 (1):82-82. doi:10.1186/s12920-019-0537-0

84. Cotter MP, Gern RW, Ho GY, Chang RY, Burk RD (2002) Role of family history and ethnicity on the mode and age of prostate cancer presentation. The Prostate 50 (4):216-221

85. Quinn M, Babb P (2002) Patterns and trends in prostate cancer incidence, survival, prevalence and mortality. Part II: individual countries. BJU international 90 (2):174-184

86. Platz EA, Pollak MN, Rimm EB, Majeed N, Tao Y, Willett WC, Giovannucci E (1999) Racial variation in insulin-like growth factor-1 and binding protein-3 concentrations in middle-aged men. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 8 (12):1107-1110

87. Ross R, Bernstein L, Judd H, Hanisch R, Pike M, Henderson B (1986) Serum testosterone levels in healthy young black and white men. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 76 (1):45-48

88. Asbell SO, Raimane KC, Montesano AT, Zeitzer KL, Asbell MD, Vijayakumar S (2000) Prostate-specific antigen and androgens in African-American and white normal subjects and prostate cancer patients. Journal of the National Medical Association 92 (9):445-449

89. Hemminki K, Czene K (2002) Attributable risks of familial cancer from the Family-Cancer Database. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 11 (12):1638-1644

90. Brandt A, Sundquist J, Hemminki K (2012) Risk for incident and fatal prostate cancer in men with a family history of any incident and fatal cancer. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology 23 (1):251-256. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdr056

91. Hoffmann TJ, Van Den Eeden SK, Sakoda LC, Jorgenson E, Habel LA, Graff RE, Passarelli MN, Cario CL, Emami NC, Chao CR, Ghai NR, Shan J, Ranatunga DK, Quesenberry CP, Aaronson D, Presti J, Wang Z, Berndt SI, Chanock SJ, McDonnell SK, French AJ, Schaid DJ, Thibodeau SN, Li Q, Freedman ML, Penney KL, Mucci LA, Haiman CA, Henderson BE, Seminara D, Kvale MN, Kwok PY, Schaefer C, Risch N, Witte JS (2015) A large multiethnic genome-wide association study of prostate cancer identifies novel risk variants and substantial ethnic differences. Cancer discovery 5 (8):878-891. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.cd-15-0315

92. Eeles RA, Olama AA, Benlloch S, Saunders EJ, Leongamornlert DA, Tymrakiewicz M, Ghoussaini M, Luccarini C, Dennis J, Jugurnauth-Little S, Dadaev T, Neal DE, Hamdy FC, Donovan JL, Muir K, Giles GG, Severi G, Wiklund F, Gronberg H, Haiman CA, Schumacher F, Henderson BE, Le Marchand L, Lindstrom S, Kraft P, Hunter DJ, Gapstur S, Chanock SJ, Berndt SI, Albanes D, Andriole G, Schleutker J, Weischer M, Canzian F, Riboli E, Key TJ, Travis RC, Campa D, Ingles SA, John EM, Hayes RB, Pharoah PD, Pashayan N, Khaw KT, Stanford JL, Ostrander EA, Signorello LB, Thibodeau SN, Schaid D, Maier C, Vogel W, Kibel AS, Cybulski C, Lubinski J, Cannon-Albright L, Brenner H, Park JY, Kaneva R, Batra J, Spurdle AB, Clements JA, Teixeira MR, Dicks E, Lee A, Dunning AM, Baynes C, Conroy D, Maranian MJ, Ahmed S, Govindasami K, Guy M, Wilkinson RA, Sawyer EJ, Morgan A, Dearnaley DP, Horwich A, Huddart RA, Khoo VS, Parker CC, Van As NJ, Woodhouse CJ, Thompson A, Dudderidge T, Ogden C, Cooper CS, Lophatananon A, Cox A, Southey MC, Hopper JL, English DR, Aly M, Adolfsson J, Xu

J, Zheng SL, Yeager M, Kaaks R, Diver WR, Gaudet MM, Stern MC, Corral R, Joshi AD, Shahabi A, Wahlfors T, Tammela TL, Auvinen A, Virtamo J, Klarskov P, Nordestgaard BG, Roder MA, Nielsen SF, Bojesen SE, Siddiq A, Fitzgerald LM, Kolb S, Kwon EM, Karyadi DM, Blot WJ, Zheng W, Cai Q, McDonnell SK, Rinckleb AE, Drake B, Colditz G, Wokolorczyk D, Stephenson RA, Teerlink C, Muller H, Rothenbacher D, Sellers TA, Lin HY, Slavov C, Mitev V, Lose F, Srinivasan S, Maia S, Paulo P, Lange E, Cooney KA, Antoniou AC, Vincent D, Bacot F, Tessier DC, Kote-Jarai Z, Easton DF (2013) Identification of 23 new prostate cancer susceptibility loci using the iCOGS custom genotyping array. Nat Genet 45 (4):385-391, 391e381-382. doi:10.1038/ng.2560

93. Patel AR, Klein EA (2009) Risk factors for prostate cancer. Nature clinical practice Urology 6 (2):87-95. doi:10.1038/ncpuro1290

94. Pernar CH, Ebot EM, Wilson KM, Mucci LA (2018) The Epidemiology of Prostate Cancer. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 8 (12). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a030361

95. Carpten J, Nupponen N, Isaacs S, Sood R, Robbins C, Xu J, Faruque M, Moses T, Ewing C, Gillanders E, Hu P, Bujnovszky P, Makalowska I, Baffoe-Bonnie A, Faith D, Smith J, Stephan D, Wiley K, Brownstein M, Gildea D, Kelly B, Jenkins R, Hostetter G, Matikainen M, Schleutker J, Klinger K, Connors T, Xiang Y, Wang Z, De Marzo A, Papadopoulos N, Kallioniemi OP, Burk R, Meyers D, Gronberg H, Meltzer P, Silverman R, Bailey-Wilson J, Walsh P, Isaacs W, Trent J (2002) Germline mutations in the ribonuclease L gene in families showing linkage with HPC1. Nat Genet 30 (2):181-184. doi:10.1038/ng823

96. Chen H, Griffin AR, Wu YQ, Tomsho LP, Zuhlke KA, Lange EM, Gruber SB, Cooney KA (2003) RNASEL mutations in hereditary prostate cancer. Journal of medical genetics 40 (3):e21. doi:10.1136/jmg.40.3.e21

97. Camp NJ, Tavtigian SV (2002) Meta-analysis of associations of the Ser217Leu and Ala541Thr variants in ELAC2 (HPC2) and prostate cancer. American journal of human genetics 71 (6):1475-1478. doi:10.1086/344516

98. Xu J, Zheng SL, Komiya A, Mychaleckyj JC, Isaacs SD, Hu JJ, Sterling D, Lange EM, Hawkins GA, Turner A, Ewing CM, Faith DA, Johnson JR, Suzuki H, Bujnovszky P, Wiley KE, DeMarzo AM, Bova GS, Chang B, Hall MC, McCullough DL, Partin AW, Kassabian VS, Carpten JD, Bailey-Wilson JE, Trent JM, Ohar J, Bleecker ER, Walsh PC, Isaacs WB, Meyers DA (2002) Germline mutations and sequence variants of the macrophage scavenger receptor 1 gene are associated with prostate cancer risk. Nat Genet 32 (2):321-325. doi:10.1038/ng994

99. Maier C, Vesovic Z, Bachmann N, Herkommer K, Braun AK, Surowy HM, Assum G, Paiss T, Vogel W (2006) Germline mutations of the MSR1 gene in prostate cancer families from Germany. Human mutation 27 (1):98-102. doi:10.1002/humu.20271

100. Gallagher DJ, Gaudet MM, Pal P, Kirchhoff T, Balistreri L, Vora K, Bhatia J, Stadler Z, Fine SW, Reuter V, Zelefsky M, Morris MJ, Scher HI, Klein RJ, Norton L, Eastham JA, Scardino PT, Robson ME, Offit K (2010) Germline BRCA mutations denote a clinicopathologic subset of
prostate cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 16 (7):2115-2121. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-09-2871

101. Xu J, Meyers D, Freije D, Isaacs S, Wiley K, Nusskern D, Ewing C, Wilkens E, Bujnovszky P, Bova GS, Walsh P, Isaacs W, Schleutker J, Matikainen M, Tammela T, Visakorpi T, Kallioniemi OP, Berry R, Schaid D, French A, McDonnell S, Schroeder J, Blute M, Thibodeau S, Gronberg H, Emanuelsson M, Damber JE, Bergh A, Jonsson BA, Smith J, Bailey-Wilson J, Carpten J, Stephan D, Gillanders E, Amundson I, Kainu T, Freas-Lutz D, Baffoe-Bonnie A, Van Aucken A, Sood R, Collins F, Brownstein M, Trent J (1998) Evidence for a prostate cancer susceptibility locus on the X chromosome. Nat Genet 20 (2):175-179. doi:10.1038/2477

102. Huggins C, Hodges CV (1972) Studies on prostatic cancer. I. The effect of castration, of estrogen and androgen injection on serum phosphatases in metastatic carcinoma of the prostate. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians 22 (4):232-240

103. Pejcic T, Tosti T, Tesic Z, Milkovic B, Dragicevic D, Kozomara M, Cekerevac M, Dzamic Z (2017) Testosterone and dihydrotestosterone levels in the transition zone correlate with prostate volume. The Prostate 77 (10):1082-1092. doi:10.1002/pros.23365

104. van der Sluis TM, Meuleman EJH, van Moorselaar RJA, Bui HN, Blankenstein MA, Heijboer AC, Vis AN (2012) Intraprostatic testosterone and dihydrotestosterone. Part II: concentrations after androgen hormonal manipulation in men with benign prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer. BJU international 109 (2):183-188. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2011.10652.x

105. Suzuki M, Muto S, Hara K, Ozeki T, Yamada Y, Kadowaki T, Tomita K, Kameyama S, Kitamura T (2005) Single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase genes might predict the risk of side-effects of estramustine phosphate sodium in prostate cancer patients. International journal of urology : official journal of the Japanese Urological Association 12 (2):166-172. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2042.2005.01004.x

106. Setlur SR, Chen CX, Hossain RR, Ha JS, Van Doren VE, Stenzel B, Steiner E, Oldridge D, Kitabayashi N, Banerjee S, Chen JY, Schafer G, Horninger W, Lee C, Rubin MA, Klocker H, Demichelis F (2010) Genetic variation of genes involved in dihydrotestosterone metabolism and the risk of prostate cancer. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 19 (1):229-239. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-09-1018

107. Lindstrom S, Wiklund F, Adami HO, Balter KA, Adolfsson J, Gronberg H (2006) Germ-line genetic variation in the key androgen-regulating genes androgen receptor, cytochrome P450, and steroid-5-alpha-reductase type 2 is important for prostate cancer development. Cancer research 66 (22):11077-11083. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-06-3024

108. Sarma AV, Dunn RL, Lange LA, Ray A, Wang Y, Lange EM, Cooney KA (2008) Genetic polymorphisms in CYP17, CYP3A4, CYP19A1, SRD5A2, IGF-1, and IGFBP-3 and prostate cancer risk in African-American men: the Flint Men's Health Study. The Prostate 68 (3):296-305. doi:10.1002/pros.20696

109. Dennis LK, Dawson DV (2002) Meta-analysis of measures of sexual activity and prostate cancer. Epidemiology (Cambridge, Mass) 13 (1):72-79

110. Dennis LK, Lynch CF, Torner JC (2002) Epidemiologic association between prostatitis and prostate cancer. Urology 60 (1):78-83. doi:10.1016/s0090-4295(02)01637-0

111. Jiang J, Li J, Yunxia Z, Zhu H, Liu J, Pumill C (2013) The role of prostatitis in prostate cancer: meta-analysis. PloS one 8 (12):e85179. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085179

112. Kirby RS, Lowe D, Bultitude MI, Shuttleworth KE (1982) Intra-prostatic urinary reflux: an aetiological factor in abacterial prostatitis. British journal of urology 54 (6):729-731. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410x.1982.tb13635.x

113. Shinohara DB, Vaghasia AM, Yu SH, Mak TN, Bruggemann H, Nelson WG, De Marzo AM, Yegnasubramanian S, Sfanos KS (2013) A mouse model of chronic prostatic inflammation using a human prostate cancer-derived isolate of Propionibacterium acnes. The Prostate 73 (9):1007-1015. doi:10.1002/pros.22648

114. Elkahwaji JE, Zhong W, Hopkins WJ, Bushman W (2007) Chronic bacterial infection and inflammation incite reactive hyperplasia in a mouse model of chronic prostatitis. The Prostate 67 (1):14-21. doi:10.1002/pros.20445

115. Fernandez P, de Beer PM, van der Merwe L, Heyns CF (2008) COX-2 promoter polymorphisms and the association with prostate cancer risk in South African men. Carcinogenesis 29 (12):2347-2350. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgn245

116. Bao S, Yang W, Zhou S, Ye Z (2008) Relationship between single nucleotide polymorphisms in -174G/C and -634C/G promoter region of interleukin-6 and prostate cancer. Journal of Huazhong University of Science and Technology Medical sciences = Hua zhong ke ji da xue xue bao Yi xue Ying De wen ban = Huazhong keji daxue xuebao Yixue Yingdewen ban 28 (6):693-696. doi:10.1007/s11596-008-0618-3

117. Wang MH, Helzlsouer KJ, Smith MW, Hoffman-Bolton JA, Clipp SL, Grinberg V, De Marzo AM, Isaacs WB, Drake CG, Shugart YY, Platz EA (2009) Association of IL10 and other immune response- and obesity-related genes with prostate cancer in CLUE II. The Prostate 69 (8):874-885. doi:10.1002/pros.20933

118. Danforth KN, Rodriguez C, Hayes RB, Sakoda LC, Huang WY, Yu K, Calle EE, Jacobs EJ, Chen BE, Andriole GL, Figueroa JD, Yeager M, Platz EA, Michaud DS, Chanock SJ, Thun MJ, Hsing AW (2008) TNF polymorphisms and prostate cancer risk. The Prostate 68 (4):400-407. doi:10.1002/pros.20694

119. Hayes RB, Pottern LM, Strickler H, Rabkin C, Pope V, Swanson GM, Greenberg RS, Schoenberg JB, Liff J, Schwartz AG, Hoover RN, Fraumeni JF, Jr. (2000) Sexual behaviour, STDs and risks for prostate cancer. British journal of cancer 82 (3):718-725. doi:10.1054/bjoc.1999.0986

120. Pischon T, Boeing H, Weikert S, Allen N, Key T, Johnsen NF, Tjonneland A, Severinsen MT, Overvad K, Rohrmann S, Kaaks R, Trichopoulou A, Zoi G, Trichopoulos D, Pala V, Palli D, Tumino R, Sacerdote C, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, May A, Manjer J, Wallstrom P, Stattin P, Hallmans G, Buckland G, Larranaga N, Chirlaque MD, Martinez C, Redondo Cornejo ML, Ardanaz E, Bingham S, Khaw KT, Rinaldi S, Slimani N, Jenab M, Riboli E (2008) Body size and risk of prostate cancer in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 17 (11):3252-3261. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-08-0609

121. Ma J, Li H, Giovannucci E, Mucci L, Qiu W, Nguyen PL, Gaziano JM, Pollak M, Stampfer MJ (2008) Prediagnostic body-mass index, plasma C-peptide concentration, and prostate cancer-specific mortality in men with prostate cancer: a long-term survival analysis. The Lancet Oncology 9 (11):1039-1047. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(08)70235-3

122. De Pergola G, Silvestris F (2013) Obesity as a major risk factor for cancer. Journal of obesity 2013:291546. doi:10.1155/2013/291546

123. Mistry T, Digby JE, Desai KM, Randeva HS (2007) Obesity and Prostate Cancer: A Role for Adipokines. European urology 52 (1):46-53. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2007.03.054

124. Sieminska L, Borowski A, Marek B, Nowak M, Kajdaniuk D, Warakomski J, Kos-Kudla B (2018) Serum concentrations of adipokines in men with prostate cancer and benign prostate hyperplasia. Endokrynologia Polska 69 (2):120-127. doi:10.5603/EP.a2018.0006

125. Baillargeon J, Rose DP (2006) Obesity, adipokines, and prostate cancer (review). International journal of oncology 28 (3):737-745

126. Laurent V, Guerard A, Mazerolles C, Le Gonidec S, Toulet A, Nieto L, Zaidi F, Majed B, Garandeau D, Socrier Y, Golzio M, Cadoudal T, Chaoui K, Dray C, Monsarrat B, Schiltz O, Wang YY, Couderc B, Valet P, Malavaud B, Muller C (2016) Periprostatic adipocytes act as a driving force for prostate cancer progression in obesity. Nat Commun 7:10230. doi:10.1038/ncomms10230

127. Laurent V, Toulet A, Attane C, Milhas D, Dauvillier S, Zaidi F, Clement E, Cinato M, Le Gonidec S, Guerard A, Lehuede C, Garandeau D, Nieto L, Renaud-Gabardos E, Prats AC, Valet P, Malavaud B, Muller C (2019) Periprostatic Adipose Tissue Favors Prostate Cancer Cell Invasion in an Obesity-Dependent Manner: Role of Oxidative Stress. Molecular cancer research : MCR 17 (3):821-835. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-0748

128. Arthur R, Moller H, Garmo H, Holmberg L, Stattin P, Malmstrom H, Lambe M, Hammar N, Walldius G, Robinson D, Jungner I, Hemelrijck MV (2016) Association between baseline serum glucose, triglycerides and total cholesterol, and prostate cancer risk categories. Cancer medicine 5 (6):1307-1318. doi:10.1002/cam4.665

129. Kang J, Chen MH, Zhang Y, Moran BJ, Dosoretz DE, Katin MJ, Braccioforte MH, Salenius SA, D'Amico AV (2012) Type of diabetes mellitus and the odds of Gleason score 8 to 10

prostate cancer. International journal of radiation oncology, biology, physics 82 (3):e463-467. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2011.07.003

130. Fall K, Garmo H, Gudbjornsdottir S, Stattin P, Zethelius B (2013) Diabetes mellitus and prostate cancer risk; a nationwide case-control study within PCBaSe Sweden. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 22 (6):1102-1109. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-12-1046

131. Major JM, Cross AJ, Watters JL, Hollenbeck AR, Graubard BI, Sinha R (2011) Patterns of meat intake and risk of prostate cancer among African-Americans in a large prospective study. Cancer causes & control : CCC 22 (12):1691-1698. doi:10.1007/s10552-011-9845-1

132. Gao X, LaValley MP, Tucker KL (2005) Prospective studies of dairy product and calcium intakes and prostate cancer risk: a meta-analysis. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 97 (23):1768-1777. doi:10.1093/jnci/dji402

133. Skinner HG, Schwartz GG (2008) Serum calcium and incident and fatal prostate cancer in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 17 (9):2302-2305. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.epi-08-0365

134. Kenfield SA, Stampfer MJ, Chan JM, Giovannucci E (2011) Smoking and prostate cancer survival and recurrence. Jama 305 (24):2548-2555. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.879

135. Schwartz GG, Hulka BS (1990) Is vitamin D deficiency a risk factor for prostate cancer? (Hypothesis). Anticancer research 10 (5a):1307-1311

136. Barnett CM, Beer TM (2011) Prostate cancer and vitamin D: what does the evidence really suggest? The Urologic clinics of North America 38 (3):333-342. doi:10.1016/j.ucl.2011.04.007

137. Wilson KM, Kasperzyk JL, Rider JR, Kenfield S, van Dam RM, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci E, Mucci LA (2011) Coffee consumption and prostate cancer risk and progression in the Health Professionals Follow-up Study. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 103 (11):876-884. doi:10.1093/jnci/djr151

138. Etminan M, Takkouche B, Caamano-Isorna F (2004) The role of tomato products and lycopene in the prevention of prostate cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 13 (3):340-345

139. Szymanski KM, Wheeler DC, Mucci LA (2010) Fish consumption and prostate cancer risk: a review and meta-analysis. The American journal of clinical nutrition 92 (5):1223-1233. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2010.29530

140. Chan JM, Holick CN, Leitzmann MF, Rimm EB, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci EL (2006) Diet after diagnosis and the risk of prostate cancer progression, recurrence, and death (United States). Cancer causes & control : CCC 17 (2):199-208. doi:10.1007/s10552-005-0413-4

141. Giovannucci EL, Liu Y, Leitzmann MF, Stampfer MJ, Willett WC (2005) A prospective study of physical activity and incident and fatal prostate cancer. Archives of internal medicine 165 (9):1005-1010. doi:10.1001/archinte.165.9.1005

142. Johnsen NF, Tjonneland A, Thomsen BL, Christensen J, Loft S, Friedenreich C, Key TJ, Allen NE, Lahmann PH, Mejlvig L, Overvad K, Kaaks R, Rohrmann S, Boing H, Misirli G, Trichopoulou A, Zylis D, Tumino R, Pala V, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Kiemeney LA, Suarez LR, Gonzalez CA, Sanchez MJ, Huerta JM, Gurrea AB, Manjer J, Wirfalt E, Khaw KT, Wareham N, Boffetta P, Egevad L, Rinaldi S, Riboli E (2009) Physical activity and risk of prostate cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) cohort. International journal of cancer 125 (4):902-908. doi:10.1002/ijc.24326

143. Gao W, Bohl CE, Dalton JT (2005) Chemistry and structural biology of androgen receptor. Chem Rev 105 (9):3352-3370. doi:10.1021/cr020456u

144. Socorro S (2014) Androgen Receptor: Structural Biology, Genetics and Molecular Defects. Nova Science Publishers, Incorporated,

145. Cleutjens KB, van Eekelen CC, van der Korput HA, Brinkmann AO, Trapman J (1996) Two androgen response regions cooperate in steroid hormone regulated activity of the prostatespecific antigen promoter. The Journal of biological chemistry 271 (11):6379-6388

146. Tennakoon JB, Shi Y, Han JJ, Tsouko E, White MA, Burns AR, Zhang A, Xia X, Ilkayeva OR, Xin L, Ittmann MM, Rick FG, Schally AV, Frigo DE (2013) Androgens regulate prostate cancer cell growth via an AMPK-PGC-1alpha-mediated metabolic switch. Oncogene. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.463

147. Arnoldussen YJ, Wang L, Saatcioglu F (2011) Regulation of apoptosis by androgens in prostate cancer cells. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, NJ) 776:349-360. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-243-4_20

148. Xu Y, Chen SY, Ross KN, Balk SP (2006) Androgens induce prostate cancer cell proliferation through mammalian target of rapamycin activation and post-transcriptional increases in cyclin D proteins. Cancer research 66 (15):7783-7792. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-05-4472

149. Damodaran S, Lang JM, Jarrard DF (2019) Targeting Metastatic Hormone Sensitive Prostate Cancer: Chemohormonal Therapy and New Combinatorial Approaches. The Journal of urology 201 (5):876-885. doi:10.1097/ju.000000000000117

150. Weiner AB, Nettey OS, Morgans AK (2019) Management of Metastatic Hormone-Sensitive Prostate Cancer (mHSPC): an Evolving Treatment Paradigm. Current treatment options in oncology 20 (9):69. doi:10.1007/s11864-019-0668-8

151. Schroder F, Crawford ED, Axcrona K, Payne H, Keane TE (2012) Androgen deprivation therapy: past, present and future. BJU international 109 Suppl 6:1-12. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2012.11215.x

152. Perlmutter MA, Lepor H (2007) Androgen deprivation therapy in the treatment of advanced prostate cancer. Rev Urol 9 Suppl 1 (Suppl 1):S3-S8

153. Polotti CF, Kim CJ, Chuchvara N, Polotti AB, Singer EA, Elsamra S (2017) Androgen deprivation therapy for the treatment of prostate cancer: a focus on pharmacokinetics. Expert opinion on drug metabolism & toxicology 13 (12):1265-1273. doi:10.1080/17425255.2017.1405934

154. Isbarn H, Boccon-Gibod L, Carroll PR, Montorsi F, Schulman C, Smith MR, Sternberg CN, Studer UE (2009) Androgen deprivation therapy for the treatment of prostate cancer: consider both benefits and risks. European urology 55 (1):62-75. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2008.10.008

155. Wang K, Ruan H, Xu T, Liu L, Liu D, Yang H, Zhang X, Chen K (2018) Recent advances on the progressive mechanism and therapy in castration-resistant prostate cancer. OncoTargets and therapy 11:3167-3178. doi:10.2147/ott.s159777

156. Ceder Y, Bjartell A, Culig Z, Rubin MA, Tomlins S, Visakorpi T (2016) The Molecular Evolution of Castration-resistant Prostate Cancer. European urology focus 2 (5):506-513. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2016.11.012

157. Thomas C, Bogemann M, Konig F, Machtens S, Schostak M, Steuber T, Heidenreich A (2016) [Advanced Prostate Cancer Consensus Conference (APCCC) 2015 in St. Gallen : Critical review of the recommendations on diagnosis and therapy of metastatic prostate cancer by a German expert panel]. Der Urologe Ausg A 55 (6):772-782. doi:10.1007/s00120-016-0030-8

158. Parker C, Gillessen S, Heidenreich A, Horwich A (2015) Cancer of the prostate: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology 26 Suppl 5:v69-77. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdv222

159. Small EJ, Youngren J, Thomas G, Olson S, Toschi A, Foye A, Alumkal JJ, Rettig M, Gleave ME, Evans CP, Stuart J, Ryan CJ, Reiter RE, Chi KN, Lara P, Beer TM, Team PSCAWCPCD (2014) Androgen receptor (AR) amplification in patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC) refractory to therapy with abiraterone acetate or enzalutamide: Preliminary results from the SU2C/PCF/AACR West Coast Prostate Cancer Dream Team (WCDT). Journal of Clinical Oncology 32 (15_suppl):5020-5020. doi:10.1200/jco.2014.32.15_suppl.5020

160. Haapala K, Kuukasjarvi T, Hyytinen E, Rantala I, Helin HJ, Koivisto PA (2007) Androgen receptor amplification is associated with increased cell proliferation in prostate cancer. Human pathology 38 (3):474-478. doi:10.1016/j.humpath.2006.09.008

161. Coffey K, Robson CN (2012) Regulation of the androgen receptor by post-translational modifications. The Journal of endocrinology 215 (2):221-237. doi:10.1530/joe-12-0238

162. Liu Y, Karaca M, Zhang Z, Gioeli D, Earp HS, Whang YE (2010) Dasatinib inhibits sitespecific tyrosine phosphorylation of androgen receptor by Ack1 and Src kinases. Oncogene 29 (22):3208-3216. doi:10.1038/onc.2010.103

163. Shu SK, Liu Q, Coppola D, Cheng JQ (2016) Phosphorylation and activation of androgen receptor by Aurora-A. The Journal of biological chemistry 291 (43):22854. doi:10.1074/jbc.A110.121129

164. Veldscholte J, Ris-Stalpers C, Kuiper GG, Jenster G, Berrevoets C, Claassen E, van Rooij HC, Trapman J, Brinkmann AO, Mulder E (1990) A mutation in the ligand binding domain of the androgen receptor of human LNCaP cells affects steroid binding characteristics and response to anti-androgens. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 173 (2):534-540. doi:10.1016/s0006-291x(05)80067-1

165. Rathkopf DE, Smith MR, Ryan CJ, Berry WR, Shore ND, Liu G, Higano CS, Alumkal JJ, Hauke R, Tutrone RF, Saleh M, Chow Maneval E, Thomas S, Ricci DS, Yu MK, de Boer CJ, Trinh A, Kheoh T, Bandekar R, Scher HI, Antonarakis ES (2017) Androgen receptor mutations in patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer treated with apalutamide. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology 28 (9):2264-2271. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdx283

166. Ceraline J, Cruchant MD, Erdmann E, Erbs P, Kurtz JE, Duclos B, Jacqmin D, Chopin D, Bergerat JP (2004) Constitutive activation of the androgen receptor by a point mutation in the hinge region: a new mechanism for androgen-independent growth in prostate cancer. International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 108 (1):152-157. doi:10.1002/ijc.11404

167. Taplin ME, Bubley GJ, Shuster TD, Frantz ME, Spooner AE, Ogata GK, Keer HN, Balk SP (1995) Mutation of the androgen-receptor gene in metastatic androgen-independent prostate cancer. The New England journal of medicine 332 (21):1393-1398. doi:10.1056/nejm199505253322101

168. Sun C, Shi Y, Xu LL, Nageswararao C, Davis LD, Segawa T, Dobi A, McLeod DG, Srivastava S (2006) Androgen receptor mutation (T877A) promotes prostate cancer cell growth and cell survival. Oncogene 25 (28):3905-3913. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209424

169. Tilley WD, Buchanan G, Hickey TE, Bentel JM (1996) Mutations in the androgen receptor gene are associated with progression of human prostate cancer to androgen independence. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 2 (2):277-285

170. Gaddipati JP, McLeod DG, Heidenberg HB, Sesterhenn IA, Finger MJ, Moul JW, Srivastava S (1994) Frequent detection of codon 877 mutation in the androgen receptor gene in advanced prostate cancers. Cancer research 54 (11):2861-2864

171. Suzuki H, Akakura K, Komiya A, Aida S, Akimoto S, Shimazaki J (1996) Codon 877 mutation in the androgen receptor gene in advanced prostate cancer: relation to antiandrogen withdrawal syndrome. The Prostate 29 (3):153-158

172. Anand AU, Bjartell A (2015) Re: AR-V7 and Resistance to Enzalutamide and Abiraterone in Prostate Cancer. European urology 67 (2):349-350. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.11.020

173. Sharp A, Coleman I, Yuan W, Sprenger C, Dolling D, Rodrigues DN, Russo JW, Figueiredo I, Bertan C, Seed G, Riisnaes R, Uo T, Neeb A, Welti J, Morrissey C, Carreira S, Luo J, Nelson PS, Balk SP, True LD, de Bono JS, Plymate SR (2019) Androgen receptor splice variant-7 expression emerges with castration resistance in prostate cancer. The Journal of clinical investigation 129 (1):192-208. doi:10.1172/JCI122819

174. Wadosky KM, Koochekpour S (2017) Androgen receptor splice variants and prostate cancer: From bench to bedside. Oncotarget 8 (11):18550-18576. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.14537

175. Qu Y, Dai B, Ye D, Kong Y, Chang K, Jia Z, Yang X, Zhang H, Zhu Y, Shi G (2015) Constitutively active AR-V7 plays an essential role in the development and progression of castration-resistant prostate cancer. Scientific reports 5:7654. doi:10.1038/srep07654

176. Scher HI, Lu D, Schreiber NA, Louw J, Graf RP, Vargas HA, Johnson A, Jendrisak A, Bambury R, Danila D, McLaughlin B, Wahl J, Greene SB, Heller G, Marrinucci D, Fleisher M, Dittamore R (2016) Association of AR-V7 on Circulating Tumor Cells as a Treatment-Specific Biomarker With Outcomes and Survival in Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. JAMA oncology 2 (11):1441-1449. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.1828

177. Scher HI, Graf RP, Schreiber NA, Jayaram A, Winquist E, McLaughlin B, Lu D, Fleisher M, Orr S, Lowes L, Anderson A, Wang Y, Dittamore R, Allan AL, Attard G, Heller G (2018) Assessment of the Validity of Nuclear-Localized Androgen Receptor Splice Variant 7 in Circulating Tumor Cells as a Predictive Biomarker for Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. JAMA oncology 4 (9):1179-1186. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.1621

178. Sharp A, Coleman I, Yuan W, Sprenger C, Dolling D, Rodrigues DN, Russo JW, Figueiredo I, Bertan C, Seed G, Riisnaes R, Uo T, Neeb A, Welti J, Morrissey C, Carreira S, Luo J, Nelson PS, Balk SP, True LD, de Bono JS, Plymate SR (2019) Androgen receptor splice variant-7 expression emerges with castration resistance in prostate cancer. The Journal of clinical investigation 129 (1):192-208. doi:10.1172/jci122819

179. Cato L, de Tribolet-Hardy J, Lee I, Rottenberg JT, Coleman I, Melchers D, Houtman R, Xiao T, Li W, Uo T, Sun S, Kuznik NC, Göppert B, Ozgun F, van Royen ME, Houtsmuller AB, Vadhi R, Rao PK, Li L, Balk SP, Den RB, Trock BJ, Karnes RJ, Jenkins RB, Klein EA, Davicioni E, Gruhl FJ, Long HW, Liu XS, Cato ACB, Lack NA, Nelson PS, Plymate SR, Groner AC, Brown M

(2019) ARv7 Represses Tumor-Suppressor Genes in Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Cancer cell 35 (3):401-413.e406. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2019.01.008

180. Chen Z, Wu D, Thomas-Ahner JM, Lu C, Zhao P, Zhang Q, Geraghty C, Yan PS, Hankey W, Sunkel B, Cheng X, Antonarakis ES, Wang QE, Liu Z, Huang TH, Jin VX, Clinton SK, Luo J, Huang J, Wang Q (2018) Diverse AR-V7 cistromes in castration-resistant prostate cancer are governed by HoxB13. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 115 (26):6810-6815. doi:10.1073/pnas.1718811115

181. Thadani-Mulero M, Portella L, Sun S, Sung M, Matov A, Vessella RL, Corey E, Nanus DM, Plymate SR, Giannakakou P (2014) Androgen receptor splice variants determine taxane sensitivity in prostate cancer. Cancer research 74 (8):2270-2282. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-13-2876

182. Cato L, de Tribolet-Hardy J, Lee I, Rottenberg JT, Coleman I, Melchers D, Houtman R, Xiao T, Li W, Uo T, Sun S, Kuznik NC, Goppert B, Ozgun F, van Royen ME, Houtsmuller AB, Vadhi R, Rao PK, Li L, Balk SP, Den RB, Trock BJ, Karnes RJ, Jenkins RB, Klein EA, Davicioni E, Gruhl FJ, Long HW, Liu XS, Cato ACB, Lack NA, Nelson PS, Plymate SR, Groner AC, Brown M (2019) ARv7 Represses Tumor-Suppressor Genes in Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Cancer cell 35 (3):401-413.e406. doi:10.1016/j.ccell.2019.01.008

183. Lin SJ, Chou FJ, Li L, Lin CY, Yeh S, Chang C (2017) Natural killer cells suppress enzalutamide resistance and cell invasion in the castration resistant prostate cancer via targeting the androgen receptor splicing variant 7 (ARv7). Cancer letters 398:62-69. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2017.03.035

184. Efstathiou E, Titus M, Wen S, Hoang A, Karlou M, Ashe R, Tu SM, Aparicio A, Troncoso P, Mohler J, Logothetis CJ (2015) Molecular characterization of enzalutamide-treated bone metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. European urology 67 (1):53-60. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.05.005

185. Heemers HV, Tindall DJ (2007) Androgen receptor (AR) coregulators: a diversity of functions converging on and regulating the AR transcriptional complex. Endocrine reviews 28 (7):778-808. doi:10.1210/er.2007-0019

186. Culig Z (2016) Androgen Receptor Coactivators in Regulation of Growth and Differentiation in Prostate Cancer. Journal of cellular physiology 231 (2):270-274. doi:10.1002/jcp.25099

187. Wolf IM, Heitzer MD, Grubisha M, DeFranco DB (2008) Coactivators and nuclear receptor transactivation. Journal of cellular biochemistry 104 (5):1580-1586. doi:10.1002/jcb.21755

188. Culig Z, Santer FR (2012) Androgen receptor co-activators in the regulation of cellular events in prostate cancer. World journal of urology 30 (3):297-302. doi:10.1007/s00345-011-0797-6

189. Halkidou K, Gnanapragasam VJ, Mehta PB, Logan IR, Brady ME, Cook S, Leung HY, Neal DE, Robson CN (2003) Expression of Tip60, an androgen receptor coactivator, and its role in prostate cancer development. Oncogene 22 (16):2466-2477. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1206342

190. Peng Y, Li CX, Chen F, Wang Z, Ligr M, Melamed J, Wei J, Gerald W, Pagano M, Garabedian MJ, Lee P (2008) Stimulation of prostate cancer cellular proliferation and invasion by the androgen receptor co-activator ARA70. The American journal of pathology 172 (1):225-235. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.070065

191. Lee SO, Lou W, Nadiminty N, Lin X, Gao AC (2005) Requirement for NF-(kappa)B in interleukin-4-induced androgen receptor activation in prostate cancer cells. The Prostate 64 (2):160-167. doi:10.1002/pros.20218

192. Waugh DJ, Wilson C (2008) The interleukin-8 pathway in cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 14 (21):6735-6741. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-07-4843

193. Godoy AS, Sotomayor PC, Villagran M, Yacoub R, Montecinos VP, McNerney EM, Moser M, Foster BA, Onate SA (2012) Altered corepressor SMRT expression and recruitment to target genes as a mechanism that change the response to androgens in prostate cancer progression. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 423 (3):564-570. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.06.005

194. Morgan TM, Koreckij TD, Corey E (2009) Targeted therapy for advanced prostate cancer: inhibition of the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway. Current cancer drug targets 9 (2):237-249

195. Graff JR, Konicek BW, McNulty AM, Wang Z, Houck K, Allen S, Paul JD, Hbaiu A, Goode RG, Sandusky GE, Vessella RL, Neubauer BL (2000) Increased AKT activity contributes to prostate cancer progression by dramatically accelerating prostate tumor growth and diminishing p27Kip1 expression. The Journal of biological chemistry 275 (32):24500-24505. doi:10.1074/jbc.M003145200

196. Mulholland DJ, Tran LM, Li Y, Cai H, Morim A, Wang S, Plaisier S, Garraway IP, Huang J, Graeber TG, Wu H (2011) Cell autonomous role of PTEN in regulating castration-resistant prostate cancer growth. Cancer cell 19 (6):792-804. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.05.006

197. Carver BS, Chapinski C, Wongvipat J, Hieronymus H, Chen Y, Chandarlapaty S, Arora VK, Le C, Koutcher J, Scher H, Scardino PT, Rosen N, Sawyers CL (2011) Reciprocal feedback regulation of PI3K and androgen receptor signaling in PTEN-deficient prostate cancer. Cancer cell 19 (5):575-586. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2011.04.008

198. Mukherjee R, McGuinness DH, McCall P, Underwood MA, Seywright M, Orange C, Edwards J (2011) Upregulation of MAPK pathway is associated with survival in castrate-resistant prostate cancer. British journal of cancer 104 (12):1920-1928. doi:10.1038/bjc.2011.163

199. Gelman IH (2014) Androgen receptor activation in castration-recurrent prostate cancer: the role of Src-family and Ack1 tyrosine kinases. International journal of biological sciences 10 (6):620-626. doi:10.7150/ijbs.8264

200. Yeh S, Lin HK, Kang HY, Thin TH, Lin MF, Chang C (1999) From HER2/Neu signal cascade to androgen receptor and its coactivators: a novel pathway by induction of androgen target genes through MAP kinase in prostate cancer cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96 (10):5458-5463. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.10.5458

201. Edwards J, Krishna NS, Witton CJ, Bartlett JM (2003) Gene amplifications associated with the development of hormone-resistant prostate cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 9 (14):5271-5281

202. Mahajan NP, Liu Y, Majumder S, Warren MR, Parker CE, Mohler JL, Earp HS, Whang YE (2007) Activated Cdc42-associated kinase Ack1 promotes prostate cancer progression via androgen receptor tyrosine phosphorylation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104 (20):8438-8443. doi:10.1073/pnas.0700420104

203. Craft N, Shostak Y, Carey M, Sawyers CL (1999) A mechanism for hormone-independent prostate cancer through modulation of androgen receptor signaling by the HER-2/neu tyrosine kinase. Nature medicine 5 (3):280-285. doi:10.1038/6495

204. Ricciardelli C, Jackson MW, Choong CS, Stahl J, Marshall VR, Horsfall DJ, Tilley WD (2008) Elevated levels of HER-2/neu and androgen receptor in clinically localized prostate cancer identifies metastatic potential. The Prostate 68 (8):830-838. doi:10.1002/pros.20747

205. Nishio Y, Yamada Y, Kokubo H, Nakamura K, Aoki S, Taki T, Honda N, Nakagawa A, Saga S, Hara K (2006) Prognostic significance of immunohistochemical expression of the HER-2/neu oncoprotein in bone metastatic prostate cancer. Urology 68 (1):110-115. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2006.01.060

206. Makridakis N, Ross RK, Pike MC, Chang L, Stanczyk FZ, Kolonel LN, Shi CY, Yu MC, Henderson BE, Reichardt JK (1997) A prevalent missense substitution that modulates activity of prostatic steroid 5alpha-reductase. Cancer research 57 (6):1020-1022

207. Das K, Lorena PD, Ng LK, Lim D, Shen L, Siow WY, Teh M, Reichardt JK, Salto-Tellez M (2010) Differential expression of steroid 5alpha-reductase isozymes and association with disease severity and angiogenic genes predict their biological role in prostate cancer. Endocrine-related cancer 17 (3):757-770. doi:10.1677/erc-10-0022

208. Thomas LN, Lazier CB, Gupta R, Norman RW, Troyer DA, O'Brien SP, Rittmaster RS (2005) Differential alterations in 5alpha-reductase type 1 and type 2 levels during development and progression of prostate cancer. The Prostate 63 (3):231-239. doi:10.1002/pros.20188

209. Godoy A, Kawinski E, Li Y, Oka D, Alexiev B, Azzouni F, Titus MA, Mohler JL (2011) 5alpha-reductase type 3 expression in human benign and malignant tissues: a comparative

analysis during prostate cancer progression. The Prostate 71 (10):1033-1046. doi:10.1002/pros.21318

210. Montgomery RB, Mostaghel EA, Vessella R, Hess DL, Kalhorn TF, Higano CS, True LD, Nelson PS (2008) Maintenance of intratumoral androgens in metastatic prostate cancer: a mechanism for castration-resistant tumor growth. Cancer research 68 (11):4447-4454. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-0249

211. Yin L, Hu Q (2014) CYP17 inhibitors--abiraterone, C17,20-lyase inhibitors and multitargeting agents. Nature reviews Urology 11 (1):32-42. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2013.274

212. Knuuttila M, Yatkin E, Kallio J, Savolainen S, Laajala TD, Aittokallio T, Oksala R, Hakkinen M, Keski-Rahkonen P, Auriola S, Poutanen M, Makela S (2014) Castration induces upregulation of intratumoral androgen biosynthesis and androgen receptor expression in an orthotopic VCaP human prostate cancer xenograft model. Am J Pathol 184 (8):2163-2173. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.04.010

213. Rizzo S, Attard G, Hudson DL (2005) Prostate epithelial stem cells. Cell proliferation 38 (6):363-374. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2184.2005.00356.x

214. Collins AT, Berry PA, Hyde C, Stower MJ, Maitland NJ (2005) Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer research 65 (23):10946-10951. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-05-2018

215. Leong KG, Wang BE, Johnson L, Gao WQ (2008) Generation of a prostate from a single adult stem cell. Nature 456 (7223):804-808. doi:10.1038/nature07427

216. Maitland NJ, Collins A (2005) A tumour stem cell hypothesis for the origins of prostate cancer. BJU international 96 (9):1219-1223. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2005.05744.x

217. Ojo D, Lin X, Wong N, Gu Y, Tang D (2015) Prostate Cancer Stem-like Cells Contribute to the Development of Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Cancers (Basel) 7 (4):2290-2308. doi:10.3390/cancers7040890

218. Carvalho TM, Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S (2019) The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: A route to metastasization and a target for therapy. European journal of medicinal chemistry 171:343-363. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.03.053

219. Costello LC, Liu Y, Franklin RB, Kennedy MC (1997) Zinc inhibition of mitochondrial aconitase and its importance in citrate metabolism of prostate epithelial cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 272 (46):28875-28881. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.46.28875

220. Costello LC, Franklin RB (1991) Concepts of citrate production and secretion by prostate.1. Metabolic relationships. The Prostate 18 (1):25-46. doi:10.1002/pros.2990180104

221. Costello LC, Feng P, Milon B, Tan M, Franklin RB (2004) Role of zinc in the pathogenesis and treatment of prostate cancer: critical issues to resolve. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 7 (2):111-117. doi:10.1038/sj.pcan.4500712

222. Costello LC, Franklin RB (2000) The intermediary metabolism of the prostate: a key to understanding the pathogenesis and progression of prostate malignancy. Oncology 59 (4):269-282. doi:10.1159/000012183

223. Schlaepfer IR, Rider L, Rodrigues LU, Gijon MA, Pac CT, Romero L, Cimic A, Sirintrapun SJ, Glode LM, Eckel RH, Cramer SD (2014) Lipid catabolism via CPT1 as a therapeutic target for prostate cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (10):2361-2371. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-14-0183

224. Pan T, Gao L, Wu G, Shen G, Xie S, Wen H, Yang J, Zhou Y, Tu Z, Qian W (2015) Elevated expression of glutaminase confers glucose utilization via glutaminolysis in prostate cancer. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 456 (1):452-458. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.11.105

225. Litwin MS, Tan HJ (2017) The Diagnosis and Treatment of Prostate Cancer: A Review. Jama 317 (24):2532-2542. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.7248

226. Loeb S, Catalona WJ (2009) What is the role of digital rectal examination in men undergoing serial screening of serum PSA levels? Nature Clinical Practice Urology 6:68. doi:10.1038/ncpuro1294

227. Ercole CJ, Lange PH, Mathisen M, Chiou RK, Reddy PK, Vessella RL (1987) Prostatic specific antigen and prostatic acid phosphatase in the monitoring and staging of patients with prostatic cancer. The Journal of urology 138 (5):1181-1184. doi:10.1016/s0022-5347(17)43543-9

228. Kurtz CW, Valk WL (1960) Limitations of prostatic acid phosphatase determination in carcinoma of phostate. The Journal of urology 83:74-79. doi:10.1016/s0022-5347(17)65660-x

229. Neal DE (2010) PSA testing for prostate cancer improves survival--but can we do better? The lancet oncology 11 (8):702-703. doi:10.1016/s1470-2045(10)70152-2

230. Phillips R (2014) Prostate cancer: PSA update[mdash]no change yet. Nat Rev Urol 11 (9):483-483. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2014.210

231. Thompson IM, Pauler DK, Goodman PJ, Tangen CM, Lucia MS, Parnes HL, Minasian LM, Ford LG, Lippman SM, Crawford ED, Crowley JJ, Coltman CA, Jr. (2004) Prevalence of prostate cancer among men with a prostate-specific antigen level < or =4.0 ng per milliliter. The New England journal of medicine 350 (22):2239-2246. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa031918

232. Mulders TM, Bruning PF, Bonfrer JM (1990) Prostate-specific antigen (PSA). A tissuespecific and sensitive tumor marker. European journal of surgical oncology : the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology 16 (1):37-41

233. Oesterling JE, Rice DC, Glenski WJ, Bergstralh EJ (1993) Effect of cystoscopy, prostate biopsy, and transurethral resection of prostate on serum prostate-specific antigen concentration. Urology 42 (3):276-282. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-4295(93)90616-I

234. Nadler RB, Humphrey PA, Smith DS, Catalona WJ, Ratliff TL (1995) Effect of Inflammation and Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia on Elevated Serum Prostate Specific Antigen Levels. The Journal of urology 154 (2):407-413. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5347(01)67064-2

235. Lee R, Localio AR, Armstrong K, Malkowicz SB, Schwartz JS (2006) A meta-analysis of the performance characteristics of the free prostate-specific antigen test. Urology 67 (4):762-768. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urology.2005.10.052

236. Tang P, Du W, Xie K, Deng X, Fu J, Chen H, Yang W (2013) Transition zone PSA density improves the prostate cancer detection rate both in PSA 4.0-10.0 and 10.1-20.0 ng/ml in Chinese men. Urologic Oncology: Seminars and Original Investigations 31 (6):744-748. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.urolonc.2011.06.012

237. Oesterling JE, Jacobsen SJ, Cooner WH (1995) The Use of Age-Specific Reference Ranges for Serum Prostate Specific Anitgen in Men 60 years Old or Older. The Journal of urology 153 (4):1160-1163. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5347(01)67538-4

238. Carter HB, Ferrucci L, Kettermann A, Landis P, Wright EJ, Epstein JI, Trock BJ, Metter EJ (2006) Detection of Life-Threatening Prostate Cancer With Prostate-Specific Antigen Velocity During a Window of Curability. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute 98 (21):1521-1527. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj410

239. Hodge KK, McNeal JE, Terris MK, Stamey TA (1989) Random systematic versus directed ultrasound guided transrectal core biopsies of the prostate. The Journal of urology 142 (1):71-74; discussion 74-75. doi:10.1016/s0022-5347(17)38664-0

240. Filella X, Fernandez-Galan E, Fernandez Bonifacio R, Foj L (2018) Emerging biomarkers in the diagnosis of prostate cancer. Pharmacogenomics and personalized medicine 11:83-94. doi:10.2147/pgpm.s136026

241. Hessels D, Schalken JA (2009) The use of PCA3 in the diagnosis of prostate cancer. Nature reviews Urology 6 (5):255-261. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2009.40

242. Attard G, Swennenhuis JF, Olmos D, Reid AH, Vickers E, A'Hern R, Levink R, Coumans F, Moreira J, Riisnaes R, Oommen NB, Hawche G, Jameson C, Thompson E, Sipkema R, Carden CP, Parker C, Dearnaley D, Kaye SB, Cooper CS, Molina A, Cox ME, Terstappen LW, de Bono JS (2009) Characterization of ERG, AR and PTEN gene status in circulating tumor cells from patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer. Cancer research 69 (7):2912-2918. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-3667

243. Hofer C, Laubenbacher C, Block T, Breul J, Hartung R, Schwaiger M (1999) Fluorine-18fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography is useless for the detection of local recurrence after radical prostatectomy. European urology 36 (1):31-35. doi:10.1159/000019923 244. Yoshimoto M, Waki A, Yonekura Y, Sadato N, Murata T, Omata N, Takahashi N, Welch MJ, Fujibayashi Y (2001) Characterization of acetate metabolism in tumor cells in relation to cell proliferation: acetate metabolism in tumor cells. Nuclear medicine and biology 28 (2):117-122. doi:10.1016/s0969-8051(00)00195-5

245. Swinnen JV, Van Veldhoven PP, Timmermans L, De Schrijver E, Brusselmans K, Vanderhoydonc F, Van de Sande T, Heemers H, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (2003) Fatty acid synthase drives the synthesis of phospholipids partitioning into detergent-resistant membrane microdomains. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 302 (4):898-903. doi:10.1016/s0006-291x(03)00265-1

246. Jambor I, Borra R, Kemppainen J, Lepomaki V, Parkkola R, Dean K, Alanen K, Arponen E, Nurmi M, Aronen HJ, Minn H (2010) Functional imaging of localized prostate cancer aggressiveness using 11C-acetate PET/CT and 1H-MR spectroscopy. J Nucl Med 51 (11):1676-1683. doi:10.2967/jnumed.110.078667

247. Evidence-based indications for the use of PET-CT in the United Kingdom 2016 (2016). Clinical radiology 71 (7):e171-188. doi:10.1016/j.crad.2016.05.001

248. Futterer JJ (2007) MR imaging in local staging of prostate cancer. European journal of radiology 63 (3):328-334. doi:10.1016/j.ejrad.2007.06.029

249. Chen J, Oromendia C, Halpern JA, Ballman KV (2018) National trends in management of localized prostate cancer: A population based analysis 2004-2013. The Prostate 78 (7):512-520. doi:10.1002/pros.23496

250. Garcia-Baquero R, Fernandez-Avila CM, Alvarez-Ossorio JL (2018) Functional results in the treatment of localized prostate cancer. An updated literature review. Revista internacional de andrologia. doi:10.1016/j.androl.2018.06.002

251. Zelefsky MJ, Eastham JA, Cronin AM, Fuks Z, Zhang Z, Yamada Y, Vickers A, Scardino PT (2010) Metastasis after radical prostatectomy or external beam radiotherapy for patients with clinically localized prostate cancer: a comparison of clinical cohorts adjusted for case mix. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 28 (9):1508-1513. doi:10.1200/jco.2009.22.2265

252. Mohler JL, Antonarakis ES, Armstrong AJ, D'Amico AV, Davis BJ, Dorff T, Eastham JA, Enke CA, Farrington TA, Higano CS, Horwitz EM, Hurwitz M, Ippolito JE, Kane CJ, Kuettel MR, Lang JM, McKenney J, Netto G, Penson DF, Plimack ER, Pow-Sang JM, Pugh TJ, Richey S, Roach M, Rosenfeld S, Schaeffer E, Shabsigh A, Small EJ, Spratt DE, Srinivas S, Tward J, Shead DA, Freedman-Cass DA (2019) Prostate Cancer, Version 2.2019, NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology. Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network : JNCCN 17 (5):479-505. doi:10.6004/jnccn.2019.0023

253. Nguyen PL, Alibhai SM, Basaria S, D'Amico AV, Kantoff PW, Keating NL, Penson DF, Rosario DJ, Tombal B, Smith MR (2015) Adverse effects of androgen deprivation therapy and

strategies to mitigate them. European urology 67 (5):825-836. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.07.010

254. Nead KT, Gaskin G, Chester C, Swisher-McClure S, Leeper NJ, Shah NH (2017) Association Between Androgen Deprivation Therapy and Risk of Dementia. JAMA oncology 3 (1):49-55. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.3662

255. Cockshott ID (2004) Bicalutamide: clinical pharmacokinetics and metabolism. Clinical pharmacokinetics 43 (13):855-878. doi:10.2165/00003088-200443130-00003

256. Linder S, van der Poel HG, Bergman AM, Zwart W, Prekovic S (2018) Enzalutamide therapy for advanced prostate cancer: efficacy, resistance and beyond. Endocrine-related cancer 26 (1):R31-R52. doi:10.1530/ERC-18-0289

257. Ciccarese C, Nobili E, Grilli D, Casolari L, Rihawi K, Gelsomino F, Tortora G, Massari F (2016) The safety and efficacy of enzalutamide in the treatment of advanced prostate cancer. Expert review of anticancer therapy 16 (7):681-696. doi:10.1080/14737140.2016.1192468

258. Sumanasuriya S, De Bono J (2018) Treatment of Advanced Prostate Cancer-A Review of Current Therapies and Future Promise. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine 8 (6). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a030635

259. Oudard S, Fizazi K, Sengelov L, Daugaard G, Saad F, Hansen S, Hjalm-Eriksson M, Jassem J, Thiery-Vuillemin A, Caffo O, Castellano D, Mainwaring PN, Bernard J, Shen L, Chadjaa M, Sartor O (2017) Cabazitaxel Versus Docetaxel As First-Line Therapy for Patients With Metastatic Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer: A Randomized Phase III Trial-FIRSTANA. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 35 (28):3189-3197. doi:10.1200/jco.2016.72.1068

260. van Soest RJ, de Wit R (2015) Irrefutable evidence for the use of docetaxel in newly diagnosed metastatic prostate cancer: results from the STAMPEDE and CHAARTED trials. BMC medicine 13:304. doi:10.1186/s12916-015-0543-9

261. Francini E, Sweeney CJ (2016) Docetaxel Activity in the Era of Life-prolonging Hormonal Therapies for Metastatic Castration-resistant Prostate Cancer. European urology 70 (3):410-412. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2016.05.002

262. Halabi S, Dutta S, Tangen CM, Rosenthal M, Petrylak DP, Thompson IM, Jr., Chi KN, Araujo JC, Logothetis C, Quinn DI, Fizazi K, Morris MJ, Eisenberger MA, George DJ, De Bono JS, Higano CS, Tannock IF, Small EJ, Kelly WK (2019) Overall Survival of Black and White Men With Metastatic Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer Treated With Docetaxel. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 37 (5):403-410. doi:10.1200/jco.18.01279

263. de Bono JS, Oudard S, Ozguroglu M, Hansen S, Machiels JP, Kocak I, Gravis G, Bodrogi I, Mackenzie MJ, Shen L, Roessner M, Gupta S, Sartor AO (2010) Prednisone plus cabazitaxel or mitoxantrone for metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer progressing after docetaxel

treatment: a randomised open-label trial. Lancet (London, England) 376 (9747):1147-1154. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(10)61389-x

264. Antonarakis ES, Tagawa ST, Galletti G, Worroll D, Ballman K, Vanhuyse M, Sonpavde G, North S, Albany C, Tsao CK, Stewart J, Zaher A, Szatrowski T, Zhou W, Gjyrezi A, Tasaki S, Portella L, Bai Y, Lannin TB, Suri S, Gruber CN, Pratt ED, Kirby BJ, Eisenberger MA, Nanus DM, Saad F, Giannakakou P (2017) Randomized, Noncomparative, Phase II Trial of Early Switch From Docetaxel to Cabazitaxel or Vice Versa, With Integrated Biomarker Analysis, in Men With Chemotherapy-Naive, Metastatic, Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 35 (28):3181-3188. doi:10.1200/jco.2017.72.4138

265. Tsao C-K, Cutting E, Martin J, Oh WK (2014) The role of cabazitaxel in the treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. Ther Adv Urol 6 (3):97-104. doi:10.1177/1756287214528557

266. Parker C, Nilsson S, Heinrich D, Helle SI, O'Sullivan JM, Fossa SD, Chodacki A, Wiechno P, Logue J, Seke M, Widmark A, Johannessen DC, Hoskin P, Bottomley D, James ND, Solberg A, Syndikus I, Kliment J, Wedel S, Boehmer S, Dall'Oglio M, Franzen L, Coleman R, Vogelzang NJ, O'Bryan-Tear CG, Staudacher K, Garcia-Vargas J, Shan M, Bruland OS, Sartor O (2013) Alpha emitter radium-223 and survival in metastatic prostate cancer. The New England journal of medicine 369 (3):213-223. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1213755

267. Aggarwal R, Bryce A, Ryan CJ, Harzstark A, Derleth C, Kim W, Friedlander T, Lin AM, Rodvelt-Bagchi T, Dhawan M, Zhang L, Lee M, Siebeneck E, Hough J, Small EJ (2017) A multicenter phase I study of cabazitaxel, mitoxantrone, and prednisone for chemotherapynaive patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: A department of defense prostate cancer clinical trials consortium study. Urologic oncology 35 (4):149.e147-149.e113. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2016.11.005

268. Fernandez O, Afonso J, Vazquez S, Campos B, Lazaro M, Leon L, Anton Aparicio LM (2014) Metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer: changing landscape with cabazitaxel. Anti-cancer drugs 25 (3):237-243. doi:10.1097/cad.0000000000000045

269. Mulders PF, De Santis M, Powles T, Fizazi K (2015) Targeted treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer with sipuleucel-T immunotherapy. Cancer immunology, immunotherapy : CII 64 (6):655-663. doi:10.1007/s00262-015-1707-3

270. Pollard ME, Moskowitz AJ, Diefenbach MA, Hall SJ (2017) Cost-effectiveness analysis of treatments for metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer. Asian journal of urology 4 (1):37-43. doi:10.1016/j.ajur.2016.11.005

Chapter 2

The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: a route to metastasization and a target for therapy

This Chapter was submitted published as:

Carvalho TM[#], **Cardoso HJ**[#], Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S. The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: a route to metastasization and a target for therapy. Eur J Med Chem. 2019 1;171:343-363. doi: 10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.03.053

Contributed equally

Abstract

The last decade has witnessed the peculiarities of metabolic reprogramming in tumour onset and progression, and their relevance in cancer therapy. Also, it has been indicated that the metastatic process may depend on the metabolic rewiring and adaptation of cancer cells to the pressure of tumour microenvironment and limiting nutrient availability. The present review gatherers the existent knowledge on the influence of tumour microenvironment and metabolic routes driving metastasis. A focus will be given to glycolysis, fatty acid metabolism, glutaminolysis, and amino acid handling. In addition, the role of metabolic waste driving metastasization will be explored. Finally, we discuss the status of cancer treatment approaches targeting metabolism. This knowledge revision will highlight the critical metabolic targets in metastasis and the chemicals already used in preclinical studies and clinical trials, providing clues that would be further exploited in medicinal chemistry research.

Keywords: cancer; metabolism; metastasization; therapy; tumour microenvironment; metabolic waste

2.1. Introduction

Despite the enormous advances that have been made in the comprehension of tumour cell biology and development of innovative therapeutic strategies, 90% of cancer-associated deaths occur in consequence of metastasis, since the majority of patients with advanced metastatic disease do not respond to the current therapies [1]. This is mainly due to the complexity of tumour development, existing more than 200 distinct cancers "entities" depending on cell origin, mutations and genetic variability, and on the crosstalk with the tumour microenvironment [2], which greatly compromises the effectiveness of any therapy.

The metastatic process involves the dissemination of tumour cells from the primary tumour and seeding and development of new colonies in distant tissues. Although not completely understood, this is a multi-step process called the invasion-metastasis cascade triggered by the continuous cell proliferation, angiogenesis, accumulated genetic alterations and activation of complex pathways in the primary tumour [2,3]. More recently, the capacity of cancer cells to reprogram energy metabolism was reintroduced into the puzzling complexity of tumour development and progression [4], and has been explored in the context of therapy.

The initial considerations about metabolic reprogramming in cancer were stated by Otto Warburg and colleagues during the early twentieth century, which demonstrated that tumour cells display increased glucose consumption and enhanced glycolytic capacity (Fig. 2.1.) in detriment of the use of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) even in the presence of high oxygen concentrations [5]. Actually, both OXPHOS and glycolysis are recognized pathways supporting tumour cells survival and growth, and it is known that the

lactate resulting from the enhanced glycolytic activity can promote mitochondrial metabolism and can be used to generate alanine and glutamate [6,7]. The lactate exported to the extracellular space contributes to the acidification of microenvironment and remodelling of extracellular-matrix promoting tumour dissemination, and can also be taken up by neighbouring cells and used as a metabolic fuel enhancing cell survival and proliferation [6]. Nevertheless, cancer cells reliance on other metabolic pathways has been gaining increasing relevance. It has been widely accepted that tumour cells use glutamine as a substrate for energy production, maintaining the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle and being important also for redox homeostasis, and nucleotide and fatty acid (FA) synthesis [8]. Concerning lipids, these are crucial targets in cancer cell biology, as the *de novo* lipid synthesis is necessary for membrane assembly in cell division. Citrate, a key metabolite of the TCA cycle, is a precursor for lipid biosynthesis and is also taken up and metabolized by cancer cells [9]. Also, FA consumption through β-oxidation is important as an energy source, contributing to generate NADH and/or NADPH, supporting ATP production and redox balance, and other biosynthetic reactions [6].

More challenging is the role of the metabolic waste products (e.g. acetate and ketone bodies) that have been emerged as active molecules capable of modulating cancer cells metabolism, and that can also be used as a bioenergetic source for tumour cells [10].

Also, cannot be ignored the experiments that evidence the metabolic cooperation among cancer cells themselves, as well as with other surrounding cells, in which cells transfer catabolites to each other, allowing tumour cells survival in a nutrient-deficient environment [6].

Finally, it has been demonstrated that tumour cells suffer metabolic adjustments during tumour progression and metastasization, which are crucial to their adaptation and survival in "hostile" microenvironments with nutrient and oxygen fluctuations and with high pressure from a variety of extracellular signals [11]. Nevertheless, a deep understanding of all the metabolic strategies adopted by cancer cells during the metastatic process still is a challenge.

The present review addresses the influence of tumour microenvironment and the metabolic alterations known to be involved in the metastatic process, namely, those concerning glucose, lipid, glutamine and non-essential amino acids metabolism. The role of metabolic waste products driving metastasization also will be discussed. Lastly, the review summarises the therapeutic approaches employed for treatment of metastatic and non-metastatic cancers having metabolism as a target. It is expected all gathered information will provide insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying metabolic alterations driven metastasis and highlight important targets that would be exploited in medicinal chemistry in the design of new compounds.

2.2. Generalities of the metastatic process

The sequence of events occurring in the invasion-metastasis cascade starts with the dissemination of a single cell or tumour clusters in a process that resembles, at molecular and cellular levels, the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) occurring in embryogenesis [2,12]. The EMT enables cancer cells to acquire multiple malignant features crucial to the development of metastatic capacity, as the loss of adhesion and alteration of cell morphology. These changes mainly result from the diminished expression of cytokeratins and E-cadherin (an intercellular adhesion molecule and key marker of the epithelial phenotype), and increased expression of E-cadherin repressors (e.g. SNAIL), and N-cadherin and vimentin, both well-known markers of the mesenchymal phenotype [13-15]. The altered expression of these molecular players triggers cell detachment and the acquisition of a motile phenotype, which together with the increased ability to degrade components of the extracellular matrix, through the increased the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), promotes the invasion of tumour cells to the surrounding tissue [14].

The metastatic process progresses with the intravasation of tumour cells through the nearly blood vessel endothelial cells to the circulation, were the circulating tumour cells, exposed to a hostile environment, will gain immune and physical protection conferred by the platelets and neutrophils actions [2]. Circulating tumour cells may be arrested on the vessel surface and overflow thought the blood vessels walls by different mechanisms depending on the tissue: i) proliferating in the lumina of the vessels leading to endothelial wall rupture and directly accessing the tissue parenchyma [16]; ii) passing in a passive way; or iii) passing through the blood vessels walls by a process termed transendothelial migration, which depends on bioactive factors released from the cancer and immune system cells that promote an increase on vascular permeability [17].

The metastatic process ends with tumour cells colonization in the host tissue, which may regain epithelial characteristics and form a secondary tumour [14]. This process, as the initial activation of the EMT, is dependent on the interaction of tumour cells with the nearby stroma and modulated by environmental factors.

2.3. The pressure of tumour microenvironment to cancer cell dissemination and metastasis

The tumour microenvironment is composed by different types of noncancerous cells, such as endothelial cells, adipose cells, fibroblasts and immune cells [18], which cooperate or compete in their roles and "objectives". Also, for this reason, the tumour metabolic microenvironment is characterized by low levels of oxygen (hypoxia to anoxia), acidosis, and a high-enrichment in waste products [19,20]. Therefore, cancer cells remain in pressure for having a favourable microenvironment allowing their survival and dissemination to different places in the human body [2].

2.3.1. Hypoxia

Hypoxia is a well-known event in neoplastic tissue due to the high oxygen consumption rates of highly proliferative cells and the limiting capacity of vasculature to supply cancer cells with enough amounts of oxygen. This causes insufficient intracellular oxygen concentrations, which have been related to several hallmarks of cancer, namely, the metabolic reprogramming, with a switch in metabolism from OXPHOS to glycolysis [21,22]. Over the years, the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) has been characterized as the "master orchestrator" of hypoxia-associated events in malignancies. HIF-1 acts as a transcription factor regulating the expression of a panoply of genes that have the consensus HIF-1 binding sites [23]. Under hypoxia-associated low glucose levels, HIF-1 promotes the expression of key regulators of glycolytic metabolism (Fig. 2.1.), namely, glucose transporters (GLUTs), hexokinase (HK), and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) [24-26].

Moreover, hypoxia is also responsible for driving angiogenesis, resistance to treatment, and genetic instability associated with cancer progression [27]. HIFs promote angiogenesis by rising the phenomenon of perfusion, and modulating the expression of multiple angiogenic factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), stem cell factor, placental growth factor and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) [28-32]. In a HIF-dependent manner, hypoxia also promotes the phenomenon of extravasation and EMT [33,34], since it contributes to the remodelling of extracellular matrix, for instance by regulating the activity of collagen-modifying enzymes [35,36], the expression of cadherins, and the degradation of cytoplasmatic membrane through MMPs, which globally increases the motility of cancer cells [37-41]. On the other hand, hypoxia also modulates the immune surveillance promoting the accumulation of macrophages [42,43], which have been shown to have a role stimulating fibrosis and creating new vessels, since they produce growth factors like VEGF, PDGF, or tumour growth factor- α and - β [44-46]. In sum, the hypoxic microenvironment is intimately linked with cancer invasion and metastasization, mostly by the HIF-1 activity stimulating angiogenesis, EMT and cell mobility, as well as the high glycolytic profile.

2.3.2. pH

Tumour microenvironment is generally acidic, whereas inside the cells an alkaline pH is maintained. The main sources of H^+ ions are ATP and CO_2 , and extracellular acidosis also occurs due to the acceleration of glycolysis, and compensatory mechanisms of other pathways, such as glutaminolysis, FA metabolism and ketogenesis [47]. Several lines of evidence showed that acidosis activates several oncogenic signalling pathways increasing migration and invasiveness of cancer cells [48-50]. Lower pH has also been shown to prompt the destruction of the extracellular matrix. Proteases such as MMPs and cathepsins have been shown to have their activity increased at low pH [51].

Dissemination of cancer cells to different organs is driven by the contribution of lymphatic system, and is usually depends on VEGF actions. Expression levels of this growth factor are highly regulated by hypoxia as already discussed. However, several reports demonstrated that also an acid environment promotes VEGF expression and new blood vessels growth [52,50].

In addition, some studies demonstrated that the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger 1 is upregulated in cancer cells enabling the expulsion of H⁺ ions to the extracellular space [53-55]. Inside the cell, alkaline conditions are essential to maintain cell proliferation through glycolysis and the high activity of limiting enzymes in this process [56,57]. The H⁺ gradient established between inside and outside the cell was also implicated in drug resistance, as it difficult drugs passage across the cell membrane [58,59]. Moreover, acidosis also is capable of inhibiting the differential immune responders, such as natural killer and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes [60-63]. Taken together, the acidic metabolic environment surrounding tumours endow cancer cells with a set of features routing to metastasis and resistance to therapy.

Finally, a set of diverse metabolites and metabolic waste products generated by glycolytic, amino acid and FA metabolism can be engaged in the promotion of metastasis. The specific actions of these players will be discussed in the following sections.

2.4. Glucose metabolism in association with cancer metastasis

Increased use of glycolysis and production of lactate even in the presence of enough oxygen to maintain OXPHOS is a feature observed in many cancers types, mainly as a result of the overexpression of glycolytic genes (Fig. 2.1.) [64]. The augmented glycolytic activity is generally accepted to support the high division rate of cancer cells by rapidly providing ATP [65]. Although less efficient compared with OXPHOS (2 ATP in glycolysis vs. ~36 ATP in OXPHOS), glycolysis generates ATP faster than OXPHOS [66] and sustains the high energy demand of tumour cells. This higher glycolytic rate also has been related with amino acid, lipid, and nucleic acid metabolism, with several metabolites of glycolysis entering the biosynthetic pathways [67]. Overall, the enhanced glycolytic flux supplies cancer cells with the energy substrates and raw material that allow rapid turnover of cell constituents and the high rate of cell division.

The molecular programming of metastasis promotes tumour progression through cell migration and anchorage-independence, and not necessarily enhanced proliferative activity [68]. However, several studies have corroborated the idea that aberrant cancer metabolism, namely, the enhanced aerobic glycolysis, not only provides energy for rapid tumour cells growth, but it also helps cancer cells against anoikis and provides advantages for metastasization [69]. Thus, besides supporting the exacerbated cancer cell proliferation, aerobic glycolysis may promote metastasis by leading to ATP generation, and modulating the pH of tumour microenvironment, as well as, several signalling pathways. All these alterations are crucial for anti-anoikis and anchorage-independent expansion [70].

2.4.1. Glucose transporters

Several glycolytic genes (Fig. 2.1.) are overexpressed in tumours and associated with malignancy and aggressiveness. Firstly, it can be mentioned the facilitative GLUTs, a family of 14 transmembrane proteins responsible for the uptake of glucose, and other hexoses, from the extracellular space [71]. Several isoforms of these transporters, namely GLUT1, GLUT3, GLUT4 and GLUT5 have been reported as contributors for progression, poor prognosis, and invasion in various types of cancer such as colorectal, non-small cell lung, cervix, breast, pancreatic, gastric and head and neck squamous cell carcinomas [72-77]. Overexpression of the above-mentioned members of the GLUTs family was found to be closely related with the hallmarks of the metastatic process, namely, lymphatic permeation, venous invasion, and lymph node and hepatic metastasis [74]. Moreover, GLUT1 was shown to increase MMP-2 expression and activity, which was crucial for the development of metastasis [73].



Figure 2.1. Glycolytic metabolism in cancer cells. Glucose enters into the cell through glucose transporters (GLUTs). In the cytoplasm, glucose undergoes several modifications mediated by a tandem activation of enzymes involved in glycolysis. The product of glycolysis, pyruvate, enters the mitochondria where it is decarboxylated, generating acetyl-CoA that is the starting point for the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle to produce energy for the proliferating cells. Cancer cells preferentially use the conversion of pyruvate into lactate, by the activity of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). Then, lactate can be exported to the extracellular space by monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) to be used by neighbourhood cells. Targets known to be involved in the metastatic process are highlighted with white letters and ovals. Legend: ALDO, Aldolase; HKs, Hexokinase; PDK, Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase; PEP, Phosphoenolpyruvate; PFK, Phosphofructokinase; PKM, Pyruvate kinase.

2.4.2. Glycolytic enzymes

Inside the cell, glucose is metabolized to glucose-6-phosphate by HK in the first step of glycolysis (Fig. 2.1.). HK2, the embryonic isoform of HK, has been correlated with advanced tumour stages, increased risk of recurrence and harmful clinical outcomes in breast cancer, pancreatic cancer and neuroblastoma patients [78-81]. HK2 also seems to have a role in the emergence of metastasis. The *in vitro* knockdown of HK2 in a pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell line or its overexpression in neuroblastoma cells led, respectively, to decreased or increased tumour growth and incidence of lung metastases in a mice xenograft model [82,83].

Phosphohexose isomerase (PHI) is another glycolytic enzyme that has been demonstrated to stimulate the metastatic process by its action as the extracellular autocrine motility factor (AMF) [84]. In non-malignant cells, PHI/AMF endorse cell motility during neural growth, lymphocyte maturation and embryo implantation, although in cancer it can promote invasion and metastasis [85-87]. PHI is exported to the extracellular space through nonclassical pathways and it binds to the membrane receptor gp78 activating intracellular downstream molecules [88,89]. This results in relocalization of small GTPases, crucial regulators of actin dynamics [90]; augmented expression of integrins, which translocate to the cell surface regulating cell adhesion and activating the MMP-2 [91,92]; stimulation of EMT by NK-kB activation; upregulation of SNAIL and downregulation of E-cadherin [93,94]. Serum PHI/AMF has been proposed as an useful diagnostic marker for gastrointestinal, kidney and bladder cancers [95,96]. High levels of PHI/AMF are linked with metastasis in colorectal carcinoma, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and lung cancer [97-99]. Overexpression of PHI/AMF correlates with NIH-3T3 fibroblasts transformation and enhances the metastatic ability of human colon cancer cells [88]. The mechanism involves cytoskeletal reorganization through the activation of RhoA and Rac1 GTPases, expression of integrins and stimulation of EMT [88]. PHI/AMF can also bind endothelial cells that express gp78 stimulating angiogenesis and vascular permeability, thus promoting cancer cell intravasion [100,101]. Suppression of PHI/AMF led to reverse mesenchymal-epithelial transition in lung fibrosarcoma and endometrial cancer cells [102,103]. Besides PHI/AMF, also its receptor, known as gp78 or AMFR, has been directly associated with metastasis, namely, in the case of colorectal carcinoma, esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and lung cancer [97-99,104].

A specific isoform of 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase (PFKFB) the PFKFB3 also displayed increased expression levels in cancer and has been linked with metastasis [105]. This enzyme has a regulatory role and fuels glycolysis by producing fructose-2,6-biphospate (Fig. 2.1.), an allosteric activator of the glycolytic enzyme phosphofructokinase 1 (PFK1) (Fig. 2.1.). Moreover, PFKFB3 can support cancer by permitting cell cycle progression from G1 to S phase [106]. PFKFB3 inhibition in endothelial cells responsible for producing tumour blood vessels led to normalization of their proliferation and maturation, resulting in diminished cancer cell invasion, intravasion and metastasis [107].

To the glycolytic targets listed above should be added aldolase A (ALDOA), a glycolytic enzyme responsible for the conversion of fructose-1,6-biphosphate to glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate (Fig. 2.1.) and dihydroxyacetone phosphate. Various studies have demonstrated the association of ALDOA with the metastatic phenotype in several cancer types, namely, osteosarcoma, lung squamous cell carcinoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, renal cell carcinoma and pancreatic carcinoma [108-113]. Moreover, recent findings suggest that ALDOA acts as an inducer of EMT by upregulating N-cadherin and vimentin and downregulating E-cadherin [110,114].

Also, the embryonic isoform of pyruvate kinase isozyme M2 (PKM2) has been linked with tumour aggressiveness and metastasis. Elevated PKM2 levels were associated with poor prognosis in gallbladder cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, tongue cancer, esophagus cancer, cervix cancer and human hilar cholangiocarcinoma, and also with advanced tumour stages and metastasis in colorectal and pancreatic cancers [115-121]. PKM2 appears to promote metastasis by directly or indirectly supporting cell migration, angiogenesis and chemoresistance. Knockdown of PKM2 diminished cell migration in human colon cancer, lung cancer, and hepatocellular carcinoma cells [115,120,122]. This enzyme also has been shown to bind the tumour endothelial marker 8 on the surface of endothelial cells promoting angiogenesis [123]. Moreover, PKM2 activity has been linked with EMT, since it was shown to regulate the transcriptional activity of B-catenin triggering augmented expression of SNAIL and vimentin, and decreased expression of E-cadherin [124,125]. High PKM2 serum levels were correlated with poor response to 5-fluorouracil in colorectal cancer patients, suggesting its role in chemotherapy resistance [126]. On the other hand, targeting PKM2 with pharmacological approaches and RNA interfering technology has been found to change cancer cell metabolism towards OXPHOS, and suppress tumour invasion, migration and metastasis [127,122].

Lactate dehydrogenase is a crucial enzyme responsible for the last step of glycolysis converting pyruvate in lactate (Fig. 2.1). The accumulated lactate in consequence of the high glycolytic activity of cancer cells is exported to the extracellular space acidifying the tumoral microenvironment, which favours tumour growth and metastasis [128]. Accordingly, multiple studies have shown that diminished expression of LDHA represses the invasive and metastatic phenotype of cancer cells [129-131]. Moreover, LDHA downregulation increased E-cadherin expression and decrease focal adhesion kinase, MMP-2 and VEGF, which are key factors for EMT and angiogenesis [129,132].

Lastly, pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase-1 (PDK1) that works as an inhibitor of pyruvate dehydrogenase (Fig. 2.1.), the enzyme responsible for the conversion of pyruvate to acetylcoA. This is an important step for OXPHOS, and PDK1 is crucial linking glycolytic metabolism and mitochondrial phosphorylation activity. PDK1 was observed to be important for the emergence of breast and liver metastasis, where the conversion of pyruvate to lactate is increased and oxidative metabolism is concomitantly reduced [133,134]. Interestingly, HIF-1 and angiogenesis are required in malignant process and metastasis, being diminished by mitochondrial activation as a result of PDK1 inhibition, which corroborates the crucial role of this enzyme in tumour progression and metastatic process [135].

2.5. Lipid metabolism pathways promoting cancer metastasis

Altered lipid metabolism and mainly FA biosynthesis and oxidation (Fig. 2.2.), seem to be a central characteristic in the metastatic process. Enhanced use of FA might supply proliferating cells with the building blocks for assembly of new cell membranes or other cellular structures, signalling metabolites and substrates for FA oxidation, which ensures the fulfilment of the increased energy needs associated with cancer progression [136]. Both FA biosynthesis and oxidation contribute significantly to cancer cell proliferation, but also metastasis.



Figure 2.2. Fatty-acid (FA) uptake, oxidation and biosynthesis in the interplay of carcinogenesis and metastasization. FA uptake occurs through the CD36 transporter. Intracellular FA supply proliferating cells with signalling metabolites, generate phospholipids for membrane synthesis, or, if not used, can be stored in lipid droplets. Upon cell needs more energy substrates, lipid droplets are a source for lipolysis, for example, through the activity of monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL) that converts monoacylglycerols to FA. FA oxidation starts with conjugation with carnitine by carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT1), allowing its transport to the mitochondria generating acetyl-CoA. This product of FA B-oxidation can enter the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle producing citrate. Citrate is the fuel for the de novo synthesis of FA over the activation of adenosine triphosphate citrate lyase (ACLY), acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and FA synthase (FASN), which culminates with the activity of stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) to produce monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs). Phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and phospholipase D (PLD) are enzymes involved in the catabolism of cell membrane lipids and associated with cancer cells ability to migration and invasion. Targets known to be involved in the metastatic process are highlighted with white letters and ovals.

2.5.1. Fatty acid synthesis

FA synthesis is an anabolic process that depends on the tandem activation of adenosine triphosphate citrate lyase (ACLY), acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and FA synthase (FASN) (Fig.

2.2.). Firstly, ACLY is responsible for *de novo* FA synthesis as a crucial enzyme that converts citrate to oxaloacetate and cytosolic acetyl-CoA. ACLY expression was correlated with progressive stages and presence of lymph node metastasis in lung cancer, and high expression of ACLY was found in gastric, bladder and breast tumour cases when compared with patient adjacent normal tissues [137-140]. Moreover, a novel study demonstrated that ACLY is a crucial interacting protein of the low molecular weight isoform of cyclin E (LMW-E) in the cytoplasm [141]. ACLY is fundamental for the LMW-E mediated migration, transformation and invasion of breast cancer cells both in vitro and in vivo [141]. LMW-E augmented ACLY enzymatic activity, which increased lipid droplet formation providing cells with the building blocks that support aggressive progression [141]. Other aggressive types of cancer namely ovarian, colorectal cancer and melanoma also have this particular relationship [141]. In opposition, the microRNA-22 (miR-22) targeting ACLY was evidenced to suppress cancer cell proliferation and invasion in osteosarcoma, prostate, cervical and lung cancer cells [142]. Moreover, the level of intracellular lipid droplets and cellular triglycerides and cholesterol were markedly decreased after miR-22 action [142], which demonstrated the role of this miRNA modulating ACLY activity, and the importance of lipid metabolism in metastasization. ACC is the limiting enzyme in FA synthesis, which carboxylates acetyl-CoA to form malonyl-CoA (Fig. 2.2.). Enhanced phospho-ACC expression was associated with worse overall survival in node-positive patients with head and neck squamous cell carcinoma [143]. Furthermore, in hepatocellular carcinoma patients, increased ACC1 expression was markedly associated with several aggressive clinicopathological characteristics, namely vascular invasion and poor differentiation [144]. ACC1 upregulation was also notably correlated with poorer overall

FASN is an important enzyme in the production of saturated FA. It uses one acetyl-CoA and adds sequentially seven malonyl-CoA molecules to form the 16-carbon palmitate. Several reports demonstrated that FASN is overexpressed and strongly correlated with tumour progression [145-149]. FASN expression promoted peritoneal metastasis of ovarian cancer by the induction of EMT [145]. EMT mediated by FASN actions was also described in prostate and breast cancer cells [149,146]. Moreover, FASN overexpression provided metastatic advantages on colorectal cancer cells and was also a key player in the maintenance of glioma stem cells stemness being associated with tumour progression and invasion in glioblastoma [150,147]. Inhibition of FASN expression repressed the invasion and migration of hepatocellular carcinoma cells and retinoblastoma, suggesting the contribution of FASN to metastasis [151,152].

survival and disease recurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma patients [144].

Stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) is the last enzyme involved in the *de novo* synthesis of FA (Fig. 2.2.) and catalyses the rate limiting step in the formation of monounsaturated FA (MUFAs). SCD introduces the first double bond in the cis-delta-9 position of several saturated fatty acyl-CoAs. SCD1 expression was directly related with the tumour-node-metastasis stage, grade of tumour, and lymphatic metastasis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma whereas SCD1 knockdown contributed to the suppression of the aggressive phenotype in tumour cells [153].

SCD1 activity was also implicated in the EMT, and migration and invasion of colon cancer cells [154].

2.5.2. Lipid catabolism

As above mentioned, also the lipid catabolic metabolism contributes to cancer metastasis. Firstly, monoacylglycerol lipase (MAGL), known as the rate-limiting enzyme for the breakdown of monoacylglycerols, converts monoacylglycerols to FA (Fig. 2.2.). Prostate cancer cell aggressiveness, ovarian tumour growth and ovarian cancer cell migration can be impaired by inhibiting MAGL with chemical inhibitors as JZL184, or using shRNA probes [155,156]. Moreover, administration of JZL184 to several malignant colorectal cancer cell lines suppressed and altered the expression of EMT markers [157]. Accordingly, MAGL expression and activity was shown to induce EMT in hepatocellular carcinoma [158]. Thus, MAGL has been indicated as part of a gene signature related to EMT and stem-like properties of cancer cells [157].

Other important enzymes in lipid catabolism are the phospholipase A2 (PLA2) and phospholipase D (PLD). PLA2 catalyses the hydrolysis of glycerophospholipids to produce lysophospholipids and FA (Fig. 2.2.). PLD hydrolyses phosphatidylcholine (PC) to yield phosphatidic acid (PA) and free choline. Human epithelial ovarian cancer ascites simulated migration and invasion of human epithelial ovarian cancer cells and promoted metastasis in vivo in a PLA2-dependent manner [159]. PC and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) comprise part of the bulk of cell membrane lipids, and several lines of evidence have shown that PLD has a crucial role in cell migration, being also important for invasion and metastasis [160,161]. Active PLD augmented lymphoma cell metastasis, whereas inactive PLD2 isoform inhibited metastasis, MMP-2 expression, and glioma cell invasion [162]. In breast and lung cancer, silencing PLD2 affected negatively the ability of invasiveness, which indicates some dependency of cell invasion on PLD2 [163]. Moreover, overexpression of PLD2 or PLD1 enhanced cell invasion in Matrigel [163,164]. Ablation of PLD1 in the tumour environment suppressed the activation of Akt and MAPK signalling pathways by VEGF, resulting in integrindependent cell adhesion, and migration on extracellular matrices attenuated the neovascularization and tumour progression [165]. Moreover, mice lacking PLD1 or treated with the PLD1 inhibitor FIPI showed fewer lung metastasis than wild-type counterparts [165]. Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT1) catalyses the first and rate-limiting step of FA oxidation. CPT1 conjugates FA with carnitine transporting them to the mitochondria (Fig. 2.2.), where the acylcarnitines undergo FA oxidation and are oxidizide to carbon dioxide. CPT1A is the most widely expressed isoform being detected in the liver and in several other tissues. CPT1B is predominately expressed in the muscle whereas CPT1C is the main isoform in the brain [166,167]. Several studies suggested the involvement of CPT1 in the metastatic process. In triple-negative breast cancer a high expression of FA oxidation enzymes, together with the generation of high levels of ATP, was implicated in the metastatic process. FA oxidation inhibition led to reduced transwell migration potential and inhibition of Src autophosphorylation, a common pathway upregulated in metastasis [168]. Similarly, CPT1A knockdown resulted in decreased tumour growth. All these findings suggest that CPT1A expression is correlated and promote tumour distant metastasis. Furthermore, high-grade glioblastoma was associated with the aberrant expression of some regulators of FA metabolism, namely CPT1A and CPT1C [169]. CPT1A also had the ability to promote migration and anoikis resistance in colorectal cancer and alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cells, thus favouring the metastatic process and cancer progression [170,171].

2.5.3. Fatty acid uptake

Lastly, a mention to the cell surface receptor CD36 (Fig. 2.2.), which is responsible for the uptake of FA from the extracellular space. CD36 is upregulated or amplified in several types of human metastatic tumours [172]. Knockdown or overexpression of CD36 in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells led to increased or decreased appearance of metastasis, respectively [173]. Moreover, FA deprivation reduced the in vitro migration of breast cancer cells even in the presence of glutamine and glucose, suggesting that FA metabolism takes the crucial role in the metastatic process [174]. Recent findings highlighted the stimulating identification of metastasis-initiating cells (MICs) in different types of cancers and demonstrated that they could be distinguished from non-metastatic subpopulations based on their lipid handling properties [175-177,173]. The internalization of FA is a crucial process of quiescent MICs that eventually might promote metastasis upon their dissemination [173]. These MICs displayed high expression of CD36 and have been shown to be responsible for initiating metastasis in experimental models of human melanoma and breast cancer [173]. MICs are so sensitive to circulating fat levels, that a high-fat diet or stimulation with palmitic acid strongly increases the metastatic potential of MICs [173]. Moreover, FA uptake by CD36 promoted EMT in liver cancer cells, increasing their migration and invasion in *in vitro* assays [178].

The polyunsaturated FA consumed through the diet also might have relevant effects on cancer dissemination and metastasis. This type of FA have been correlated with aggressiveness of cancer cell lines and demonstrated to accumulate within both normalappearing and cancer breast tissue of human patients and animal models [179]. Though, while omega-6 FA, namely linoleic acid increased tumour growth and progression, omega-3 FA such as eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid had the opposite effect [180-182]. This important piece of data strongly emphasizes how a controlled diet can be a relevant aspect in cancer patients. Also, supports that appropriate management of a diet can be envisaged as a complementary approach in therapy.

2.6. Glutaminolysis and non-essential amino acids in the metastatic process

Besides participating as the building blocks of proteins, amino acids exert several roles as metabolic drivers, energy source and mediators of cell signalling. Furthermore, these molecules can affect the "behaviour" of cancer disease, since amino acids supply might affect tumorigenesis, invasion and the metastatic process [183].

2.6.1. Glutamine

Firstly, glutamine that is the most abundant amino acid in the bloodstream. However, glutamine was found to be markedly reduced in tumour environment due to increased uptake and utilization as an energy source [184]. The use of glutamine in cellular metabolism begins with its conversion to glutamate by glutaminase (GLS, Fig. 2.3.) [185], which is enhanced in the case of cancer cells and under the control of c-Myc oncogene [186]. Glutamate has a wide range of functions, including the supply of TCA cycle by its conversion to α -ketoglutarate by glutamate dehydrogenases (GDH1 and GDH2). GDH1 expression was associated with tumour size, tumour stage, lymph node metastasis and liver metastasis in colorectal cancer [187]. GDH1 expression also has been reported to be increased in metastasis of gallbladder cancer and murine hepatocarcinoma [188,189]. Recently, the mechanistic of GDH1 driven metastasis started to be disclosed. It was reported that the GDH1 product α -ketoglutarate activates calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase 2 signalling, which contributed to modified energy production conferring resistance to anoikis and tumour metastasis in human lung cancer xenograft models [190].

GLS expression was upregulated in highly-invasive ovarian cancer cells, which depended more on glutamine metabolism than the low-invasive counterpart cells [191]. Similarly, the expression of GLS was show to modulate the metastatic potential of B16F10 melanoma cells [192], SNAIL-induced EMT and tumour metastasis growth [193]. Accordingly, glutamine deprivation decreased invasiveness of ovarian cancer cells while feeding cells with α-ketoglutarate restored their invasiveness ability [191]. Moreover, distinct approaches targeting glutamine metabolism, such as GLS gene silencing, glutamine deprivation, or GLS inhibitors (e.g. 968 and BPTES) inhibited cancer cell proliferation and migration, and metastasis [194,195,193]. Either via GDH1 or GLS, glutamine incorporation into the TCA cycle supported the phosphorylation of the signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) leading to promotion of proliferation, migration and invasion in cancer cells [196]. Other reports also showed that GLS inhibition reduced breast and lung tumour cell proliferation and invasiveness by decreasing glutathione, an important antioxidant that confers protection against reactive species[197,198].

2.6.2. Proline

Another important amino acid is proline (Fig. 2.3.), which can be obtained from the interconvertion of glutamate via the intermediate metabolite Δ^1 -pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) that is produced from glutamate by pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthase [186]. The proline cycle is characterized by the production of proline in the cytosol, from P5C with the oxidation of NADH or NADPH by pyrroline-5-carboxylatereductase (P5CR). In the mitochondria proline is converted back to P5C by proline dehydrogenase (PRODH). ATP production via PRODH is essential to sustain cell proliferation and the development of tumour cell spheroids in vitro [199]. Furthermore, inhibition of PRODH decreases the appearance of breast cancer metastasis in mouse models [199]. Proline metabolism seems to be increased in a metastatic cell line derived from MCF10A human epithelial breast cells relative to nonmetastatic MCF10A-derived cell lines [200]. Moreover, increased proline metabolism has been observed in esophageal squamous cell cancer and correlated with invasiveness and resistance to oxidative stress [201]. This relationship suggests that an increased capability to accumulate proline is necessary for highly metastatic cells survive under stressful conditions. In addition, collagen, that accounts for 80% of the extracellular matrix proteins, is composed by about 25% proline and might function as an external supply of proline, since proteolytic enzymes remodelling the extracellular matrix has been suggested to trigger mesenchymal-like behaviour [202].



Figure 2.3. Glutaminolysis and non-essential amino acids in cancer cells at the interplay of onecarbon metabolism, glycolysis and redox balance. The uptake of glutamine occurs through amino acids transporters at cell membrane. In mitochondria glutamine is converted to glutamate by glutaminase
(GLS). Glutamate is converted to α -ketoglutarate by glutamate dehydrogenases (GDH) and can enter the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Proline can be obtained from the conversion of glutamate via the intermediate metabolite Δ 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate (P5C) that is produced from glutamate by pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthase (P5CS). The proline cycle is characterized by the production of proline in the cytosol from P5C with the oxidation of NADH or NADPH b pyrroline-5-carboxylatereductase (P5CR). In the mitochondria proline is converted back to P5C by proline dehydrogenase (PRODH). Serine is generated through the glycolytic pathway from the intermediate compound 3-phosphoglycerate. Serine has been shown contributing to redox balance and epigenetic regulation. Epigenetic regulation is susceptible to de novo ATP synthesis from serine via tetrahydrofolate cycle, since ATP is important for the conversion of methionine to S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), and consequently SAM is a substrate for methyl transfers to various biomolecules that yields S-adenosylhomocysteine (SAH). a substrate used for DNA methylation. Sarcosine is an intermediate in the one-carbon metabolism of glycine, through the activity of sarcosine dehydrogenase (SARDH). Glycine can be an intermediary of TCA cycle or one-carbon metabolism.

2.6.3. Serine

Serine synthesis is related to the glycolytic pathway at the intermediate compound 3phosphoglycerate, which is converted to serine via O-phosphoserine. Besides the role in redox balance, serine contributes to the epigenetic regulation in tumour cells. DNA/RNA methylation is partially susceptible to *de novo* ATP synthesis from serine via tetrahydrofolate cycle, since ATP is important for the conversion of methionine to S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), a substrate for DNA methylation [203]. SAM-dependent DNA methylation can influence stem cell pluripotency and survival, and the same mechanisms might be involved in EMT [204,205]. Furthermore, serine also may contribute to metastasis through an extrinsic cell mechanism, since an exogenous source of serine triggers osteoclast-mediated bone resorption, which is essential for osteolytic bone metastasis [206].

2.6.4. Sarcosine

Lastly, sarcosine, an intermediate in the one-carbon metabolism of glycine, has been studied in prostate cancer and its levels are correlated with malignancy [207]. Supplementation with exogenous sarcosine or knockdown of sarcosine dehydrogenase were enough to promote an invasive phenotype in benign prostate epithelial cells and led to intravasation and migration [207-209]. Thus, it can be possible that sarcosine modulates the invasiveness of prostate cancer cells by the one-carbon metabolism, playing a critical role in DNA methylation and epigenetic regulation [210]. More recently, a microarray study showed that sarcosine modulates prostate cancer cells growth *in vitro* and *in vivo* by directly changing the expression pattern of cell proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis genes networks [211]. Besides prostate cancer, sarcosine was also linked to breast cancer cases. Low expression of sarcosine dehydrogenase was correlated with malignancy and invasiveness features in breast cancer patients, as well as with poor prognosis and reduced survival [212].

2.7. The role of metabolic waste driving metastasization

Complementarily to the previous sections, mainly describing transporters and enzymes related to the regulation of metabolic pathways, this topic will detail the influence of waste products of tumour cell metabolism towards metastasization.

Although glucose is the primary energy substrate for many types of cancer cells, it is established that in stressful conditions transformed cells can rapidly adapt metabolism to the use of alternative fuel sources, including lactate, ketone bodies and acetate among others [67,213].

Lactate is the last product of glycolysis and its overproduction by cancer cells has been known to i) promote acidification of the tumour microenvironment; ii) suppress the immune system; iii) drive the remodelling of the extracellular matrix; and iv) stimulate cell migration and angiogenesis [214]. Altogether these changes concur supporting the metastatic process. Following the known feature of cancer cells as highly-glycolytic and robust producers of lactate, numerous studies have described the high concentration of lactate in primary tumours. This is the case of head and squamous cell carcinomas, cervical cancers and rectal adenocarcinomas in which, the high-lactate content was predictive of high incidence of distant metastasis [215-219]. Indeed, several in vitro and in vivo studies support the implicating role of lactate in metastasization. In the case of head and neck squamous carcinoma, hepathoma cell lines and glioma lactate increased cell motility in a concentration-dependent manner, likely by modulating expression of cytoskeleton proteins [220-222]. Lactate administration to breast cancer mice xenografts led to the formation of lung metastasis without impacting primary tumour growth [223]. As mentioned above, the export of lactate lowers the extracellular pH due to the co-transport of H⁺, which has been directly linked with the promotion of metastasis. Oral administration of bicarbonate or a buffering agent, 2-imidazole-1yl-3-ethoxycarbonylpropionic acid, increased tumour pH markedly diminishing the metastasis process in mice [224,225]. Other mechanisms linked with lactate actions promoting metastasis include the augmented expression of VEGF, HIF-1, and transforming growth factor-B2, as well as the activation of MMPs and cathepsin in consequence of diminished pH [226,222,195].

Another side-product of glycolysis related with promotion of metastasis is methylglyoxal, which was shown to interact with the molecular chaperone Hsp90 by glycation, permitting transcriptional activation of oncogenes like c-Myc [227]. Furthermore, increased incidence of metastasis was observed in colorectal cancer cell lines when methylglyoxal was added to the cell culture medium, or the knockdown of methylglyoxal-detoxifying glyoxalase was performed [228].

Ketone bodies are produced in the liver under starvation or low food intake, lowcarbohydrates diets, intense and prolonged exercise, alcoholism or non-controlled diabetes. After hepatic production, these natural mitochondrial fuels are shuttled through blood stream to other organs where are converted back to acetyl-coA, which can be re-used to supply mitochondria when nutrients sources are limited [229]. Moreover, enriching mitochondria with ketone bodies produces more energy than lactate and diminishes oxygen consumption [230]. The actually proposed theory is that catabolic fibroblasts in the tumour stroma, have a mitochondrial dysfunction producing ketone bodies that are released in the microenvironment. These metabolites can be reutilized by adjacent cancer cells, fuelling the mitochondrial processes for OXPHOS, to supply anabolic tumour growth [231]. MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells overexpressing the crucial enzymes for utilization of ketone bodies have shown enhanced tumour growth and metastatic ability [231]. Furthermore, ketone and lactate were shown to function as chemo-attractants promoting cancer cell migration and fuelling lung metastasis [223].

Lastly, acetate that can also be used as an energy source fuelling mitochondria towards cancer progression and metastasis [232,233]. Acetyl-coA synthetase is an important enzyme that converts acetate into acetyl-CoA. In murine models of liver cancer lacking acetyl-coA synthetase, animals exhibited reduced tumour burden [234]. Brain metastasis also displayed moderate to high expression of acetyl-coA synthetase [234]. Moreover, brain metastasis used acetate as a bioenergetic substrate, which was sufficient to fulfil the energy needed to maintain migration and invasion processes [234].

Thus, considering all the discussed evidence, it becomes clear that the so-called metabolic waste products might have a crucial role as regulator molecules promoting tumour growth, migration and invasion under stressful or scarce resources conditions.

2.8. Therapeutic approaches targeting metastasis through metabolism

The specificities of cancer cells metabolism, and the metabolic alterations that have been identified towards cancer progression and metastasis have greatly nurtured the interest in developing novel anti-cancer therapies that target energy and metabolic pathways (Table 2.1.).

2.8.1. Glycolytic approach

Glucose is the most abundant nutrient in the bloodstream and is a preferred energy substrate used by cancer cells [235]. Thus, several drugs that interfere with glycolytic metabolism have been investigated as anti-cancer agents. This includes GLUT-targeting drugs, which are under clinical investigation, namely the flavonoids silibinin (also called silybin) and dehydrosilybin, and a small molecule known as WBZ117 [236-238]. WBZ117 is a small-molecule inhibitor of GLUT1 leading to downregulation of glycolysis inducing cell-cycle arrest and inhibiting both breast and lung cancer cell growth *in vitro* and *in vivo* [239]. Other GLUTs inhibitors used in preclinical studies in different cancer models, or in clinical trials of phase I or II are fasentin, Bay876, STF-31, apigenin, and ritonavir (Table 2.1.).

The inhibition of HKs with 2-deoxy-D-glucose blocks the first step of glycolysis (Fig. 2.1.) and has been shown to have tolerable toxicity in patients with glioma when treated with fractioned radiotherapy [240]. Nowadays, the interest in targeting HKs has been mainly focused on HK2 isoform, which is often over-expressed by tumour cells [241]. Encouraging preclinical and clinical results have been demonstrating that 3-bromopyruvate and methyl jasmonate can inhibit HK2 exerting anti-cancer effects in several tumour models [242,243]. However, the specificity of 3-bromopyruvate for HK2 is restricted, as this compound also exhibited inhibitory activity for other enzymes, including glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and LDH [244]. Indeed, this is a common problem faced by research in this area, that is the lack of specificity of inhibitors, which mainly occurs because of the structural similarities between members of related protein families or by the existence of multiple, sometimes dozens, isoforms in a specific family. Also, for this reason other HK inhibitors have been developed, namely, clotrimazole, bifonazole, and ionidamine (Table 2.1.), which is in clinical trials [245-247].

Still considering the inhibition of glycolytic metabolism, another promising molecule is 3-(3-pyridinyl)-1-(4-pyridinyl)-2-propen-1-one (3PO). This molecule is responsible for the inhibition of PFKFB3 (Fig. 2.1.), leading to reduced cell proliferation and suppression of glycolytic flux, with diminished glucose uptake and decreased the intracellular concentrations of lactate, ATP, NAD+ and NADH [248,249]. Also, a 3PO derivative known as 1-(4-pyridinyl)-3-(2-quinolinyl)-2-propen-1-one (PFK15) was selected for pre-clinical evaluation of anti-metabolic and anti-neoplastic activities [250]. PFK15 showed to have acceptable pharmacokinetic properties provoking a rapid induction of apoptosis in malignant cells, diminishing glucose uptake and suppressing tumour growth [249,251].Other molecules able to inhibit PFKFB3 activity (e.g. N4A, YN1 and YZ9) have been tested in preclinical studies in different cancer models, namely cervical cancer (Table 2.1.) [252].

The molecular players at the final steps of glycolysis also have been envisaged as therapeutic targets, namely, those involved in the production of pyruvate. The TLN-232 molecule is an inhibitor of PKM2 (Fig. 2.1.), which has entered in clinical development and has been evaluated as a therapeutic approach in patients with recurrent melanoma or metastatic renal cell carcinoma [253]. Moreover, other two compounds (shikonin and alkannin) were shown to inhibit the effects of PKM2 in breast and lung cancer cell lines (Table 2.1.) [254]. Although the preliminary results have been encouraging, other available studies also suggested that some tumours are PKM2-independent, which can hamper the interest of targeting PKM2 as a therapeutic strategy [255,256].

Several molecules that inhibit LDH have shown anticancer effects. Examples include the natural product gossypol and its derivatives, the FX11 compound, AT-101, oxamate and the gallic acid derivative galloflavin (Table 2.1.), with some compounds of this list already tested in clinical trials for prostate, lung and brain tumours treatment [257-262,131]. At the bottom line of glycolytic flux, have to be considered the high lactate production and the acidification of tumour microenvironment by the exportation of lactate through the activity

of MCTs (Fig. 2.1.) [263]. These molecular players have been associated with the metastatic process and cancer progression [264] and identified as targets for inhibition. In this sense, several inhibitors have been developed and are on ongoing tests. AZD3965, atorvastatin and simvastatin are among the most promising candidates, and all of them are already in clinical assays as inhibitors of MCT1 in several types of malignancies (Table 2.1.) [265-269].

2.8.2. Targeting lipid metabolism

Since high rates of proliferation endorse a marked demand for generation of new membrane phospholipids, targeting lipid synthesis also has represented an important approach for anticancer therapy. The most "attractive" targets in this process are ACLY, ACC and FASN enzymes (Fig. 2.2.). Concerning ACLY and ACC, no evidence exists of compounds targeting these enzymes being tested in clinical trials. Nevertheless, some chemicals targeting ACLY and ACC are being tested in preclinical models, such as BMS-303141, SB-204990 and cucurbitacin B for ACLY and ND-646, ND-654, soraphen A and BAY ACC002 for ACC (Table 2.1.) [270-278]. FASN inhibitors such as cerulenin, C75 and orlistat have been shown to promote apoptosis in several cancer cell lines and retard tumour growth in numerous cancer xenograft models (Table 2.1.) [279]. Furthermore, triclosan, G28UCM, EGCG, fasnall and IPI-9119 are other FASN inhibitors tested in preclinical studies in various tumour models (Table 2.1.) [280-293]. TVB-2640 was the only FASN inhibitor compound that reach the stage of clinical trials (Table 2.1.) [294-296].

On the reverse side of the coin, it has been shown that FA have a role as an energy source for cancer cells. Therefore, blockage of FA oxidation has emerged as a logical promising therapeutic approach. Several preclinical studies using etomoxir as a CPT1 inhibitor have been performed in numerous cell line and animal cancer models as summarized in Table 2.1. Also, etomoxir was tested into the clinical setting with encouraging anti-cancer results, but due to hepatoxicity observed in patients with congestive heart failure it is no longer under clinical trials [297]. Therefore, more alternatives are needed as CPT1 inhibitors. Perhexiline and ranolazine are two candidates already used for antianginal treatments [298], which have emerged with promising results in preclinical studies in malignancies such as prostate and cervical cancer (Table 2.1.) [299-301]. However, the anticancer potential of perhexiline and ranolazine remains to be investigated in clinical trials.

2.8.3. Amino acid-dependent pathways

In line with the assumption that cancer cells depend on glutamine for proliferation and survival, the inhibition of key enzymes in glutaminolysis (Fig. 2.3.) also has deserved attention by their anticancer potential [302]. Agents targeting GLS have demonstrated to inhibit oncogenic transformation of murine fibroblasts and to impair the growth of human breast carcinoma [197,303]. Several GLS inhibitors are under study in the pre-clinical or clinical setting, namely CB-839 and BPTES (Table 2.1.) [304-307].

Moreover, leukaemia and others types of cancer require high amounts of asparagine, a non-essential amino acid [308]. Thus, L-asparaginase, which catalyses the conversion of Lasparagine to aspartic acid and ammonia, has been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration for the treatment of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia [30]. L-asparaginase administration deprives cancer cells of circulating asparagine, which leads to cell death [309]. The use of L-asparaginase has already entered in clinical trials in leukaemia, lymphoma and ovarian cancer patients [310-312]. Considering other amino acids, the results of decreasing plasma arginine through systemic administration of pegylated arginine deiminase, which converts circulating arginine into citrulline, has produced encouraging data in clinical trials for various types of tumours (Table 2.1.) [313,314]. Finally, targeting tryptophan catabolism also has been tested in therapy since availability of this amino acid provides advantages to cancer cells by the generation of kynurenine that induces immunosuppression [315]. Indoleamine-2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) is the enzyme that catalyses the conversion of tryptophan to kynurenine and it is highly expressed in several malignancies [315]. IDO inhibitors, namely epacadostat and indoximod, are under clinical trials as anticancer therapy for melanoma and other cancer types (Table 2.1.) [316-319].

Metabolic pathway	Target	Compound	Stage as anti- cancer therapy	Examples of application	Refs	
		Silybin	Phase IV	Colorectal cancer patients	[339]	
			Phase II	Prostate cancer patients	[340]	
			Preclinical	Human cervical and hepatoma cancer cells	[341]	
	GLUTs	Dehydrosilybin	Preclinical	Cervical cancer cell line (HeLa)	[342]	
		WBZ117	Preclinical	Breast cancer cell lines	[343]	
Glycolysis			Preclinical	Lung cancer cell line (A549)	[344]	
		ł	Fasentin	Preclinical	Prostate cancer cell lines and leukaemia cell line	[345]
		Bay876	Preclinical	Ovarian cancer cell lines	[346]	
		STF-31	Preclinical	Renal cell carcinoma	[347]	
			Preclinical	Breast cancer cell lines	[348]	

Table	2.2.	Overview of	f target	metabolic	pathwa	/s for	cancer	treatment	
Tuble	L . L .	010111010	Luiget	metabolic	pacinita	13101	cuncer	ci cu cincinc	٠

			Preclinical	Pancreatic cancer cell lines	[349]
		Apigenin	Preclinical	Lung cancer cell lines	[350]
			Preclinical	Adenoid cystic carcinoma cell line	[351]
			Phase II	Colorectal cancer patients	[352]
			Phase I	Breast cancer patients	[353]
		Ritonavir	Phase II	Patients with several types of brain tumours	[354]
			Preclinical	Various tumours cell lines	[355]
		2-Deoxy-D- glucose	Phase I	Lung, breast, pancreatic and gastric cancer patients	[356]
			Phase I/II	Prostate cancer patients	[357]
	НК	methyl	Phase III	Benign prostatic hyperplasia patients	[330,3 58]
		Jasmonate	Preclinical	Myeloma cells	[243]
		3- bromopyruvat e	Preclinical (discontinued)	Anticancer activity in vitro and in vivo	[242,3 30,358]
			Preclinical	Melanoma cancer cell line (B16 F10)	[359]
		Clotrimazole	Preclinical	Cervical cancer cell line (HeLa)	[360]
			Preclinical	Glioblastoma cell lines and animal model	[361]
		Bifonazole	Preclinical	Melanoma cancer cell line (B16 F10)	[359]
			Preclinical	Breast cancer cell lines	[362]
		lonidamino	Phase III	Benign prostatic hyperplasia patients	[247]
		tomaditime	Phase II	Advanced breast cancer patients	[246]
			Phase II	Advanced ovarian cancer patients	[245]
	PFKFB3	3PO	Preclinical	Adenocarcinoma cell lines	[363]

				Soveral cancer cell	
			Preclinical	lines	[248]
		PFK15	Preclinical	Lung carcinoma cell lines	[353]
		N4A	Preclinical	Cervical cancer cell line (HeLa)	[252]
		YN1	Preclinical	Cervical cancer cell line (HeLa)	[252]
		YZ9	Preclinical	Human adenocarcinoma cell line (T47D)	[352]
		TLN-232	Phase II	Recurring metastatic melanoma patients	[354]
	PKM2	Shikonin	Preclinical	Breast and lung cancer cell lines	[254]
		Alkannin	Preclinical	Breast and lung cancer cell lines	[254]
		AT-101	Phase I and Phase II	Solid tumours and castrate resistant prostate cancer	[259,2 60]
	LDH	FX11	Preclinical	Prostate cancer cell lines	[365]
			Preclinical	Human lymphoma and pancreatic cancer cell lines	[261]
		Gossypol and derivatives	Preclinical	Melanoma, lung, breast, cervix and leukaemia cell lines	[366]
			Phase II	Glioblastoma patients	[258]
			Phase III	Non-small cell lung cancer patients	[257]
		Galloflavin	Preclinical	Hepatocellular carcinoma cell line (PLC/PRF/5)	[367]
		Oxamate	Preclinical	Hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines	[262]
			Phase I/II	Prostate cancer	[368]
		AZD3965	Phase I	Lymphoma patients	[369]
	MCTs	CTs	Preclinical	Small cell lung cancer	[268]
		Atorvastatin	Phase II	Prostate Neoplasms	[370]
			Phase I	Solid tumour and leukaemia	[267]

			Phase II	Adenocarcinoma of rectum patients	[266]
		Simvastatin	Phase II	Colorectal cancer patients	[371]
			Phase II	Breast cancer stage IV	[265]
	FASN	Cerulenin	Preclinical Studies	Colon Cancer, Melanoma, Breast Cancer, Pancreatic Cancer, Ovarian Cancer, Osteosarcoma, Ocular Cancer cell lines and animal studies	[280,2 93,372 -378]
		C75	Preclinical Studies	Breast Cancer, Prostate Cancer, Lung Cancer, Ovarian Cancer, Endometrial Cancer cell lines and animal studies	[282,2 90,374 ,378- 382]
		Triclosan	Preclinical Studies	Prostate Cancer, Breast Cancer, Ocular Cancer cell lines and animal studies	[291- 293]
		G28UCM	Preclinical Studies	Breast Cancer, Ovarian Cancer and animal studies	[288- 290]
		EGCG	Preclinical Studies	Breast Cancer, Liver Cancer, Lung Cancer, Prostate Cancer cell lines and animal studies	[282- 287]
Fatty acid synthesis		Fasnall	Preclinical Studies	Breast Cancer cell lines and animal study	[281]
		IPI-9119	Preclinical Studies	Prostate Cancer cell lines and animal study	[280]
		Orlistat	Preclinical Studies	Melanoma, Endometrial Cancer, Breast Cancer, Prostate Cancer, Colon Cancer, Retina Cancer, Gastric Cancer, Brain Cancer, Leukaemia, Lymphoma cell lines and animal studies	[293,3 73, 383- 398]
		TVB-2640	Phase I/II	Breast Cancer, Astrocytoma, Colon Cancer Patients	[294- 296]
	ACLY	BMS-303141	Preclinical Studies	Prostate Cancer Cell lines and animal models	[278]
		SB-204990	Preclinical Studies	Prostate Cancer, Ovarian Cancer, Lung Cancer cell lines, Leukaemia cell line and animal models	[276,2 77]
		Cucurbitacin B	Preclinical Studies	Prostate Cancer Cell lines and animal models	[275]

		ND-646	Preclinical Studies	Lung Cancer cell lines and animal models	[274]
	ACC	ND-654	Preclinical Studies	Hepatic cancer cell lines and animal studies	[273]
		Soraphen A	Preclinical Studies	Breast Cancer, Bladder Cancer, Hepatic Cancer and Prostate Cancer cell lines and animal studies	[271,2 72]
		BAY ACC002	Preclinical Studies	Pancreatic cancer cell lines and animal studies	[270]
Fatty acid	CPT1	Etomoxir	Preclinical Studies	Leukaemia, Hepatic Cancer, Prostate Cancer, Gastric Cancer, Lung Cancer cell lines and Nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell lines and glioma cell lines and animal studies	[301,3 99- 405]
		Perhexiline	Preclinical Studies	Leukaemia, Cervical Cancer and Prostate Cancer cell lines and animal studies	[299- 301]
		Ranolazine	Preclinical Studies	Prostate Cancer cell lines and animal study	[301]
	GLS	CB-839 GLS	Preclinical	Liposarcoma, Ewing sarcoma and melanoma cell lines	[406]
			Phase I	Breast, lung and renal cancer patients	[305]
Glutamine			Phase II	Several types of lung cancer	[304]
metabolism			Phase I	Acute leukaemia	[407]
		BPTES	Preclinical	Liposarcoma, Ewing sarcoma and melanoma cell lines	[406]
			Preclinical	Breast cancer cells lines	[306]
			Phase I	Castrate resistant prostate cancer	[408]
Amino acid metabolism	Arginine	Arginine arginine availability deiminase (ADI-PEG20)	Phase II	Metastatic melanoma patients	[409]
	availability		Phase II	Acute myeloid leukaemia patients	[410]
			Phase III	Advanced hepatocellular carcinoma patients	[411]
	Asparagine availability	L-asparaginase	Phase I	Lymphoma and leukaemia patients	[312]

			Phase III	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia patients	[311]
			Phase II	Advanced ovarian cancer patients	[310]
			Phase II	Several types of melanoma	[412]
		epacadostat	Phase II	Thymus cancer patients	[413]
		epicadostat	Phase III	Urothelial cancer patients	[318]
	IDO		Phase I	Rectal cancer patients	[317]
			Phase II	Prostate carcinoma	[414]
		Indoximod	Phase II/III	Melanoma patients	[415]
			Phase I	Brain tumours patients	[316]
	HIF1	PX-478	Phase I	Advanced solid tumours	[330]
		Topotecan	Phase I/II/III	Small cell lung cancers patients	[328,3 29]
			Phase II	Colorectal cancer patients	[327]
		Irinotecan	Phase I	Lung, breast, colon and ovarian cancer patients	[416]
Other			Phase II	Esophageal and gastric cancer patients	[326]
metabolic routes		Digoxin	Phase II	Prostate and breast cancer patients	[324,3 25]
		Ganetespib	Phase III	Non-Small-Cell Lung cancer	[323]
		CRLX101	Phase I/II	Advanced solid tumours	[322]
		BAY87-2243	Phase I	Advanced malignancies	[321]
		Bortezomib	Phase II	Primary peritoneal cavity cancer	[320]

				Leukaemia cell lines,	
				pancreatic	
		10058-F4		adenocarcinoma, hepatocellular	
с-Мус			Preclinical		2335-
			carcinoma,	220]	
	e mje			neuroblastoma and	
				animal studies	
			Dhace I /II	Myeloma, Lymphoma,	[331-
		CPI-0010	Plidse 1/11	Leukaemia patients	334]

2.8.4. Other routes and general perspective

The inhibition of transcription factors with a central role in the regulation of glycolytic metabolism and glutaminolysis, as is the case of HIF1 and c-Myc, has also been applied in cancer treatment (Table 2.1.). Concerning HIF1, several inhibitors were been developed, namely PX478, topotecan, irinotecan, digoxin, ganetespib, CRLX101, BAY87-2243 and bortezomib, which have been tested for treatment of several human neoplasms, such as lung, breast, esophageal and colorectal cancer [282,284,283,275-277,378,293,375,376,339]. Regarding c-Myc inhibition, 10058-F4 is under preclinical studies and CPI-0610 is in PhaseI/II trials for myeloma, lymphoma and leukaemia patients [371-374,396-399].

In summary, the existence of cancer cell populations metabolically-dependent on several energy sources can be a weakness of many tumours, which has the potential for therapeutic exploitation. However, the liable behaviour of cancer cells and their continued adaptation and reprogramming to hostile environmental conditions can be a drawback in the success of metabolic inhibitors in cancer treatment. In this way, targeting several metabolic pathways simultaneously or in combination with the classical conventional therapies might be a novel promising anticancer approach.

2.9. Conclusion

The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism started to be disclosed almost 100 years ago. However, the tumour-associated alterations in metabolism and the concept of metabolic reprogramming were recognized as a hallmark of cancer only in the last decade.

The information gathered within this review supports the theory that the metastatic process triggers several pathways of metabolism, depending on the requirements of cancer cells. These pathways supply tumour cells with the necessary resources that enable them starting the migration and invasion processes. Overall, metabolic reprogramming represents a favourable route to metastasization.

Cancer cells respond to unfavourable and stressful environmental conditions reprogramming their metabolism in multiple ways. The panoply of metabolic rewiring actions displayed by tumour cells allowed that numerous targets with therapeutic potential have been identified in the last years. On the other hand, tumour cells have been shown to be highly sensitive to deprivation of energy substrates. In this context, several chemicals directly targeting metabolic enzymes or transporters have been tested into the clinical setting and many others are under development or in pre-clinical studies. Targeting cancer metabolism as a therapy has been seen as an encouraging strategy since the metabolic differences within and between tumours are less than the ones observed in comparison with the surrounding cell "landscape". However, the exploitation of tumour metabolism as therapeutic approach has represented a challenge since malignant cells are able to easily readapt metabolism using other pathways and, in this way, can overcome specific nutrient depletion effects. Therefore, substantial efforts have been made on combining compounds that target different metabolic pathways. Moreover, the use of classical chemotherapy agents concomitantly with drugs targeting cancer cells metabolism might be a promising therapeutic approach to overcome some of the difficulties perceived on fighting this disease. Nevertheless, medicinal chemistry research efforts still are needed to continue improving the effectiveness of anti-cancer drugs targeting metabolism in metastatic cancers.

2.10. Funding

This work was supported by FEDER funds through the POCI - COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme Competitiveness and Internationalisation in Axis I - Strengthening research, technological development and innovation (Project No. 007491; Project No 029114) and National Funds by FCT-Foundation for Science and Technology (Project UID/Multi/00709/2013). Henrique J Cardoso and Marília I Figueira were recipient of FCT fellowships (SFRH/BD/111351/2015 and SFRH/BD/104671/2014, respectively).

2.11. Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

2.12. References

1. Valastyan, S., Weinberg, R.A., Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell. 147 (2011) 275-292.

2. Lambert, A.W., Pattabiraman, D.R., Weinberg, R.A., Emerging Biological Principles of Metastasis. Cell. 168 (2017) 670-691.

3. Wirtz, D., Konstantopoulos, K., Searson, P.C., The physics of cancer: the role of physical interactions and mechanical forces in metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 11 (2011) 512-522.

4. Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R.A., Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. 144 (2011) 646-674.

5. Warburg, O., Wind, F., Negelein, E., The metabolism of tumors in the body. J Gen Physiol. 8 (1927) 519-530.

6. Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., Peiris-Pages, M., Pestell, R.G., Sotgia, F., Lisanti, M.P., Cancer metabolism: a therapeutic perspective. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2016).

7. Porporato, P.E., Filigheddu, N., Pedro, J.M.B., Kroemer, G., Galluzzi, L., Mitochondrial metabolism and cancer. Cell Res. 28 (2018) 265-280.

8. Altman, B.J., Stine, Z.E., Dang, C.V., From Krebs to clinic: glutamine metabolism to cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 16 (2016) 749.

9. Icard, P., Poulain, L., Lincet, H., Understanding the central role of citrate in the metabolism of cancer cells. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer. 1825 (2012) 111-116.

10. Schug, Z.T., Vande Voorde, J., Gottlieb, E., The metabolic fate of acetate in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. 16 (2016) 708-717.

11. Teoh, S.T., Lunt, S.Y., Metabolism in cancer metastasis: bioenergetics, biosynthesis, and beyond. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Syst Biol Med. 10 (2018).

12. Kalluri, R., Weinberg, R.A., The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest. 119 (2009) 1420-1428.

13. Wang, Y., Shi, J., Chai, K., Ying, X., Zhou, B.P., The Role of Snail in EMT and Tumorigenesis. Curr Cancer Drug Targets. 13 (2013) 963-972.

14. Heerboth, S., Housman, G., Leary, M., Longacre, M., Byler, S., Lapinska, K., Willbanks, A., Sarkar, S., EMT and tumor metastasis. Clin Transl Med. 4 (2015) 6.

15. Brabletz, T., Kalluri, R., Nieto, M.A., Weinberg, R.A., EMT in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer. 18 (2018) 128.

16. Al-Mehdi, A.B., Tozawa, K., Fisher, A.B., Shientag, L., Lee, A., Muschel, R.J., Intravascular origin of metastasis from the proliferation of endothelium-attached tumor cells: a new model for metastasis. Nat Med. 6 (2000) 100-102.

17. Reymond, N., d'Agua, B.B., Ridley, A.J., Crossing the endothelial barrier during metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. 13 (2013) 858-870.

Ansell, S.M., Vonderheide, R.H., Cellular composition of the tumor microenvironment.
 Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book. (2013).

19. Justus, C.R., Sanderlin, E.J., Yang, L.V., Molecular Connections between Cancer Cell Metabolism and the Tumor Microenvironment. Int J Mol Sci. 16 (2015) 11055-11086.

20. Damgaci, S., Ibrahim-Hashim, A., Enriquez-Navas, P.M., Pilon-Thomas, S., Guvenis, A., Gillies, R.J., Hypoxia and acidosis: immune suppressors and therapeutic targets. Immunology. 154 (2018) 354-362.

21. Nagao, A., Kobayashi, M., Koyasu, S., Chow, C.C.T., Harada, H., HIF-1-Dependent Reprogramming of Glucose Metabolic Pathway of Cancer Cells and Its Therapeutic Significance. Int J Mol Sci. 20 (2019).

22. Cheng, Y., Lu, Y., Zhang, D., Lian, S., Liang, H., Ye, Y., Xie, R., Li, S., Chen, J., Xue, X., Xie, J., Jia, L., Metastatic cancer cells compensate for low energy supplies in hostile microenvironments with bioenergetic adaptation and metabolic reprogramming. Int J Oncol. 53 (2018) 2590-2604.

23. Balamurugan, K., HIF-1 at the crossroads of hypoxia, inflammation, and cancer. Int J Cancer. 138 (2016) 1058-1066.

24. Sadlecki, P., Bodnar, M., Grabiec, M., Marszalek, A., Walentowicz, P., Sokup, A., Zegarska, J., Walentowicz-Sadlecka, M., The role of Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha, glucose transporter-1, (GLUT-1) and carbon anhydrase IX in endometrial cancer patients. Biomed Res Int. 2014 (2014) 616850.

25. Chen, G., Zhang, Y., Liang, J., Li, W., Zhu, Y., Zhang, M., Wang, C., Hou, J., Deregulation of Hexokinase II Is Associated with Glycolysis, Autophagy, and the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Tongue Squamous Cell Carcinoma under Hypoxia. Biomed Res Int. 2018 (2018) 8480762.

26. Kolev, Y., Uetake, H., Takagi, Y., Sugihara, K., Lactate dehydrogenase-5 (LDH-5) expression in human gastric cancer: association with hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF-1alpha) pathway, angiogenic factors production and poor prognosis. Ann Surg Oncol. 15 (2008) 2336-2344.

27. Manoochehri Khoshinani, H., Afshar, S., Najafi, R., Hypoxia: A Double-Edged Sword in Cancer Therapy. Cancer Invest. 34 (2016) 536-545.

28. Burrows, N., Cane, G., Robson, M., Gaude, E., Howat, W.J., Szlosarek, P.W., Pedley, R.B., Frezza, C., Ashcroft, M., Maxwell, P.H., Hypoxia-induced nitric oxide production and tumour perfusion is inhibited by pegylated arginine deiminase (ADI-PEG20). Sci Rep. 6 (2016) 22950.

29. Dang, D.T., Chun, S.Y., Burkitt, K., Abe, M., Chen, S., Havre, P., Mabjeesh, N.J., Heath, E.I., Vogelzang, N.J., Cruz-Correa, M., Blayney, D.W., Ensminger, W.D., St Croix, B., Dang, N.H., Dang, L.H., Hypoxia-inducible factor-1 target genes as indicators of tumor vessel response to vascular endothelial growth factor inhibition. Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 1872-1880.

30. Pieters, R., Appel, I., Kuehnel, H.-J., Tetzlaff-Fohr, I., Pichlmeier, U., van der Vaart, I., Visser, E., Stigter, R., Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, efficacy, and safety of a new

recombinant asparaginase preparation in children with previously untreated acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a randomized phase 2 clinical trial. Blood. 112 (2008) 4832-4838.

31. Palazon, A., Tyrakis, P.A., Macias, D., Velica, P., Rundqvist, H., Fitzpatrick, S., Vojnovic, N., Phan, A.T., Loman, N., Hedenfalk, I., Hatschek, T., Lovrot, J., Foukakis, T., Goldrath, A.W., Bergh, J., Johnson, R.S., An HIF-1alpha/VEGF-A Axis in Cytotoxic T Cells Regulates Tumor Progression. Cancer Cell. 32 (2017) 669-683.e665.

32. Clara, C.A., Marie, S.K., de Almeida, J.R., Wakamatsu, A., Oba-Shinjo, S.M., Uno, M., Neville, M., Rosemberg, S., Angiogenesis and expression of PDGF-C, VEGF, CD105 and HIF-1alpha in human glioblastoma. Neuropathology. 34 (2014) 343-352.

33. Liu, Z., Tu, K., Wang, Y., Yao, B., Li, Q., Wang, L., Dou, C., Liu, Q., Zheng, X., Hypoxia Accelerates Aggressiveness of Hepatocellular Carcinoma Cells Involving Oxidative Stress, Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition and Non-Canonical Hedgehog Signaling. Cell Physiol Biochem. 44 (2017) 1856-1868.

34. Zhang, J., Zhang, Q., Lou, Y., Fu, Q., Chen, Q., Wei, T., Yang, J., Tang, J., Wang, J., Chen, Y., Zhang, X., Zhang, J., Bai, X., Liang, T., Hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha/interleukin-1beta signaling enhances hepatoma epithelial-mesenchymal transition through macrophages in a hypoxic-inflammatory microenvironment. Hepatology. 67 (2018) 1872-1889.

35. Goggins, E., Kakkad, S., Mironchik, Y., Jacob, D., Wildes, F., Krishnamachary, B., Bhujwalla, Z.M., Hypoxia Inducible Factors Modify Collagen I Fibers in MDA-MB-231 Triple Negative Breast Cancer Xenografts. Neoplasia. 20 (2018) 131-139.

36. Eisinger-Mathason, T.S., Zhang, M., Qiu, Q., Skuli, N., Nakazawa, M.S., Karakasheva, T., Mucaj, V., Shay, J.E., Stangenberg, L., Sadri, N., Pure, E., Yoon, S.S., Kirsch, D.G., Simon, M.C., Hypoxia-dependent modification of collagen networks promotes sarcoma metastasis. Cancer Discov. 3 (2013) 1190-1205.

37. Kelly, N.J., Varga, J.F.A., Specker, E.J., Romeo, C.M., Coomber, B.L., Uniacke, J., Hypoxia activates cadherin-22 synthesis via eIF4E2 to drive cancer cell migration, invasion and adhesion. Oncogene. 37 (2018) 651-662.

38. Domingos, P.L.B., Souza, M.G., Guimaraes, T.A., Santos, E.S., Farias, L.C., de Carvalho Fraga, C.A., Jones, K.M., Santos, S.H.S., de Paula, A.M.B., Guimaraes, A.L.S., Hypoxia reduces the E-cadherin expression and increases OSCC cell migration regardless of the E-cadherin methylation profile. Pathol Res Pract. 213 (2017) 496-501.

39. Abouhashem, N.S., Ibrahim, D.A., Mohamed, A.M., Prognostic implications of epithelial to mesenchymal transition related proteins (E-cadherin, Snail) and hypoxia inducible factor 1alpha in endometrioid endometrial carcinoma. Ann Diagn Pathol. 22 (2016) 1-11.

40. Zhang, X., Chen, L., Effects of CoCl2-simulated hypoxia on the expression levels of matrix metalloproteinases in renal adenocarcinoma cells and renal tubular epithelial cells. Exp Ther Med. 16 (2018) 1454-1460.

41. Mahecha, A.M., Wang, H., The influence of vascular endothelial growth factor-A and matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 in angiogenesis, metastasis, and prognosis of endometrial cancer. Onco Targets Ther. 10 (2017) 4617-4624.

42. Duechler, M., Peczek, L., Szubert, M., Suzin, J., Influence of hypoxia inducible factors on the immune microenvironment in ovarian cancer. Anticancer Res. 34 (2014) 2811-2819.

43. Duechler, M., Peczek, L., Zuk, K., Zalesna, I., Jeziorski, A., Czyz, M., The heterogeneous immune microenvironment in breast cancer is affected by hypoxia-related genes. Immunobiology. 219 (2014) 158-165.

44. Li, L., Yang, H., Li, Y., Li, X.D., Zeng, T.T., Lin, S.X., Zhu, Y.H., Guan, X.Y., Hypoxia restrains the expression of complement component 9 in tumor-associated macrophages promoting non-small cell lung cancer progression. Cell Death Discov. 4 (2018) 63.

45. Osinsky, S., Bubnovskaya, L., Ganusevich, I., Kovelskaya, A., Gumenyuk, L., Olijnichenko, G., Merentsev, S., Hypoxia, tumour-associated macrophages, microvessel density, VEGF and matrix metalloproteinases in human gastric cancer: interaction and impact on survival. Clin Transl Oncol. 13 (2011) 133-138.

46. Guo, X., Xue, H., Shao, Q., Wang, J., Guo, X., Chen, X., Zhang, J., Xu, S., Li, T., Zhang, P., Gao, X., Qiu, W., Liu, Q., Li, G., Hypoxia promotes glioma-associated macrophage infiltration via periostin and subsequent M2 polarization by upregulating TGF-beta and M-CSFR. Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 80521-80542.

47. Corbet, C., Feron, O., Tumour acidosis: from the passenger to the driver's seat. Nat Rev Cancer. 17 (2017) 577-593.

48. Riemann, A., Schneider, B., Gundel, D., Stock, C., Gekle, M., Thews, O., Acidosis Promotes Metastasis Formation by Enhancing Tumor Cell Motility. Adv Exp Med Biol. 876 (2016) 215-220.

49. Boussadia, Z., Lamberti, J., Mattei, F., Pizzi, E., Puglisi, R., Zanetti, C., Pasquini, L., Fratini, F., Fantozzi, L., Felicetti, F., Fecchi, K., Raggi, C., Sanchez, M., D'Atri, S., Care, A., Sargiacomo, M., Parolini, I., Acidic microenvironment plays a key role in human melanoma progression through a sustained exosome mediated transfer of clinically relevant metastatic molecules. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 37 (2018) 245.

50. Huang, S., Tang, Y., Peng, X., Cai, X., Wa, Q., Ren, D., Li, Q., Luo, J., Li, L., Zou, X., Huang, S., Acidic extracellular pH promotes prostate cancer bone metastasis by enhancing PC-3 stem cell characteristics, cell invasiveness and VEGF-induced vasculogenesis of BM-EPCs. Oncol Rep. 36 (2016) 2025-2032. 51. Schulz, M.C., Wagenbrett, L., Schwerdt, G., Gekle, M., Influence of Extracellular Acidosis on Matrix Protein Homeostasis in Tumour Cells and Fibroblasts. Adv Exp Med Biol. 1072 (2018) 213-217.

52. Rofstad, E.K., Mathiesen, B., Kindem, K., Galappathi, K., Acidic extracellular pH promotes experimental metastasis of human melanoma cells in athymic nude mice. Cancer Res. 66 (2006) 6699-6707.

53. Wang, H., Long, X., Wang, D., Lou, M., Zou, D., Chen, R., Nian, W., Zhou, Q., Increased expression of Na(+)/H(+) exchanger isoform 1 predicts tumor aggressiveness and unfavorable prognosis in epithelial ovarian cancer. Oncol Lett. 16 (2018) 6713-6720.

54. Guan, X., Luo, L., Begum, G., Kohanbash, G., Song, Q., Rao, A., Amankulor, N., Sun, B., Sun, D., Jia, W., Elevated Na/H exchanger 1 (SLC9A1) emerges as a marker for tumorigenesis and prognosis in gliomas. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 37 (2018) 255.

55. Meehan, J., Ward, C., Turnbull, A., Bukowski-Wills, J., Finch, A.J., Jarman, E.J., Xintaropoulou, C., Martinez-Perez, C., Gray, M., Pearson, M., Mullen, P., Supuran, C.T., Carta, F., Harrison, D.J., Kunkler, I.H., Langdon, S.P., Inhibition of pH regulation as a therapeutic strategy in hypoxic human breast cancer cells. Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 42857-42875.

56. Andres, V., Carreras, J., Cusso, R., Regulation of muscle phosphofructokinase by physiological concentrations of bisphosphorylated hexoses: effect of alkalinization. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 172 (1990) 328-334.

57. Webb, B.A., Chimenti, M., Jacobson, M.P., Barber, D.L., Dysregulated pH: a perfect storm for cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer. 11 (2011) 671-677.

58. Zhitomirsky, B., Assaraf, Y.G., Lysosomes as mediators of drug resistance in cancer. Drug Resist Updat. 24 (2016) 23-33.

59. da Silva, V.P., Mesquita, C.B., Nunes, J.S., de Bem Prunes, B., Rados, P.V., Visioli, F., Effects of extracellular acidity on resistance to chemotherapy treatment: a systematic review. Med Oncol. 35 (2018) 161.

60. Riemann, A., Reime, S., Thews, O., Tumor Acidosis and Hypoxia Differently Modulate the Inflammatory Program: Measurements In Vitro and In Vivo. Neoplasia. 19 (2017) 1033-1042.

61. Nakagawa, Y., Negishi, Y., Shimizu, M., Takahashi, M., Ichikawa, M., Takahashi, H., Effects of extracellular pH and hypoxia on the function and development of antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Immunol Lett. 167 (2015) 72-86.

62. Zhang, Y., Ertl, H.C.J., Starved and Asphyxiated: How Can CD8+ T Cells within a Tumor Microenvironment Prevent Tumor Progression. Frontiers in Immunology. 7 (2016).

63. Potzl, J., Roser, D., Bankel, L., Homberg, N., Geishauser, A., Brenner, C.D., Weigand,M., Rocken, M., Mocikat, R., Reversal of tumor acidosis by systemic buffering reactivates NK

cells to express IFN-gamma and induces NK cell-dependent lymphoma control without other immunotherapies. Int J Cancer. 140 (2017) 2125-2133.

64. Altenberg, B.a., Greulich, K., Genes of glycolysis are ubiquitously overexpressed in 24 cancer classes. Genomics. 84 (2004) 1014-1020.

65. Vander Heiden, M.G., Cantley, L.C., Thompson, C.B., Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. science. 324 (2009) 1029-1033.

66. Zheng, J., Energy metabolism of cancer: Glycolysis versus oxidative phosphorylation. Oncology letters. 4 (2012) 1151-1157.

67. Hsu, P.P., Sabatini, D.M., Cancer cell metabolism: Warburg and beyond. Cell. 134 (2008) 703-707.

68. Weber, G.F., Molecular mechanisms of metastasis. Cancer letters. 270 (2008) 181-190.

69. Gordan, J.D., Thompson, C.B., Simon, M.C., HIF and c-Myc: sibling rivals for control of cancer cell metabolism and proliferation. Cancer cell. 12 (2007) 108-113.

70. Weber, G.F., Metabolism in cancer metastasis. International journal of cancer. 138 (2016) 2061-2066.

71. Thorens, B., Mueckler, M., Glucose transporters in the 21st Century. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 298 (2009) E141-E145.

72. Jiwa, L.S., van Diest, P.J., Hoefnagel, L.D., Wesseling, J., Wesseling, P., Moelans, C.B., Upregulation of Claudin-4, CAIX and GLUT-1 in distant breast cancer metastases. BMC cancer. 14 (2014) 864.

73. Ito, H., Duxbury, M., Zinner, M.J., Ashley, S.W., Whang, E.E., Glucose transporter-1 gene expression is associated with pancreatic cancer invasiveness and MMP-2 activity. Surgery. 136 (2004) 548-556.

74. Kawamura, T., Kusakabe, T., Sugino, T., Watanabe, K., Fukuda, T., Nashimoto, A., Honma, K., Suzuki, T., Expression of glucose transporter-1 in human gastric carcinoma: association with tumor aggressiveness, metastasis, and patient survival. Cancer: Interdisciplinary International Journal of the American Cancer Society. 92 (2001) 634-641.

75. Kurata, T., Oguri, T., Isobe, T., Ishioka, S.i., Yamakido, M., Differential expression of facilitative glucose transporter (GLUT) genes in primary lung cancers and their liver metastases. Japanese journal of cancer research. 90 (1999) 1238-1243.

76. Younes, M., Brown, R.W., Stephenson, M., Gondo, M., Cagle, P.T., Overexpression of Glut1 and Glut3 in stage I nonsmall cell lung carcinoma is associated with poor survival. Cancer: Interdisciplinary International Journal of the American Cancer Society. 80 (1997) 1046-1051.

77. Chang, Y.-C., Chi, L.-H., Chang, W.-M., Su, C.-Y., Lin, Y.-F., Chen, C.-L., Chen, M.-H., Chang, P.M.-H., Wu, A.T., Hsiao, M., Glucose transporter 4 promotes head and neck squamous cell carcinoma metastasis through the TRIM24-DDX58 axis. Journal of hematology & oncology. 10 (2017) 11.

78. Ogawa, H., Nagano, H., Konno, M., Eguchi, H., Koseki, J., Kawamoto, K., Nishida, N., Colvin, H., Tomokuni, A., Tomimaru, Y., The combination of the expression of hexokinase 2 and pyruvate kinase M2 is a prognostic marker in patients with pancreatic cancer. Molecular and clinical oncology. 3 (2015) 563-571.

79. Chaika, N.V., Yu, F., Purohit, V., Mehla, K., Lazenby, A.J., DiMaio, D., Anderson, J.M., Yeh, J.J., Johnson, K.R., Hollingsworth, M.A., Differential expression of metabolic genes in tumor and stromal components of primary and metastatic loci in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. PloS one. 7 (2012) e32996.

80. Sato-Tadano, A., Suzuki, T., Amari, M., Takagi, K., Miki, Y., Tamaki, K., Watanabe, M., Ishida, T., Sasano, H., Ohuchi, N., Hexokinase II in breast carcinoma: A potent prognostic factor associated with hypoxia-inducible factor-1α and K i-67. Cancer science. 104 (2013) 1380-1388.

81. Nevo, I., Oberthuer, A., Botzer, E., Sagi-Assif, O., Maman, S., Pasmanik-Chor, M., Kariv, N., Fischer, M., Yron, I., Witz, I.P., Gene-expression-based analysis of local and metastatic neuroblastoma variants reveals a set of genes associated with tumor progression in neuroblastoma patients. International journal of cancer. 126 (2010) 1570-1581.

82. Anderson, M., Marayati, R., Moffitt, R., Yeh, J.J., Hexokinase 2 promotes tumor growth and metastasis by regulating lactate production in pancreatic cancer. Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 56081.

83. Botzer, L.E., Maman, S., Sagi-Assif, O., Meshel, T., Nevo, I., Yron, I., Witz, I.P., Hexokinase 2 is a determinant of neuroblastoma metastasis. British journal of cancer. 114 (2016) 759.

84. Sun, Y.-J., Chou, C.-C., Chen, W.-S., Wu, R.-T., Meng, M., Hsiao, C.-D., The crystal structure of a multifunctional protein: phosphoglucose isomerase/autocrine motility factor/neuroleukin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 96 (1999) 5412-5417.

85. Repiso, A., Andrés, R., Climent, F., Urena, J., Expression Patterns in Mouse Embryos of Neuroleukin/Glucose-6-Phosphate Isomerase and Autocrine Motility Factor Receptor. Anatomia, histologia, embryologia. 37 (2008) 380-382.

86. Xu, W., Seiter, K., Feldman, E., Ahmed, T., Chiao, J., The differentiation and maturation mediator for human myeloid leukemia cells shares homology with neuroleukin or phosphoglucose isomerase. Blood. 87 (1996) 4502-4506.

87. Liotta, L.A., Mandler, R., Murano, G., Katz, D.A., Gordon, R.K., Chiang, P.K., Schiffmann, E., Tumor cell autocrine motility factor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 83 (1986) 3302-3306.

88. Tsutsumi, S., Hogan, V., Nabi, I.R., Raz, A., Overexpression of the autocrine motility factor/phosphoglucose isomerase induces transformation and survival of NIH-3T3 fibroblasts. Cancer research. 63 (2003) 242-249.

89. Kho, D.H., Zhang, T., Balan, V., Wang, Y., Ha, S.-W., Xie, Y., Raz, A., Autocrine motility factor modulates EGF-mediated invasion signaling. Cancer research. (2014).

90. Tsutsumi, S., Gupta, S.K., Hogan, V., Collard, J.G., Raz, A., Activation of small GTPase Rho is required for autocrine motility factor signaling. Cancer research. 62 (2002) 4484-4490.

91. Timar, J., Trikha, M., Szekeres, K., Bazaz, R., Tovari, J., Silletti, S., Raz, A., Honn, K.V., Autocrine motility factor signals integrin-mediated metastatic melanoma cell adhesion and invasion. Cancer Research. 56 (1996) 1902-1908.

92. Torimura, T., Ueno, T., Kin, M., Harada, R., Nakamura, T., Kawaguchi, T., Harada, M., Kumashiro, R., Watanabe, H., Avraham, R., Autocrine motility factor enhances hepatoma cell invasion across the basement membrane through activation of B1 integrins. Hepatology. 34 (2001) 62-71.

93. Funasaka, T., Hogan, V., Raz, A., Phosphoglucose isomerase/autocrine motility factor mediates epithelial and mesenchymal phenotype conversions in breast cancer. Cancer research. 69 (2009) 5349-5356.

94. Ahmad, A., Aboukameel, A., Kong, D., Wang, Z., Sethi, S., Chen, W., Sarkar, F.H., Raz, A., Phosphoglucose isomerase/autocrine motility factor mediates epithelialmesenchymal transition regulated by miR-200 in breast cancer cells. Cancer research. (2011).

95. Baumann, M., Kappl, A., Lang, T., Brand, K., Siegfried, W., Paterok, E., The diagnostic validity of the serum tumor marker phosphohexose isomerase (PHI) in patients with gastrointestinal, kidney, and breast cancer. Cancer investigation. 8 (1990) 351-356.

96. Guirguis, R., Schiffmann, E., Liu, B., Birkbeck, D., Engel, J., Liotta, L., Detection of autocrine motility factor in urine as a marker of bladder cancer. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 80 (1988) 1203-1211.

97. Nakamori, S., Watanabe, H., Kameyama, M., Imaoka, S., Furukawa, H., Ishikawa, O., Sasaki, Y., Kabuto, T., Raz, A., Expression of autocrine motility factor receptor in colorectal cancer as a predictor for disease recurrence. Cancer. 74 (1994) 1855-1862.

98. Maruyama, K., Watanabe, H., Shiozaki, H., Takayama, T., Gofuku, J., Yano, H., Inoue, M., Tamura, S., Raz, A., Monden, M., Expression of autocrine motility factor receptor in human esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. International journal of cancer. 64 (1995) 316-321.

99. Takanami, I., Takeuchi, K., Naruke, M., Kodaira, S., Tanaka, F., Watanabe, H., Raz, A., Autocrine motility factor in pulmonary adenocarcinomas: results of an immunohistochemical study. Tumor biology. 19 (1998) 384-389.

100. Funasaka, T., Haga, A., Raz, A., Nagase, H., Autocrine motility factor secreted by tumor cells upregulates vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (Flt-1) expression in endothelial cells. International journal of cancer. 101 (2002) 217-223.

101. Funasaka, T., Haga, A., Raz, A., Nagase, H., Tumor autocrine motility factor induces hyperpermeability of endothelial and mesothelial cells leading to accumulation of ascites fluid. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 293 (2002) 192-200.

102. Funasaka, T., Hu, H., Yanagawa, T., Hogan, V., Raz, A., Down-regulation of phosphoglucose isomerase/autocrine motility factor results in mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition of human lung fibrosarcoma cells. Cancer research. 67 (2007) 4236-4243.

103. Li, Y., Che, Q., Bian, Y., Zhou, Q., Jiang, F., Tong, H., Ke, J., Wang, K., Wan, X.-P., Autocrine motility factor promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in endometrial cancer via MAPK signaling pathway. International journal of oncology. 47 (2015) 1017-1024.

104. Hirono, Y., Fushida, S., Yonemura, Y., Yamamoto, H., Watanabe, H., Raz, A., Expression of autocrine motility factor receptor correlates with disease progression in human gastric cancer. British journal of cancer. 74 (1996) 2003.

105. Chesney, J., 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2, 6-bisphosphatase and tumor cell glycolysis. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care. 9 (2006) 535-539.

106. Calvo, M., Bartrons, R., Castano, E., Perales, J., Navarro-Sabate, A., Manzano, A., PFKFB3 gene silencing decreases glycolysis, induces cell-cycle delay and inhibits anchorage-independent growth in HeLa cells. FEBS letters. 580 (2006) 3308-3314.

107. Cantelmo, A.R., Conradi, L.-C., Brajic, A., Goveia, J., Kalucka, J., Pircher, A., Chaturvedi, P., Hol, J., Thienpont, B., Teuwen, L.-A., Inhibition of the glycolytic activator PFKFB3 in endothelium induces tumor vessel normalization, impairs metastasis, and improves chemotherapy. Cancer Cell. 30 (2016) 968-985.

108. Du, S., Guan, Z., Hao, L., Song, Y., Wang, L., Gong, L., Liu, L., Qi, X., Hou, Z., Shao, S., Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase a is a potential metastasis-associated marker of lung squamous cell carcinoma and promotes lung cell tumorigenesis and migration. PloS one. 9 (2014) e85804.

109. Coulouarn, C., Factor, V.M., Andersen, J.B., Durkin, M.E., Thorgeirsson, S.S., Loss of miR-122 expression in liver cancer correlates with suppression of the hepatic phenotype and gain of metastatic properties. Oncogene. 28 (2009) 3526.

110. Ji, S., Zhang, B., Liu, J., Qin, Y., Liang, C., Shi, S., Jin, K., Liang, D., Xu, W., Xu, H., ALDOA functions as an oncogene in the highly metastatic pancreatic cancer. Cancer letters. 374 (2016) 127-135.

111. Long, F., Cai, X., Luo, W., Chen, L., Li, K., Role of aldolase A in osteosarcoma progression and metastasis: In vitro and in vivo evidence. Oncology reports. 32 (2014) 2031-2037.

112. Chang, Y.-C., Jan, Y.-H., Su, C.-Y., Hsiao, M., Non-glycolytic Function of Aldolase A Promotes Lung Cancer Metastasis through Down-regulation of PLD2 Enzyme to Activate PLD1. The FASEB Journal. 29 (2015) 54.58.

113. Huang, Z., Hua, Y., Tian, Y., Qin, C., Qian, J., Bao, M., Liu, Y., Wang, S., Cao, Q., Ju, X., High expression of fructose-bisphosphate aldolase A induces progression of renal cell carcinoma. Oncology reports. 39 (2018) 2996-3006.

114. Jiang, Z., Wang, X., Li, J., Yang, H., Lin, X., Aldolase A as a prognostic factor and mediator of progression via inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition in gastric cancer. Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine. 22 (2018) 4377-4386.

115. Zhou, C.F., Li, X.B., Sun, H., Zhang, B., Han, Y.S., Jiang, Y., Zhuang, Q.L., Fang, J., Wu, G.H., Pyruvate kinase type M2 is upregulated in colorectal cancer and promotes proliferation and migration of colon cancer cells. IUBMB life. 64 (2012) 775-782.

116. Yu, G., Yu, W., Jin, G., Xu, D., Chen, Y., Xia, T., Yu, A., Fang, W., Zhang, X., Li, Z., PKM2 regulates neural invasion of and predicts poor prognosis for human hilar cholangiocarcinoma. Molecular cancer. 14 (2015) 193.

117. Lu, W., Cao, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, S., Gao, J., Wang, X.-A., Mu, J., Hu, Y.-P., Jiang, L., Dong, P., Up-regulation of PKM2 promote malignancy and related to adverse prognostic risk factor in human gallbladder cancer. Scientific reports. 6 (2016) 26351.

118. Yuan, C., Li, Z., Wang, Y., Qi, B., Zhang, W., Ye, J., Wu, H., Jiang, H., Song, L.N., Yang, J., Overexpression of metabolic markers PKM 2 and LDH 5 correlates with aggressive clinicopathological features and adverse patient prognosis in tongue cancer. Histopathology. 65 (2014) 595-605.

119. Zhang, X., He, C., He, C., Chen, B., Liu, Y., Kong, M., Wang, C., Lin, L., Dong, Y., Sheng, H., Nuclear PKM2 expression predicts poor prognosis in patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. Pathology-Research and Practice. 209 (2013) 510-515.

120. Liu, W.-R., Tian, M.-X., Yang, L.-X., Lin, Y.-L., Jin, L., Ding, Z.-B., Shen, Y.-H., Peng, Y.-F., Gao, D.-M., Zhou, J., PKM2 promotes metastasis by recruiting myeloid-derived suppressor cells and indicates poor prognosis for hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 846.

121. Chen, Z., Lu, X., Wang, Z., Jin, G., Wang, Q., Chen, D., Chen, T., Li, J., Fan, J., Cong, W., Co-expression of PKM2 and TRIM35 predicts survival and recurrence in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 2539.

122. Sun, H., Zhu, A., Zhang, L., Zhang, J., Zhong, Z., Wang, F., Knockdown of PKM2 suppresses tumor growth and invasion in lung adenocarcinoma. International journal of molecular sciences. 16 (2015) 24574-24587.

123. Duan, H.-F., Hu, X.-W., Chen, J.-L., Gao, L.-H., Xi, Y.-Y., Lu, Y., Li, J.-F., Zhao, S.-R., Xu, J.-J., Chen, H.-P., Antitumor activities of TEM8-Fc: an engineered antibody-like molecule targeting tumor endothelial marker 8. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 99 (2007) 1551-1555.

124. Fan, F.-T., Shen, C.-S., Tao, L., Tian, C., Liu, Z.-G., Zhu, Z.-J., Liu, Y.-P., Pei, C.-S., Wu, H.-Y., Zhang, L., PKM2 regulates hepatocellular carcinoma cell epithelial-mesenchymal transition and migration upon EGFR activation. Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention: APJCP. 15 (2014) 1961-1970.

125. Hamabe, A., Konno, M., Tanuma, N., Shima, H., Tsunekuni, K., Kawamoto, K., Nishida, N., Koseki, J., Mimori, K., Gotoh, N., Role of pyruvate kinase M2 in transcriptional regulation leading to epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 111 (2014) 15526-15531.

126. Shin, Y.K., Yoo, B.C., Hong, Y.S., Chang, H.J., Jung, K.H., Jeong, S.Y., Park, J.G., Upregulation of glycolytic enzymes in proteins secreted from human colon cancer cells with 5-fluorouracil resistance. Electrophoresis. 30 (2009) 2182-2192.

127. Giannoni, E., Taddei, M.L., Morandi, A., Comito, G., Calvani, M., Bianchini, F., Richichi, B., Raugei, G., Wong, N., Tang, D., Targeting stromal-induced pyruvate kinase M2 nuclear translocation impairs oxphos and prostate cancer metastatic spread. Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 24061.

128. Mayer, A., Vaupel, P. Hypoxia, lactate accumulation, and acidosis: siblings or accomplices driving tumor progression and resistance to therapy? Oxygen Transport to Tissue XXXV: Springer; 2013. p. 203-209.

129. Arseneault, R., Chien, A., Newington, J.T., Rappon, T., Harris, R., Cumming, R.C., Attenuation of LDHA expression in cancer cells leads to redox-dependent alterations in cytoskeletal structure and cell migration. Cancer letters. 338 (2013) 255-266.

130. Sheng, S.L., Liu, J.J., Dai, Y.H., Sun, X.G., Xiong, X.P., Huang, G., Knockdown of lactate dehydrogenase A suppresses tumor growth and metastasis of human hepatocellular carcinoma. The FEBS journal. 279 (2012) 3898-3910.

131. Xian, Z.-Y., Liu, J.-M., Chen, Q.-K., Chen, H.-Z., Ye, C.-J., Xue, J., Yang, H.-Q., Li, J.-L., Liu, X.-F., Kuang, S.-J., Inhibition of LDHA suppresses tumor progression in prostate cancer. Tumor Biology. 36 (2015) 8093-8100.

132. Zhao, J., Huang, X., Xu, Z., Dai, J., He, H., Zhu, Y., Wang, H., LDHA promotes tumor metastasis by facilitating epithelial-mesenchymal transition in renal cell carcinoma. Molecular medicine reports. 16 (2017) 8335-8344.

133. Dupuy, F., Tabariès, S., Andrzejewski, S., Dong, Z., Blagih, J., Annis, M.G., Omeroglu, A., Gao, D., Leung, S., Amir, E., PDK1-dependent metabolic reprogramming dictates metastatic potential in breast cancer. Cell metabolism. 22 (2015) 577-589.

134. Du, J., Yang, M., Chen, S., Li, D., Chang, Z., Dong, Z., PDK1 promotes tumor growth and metastasis in a spontaneous breast cancer model. Oncogene. 35 (2016) 3314.

135. Papandreou, I., Cairns, R.A., Fontana, L., Lim, A.L., Denko, N.C., HIF-1 mediates adaptation to hypoxia by actively downregulating mitochondrial oxygen consumption. Cell metabolism. 3 (2006) 187-197.

136. Santos, C.R., Schulze, A., Lipid metabolism in cancer. The FEBS journal. 279 (2012) 2610-2623.

137. Qian, X., Hu, J., Zhao, J., Chen, H., ATP citrate lyase expression is associated with advanced stage and prognosis in gastric adenocarcinoma. International journal of clinical and experimental medicine. 8 (2015) 7855.

138. Migita, T., Narita, T., Nomura, K., Miyagi, E., Inazuka, F., Matsuura, M., Ushijima, M., Mashima, T., Seimiya, H., Satoh, Y., ATP citrate lyase: Activation and therapeutic implications in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer research. 68 (2008) 8547-8554.

139. Turyn, J., Schlichtholz, B., Dettlaff-Pokora, A., Presler, M., Goyke, E., Matuszewski, M., Kmieć, Z., Krajka, K.a., Swierczynski, J., Increased activity of glycerol 3-phosphate dehydrogenase and other lipogenic enzymes in human bladder cancer. Hormone and metabolic research. 35 (2003) 565-569.

140. Yancy, H.F., Mason, J.A., Peters, S., Thompson III, C.E., Littleton, G.K., Jett, M., Day, A.A., Metastatic progression and gene expression between breast cancer cell lines from African American and Caucasian women. Journal of carcinogenesis. 6 (2007) 8.

141. Lucenay, K.S., Doostan, I., Karakas, C., Bui, T., Ding, Z., Mills, G.B., Hunt, K.K., Keyomarsi, K., Cyclin E associates with the lipogenic enzyme ATP-citrate lyase to enable malignant growth of breast cancer cells. Cancer research. (2016).

142. Xin, M., Qiao, Z., Li, J., Liu, J., Song, S., Zhao, X., Miao, P., Tang, T., Wang, L., Liu, W., miR-22 inhibits tumor growth and metastasis by targeting ATP citrate lyase: evidence in osteosarcoma, prostate cancer, cervical cancer and lung cancer. Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 44252.

143. Su, Y.-W., Lin, Y.-H., Pai, M.-H., Lo, A.-C., Lee, Y.-C., Fang, I.-C., Lin, J., Hsieh, R.-K., Chang, Y.-F., Chen, C.-L., Association between phosphorylated AMP-activated protein kinase and acetyl-CoA carboxylase expression and outcome in patients with squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. PloS one. 9 (2014) e96183. 144. Wang, M.D., Wu, H., Fu, G.B., Zhang, H.L., Zhou, X., Tang, L., Dong, L.W., Qin, C.J., Huang, S., Zhao, L.H., Acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase alpha promotion of glucose-mediated fatty acid synthesis enhances survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in mice and patients. Hepatology. 63 (2016) 1272-1286.

145. Jiang, L., Wang, H., Li, J., Fang, X., Pan, H., Yuan, X., Zhang, P., Up-regulated FASN expression promotes transcoelomic metastasis of ovarian cancer cell through epithelial-mesenchymal transition. International journal of molecular sciences. 15 (2014) 11539-11554.

146. Li, J., Dong, L., Wei, D., Wang, X., Zhang, S., Li, H., Fatty acid synthase mediates the epithelial-mesenchymal transition of breast cancer cells. International journal of biological sciences. 10 (2014) 171.

147. Wang, H., Xi, Q., Wu, G., Fatty acid synthase regulates invasion and metastasis of colorectal cancer via Wnt signaling pathway. Cancer medicine. 5 (2016) 1599-1606.

148. Alo, P.L., Visca, P., Marci, A., Mangoni, A., Botti, C., Di Tondo, U., Expression of fatty acid synthase (FAS) as a predictor of recurrence in stage I breast carcinoma patients. Cancer: Interdisciplinary International Journal of the American Cancer Society. 77 (1996) 474-482.

149. Dalmau, N., Jaumot, J., Tauler, R., Bedia, C., Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition involves triacylglycerol accumulation in DU145 prostate cancer cells. Molecular BioSystems.
11 (2015) 3397-3406.

150. Yasumoto, Y., Miyazaki, H., Vaidyan, L.K., Kagawa, Y., Ebrahimi, M., Yamamoto, Y., Ogata, M., Katsuyama, Y., Sadahiro, H., Suzuki, M., Inhibition of fatty acid synthase decreases expression of stemness markers in glioma stem cells. PloS one. 11 (2016) e0147717.

151. Hao, Q., Li, T., Zhang, X., Gao, P., Qiao, P., Li, S., Geng, Z., Expression and roles of fatty acid synthase in hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncology reports. 32 (2014) 2471-2476.

152. Camassei, F.D., Cozza, R., Acquaviva, A., Jenkner, A., Rava, L., Gareri, R., Donfrancesco, A., Bosman, C., Vadalà, P., Hadjistilianou, T., Expression of the lipogenic enzyme fatty acid synthase (FAS) in retinoblastoma and its correlation with tumor aggressiveness. Investigative ophthalmology & visual science. 44 (2003) 2399-2403.

153. Choi, S.Y., Xue, H., Wu, R., Fazli, L., Lin, D., Collins, C.C., Gleave, M.E., Gout, P.W., Wang, Y., The MCT4 Gene: A Novel, Potential Target for Therapy of Advanced Prostate Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 22 (2016) 2721-2733.

154. Sánchez-Martínez, R., Cruz-Gil, S., de Cedrón, M.G., Álvarez-Fernández, M., Vargas, T., Molina, S., García, B., Herranz, J., Moreno-Rubio, J., Reglero, G., A link between lipid metabolism and epithelial-mesenchymal transition provides a target for colon cancer therapy. Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 38719.

155. Nomura, D.K., Lombardi, D.P., Chang, J.W., Niessen, S., Ward, A.M., Long, J.Z., Hoover, H.H., Cravatt, B.F., Monoacylglycerol lipase exerts dual control over endocannabinoid and fatty acid pathways to support prostate cancer. Chemistry & biology. 18 (2011) 846-856.

156. Nomura, D.K., Long, J.Z., Niessen, S., Hoover, H.S., Ng, S.-W., Cravatt, B.F., Monoacylglycerol lipase regulates a fatty acid network that promotes cancer pathogenesis. Cell. 140 (2010) 49-61.

157. Ma, M., Bai, J., Ling, Y., Chang, W., Xie, G., Li, R., Wang, G., Tao, K., Monoacylglycerol lipase inhibitor JZL184 regulates apoptosis and migration of colorectal cancer cells. Molecular medicine reports. 13 (2016) 2850-2856.

158. Zhu, W., Zhao, Y., Zhou, J., Wang, X., Pan, Q., Zhang, N., Wang, L., Wang, M., Zhan, D., Liu, Z., Monoacylglycerol lipase promotes progression of hepatocellular carcinoma via NFκB-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Journal of hematology & oncology. 9 (2016) 127.

159. Cai, Q., Zhao, Z., Antalis, C., Yan, L., Del Priore, G., Hamed, A.H., Stehman, F.B., Schilder, J.M., Xu, Y., Elevated and secreted phospholipase A2 activities as new potential therapeutic targets in human epithelial ovarian cancer. The FASEB Journal. 26 (2012) 3306-3320.

160. Knoepp, S.M., Chahal, M.S., Xie, Y., Zhang, Z., Brauner, D.J., Hallman, M.A., Robinson, S.A., Han, S., Imai, M., Tomlinson, S., Effects of active and inactive phospholipase D2 on signal transduction, adhesion, migration, invasion, and metastasis in EL4 lymphoma cells. Molecular pharmacology. (2008).

161. Henkels, K.M., Boivin, G.P., Dudley, E.S., Berberich, S.J., Gomez-Cambronero, J., Phospholipase D (PLD) drives cell invasion, tumor growth and metastasis in a human breast cancer xenograph model. Oncogene. 32 (2013) 5551.

162. Park, M.H., Ahn, B.-H., Hong, Y.-K., Min, D.S., Overexpression of phospholipase D enhances matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression and glioma cell invasion via protein kinase C and protein kinase A/NF-κB/Sp1-mediated signaling pathways. Carcinogenesis. 30 (2009) 356-365.

163. Henkels, K.M., Farkaly, T., Mahankali, M., Segall, J.E., Gomez-Cambronero, J., Cell invasion of highly metastatic MTLn3 cancer cells is dependent on phospholipase D2 (PLD2) and Janus kinase 3 (JAK3). Journal of molecular biology. 408 (2011) 850-862.

164. Ye, Q., Kantonen, S., Gomez-Cambronero, J., Serum deprivation confers the MDA-MB-231 breast cancer line with an EGFR/JAK3/PLD2 system that maximizes cancer cell invasion. Journal of molecular biology. 425 (2013) 755-766.

165. Chen, Q., Hongu, T., Sato, T., Zhang, Y., Ali, W., Cavallo, J.-A., van der Velden, A., Tian, H., Di Paolo, G., Nieswandt, B., Key roles for the lipid signaling enzyme phospholipase d1 in the tumor microenvironment during tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. Sci Signal. 5 (2012) ra79-ra79. 166. Price, N.T., van der Leij, F.R., Jackson, V.N., Corstorphine, C.G., Thomson, R., Sorensen, A., Zammit, V.A., A novel brain-expressed protein related to carnitine palmitoyltransferase I. Genomics. 80 (2002) 433-442.

167. Zammit, V.A., Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1: central to cell function. IUBMB life.60 (2008) 347-354.

168. Park, J.H., Vithayathil, S., Kumar, S., Sung, P.-L., Dobrolecki, L.E., Putluri, V., Bhat, V.B., Bhowmik, S.K., Gupta, V., Arora, K., Fatty acid oxidation-driven Src links mitochondrial energy reprogramming and oncogenic properties in triple-negative breast cancer. Cell reports. 14 (2016) 2154-2165.

169. Cirillo, A., Di Salle, A., Petillo, O., Melone, M.A., Grimaldi, G., Bellotti, A., Torelli, G., de'Santi, M.S., Cantatore, G., Marinelli, A., High grade glioblastoma is associated with aberrant expression of ZFP57, a protein involved in gene imprinting, and of CPT1A and CPT1C that regulate fatty acid metabolism. Cancer biology & therapy. 15 (2014) 735-741.

170. Wang, Y.-n., Zeng, Z.-l., Lu, J., Wang, Y., Liu, Z.-x., He, M.-m., Zhao, Q., Wang, Z.x., Li, T., Lu, Y.-x., CPT1A-mediated fatty acid oxidation promotes colorectal cancer cell metastasis by inhibiting anoikis. Oncogene. 37 (2018) 6025.

171. Liu, L., Wang, Y.-D., Wu, J., Cui, J., Chen, T., Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A): a transcriptional target of PAX3-FKHR and mediates PAX3-FKHR-dependent motility in alveolar rhabdomyosarcoma cells. BMC cancer. 12 (2012) 154.

172. Nath, A., Chan, C., Genetic alterations in fatty acid transport and metabolism genes are associated with metastatic progression and poor prognosis of human cancers. Scientific reports. 6 (2016) 18669.

173. Pascual, G., Avgustinova, A., Mejetta, S., Martín, M., Castellanos, A., Attolini, C.S.-O., Berenguer, A., Prats, N., Toll, A., Hueto, J.A., Targeting metastasis-initiating cells through the fatty acid receptor CD36. Nature. 541 (2017) 41.

174. Antalis, C.J., Uchida, A., Buhman, K.K., Siddiqui, R.A., Migration of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells depends on the availability of exogenous lipids and cholesterol esterification. Clinical & experimental metastasis. 28 (2011) 733-741.

175. Dieter, S.M., Ball, C.R., Hoffmann, C.M., Nowrouzi, A., Herbst, F., Zavidij, O., Abel, U., Arens, A., Weichert, W., Brand, K., Distinct types of tumor-initiating cells form human colon cancer tumors and metastases. Cell stem cell. 9 (2011) 357-365.

176. Hermann, P.C., Huber, S.L., Herrler, T., Aicher, A., Ellwart, J.W., Guba, M., Bruns, C.J., Heeschen, C., Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. Cell stem cell. 1 (2007) 313-323.

177. Lawson, D.A., Bhakta, N.R., Kessenbrock, K., Prummel, K.D., Yu, Y., Takai, K., Zhou, A., Eyob, H., Balakrishnan, S., Wang, C.-Y., Single-cell analysis reveals a stem-cell program in human metastatic breast cancer cells. Nature. 526 (2015) 131.

178. Nath, A., Li, I., Roberts, L.R., Chan, C., Elevated free fatty acid uptake via CD36 promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in hepatocellular carcinoma. Scientific reports. 5 (2015) 14752.

179. You, S., Tu, H., Zhao, Y., Liu, Y., Chaney, E.J., Marjanovic, M., Boppart, S.A., Raman spectroscopic analysis reveals abnormal fatty acid composition in tumor micro-and macroenvironments in human breast and rat mammary cancer. Scientific reports. 6 (2016) 32922.

180. Rose, D.P., Connolly, J.M., Meschter, C.L., Effect of dietary fat on human breast cancer growth and lung metastasis in nude mice. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 83 (1991) 1491-1495.

181. Rose, D.P., Connolly, J.M., Rayburn, J., Coleman, M., Influence of diets containing eicosapentaenoic or docosahexaenoic acid on growth and metastasis of breast cancer cells in nude mice. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 87 (1995) 587-592.

182. Rose, D.P., Connolly, J.M., Coleman, M., Effect of omega-3 fatty acids on the progression of metastases after the surgical excision of human breast cancer cell solid tumors growing in nude mice. Clinical Cancer Research. 2 (1996) 1751-1756.

183. Fu, Y.-M., Meadows, G.G., Specific amino acid dependency regulates the cellular behavior of melanoma. The Journal of nutrition. 137 (2007) 1591S-1596S.

184. Medina, M.Á., Márquez, J., Núñez, I., Interchange of amino acids between tumor and host. Biochemical medicine and metabolic biology. 48 (1992) 1-7.

185. Board, M., Humm, S., Newsholme, E., Maximum activities of key enzymes of glycolysis, glutaminolysis, pentose phosphate pathway and tricarboxylic acid cycle in normal, neoplastic and suppressed cells. Biochemical Journal. 265 (1990) 503-509.

186. Liu, W., Le, A., Hancock, C., Lane, A.N., Dang, C.V., Fan, T.W.-M., Phang, J.M., Reprogramming of proline and glutamine metabolism contributes to the proliferative and metabolic responses regulated by oncogenic transcription factor c-MYC. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 109 (2012) 8983-8988.

187. Liu, G., Zhu, J., Yu, M., Cai, C., Zhou, Y., Yu, M., Fu, Z., Gong, Y., Yang, B., Li, Y., Glutamate dehydrogenase is a novel prognostic marker and predicts metastases in colorectal cancer patients. Journal of translational medicine. 13 (2015) 144.

188. Wang, J.-W., Peng, S.-Y., Li, J.-T., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z.-P., Cheng, Y., Cheng, D.-Q., Weng, W.-H., Wu, X.-S., Fei, X.-Z., Identification of metastasis-associated proteins involved in gallbladder carcinoma metastasis by proteomic analysis and functional exploration of chloride intracellular channel 1. Cancer letters. 281 (2009) 71-81.

189. Liu, S., Sun, M.Z., Tang, J.W., Wang, Z., Sun, C., Greenaway, F.T., High-performance liquid chromatography/nano-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry, two-dimensional difference in-gel electrophoresis and gene microarray identification of

lymphatic metastasis-associated biomarkers. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry: An International Journal Devoted to the Rapid Dissemination of Up-to-the-Minute Research in Mass Spectrometry. 22 (2008) 3172-3178.

190. Jin, L., Chun, J., Pan, C., Kumar, A., Zhang, G., Ha, Y., Li, D., Alesi, G.N., Kang, Y., Zhou, L., The PLAG1-GDH1 axis promotes anoikis resistance and tumor metastasis through CamKK2-AMPK signaling in LKB1-deficient lung cancer. Molecular cell. 69 (2018) 87-99. e87.

191. Yang, L., Moss, T., Mangala, L.S., Marini, J., Zhao, H., Wahlig, S., Armaiz-Pena, G., Jiang, D., Achreja, A., Win, J., Metabolic shifts toward glutamine regulate tumor growth, invasion and bioenergetics in ovarian cancer. Molecular systems biology. 10 (2014) 728.

192. Roy, S., Maity, P., Modulation of metastatic potential of B16F10 melanoma cells by acivicin: synergistic action of glutaminase and potentiation of cisplatin cytotoxicity. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention. 8 (2007) 301.

193. Lee, S.Y., Jeon, H.M., Ju, M.K., Jeong, E.K., Kim, C.H., Park, H.G., Han, S.I., Kang, H.S., Dlx-2 and glutaminase upregulate epithelial-mesenchymal transition and glycolytic switch. Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 7925.

194. Shelton, L.M., Huysentruyt, L.C., Seyfried, T.N., Glutamine targeting inhibits systemic metastasis in the VM-M3 murine tumor model. International journal of cancer. 127 (2010) 2478-2485.

195. Kato, Y., Lambert, C.A., Colige, A.C., Mineur, P., Noël, A., Frankenne, F., Foidart, J.-M., Baba, M., Hata, R.-I., Miyazaki, K., Acidic extracellular pH induces matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression in mouse metastatic melanoma cells through the phospholipase D-mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 280 (2005) 10938-10944.

196. Cacace, A., Sboarina, M., Vazeille, T., Sonveaux, P., Glutamine activates STAT3 to control cancer cell proliferation independently of glutamine metabolism. Oncogene. 36 (2017) 2074.

197. Wang, J.-B., Erickson, J.W., Fuji, R., Ramachandran, S., Gao, P., Dinavahi, R., Wilson, K.F., Ambrosio, A.L., Dias, S.M., Dang, C.V., Targeting mitochondrial glutaminase activity inhibits oncogenic transformation. Cancer cell. 18 (2010) 207-219.

198. Ulanet, D.B., Couto, K., Jha, A., Choe, S., Wang, A., Woo, H.-K., Steadman, M., DeLaBarre, B., Gross, S., Driggers, E., Mesenchymal phenotype predisposes lung cancer cells to impaired proliferation and redox stress in response to glutaminase inhibition. PLoS One. 9 (2014) e115144.

199. Elia, I., Broekaert, D., Christen, S., Boon, R., Radaelli, E., Orth, M.F., Verfaillie, C., Grünewald, T.G., Fendt, S.-M., Proline metabolism supports metastasis formation and could be inhibited to selectively target metastasizing cancer cells. Nature communications. 8 (2017) 15267.

200. Richardson, A.D., Yang, C., Osterman, A., Smith, J.W., Central carbon metabolism in the progression of mammary carcinoma. Breast cancer research and treatment. 110 (2008) 297.

201. Togashi, Y., Arao, T., Kato, H., Matsumoto, K., Terashima, M., Hayashi, H., de Velasco, M.A., Fujita, Y., Kimura, H., Yasuda, T., Frequent amplification of ORAOV1 gene in esophageal squamous cell cancer promotes an aggressive phenotype via proline metabolism and ROS production. Oncotarget. 5 (2014) 2962.

202. Comes, S., Gagliardi, M., Laprano, N., Fico, A., Cimmino, A., Palamidessi, A., De Cesare, D., De Falco, S., Angelini, C., Scita, G., L-proline induces a mesenchymal-like invasive program in embryonic stem cells by remodeling H3K9 and H3K36 methylation. Stem cell reports. 1 (2013) 307-321.

203. Maddocks, O.D., Labuschagne, C.F., Adams, P.D., Vousden, K.H., Serine metabolism supports the methionine cycle and DNA/RNA methylation through de novo ATP synthesis in cancer cells. Molecular cell. 61 (2016) 210-221.

204. Carrer, A., Wellen, K.E., Metabolism and epigenetics: a link cancer cells exploit. Current opinion in biotechnology. 34 (2015) 23-29.

205. Shiraki, N., Shiraki, Y., Tsuyama, T., Obata, F., Miura, M., Nagae, G., Aburatani, H., Kume, K., Endo, F., Kume, S., Methionine metabolism regulates maintenance and differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells. Cell metabolism. 19 (2014) 780-794.

206. Pollari, S., Käkönen, S.-M., Edgren, H., Wolf, M., Kohonen, P., Sara, H., Guise, T., Nees, M., Kallioniemi, O., Enhanced serine production by bone metastatic breast cancer cells stimulates osteoclastogenesis. Breast cancer research and treatment. 125 (2011) 421-430.

207. Sreekumar, A., Poisson, L.M., Rajendiran, T.M., Khan, A.P., Cao, Q., Yu, J., Laxman, B., Mehra, R., Lonigro, R.J., Li, Y., Metabolomic profiles delineate potential role for sarcosine in prostate cancer progression. Nature. 457 (2009) 910.

208. Khan, A.P., Rajendiran, T.M., Bushra, A., Asangani, I.A., Athanikar, J.N., Yocum, A.K., Mehra, R., Siddiqui, J., Palapattu, G., Wei, J.T., The role of sarcosine metabolism in prostate cancer progression. Neoplasia. 15 (2013) 491-501.

209. Song, Y.H., Shiota, M., Kuroiwa, K., Naito, S., Oda, Y., The important role of glycine N-methyltransferase in the carcinogenesis and progression of prostate cancer. Modern Pathology. 24 (2011) 1272.

210. Green, T., Chen, X., Ryan, S., Asch, A.S., Ruiz-Echevarría, M.J., TMEFF2 and SARDH cooperate to modulate one-carbon metabolism and invasion of prostate cancer cells. The Prostate. 73 (2013) 1561-1575.

Heger, Z., Rodrigo, M.A.M., Michalek, P., Polanska, H., Masarik, M., Vit, V., Plevova,M., Pacik, D., Eckschlager, T., Stiborova, M., Sarcosine up-regulates expression of genes

involved in cell cycle progression of metastatic models of prostate cancer. PLoS One. 11 (2016) e0165830.

212. Yoon, J.K., Kim, D.H., Koo, J.S., Implications of differences in expression of sarcosine metabolism-related proteins according to the molecular subtype of breast cancer. Journal of translational medicine. 12 (2014) 149.

213. Cantor, J.R., Sabatini, D.M., Cancer cell metabolism: one hallmark, many faces. Cancer discovery. 2 (2012) 881-898.

214. Romero-Garcia, S., Moreno-Altamirano, M.M.B., Prado-Garcia, H., Sánchez-García, F.J., Lactate contribution to the tumor microenvironment: mechanisms, effects on immune cells and therapeutic relevance. Frontiers in immunology. 7 (2016) 52.

215. Walenta, S., Schroeder, T., Mueller-Klieser, W., Lactate in solid malignant tumors: potential basis of a metabolic classification in clinical oncology. Current medicinal chemistry.
11 (2004) 2195-2204.

216. Walenta, S., Salameh, A., Lyng, H., Evensen, J.F., Mitze, M., Rofstad, E.K., Mueller-Klieser, W., Correlation of high lactate levels in head and neck tumors with incidence of metastasis. The American journal of pathology. 150 (1997) 409.

217. Brizel, D.M., Schroeder, T., Scher, R.L., Walenta, S., Clough, R.W., Dewhirst, M.W., Mueller-Klieser, W., Elevated tumor lactate concentrations predict for an increased risk of metastases in head-and-neck cancer. International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics. 51 (2001) 349-353.

218. Schwickert, G., Walenta, S., Sundfør, K., Rofstad, E.K., Mueller-Klieser, W., Correlation of high lactate levels in human cervical cancer with incidence of metastasis. Cancer research. 55 (1995) 4757-4759.

219. Walenta, S., Wetterling, M., Lehrke, M., Schwickert, G., Sundfør, K., Rofstad, E.K., Mueller-Klieser, W., High lactate levels predict likelihood of metastases, tumor recurrence, and restricted patient survival in human cervical cancers. Cancer research. 60 (2000) 916-921.

220. Goetze, K., Walenta, S., Ksiazkiewicz, M., Kunz-Schughart, L.A., Mueller-Klieser, W., Lactate enhances motility of tumor cells and inhibits monocyte migration and cytokine release. International journal of oncology. 39 (2011) 453-463.

221. Jung Y-D, C.J., Park S, Kang M, Park S-J, Choi DH, Jeong M, Park KC, Yeom YI, Lee DC., Lactate Activates the E2F Pathway to Promote Cell Motility by Up-Regulating Microtubule Modulating Genes. Cancers. 11 (2019).

222. Baumann, F., Leukel, P., Doerfelt, A., Beier, C.P., Dettmer, K., Oefner, P.J., Kastenberger, M., Kreutz, M., Nickl-Jockschat, T., Bogdahn, U., Lactate promotes glioma migration by TGF-B2-dependent regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-2. Neuro-oncology. 11 (2009) 368-380.

223. Bonuccelli, G., Tsirigos, A., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Pavlides, S., Pestell, R.G., Chiavarina, B., Frank, P.G., Flomenberg, N., Howell, A., Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., Ketones and lactate "fuel" tumor growth and metastasis: Evidence that epithelial cancer cells use oxidative mitochondrial metabolism. Cell cycle. 9 (2010) 3506-3514.

224. Hashim, A.I., Cornnell, H.H., Ribeiro, M.d.L.C., Abrahams, D., Cunningham, J., Lloyd, M., Martinez, G.V., Gatenby, R.A., Gillies, R.J., Reduction of metastasis using a non-volatile buffer. Clinical & experimental metastasis. 28 (2011) 841-849.

225. Robey, I.F., Baggett, B.K., Kirkpatrick, N.D., Roe, D.J., Dosescu, J., Sloane, B.F., Hashim, A.I., Morse, D.L., Raghunand, N., Gatenby, R.A., Bicarbonate increases tumor pH and inhibits spontaneous metastases. Cancer research. 69 (2009) 2260-2268.

226. Walenta, S., Mueller-Klieser, W.F., editors. Lactate: mirror and motor of tumor malignancy. Seminars in radiation oncology; 2004: Elsevier.

227. Nokin, M.-J., Durieux, F., Peixoto, P., Chiavarina, B., Peulen, O., Blomme, A., Turtoi, A., Costanza, B., Smargiasso, N., Baiwir, D., Methylglyoxal, a glycolysis side-product, induces Hsp90 glycation and YAP-mediated tumor growth and metastasis. Elife. 5 (2016) e19375.

228. Chiavarina, B., Nokin, M.-J., Bellier, J., Durieux, F., Bletard, N., Sherer, F., Lovinfosse, P., Peulen, O., Verset, L., Dehon, R., Methylglyoxal-mediated stress correlates with high metabolic activity and promotes tumor growth in colorectal cancer. International journal of molecular sciences. 18 (2017) 213.

229. Puchalska, P., Crawford, P.A., Multi-dimensional roles of ketone bodies in fuel metabolism, signaling, and therapeutics. Cell metabolism. 25 (2017) 262-284.

230. Veech, R.L., The therapeutic implications of ketone bodies: the effects of ketone bodies in pathological conditions: ketosis, ketogenic diet, redox states, insulin resistance, and mitochondrial metabolism. Prostaglandins, leukotrienes and essential fatty acids. 70 (2004) 309-319.

231. Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., Lin, Z., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Howell, A., Sotgia, F., Lisanti, M.P., Ketone body utilization drives tumor growth and metastasis. Cell cycle. 11 (2012) 3964-3971.

232. Lyssiotis, C.A., Cantley, L.C., Acetate fuels the cancer engine. Cell. 159 (2014) 1492-1494.

233. Comerford, S.A., Huang, Z., Du, X., Wang, Y., Cai, L., Witkiewicz, A.K., Walters, H., Tantawy, M.N., Fu, A., Manning, H.C., Acetate dependence of tumors. Cell. 159 (2014) 1591-1602.

234. Mashimo, T., Pichumani, K., Vemireddy, V., Hatanpaa, K.J., Singh, D.K., Sirasanagandla, S., Nannepaga, S., Piccirillo, S.G., Kovacs, Z., Foong, C., Acetate is a bioenergetic substrate for human glioblastoma and brain metastases. Cell. 159 (2014) 1603-1614. 235. Annibaldi, A., Widmann, C., Glucose metabolism in cancer cells. Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care. 13 (2010) 466-470.

236. Deep, G., Agarwal, R., Targeting tumor microenvironment with silibinin: promise and potential for a translational cancer chemopreventive strategy. Current cancer drug targets. 13 (2013) 486-499.

237. Ooi, A.T., Gomperts, B.N., Molecular pathways: targeting cellular energy metabolism in cancer via inhibition of SLC2A1 and LDHA. Clinical Cancer Research. (2015) clincanres. 1209.2014.

238. Zhan, T., Digel, M., Küch, E.M., Stremmel, W., Füllekrug, J., Silybin and dehydrosilybin decrease glucose uptake by inhibiting GLUT proteins. Journal of cellular biochemistry. 112 (2011) 849-859.

239. Liu, Y., Cao, Y., Zhang, W., Bergmeier, S., Qian, Y., Akbar, H., Colvin, R., Ding, J., Tong, L., Wu, S., A small-molecule inhibitor of glucose transporter 1 downregulates glycolysis, induces cell-cycle arrest, and inhibits cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo. Molecular cancer therapeutics. (2012).

240. Dwarakanath, B., Singh, D., Banerji, A.K., Sarin, R., Venkataramana, N., Jalali, R., Vishwanath, P., Mohanti, B., Tripathi, R., Kalia, V., Clinical studies for improving radiotherapy with 2-deoxy-D-glucose: present status and future prospects. Journal of cancer research and therapeutics. 5 (2009) 21.

241. Wolf, A., Agnihotri, S., Micallef, J., Mukherjee, J., Sabha, N., Cairns, R., Hawkins, C., Guha, A., Hexokinase 2 is a key mediator of aerobic glycolysis and promotes tumor growth in human glioblastoma multiforme. Journal of Experimental Medicine. (2011) jem. 20101470.

242. Jae, H.J., Chung, J.W., Park, H.S., Lee, M.J., Lee, K.C., Kim, H.-C., Yoon, J.H., Chung, H., Park, J.H., The antitumor effect and hepatotoxicity of a hexokinase II inhibitor 3bromopyruvate: in vivo investigation of intraarterial administration in a rabbit VX2 hepatoma model. Korean journal of radiology. 10 (2009) 596-603.

243. Klippel, S., Jakubikova, J., Delmore, J., Ooi, M., McMillin, D., Kastritis, E., Laubach, J., Richardson, P.G., Anderson, K.C., Mitsiades, C.S., Methyljasmonate displays in vitro and in vivo activity against multiple myeloma cells. British journal of haematology. 159 (2012) 340-351.

244. Shoshan, M.C., 3-Bromopyruvate: targets and outcomes. Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes. 44 (2012) 7-15.

245. De Lena, M., Lorusso, V., Latorre, A., Fanizza, G., Gargano, G., Caporusso, L., Guida, M., Catino, A., Crucitta, E., Sambiasi, D., and, Paclitaxel, cisplatin and lonidamine in advanced ovarian cancer. A phase II study. European journal of cancer. 37 (2001) 364-368.

246. Mansi, J., De Graeff, A., Newell, D., Glaholm, J., Button, D., Leach, M., Payne, G., Smith, I., A phase II clinical and pharmacokinetic study of Lonidamine in patients with advanced breast cancer. British journal of cancer. 64 (1991) 593.

247. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00435448.

248. Clem, B., Telang, S., Clem, A., Yalcin, A., Meier, J., Simmons, A., Rasku, M.A., Arumugam, S., Dean, W.L., Eaton, J., Small-molecule inhibition of 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase activity suppresses glycolytic flux and tumor growth. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 7 (2008) 110-120.

249. Clem, B.F., O'Neal, J., Tapolsky, G., Clem, A.L., Imbert-Fernandez, Y., Kerr, D.A., Klarer, A., Redman, R., Miller, D.M., Trent, J.O., Targeting 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase (PFKFB3) as a therapeutic strategy against cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics. (2013) molcanther. 0097.2013.

250. Zhu, W., Ye, L., Zhang, J., Yu, P., Wang, H., Ye, Z., Tian, J., PFK15, a small molecule inhibitor of PFKFB3, induces cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and inhibits invasion in gastric cancer. PLoS One. 11 (2016) e0163768.

251. Li, H.-M., Yang, J.-G., Liu, Z.-J., Wang, W.-M., Yu, Z.-L., Ren, J.-G., Chen, G., Zhang, W., Jia, J., Blockage of glycolysis by targeting PFKFB3 suppresses tumor growth and metastasis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research. 36 (2017) 7.

252. Seo, M., Kim, J.-D., Neau, D., Sehgal, I., Lee, Y.-H., Structure-based development of small molecule PFKFB3 inhibitors: a framework for potential cancer therapeutic agents targeting the Warburg effect. PloS one. 6 (2011) e24179.

253. Ugurel, S., Bell, N., Sucker, A., Zimpfer, A., Rittgen, W., Schadendorf, D., Tumor type M2 pyruvate kinase (TuM2-PK) as a novel plasma tumor marker in melanoma. International journal of cancer. 117 (2005) 825-830.

254. Chen, J., Xie, J., Jiang, Z., Wang, B., Wang, Y., Hu, X., Shikonin and its analogs inhibit cancer cell glycolysis by targeting tumor pyruvate kinase-M2. Oncogene. 30 (2011) 4297.

255. Cortés-Cros, M., Hemmerlin, C., Ferretti, S., Zhang, J., Gounarides, J.S., Yin, H., Muller, A., Haberkorn, A., Chene, P., Sellers, W.R., M2 isoform of pyruvate kinase is dispensable for tumor maintenance and growth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 110 (2013) 489-494.

256. Israelsen, W.J., Dayton, T.L., Davidson, S.M., Fiske, B.P., Hosios, A.M., Bellinger, G., Li, J., Yu, Y., Sasaki, M., Horner, J.W., PKM2 isoform-specific deletion reveals a differential requirement for pyruvate kinase in tumor cells. Cell. 155 (2013) 397-409.

257. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01977209.

258. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00540722.

259. Zhao, Y., Gounder, M., Lin, H., Harris Addo, K., Taber Levinson, K., LaRosiliere, M., Goodin, S., Moss, R., Tan, A., Stein, M., Phase I study of at-101 (R-(-)-gossypol) in combination with paclitaxel (P) and carboplatin (C) in solid tumors including castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC). Journal of Clinical Oncology. 29 (2011) 169-169.

260. Scatena, R., Bottoni, P., Pontoglio, A., Mastrototaro, L., Giardina, B., Glycolytic enzyme inhibitors in cancer treatment. Expert opinion on investigational drugs. 17 (2008) 1533-1545.

261. Le, A., Cooper, C.R., Gouw, A.M., Dinavahi, R., Maitra, A., Deck, L.M., Royer, R.E., Vander Jagt, D.L., Semenza, G.L., Dang, C.V., Inhibition of lactate dehydrogenase A induces oxidative stress and inhibits tumor progression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 107 (2010) 2037-2042.

262. Fiume, L., Manerba, M., Vettraino, M., Di Stefano, G., Impairment of aerobic glycolysis by inhibitors of lactic dehydrogenase hinders the growth of human hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines. Pharmacology. 86 (2010) 157-162.

263. Doherty, J.R., Cleveland, J.L., Targeting lactate metabolism for cancer therapeutics. The Journal of clinical investigation. 123 (2013) 3685-3692.

264. Hirschhaeuser, F., Sattler, U.G., Mueller-Klieser, W., Lactate: a metabolic key player in cancer. Cancer research. 71 (2011) 6921-6925.

265. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03324425.

266. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02161822.

267. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03560882.

268. Polański, R., Hodgkinson, C.L., Fusi, A., Nonaka, D., Priest, L., Kelly, P., Trapani, F., Bishop, P.W., White, A., Critchlow, S.E., Activity of the monocarboxylate transporter 1 inhibitor AZD3965 in small cell lung cancer. Clinical cancer research. 20 (2014) 926-937.

269. Morais-Santos, F., Granja, S., Miranda-Gonçalves, V., Moreira, A.H., Queirós, S., Vilaça, J.L., Schmitt, F.C., Longatto-Filho, A., Paredes, J., Baltazar, F., Targeting lactate transport suppresses in vivo breast tumour growth. Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 19177.

270. Petrova, E., Scholz, A., Paul, J., Sturz, A., Haike, K., Siegel, F., Mumberg, D., Liu, N., Acetyl-CoA carboxylase inhibitors attenuate WNT and Hedgehog signaling and suppress pancreatic tumor growth. Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 48660-48670.

271. Stoiber, K., Naglo, O., Pernpeintner, C., Zhang, S., Koeberle, A., Ulrich, M., Werz, O., Muller, R., Zahler, S., Lohmuller, T., Feldmann, J., Braig, S., Targeting de novo lipogenesis as a novel approach in anti-cancer therapy. Br J Cancer. 118 (2018) 43-51.

272. Beckers, A., Organe, S., Timmermans, L., Scheys, K., Peeters, A., Brusselmans, K., Verhoeven, G., Swinnen, J.V., Chemical inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase induces growth arrest and cytotoxicity selectively in cancer cells. Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 8180-8187.
273. Lally, J.S.V., Ghoshal, S., DePeralta, D.K., Moaven, O., Wei, L., Masia, R., Erstad, D.J., Fujiwara, N., Leong, V., Houde, V.P., Anagnostopoulos, A.E., Wang, A., Broadfield, L.A., Ford, R.J., Foster, R.A., Bates, J., Sun, H., Wang, T., Liu, H., Ray, A.S., Saha, A.K., Greenwood, J., Bhat, S., Harriman, G., Miao, W., Rocnik, J.L., Westlin, W.F., Muti, P., Tsakiridis, T., Harwood, H.J., Jr., Kapeller, R., Hoshida, Y., Tanabe, K.K., Steinberg, G.R., Fuchs, B.C., Inhibition of Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase by Phosphorylation or the Inhibitor ND-654 Suppresses Lipogenesis and Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Cell Metab. 29 (2019) 174-182.e175.

274. Svensson, R.U., Parker, S.J., Eichner, L.J., Kolar, M.J., Wallace, M., Brun, S.N., Lombardo, P.S., Van Nostrand, J.L., Hutchins, A., Vera, L., Gerken, L., Greenwood, J., Bhat, S., Harriman, G., Westlin, W.F., Harwood, H.J., Jr., Saghatelian, A., Kapeller, R., Metallo, C.M., Shaw, R.J., Inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase suppresses fatty acid synthesis and tumor growth of non-small-cell lung cancer in preclinical models. Nat Med. 22 (2016) 1108-1119.

275. Gao, Y., Islam, M.S., Tian, J., Lui, V.W., Xiao, D., Inactivation of ATP citrate lyase by Cucurbitacin B: A bioactive compound from cucumber, inhibits prostate cancer growth. Cancer Lett. 349 (2014) 15-25.

276. Zhang, C., Liu, J., Huang, G., Zhao, Y., Yue, X., Wu, H., Li, J., Zhu, J., Shen, Z., Haffty, B.G., Hu, W., Feng, Z., Cullin3-KLHL25 ubiquitin ligase targets ACLY for degradation to inhibit lipid synthesis and tumor progression. Genes Dev. 30 (2016) 1956-1970.

277. Hatzivassiliou, G., Zhao, F., Bauer, D.E., Andreadis, C., Shaw, A.N., Dhanak, D., Hingorani, S.R., Tuveson, D.A., Thompson, C.B., ATP citrate lyase inhibition can suppress tumor cell growth. Cancer Cell. 8 (2005) 311-321.

278. Shah, S., Carriveau, W.J., Li, J., Campbell, S.L., Kopinski, P.K., Lim, H.W., Daurio, N., Trefely, S., Won, K.J., Wallace, D.C., Koumenis, C., Mancuso, A., Wellen, K.E., Targeting ACLY sensitizes castration-resistant prostate cancer cells to AR antagonism by impinging on an ACLY-AMPK-AR feedback mechanism. Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 43713-43730.

279. Flavin, R., Peluso, S., Nguyen, P.L., Loda, M., Fatty acid synthase as a potential therapeutic target in cancer. Future oncology. 6 (2010) 551-562.

280. Zadra, G., Ribeiro, C.F., Chetta, P., Ho, Y., Cacciatore, S., Gao, X., Syamala, S., Bango, C., Photopoulos, C., Huang, Y., Tyekucheva, S., Bastos, D.C., Tchaicha, J., Lawney, B., Uo, T., D'Anello, L., Csibi, A., Kalekar, R., Larimer, B., Ellis, L., Butler, L.M., Morrissey, C., McGovern, K., Palombella, V.J., Kutok, J.L., Mahmood, U., Bosari, S., Adams, J., Peluso, S., Dehm, S.M., Plymate, S.R., Loda, M., Inhibition of de novo lipogenesis targets androgen receptor signaling in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 116 (2019) 631-640.

281. Alwarawrah, Y., Hughes, P., Loiselle, D., Carlson, D.A., Darr, D.B., Jordan, J.L., Xiong, J., Hunter, L.M., Dubois, L.G., Thompson, J.W., Kulkarni, M.M., Ratcliff, A.N., Kwiek,

J.J., Haystead, T.A., Fasnall, a Selective FASN Inhibitor, Shows Potent Anti-tumor Activity in the MMTV-Neu Model of HER2(+) Breast Cancer. Cell Chem Biol. 23 (2016) 678-688.

282. Giro-Perafita, A., Palomeras, S., Lum, D.H., Blancafort, A., Vinas, G., Oliveras, G., Perez-Bueno, F., Sarrats, A., Welm, A.L., Puig, T., Preclinical Evaluation of Fatty Acid Synthase and EGFR Inhibition in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 22 (2016) 4687-4697.

283. Puig, T., Vazquez-Martin, A., Relat, J., Petriz, J., Menendez, J.A., Porta, R., Casals, G., Marrero, P.F., Haro, D., Brunet, J., Colomer, R., Fatty acid metabolism in breast cancer cells: differential inhibitory effects of epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG) and C75. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 109 (2008) 471-479.

284. Crous-Maso, J., Palomeras, S., Relat, J., Camo, C., Martinez-Garza, U., Planas, M., Feliu, L., Puig, T., (-)-Epigallocatechin 3-Gallate Synthetic Analogues Inhibit Fatty Acid Synthase and Show Anticancer Activity in Triple Negative Breast Cancer. Molecules. 23 (2018).

285. Khiewkamrop, P., Phunsomboon, P., Richert, L., Pekthong, D., Srisawang, P., Epistructured catechins, EGCG and EC facilitate apoptosis induction through targeting de novo lipogenesis pathway in HepG2 cells. Cancer Cell Int. 18 (2018) 46.

286. Relat, J., Blancafort, A., Oliveras, G., Cufi, S., Haro, D., Marrero, P.F., Puig, T., Different fatty acid metabolism effects of (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate and C75 in adenocarcinoma lung cancer. BMC Cancer. 12 (2012) 280.

287. Brusselmans, K., De Schrijver, E., Heyns, W., Verhoeven, G., Swinnen, J.V., Epigallocatechin-3-gallate is a potent natural inhibitor of fatty acid synthase in intact cells and selectively induces apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Int J Cancer. 106 (2003) 856-862.

288. Puig, T., Aguilar, H., Cufi, S., Oliveras, G., Turrado, C., Ortega-Gutierrez, S., Benhamu, B., Lopez-Rodriguez, M.L., Urruticoechea, A., Colomer, R., A novel inhibitor of fatty acid synthase shows activity against HER2+ breast cancer xenografts and is active in anti-HER2 drug-resistant cell lines. Breast Cancer Res. 13 (2011) R131.

289. Oliveras, G., Blancafort, A., Urruticoechea, A., Campuzano, O., Gomez-Cabello, D., Brugada, R., Lopez-Rodriguez, M.L., Colomer, R., Puig, T., Novel anti-fatty acid synthase compounds with anti-cancer activity in HER2+ breast cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 1210 (2010) 86-92.

290. Wagner, R., Stubiger, G., Veigel, D., Wuczkowski, M., Lanzerstorfer, P., Weghuber, J., Karteris, E., Nowikovsky, K., Wilfinger-Lutz, N., Singer, C.F., Colomer, R., Benhamu, B., Lopez-Rodriguez, M.L., Valent, P., Grunt, T.W., Multi-level suppression of receptor-PI3K-mTORC1 by fatty acid synthase inhibitors is crucial for their efficacy against ovarian cancer cells. Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 11600-11613.

291. Sadowski, M.C., Pouwer, R.H., Gunter, J.H., Lubik, A.A., Quinn, R.J., Nelson, C.C., The fatty acid synthase inhibitor triclosan: repurposing an anti-microbial agent for targeting prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 5 (2014) 9362-9381.

292. Liu, B., Wang, Y., Fillgrove, K.L., Anderson, V.E., Triclosan inhibits enoyl-reductase of type I fatty acid synthase in vitro and is cytotoxic to MCF-7 and SKBr-3 breast cancer cells. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 49 (2002) 187-193.

293. Vandhana, S., Coral, K., Jayanthi, U., Deepa, P.R., Krishnakumar, S., Biochemical changes accompanying apoptotic cell death in retinoblastoma cancer cells treated with lipogenic enzyme inhibitors. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1831 (2013) 1458-1466.

294. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03179904.

295. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03032484.

296. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02980029.

297. Holubarsch, C.J., Rohrbach, M., Karrasch, M., Boehm, E., Polonski, L., Ponikowski, P., Rhein, S., A double-blind randomized multicentre clinical trial to evaluate the efficacy and safety of two doses of etomoxir in comparison with placebo in patients with moderate congestive heart failure: the ERGO (etomoxir for the recovery of glucose oxidation) study. Clinical science. 113 (2007) 205-212.

298. Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., Peiris-Pages, M., Pestell, R.G., Sotgia, F., Lisanti, M.P.,
Cancer metabolism: a therapeutic perspective. Nature reviews Clinical oncology. 14 (2017)
11.

299. Liu, P.P., Liu, J., Jiang, W.Q., Carew, J.S., Ogasawara, M.A., Pelicano, H., Croce, C.M., Estrov, Z., Xu, R.H., Keating, M.J., Huang, P., Elimination of chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells in stromal microenvironment by targeting CPT with an antiangina drug perhexiline. Oncogene. 35 (2016) 5663-5673.

300. Rodriguez-Enriquez, S., Hernandez-Esquivel, L., Marin-Hernandez, A., El Hafidi, M., Gallardo-Perez, J.C., Hernandez-Resendiz, I., Rodriguez-Zavala, J.S., Pacheco-Velazquez, S.C., Moreno-Sanchez, R., Mitochondrial free fatty acid beta-oxidation supports oxidative phosphorylation and proliferation in cancer cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 65 (2015) 209-221.

301. Flaig, T.W., Salzmann-Sullivan, M., Su, L.J., Zhang, Z., Joshi, M., Gijon, M.A., Kim, J., Arcaroli, J.J., Van Bokhoven, A., Lucia, M.S., La Rosa, F.G., Schlaepfer, I.R., Lipid catabolism inhibition sensitizes prostate cancer cells to antiandrogen blockade. Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 56051-56065.

302. Lu, W., Pelicano, H., Huang, P., Cancer metabolism: is glutamine sweeter than glucose? Cancer cell. 18 (2010) 199-200.

303. Seltzer, M.J., Bennett, B.D., Joshi, A.D., Gao, P., Thomas, A.G., Ferraris, D.V., Tsukamoto, T., Rojas, C.J., Slusher, B.S., Rabinowitz, J.D., Inhibition of glutaminase

preferentially slows growth of glioma cells with mutant IDH1. Cancer research. (2010) 0008-5472. CAN-0010-1666.

304. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03831932.

305. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02071862.

306. Chen, L., Cui, H., Fang, J., Deng, H., Kuang, P., Guo, H., Wang, X., Zhao, L., Glutamine deprivation plus BPTES alters etoposide-and cisplatin-induced apoptosis in triple negative breast cancer cells. Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 54691.

307. Xiang, Y., Stine, Z.E., Xia, J., Lu, Y., O'Connor, R.S., Altman, B.J., Hsieh, A.L., Gouw, A.M., Thomas, A.G., Gao, P., Targeted inhibition of tumor-specific glutaminase diminishes cell-autonomous tumorigenesis. The Journal of clinical investigation. 125 (2015) 2293-2306.

308. Paillassa, J., Leguay, T., Thomas, X., Huguet, F., Audrain, M., Lheritier, V., Vianey-Saban, C., Acquaviva-Bourdain, C., Pagan, C., Dombret, H., Monitoring of asparagine depletion and anti-L-asparaginase antibodies in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia treated in the pediatric-inspired GRAALL-2005 trial. Blood cancer journal. 8 (2018).

309. Song, P., Ye, L., Fan, J., Li, Y., Zeng, X., Wang, Z., Wang, S., Zhang, G., Yang, P., Cao, Z., Asparaginase induces apoptosis and cytoprotective autophagy in chronic myeloid leukemia cells. Oncotarget. 6 (2015) 3861.

310. Hays, J.L., Kim, G., Walker, A., Annunziata, C.M., Lee, J.-M., Squires, J., Houston, N., Steinberg, S.M., Kohn, E.C., A phase II clinical trial of polyethylene glycol-conjugated L-asparaginase in patients with advanced ovarian cancer: Early closure for safety. Molecular and clinical oncology. 1 (2013) 565-569.

311. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01518517.

312. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01910428.

313. Izzo, F., Marra, P., Beneduce, G., Castello, G., Vallone, P., De Rosa, V., Cremona, F., Ensor, C.M., Holtsberg, F.W., Bomalaski, J.S., Pegylated arginine deiminase treatment of patients with unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma: results from phase I/II studies. Journal of clinical oncology. 22 (2004) 1815-1822.

314. Glazer, E.S., Piccirillo, M., Albino, V., Di Giacomo, R., Palaia, R., Mastro, A.A., Beneduce, G., Castello, G., De Rosa, V., Petrillo, A., Phase II study of pegylated arginine deiminase for nonresectable and metastatic hepatocellular carcinoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 28 (2010) 2220-2226.

315. Joyce, J.A., Fearon, D.T., T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. Science. 348 (2015) 74-80.

316. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02502708.

317. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03516708.

318. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03374488.

319. Zhai, L., Spranger, S., Binder, D.C., Gritsina, G., Lauing, K.L., Giles, F.J., Wainwright, D.A., Molecular pathways: targeting IDO1 and other tryptophan dioxygenases for cancer immunotherapy. Clinical cancer research. 21 (2015) 5427-5433.

320. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00023712.

321. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01297530.

322. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00333502.

323. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01798485.

324. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01887288.

325. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01162135.

326. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00003137.

327. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00193167.

328. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03554473.

329. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03061812.

330. Tennant, D.A., Duran, R.V., Gottlieb, E., Targeting metabolic transformation for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 10 (2010) 267-277.

331. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02986919.

332. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01949883.

333. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02157636.

334. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02158858.

335. Bashash, D., Sayyadi, M., Safaroghli-Azar, A., Sheikh-Zeineddini, N., Riyahi, N., Momeny, M., Small molecule inhibitor of c-Myc 10058-F4 inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis in acute leukemia cells, irrespective of PTEN status. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 108 (2019) 7-16.

336. Fowler, T., Ghatak, P., Price, D.H., Conaway, R., Conaway, J., Chiang, C.M., Bradner, J.E., Shilatifard, A., Roy, A.L., Correction: Regulation of MYC Expression and Differential JQ1 Sensitivity in Cancer Cells. PLoS One. 10 (2015) e0126328.

337. Muller, I., Larsson, K., Frenzel, A., Oliynyk, G., Zirath, H., Prochownik, E.V., Westwood, N.J., Henriksson, M.A., Targeting of the MYCN protein with small molecule c-MYC inhibitors. PLoS One. 9 (2014) e97285.

338. Lin, C.P., Liu, J.D., Chow, J.M., Liu, C.R., Liu, H.E., Small-molecule c-Myc inhibitor, 10058-F4, inhibits proliferation, downregulates human telomerase reverse transcriptase and enhances chemosensitivity in human hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Anticancer Drugs. 18 (2007) 161-170.

339. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03130634.

340. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00487721.

341. Garcia-Maceira, P., Mateo, J., Silibinin inhibits hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α and mTOR/p70S6K/4E-BP1 signalling pathway in human cervical and hepatoma cancer cells: implications for anticancer therapy. Oncogene. 28 (2009) 313.

342. Cho, B.O., So, Y., Jin, C.H., Byun, M.W., Seo, K.I., Ko, K., Chun, M.S., Jeong, I.Y., Induction of apoptosis by 2, 3-dehydrosilybin via a caspase-dependent pathway in human HeLa cells. Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry. 78 (2014) 255-262.

343. Zhao, F., Ming, J., Zhou, Y., Fan, L., Inhibition of Glut1 by WZB117 sensitizes radioresistant breast cancer cells to irradiation. Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology. 77 (2016) 963-972.

344. Liu, Y., Cao, Y., Zhang, W., Bergmeier, S., Qian, Y., Akbar, H., Colvin, R., Ding, J., Tong, L., Wu, S., A small-molecule inhibitor of glucose transporter 1 downregulates glycolysis, induces cell-cycle arrest, and inhibits cancer cell growth in vitro and in vivo. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 11 (2012) 1672-1682.

345. Wood, T.E., Dalili, S., Simpson, C.D., Hurren, R., Mao, X., Saiz, F.S., Gronda, M., Eberhard, Y., Minden, M.D., Bilan, P.J., A novel inhibitor of glucose uptake sensitizes cells to FAS-induced cell death. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 7 (2008) 3546-3555.

346. Ma, Y., Wang, W., Idowu, M., Oh, U., Wang, X.-Y., Temkin, S., Fang, X., Ovarian Cancer Relies on Glucose Transporter 1 to Fuel Glycolysis and Growth: Anti-Tumor Activity of BAY-876. Cancers. 11 (2019) 33.

347. Chan, D.A., Sutphin, P.D., Nguyen, P., Turcotte, S., Lai, E.W., Banh, A., Reynolds, G.E., Chi, J.-T., Wu, J., Solow-Cordero, D.E., Targeting GLUT1 and the Warburg effect in renal cell carcinoma by chemical synthetic lethality. Science translational medicine. 3 (2011) 94ra70-94ra70.

348. Venturelli, L., Nappini, S., Bulfoni, M., Gianfranceschi, G., Dal Zilio, S., Coceano, G., Del Ben, F., Turetta, M., Scoles, G., Vaccari, L., Glucose is a key driver for GLUT1-mediated nanoparticles internalization in breast cancer cells. Scientific reports. 6 (2016) 21629.

349. Melstrom, L.G., Salabat, M.R., Ding, X.-Z., Milam, B.M., Strouch, M., Pelling, J.C., Bentrem, D.J., Apigenin inhibits the GLUT-1 glucose transporter and the phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt pathway in human pancreatic cancer cells. Pancreas. 37 (2008) 426-431.

350. Lee, Y.-M., Lee, G., Oh, T.-I., Kim, B.M., Shim, D.-W., Lee, K.-H., Kim, Y.J., Lim, B.O., Lim, J.-H., Inhibition of glutamine utilization sensitizes lung cancer cells to apigenininduced apoptosis resulting from metabolic and oxidative stress. International journal of oncology. 48 (2016) 399-408. 351. Fang, J., Bao, Y.Y., Zhou, S.H., Fan, J., Apigenin inhibits the proliferation of adenoid cystic carcinoma via suppression of glucose transporter-1. Molecular medicine reports. 12 (2015) 6461-6466.

352. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00609310.

353. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01009437.

354. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01095094.

355. Zhang, X.D., Deslandes, E., Villedieu, M., Poulain, L., Duval, M., Gauduchon, P., Schwartz, L., Icard, P., Effect of 2-deoxy-D-glucose on various malignant cell lines in vitro. Anticancer research. 26 (2006) 3561-3566.

356. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00096707.

357. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00633087.

358. Martinez-Outschoorn, U.E., Peiris-Pages, M., Pestell, R.G., Sotgia, F., Lisanti, M.P., Cancer metabolism: a therapeutic perspective. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 14 (2017) 11-31.

359. Penso, J., Beitner, R., Clotrimazole and bifonazole detach hexokinase from mitochondria of melanoma cells. European journal of pharmacology. 342 (1998) 113-117.

360. Chiara, F., Castellaro, D., Marin, O., Petronilli, V., Brusilow, W.S., Juhaszova, M., Sollott, S.J., Forte, M., Bernardi, P., Rasola, A., Hexokinase II detachment from mitochondria triggers apoptosis through the permeability transition pore independent of voltage-dependent anion channels. PloS one. 3 (2008) e1852.

361. Khalid, M.H., Tokunaga, Y., Caputy, A.J., Walters, E., Inhibition of tumor growth and prolonged survival of rats with intracranial gliomas following administration of clotrimazole. Journal of neurosurgery. 103 (2005) 79-86.

362. Fanciulli, M., Valentini, A., Bruno, T., Citro, G., Zupi, G., Floridi, A., Effect of the antitumor drug lonidamine on glucose metabolism of adriamycin-sensitive and-resistant human breast cancer cells. Oncology Research Featuring Preclinical and Clinical Cancer Therapeutics. 8 (1996) 111-120.

363. Clem, B.F., O'Neal, J., Tapolsky, G., Clem, A.L., Imbert-Fernandez, Y., Kerr, D.A., Klarer, A.C., Redman, R., Miller, D.M., Trent, J.O., Targeting 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase (PFKFB3) as a therapeutic strategy against cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 12 (2013) 1461-1470.

364. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00735332.

365. Xian, Z.Y., Liu, J.M., Chen, Q.K., Chen, H.Z., Ye, C.J., Xue, J., Yang, H.Q., Li, J.L., Liu, X.F., Kuang, S.J., Inhibition of LDHA suppresses tumor progression in prostate cancer. Tumour Biol. 36 (2015) 8093-8100.

366. Shelley, M., Hartley, L., Fish, R., Groundwater, P., Morgan, J., Mort, D., Mason, M., Evans, A., Stereo-specific cytotoxic effects of gossypol enantiomers and gossypolone in tumour cell lines. Cancer letters. 135 (1999) 171-180.

367. Manerba, M., Vettraino, M., Fiume, L., Di Stefano, G., Sartini, A., Giacomini, E., Buonfiglio, R., Roberti, M., Recanatini, M., Galloflavin (CAS 568-80-9): a novel inhibitor of lactate dehydrogenase. ChemMedChem. 7 (2012) 311-317.

368. Bola, B.M., Chadwick, A.L., Michopoulos, F., Blount, K.G., Telfer, B.A., Williams, K.J., Smith, P.D., Critchlow, S.E., Stratford, I.J., Inhibition of monocarboxylate transporter-1 (MCT1) by AZD3965 enhances radiosensitivity by reducing lactate transport. Mol Cancer Ther. 13 (2014) 2805-2816.

369. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01791595.

370. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01821404.

371. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01190462.

372. Murata, S., Yanagisawa, K., Fukunaga, K., Oda, T., Kobayashi, A., Sasaki, R., Ohkohchi, N., Fatty acid synthase inhibitor cerulenin suppresses liver metastasis of colon cancer in mice. Cancer Sci. 101 (2010) 1861-1865.

373. Bastos, D.C., Paupert, J., Maillard, C., Seguin, F., Carvalho, M.A., Agostini, M., Coletta, R.D., Noel, A., Graner, E., Effects of fatty acid synthase inhibitors on lymphatic vessels: an in vitro and in vivo study in a melanoma model. Lab Invest. 97 (2017) 194-206.

374. Menendez, J.A., Vellon, L., Espinoza, I., Lupu, R., The metastasis inducer CCN1 (CYR61) activates the fatty acid synthase (FASN)-driven lipogenic phenotype in breast cancer cells. Oncoscience. 3 (2016) 242-257.

375. Nishi, K., Suzuki, K., Sawamoto, J., Tokizawa, Y., Iwase, Y., Yumita, N., Ikeda, T., Inhibition of Fatty Acid Synthesis Induces Apoptosis of Human Pancreatic Cancer Cells. Anticancer Res. 36 (2016) 4655-4660.

376. Bauerschlag, D.O., Maass, N., Leonhardt, P., Verburg, F.A., Pecks, U., Zeppernick, F., Morgenroth, A., Mottaghy, F.M., Tolba, R., Meinhold-Heerlein, I., Brautigam, K., Fatty acid synthase overexpression: target for therapy and reversal of chemoresistance in ovarian cancer. J Transl Med. 13 (2015) 146.

377. Li, J., Dong, L., Wei, D., Wang, X., Zhang, S., Li, H., Fatty acid synthase mediates the epithelial-mesenchymal transition of breast cancer cells. Int J Biol Sci. 10 (2014) 171-180.

378. Liu, Z.L., Zhou, Y., Luo, Q.F., Hu, M., Wang, G., Huang, S.H., Shu, Y., Inhibition of fatty acid synthase supresses osteosarcoma cell invasion and migration. Indian J Pathol Microbiol. 55 (2012) 163-169.

379. Rae, C., Haberkorn, U., Babich, J.W., Mairs, R.J., Inhibition of Fatty Acid Synthase Sensitizes Prostate Cancer Cells to Radiotherapy. Radiat Res. 184 (2015) 482-493.

380. Menendez, J.A., Lupu, R., Fatty acid synthase regulates estrogen receptor-alpha signaling in breast cancer cells. Oncogenesis. 6 (2017) e299.

381. Rahman, M.T., Nakayama, K., Ishikawa, M., Rahman, M., Katagiri, H., Katagiri, A., Ishibashi, T., Iida, K., Miyazaki, K., Fatty acid synthase is a potential therapeutic target in estrogen receptor-/progesterone receptor-positive endometrioid endometrial cancer. Oncology. 84 (2013) 166-173.

382. Chen, H.W., Chang, Y.F., Chuang, H.Y., Tai, W.T., Hwang, J.J., Targeted therapy with fatty acid synthase inhibitors in a human prostate carcinoma LNCaP/tk-luc-bearing animal model. Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 15 (2012) 260-264.

383. Wysham, W.Z., Roque, D.R., Han, J., Zhang, L., Guo, H., Gehrig, P.A., Zhou, C., Bae-Jump, V.L., Effects of Fatty Acid Synthase Inhibition by Orlistat on Proliferation of Endometrial Cancer Cell Lines. Target Oncol. 11 (2016) 763-769.

384. Yoshii, Y., Furukawa, T., Oyama, N., Hasegawa, Y., Kiyono, Y., Nishii, R., Waki, A., Tsuji, A.B., Sogawa, C., Wakizaka, H., Fukumura, T., Yoshii, H., Fujibayashi, Y., Lewis, J.S., Saga, T., Fatty acid synthase is a key target in multiple essential tumor functions of prostate cancer: uptake of radiolabeled acetate as a predictor of the targeted therapy outcome. PLoS One. 8 (2013) e64570.

385. Gelebart, P., Zak, Z., Anand, M., Belch, A., Lai, R., Blockade of fatty acid synthase triggers significant apoptosis in mantle cell lymphoma. PLoS One. 7 (2012) e33738.

386. Kridel, S.J., Axelrod, F., Rozenkrantz, N., Smith, J.W., Orlistat is a novel inhibitor of fatty acid synthase with antitumor activity. Cancer Res. 64 (2004) 2070-2075.

387. Little, J.L., Wheeler, F.B., Fels, D.R., Koumenis, C., Kridel, S.J., Inhibition of fatty acid synthase induces endoplasmic reticulum stress in tumor cells. Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 1262-1269.

388. Fujiwara, J., Sowa, Y., Horinaka, M., Koyama, M., Wakada, M., Miki, T., Sakai, T., The anti-obesity drug orlistat promotes sensitivity to TRAIL by two different pathways in hormone-refractory prostate cancer cells. Int J Oncol. 48 (2016) 854.

389. Knowles, L.M., Axelrod, F., Browne, C.D., Smith, J.W., A fatty acid synthase blockade induces tumor cell-cycle arrest by down-regulating Skp2. J Biol Chem. 279 (2004) 30540-30545.

390. Knowles, L.M., Yang, C., Osterman, A., Smith, J.W., Inhibition of fatty-acid synthase induces caspase-8-mediated tumor cell apoptosis by up-regulating DDIT4. J Biol Chem. 283 (2008) 31378-31384.

391. Menendez, J.A., Vellon, L., Lupu, R., The antiobesity drug Orlistat induces cytotoxic effects, suppresses Her-2/neu (erbB-2) oncogene overexpression, and synergistically interacts with trastuzumab (Herceptin) in chemoresistant ovarian cancer cells. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 16 (2006) 219-221.

392. Huang, H.Q., Tang, J., Zhou, S.T., Yi, T., Peng, H.L., Shen, G.B., Xie, N., Huang, K., Yang, T., Wu, J.H., Huang, C.H., Wei, Y.Q., Zhao, X., Orlistat, a novel potent antitumor agent for ovarian cancer: proteomic analysis of ovarian cancer cells treated with Orlistat. Int J Oncol. 41 (2012) 523-532.

393. Yang, C.S., Matsuura, K., Huang, N.J., Robeson, A.C., Huang, B., Zhang, L., Kornbluth, S., Fatty acid synthase inhibition engages a novel caspase-2 regulatory mechanism to induce ovarian cancer cell death. Oncogene. 34 (2015) 3264-3272.

394. Chuang, H.Y., Chang, Y.F., Hwang, J.J., Antitumor effect of orlistat, a fatty acid synthase inhibitor, is via activation of caspase-3 on human colorectal carcinoma-bearing animal. Biomed Pharmacother. 65 (2011) 286-292.

395. Dowling, S., Cox, J., Cenedella, R.J., Inhibition of fatty acid synthase by Orlistat accelerates gastric tumor cell apoptosis in culture and increases survival rates in gastric tumor bearing mice in vivo. Lipids. 44 (2009) 489-498.

396. Deepa, P.R., Vandhana, S., Jayanthi, U., Krishnakumar, S., Therapeutic and toxicologic evaluation of anti-lipogenic agents in cancer cells compared with non-neoplastic cells. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol. 110 (2012) 494-503.

397. Grube, S., Dunisch, P., Freitag, D., Klausnitzer, M., Sakr, Y., Walter, J., Kalff, R., Ewald, C., Overexpression of fatty acid synthase in human gliomas correlates with the WHO tumor grade and inhibition with Orlistat reduces cell viability and triggers apoptosis. J Neurooncol. 118 (2014) 277-287.

398. Pallasch, C.P., Schwamb, J., Konigs, S., Schulz, A., Debey, S., Kofler, D., Schultze, J.L., Hallek, M., Ultsch, A., Wendtner, C.M., Targeting lipid metabolism by the lipoprotein lipase inhibitor orlistat results in apoptosis of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Leukemia. 22 (2008) 585-592.

399. Galicia-Vazquez, G., Aloyz, R., Ibrutinib Resistance Is Reduced by an Inhibitor of Fatty Acid Oxidation in Primary CLL Lymphocytes. Front Oncol. 8 (2018) 411.

400. Schlaepfer, I.R., Rider, L., Rodrigues, L.U., Gijon, M.A., Pac, C.T., Romero, L., Cimic, A., Sirintrapun, S.J., Glode, L.M., Eckel, R.H., Cramer, S.D., Lipid catabolism via CPT1 as a therapeutic target for prostate cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. 13 (2014) 2361-2371.

401. He, W., Liang, B., Wang, C., Li, S., Zhao, Y., Huang, Q., Liu, Z., Yao, Z., Wu, Q., Liao, W., Zhang, S., Liu, Y., Xiang, Y., Liu, J., Shi, M., MSC-regulated lncRNA MACC1-AS1 promotes stemness and chemoresistance through fatty acid oxidation in gastric cancer. Oncogene. (2019).

402. Dheeraj, A., Agarwal, C., Schlaepfer, I.R., Raben, D., Singh, R., Agarwal, R., Deep, G., A novel approach to target hypoxic cancer cells via combining beta-oxidation inhibitor etomoxir with radiation. Hypoxia (Auckl). 6 (2018) 23-33.

403. Tan, Z., Xiao, L., Tang, M., Bai, F., Li, J., Li, L., Shi, F., Li, N., Li, Y., Du, Q., Lu, J., Weng, X., Yi, W., Zhang, H., Fan, J., Zhou, J., Gao, Q., Onuchic, J.N., Bode, A.M., Luo, X., Cao, Y., Targeting CPT1A-mediated fatty acid oxidation sensitizes nasopharyngeal carcinoma to radiation therapy. Theranostics. 8 (2018) 2329-2347.

404. Lin, H., Patel, S., Affleck, V.S., Wilson, I., Turnbull, D.M., Joshi, A.R., Maxwell, R., Stoll, E.A., Fatty acid oxidation is required for the respiration and proliferation of malignant glioma cells. Neuro Oncol. 19 (2017) 43-54.

405. Merrill, C.L., Ni, H., Yoon, L.W., Tirmenstein, M.A., Narayanan, P., Benavides, G.R., Easton, M.J., Creech, D.R., Hu, C.X., McFarland, D.C., Hahn, L.M., Thomas, H.C., Morgan, K.T., Etomoxir-induced oxidative stress in HepG2 cells detected by differential gene expression is confirmed biochemically. Toxicol Sci. 68 (2002) 93-101.

406. Sheikh, T.N., Patwardhan, P.P., Cremers, S., Schwartz, G.K., Targeted inhibition of glutaminase as a potential new approach for the treatment of NF1 associated soft tissue malignancies. Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 94054.

407. Konopleva, M.Y., Flinn, I.W., Wang, E., DiNardo, C.D., Bennett, M., Molineaux, C., Le, M., Maris, M., Frankfurt, O., Phase 1 study: safety and tolerability of increasing doses of CB-839, an orally-administered small molecule inhibitor of glutaminase, in acute leukemia. Haematologica. 100 (2015) 1-804.

408. Tomlinson, B.K., Thomson, J.A., Bomalaski, J.S., Diaz, M., Akande, T., Mahaffey, N., Li, T., Dutia, M.P., Kelly, K., Gong, I.Y., Semrad, T., Gandara, D.R., Pan, C.X., Lara, P.N., Jr., Phase I Trial of Arginine Deprivation Therapy with ADI-PEG 20 Plus Docetaxel in Patients with Advanced Malignant Solid Tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 21 (2015) 2480-2486.

409. Feun, L., Savaraj, N., Marini, A., Wu, C., Robles, C., Herrera, C., Spector, S., Luedemann, K., Moffat, F., Bomalaski, J., Phase II study of pegylated arginine deiminase (ADI-PEG20), a novel targeted therapy for melanoma. Journal of Clinical Oncology. 24 (2006) 8045-8045.

410. Tsai, H.-J., Jiang, S.S., Hung, W.-C., Borthakur, G., Lin, S.-F., Pemmaraju, N., Jabbour, E., Bomalaski, J.S., Chen, Y.-P., Hsiao, H.-H., A phase II study of arginine deiminase (ADI-PEG20) in relapsed/refractory or poor-risk acute myeloid leukemia patients. Scientific reports. 7 (2017) 11253.

411. Abou-Alfa, G.K., Qin, S., Ryoo, B.-Y., Lu, S.-N., Yen, C.-J., Feng, Y.-H., Lim, H.Y., Izzo, F., Colombo, M., Sarker, D. Phase III randomized study of second line ADI-peg 20 (A) plus best supportive care versus placebo (P) plus best supportive care in patients (pts) with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). American Society of Clinical Oncology; 2016.

412. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT01961115.

413. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT02364076.

414. Zhai, L., Spranger, S., Binder, D.C., Gritsina, G., Lauing, K.L., Giles, F.J., Wainwright, D.A., Molecular Pathways: Targeting IDO1 and Other Tryptophan Dioxygenases for Cancer Immunotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 21 (2015) 5427-5433.

- 415. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT03301636.
- 416. ClinicalTrials.gov identifier: NCT00576654.

Chapter 3

Revisiting prostate cancer metabolism: from metabolites to disease and therapy

This Chapter was submitted :

Cardoso HJ, Carvalho TM, Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S. Revisiting prostate cancer metabolism: from metabolites to disease and therapy. Submitted to Medicinal Research Reviews. 2019

Abstract

Prostate cancer (PCa), one of most commonly diagnosed cancers worldwide, still presents important unmet clinical needs concerning treatment. In the last years, the metabolic reprogramming and the specificities of tumour cells emerged as an exciting field for cancer therapy. The unique features of PCa cells metabolism, and the activation of specific metabolic pathways, propelled the use of metabolic inhibitors for treatment. The present work will revise the knowledge on PCa metabolism and the metabolic alterations that underlie the development and progression of PCa. A focus will be given to the role of bioenergetic sources such as glucose, lipids and glutamine driving PCa cell survival, growth and proliferation. Moreover, it will be described the action of oncogenes/tumour suppressors, and sex steroid hormones in the metabolic reprogramming of PCa. Finally, the status of PCa treatment based on the inhibition of metabolic pathways will be discussed. Globally, this review will update the landscape of PCa metabolism highlight the critical metabolic alterations that could have clinical and therapeutic interest.

3.1. Introduction

Prostate Cancer (PCa) is a heterogeneous and multifactorial disease, being one of the most commonly diagnosed cancers worldwide [1]. Even so, PCa treatment remains a challenging issue, particularly in the metastatic forms of disease. Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) is the principal treatment for androgen-sensitive primary and metastatic PCa. However, cancer cells become resistant to treatment and disease progresses to the so-called castrate-resistant PCa (CRPC).

The identification of metabolic reprogramming as a hallmark of cancer [2] resulted in a growing interest in the study of cancer metabolomics. It has been widely accepted that cancer cells are metabolically auto-sufficient maximizing energy consumption and production by several mechanisms and adaptations. Moreover, cancer cells display metabolic specificities that contribute to tumour development and progression. In the last years, the metabolic peculiarities and vulnerabilities of cancer cells have been exploited for the development of new anti-cancer therapies. Research on PCa has followed this trend and efforts have been made to disclose the active and functionally relevant metabolic pathways in prostate tumours [3,4]. Several metabolic routes responsible for energy production have been related to the development and progression of PCa by deregulating crucial processes such as cell proliferation, survival and resistance to therapy [5-7]. Therefore, the full understanding of the metabolic specificities of PCa cells is of utmost importance considering metabolism with clinical and therapeutic interest.

Prostate cells present a unique metabolism mainly characterized by the inactivation of the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, which sustains to the high production of citrate [8-11], a component of prostatic secretions. In PCa cells, the TCA cycle is reactivated, and other metabolic pathways also have been shown to be overactivated. This includes glycolysis for faster energy production supporting the high cell proliferation rates, though PCa is much less glycolytic than other types of cancer [12,13]. PCa cells also actively use lipids and glutamine as an energy substrates [14-17]. The metabolic adjustments of prostate cells towards malignancy have been related with the activity of oncogenes or loss of function of tumour suppressor genes, which besides governing the cell survival and death pathways regulate the metabolic reprogramming [18]. Moreover, the development of PCa is nurtured by growth factors and hormones, namely the sex steroids androgens, which also have been proposed to have a roleregulating metabolism [19,20].

The present review describes prostate metabolism in the transition to malignancy, and the role of specific metabolites, such as, glucose, lipids, and glutamine, as driving forces in the oncogenic process and progression of PCa. The influence of oncogenes, tumour suppressors and sex steroid hormones in the metabolic reprograming of PCa also is revised. Finally, this review discusses the therapeutic approaches targeting metabolism that have been envisaged for PCa treatment. Overall, this work aims to draw an updated picture of PCa metabolic signatures highlight the targets that could be exploited for therapeutic intervention.

3.2. Prostate metabolic phenotype towards malignancy

Prostate gland presents a specialized and unique metabolism with the main objective of supporting sperm function and viability. However, malignant transformation, and the establishment of cancer phenotype, dramatically change prostate cells metabolism, entailing a set of modifications and the activation of metabolic routes, which culminates in the promotion of their survival and growth.

Healthy prostate cells, mainly the epithelial cells in the peripheral zone of prostate, are characterized by the active production and secretion of citrate [8-11] (Fig. 3.1.). In fact, citrate is the major component of prostatic fluid, and the high concentrations of this metabolite in the ejaculate are important to maintain sperm viability [10,21,11]. In the majority of cells, the citrate originated from the condensation of oxaloacetate and acetyl-coA is oxidized originating isocitrate that fuels the TCA cycle (Krebs Cycle) [22]. In contrast, in prostate cells citrate is the final product of Krebs Cycle [8-11] (Fig. 3.1.). This occurs in consequence of the high concentrations of zinc found in prostate cells [23-26], which are maintained by the uptake of this ion from the interstitial fluid due to the activity of ZIP1 and ZIP3 transporters [17,27]. Zinc is a potent inhibitor of m-aconitase, the Krebs cycle enzyme responsible for oxidation of citrate [26,23,27] (Fig. 3.1.). Moreover, in epithelial cells the production of citrate is possible due to the high concentrations of glucose and aspartate [28-31]. The glucose metabolized in aerobic glycolysis produce pyruvate, which by the activity of the pyruvate dehydrogenase complexis converted to acetyl-coA that enters the TCA cycle by

combining with oxaloacetate to form citrate. The high levels of aspartate in prostate cells are maintained by the efficient activity of membrane transporters [28,32], and serve as substrate for aspartate aminotransferase producing oxaloacetate for citrate synthesis [29,33]. Therefore, citrate accumulates in the prostate epithelial cells being secreted as a component in the ejaculate (Fig. 3.1.).

Healthy prostate epithelial cells also show reduced activity of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) in consequence of intense citrate production instead of oxidation [8].

In consequence of this unique metabolism and the existence of a truncated Krebs cycle, non-neoplastic prostate cells are extremely poor energetically, sacrificing ATP production for the production and secretion of citrate (Fig. 3.1.). Contrastingly, PCa cells display low levels of zinc [26,23,27] and the m-aconitase activity is no longer inhibited, thus, the oxidation of citrate is restored and the Krebs cycle progresses [24] (Fig. 3.1.). Nevertheless, citrate can be converted back into acetyl-coA for *de novo* fatty acid (FA) synthesis [34] (Fig. 3.1.), which is an important metabolic route in PCa cells [34,35]. Fatty acid synthesis is upregulated in PCa accompanying the progression of the disease. Characteristically, advanced metastatic stages of PCa become highly glycolytic, and other metabolic routes such as glutaminolysis also are over activated in cancer cells compared with non-neoplastic. Considering OXPHOS, it is reactivated in the transition to malignancy, but the highly glycolytic activity in metastatic cancer contributes to the inhibition of mitochondrial respiration [36].

In summary, prostate cells present deficient production of ATP through the Krebs cycle, with glucose being redirected to the citrate production to sustain sperm cell survival and function. In PCa cells, the Krebs cycle is reactivated and fuelled by the high glycolytic activity. Advanced stages of PCa are characterized by the enhanced metabolic activity and active use of glucose and fatty acids, as well as, glutamine. The importance of glucose, glutamine and fatty acid, and the different metabolic pathways driving the development and progression PCa will be explored in the next topics of this review.



Figure 3.1. General metabolic features of non-neoplastic prostate cells and prostate cancer. The prostate gland produces high amounts of citrate, which is a typical feature of its activity as a secretory organ. This is achieved by the high levels of zinc that inhibit aconitase and, thus, the (tricarboxylic acid) TCA cycle with the subsequent accumulation of citrate. Citrate is then secreted as a component of the ejaculate helping in maintaining sperm viability and function. In contrast, prostate cancer cells are characterized by low levels of zinc, which restores aconitase activity and mitochondrial function, reducing citrate secretion. Advanced stages of PCa display enhanced glycolytic metabolism, and in general, increased expression of the transporters and enzymes involved in glycolysis, as is the case of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). fatty acids (FA) synthesis and glutamine (Gln) metabolism

3.3. Bioenergetics sources and their relevance in prostate cancer

3.3.1. Glucose

To satisfy the high-energy demand, cancer cells present elevated rates of glycolysis, a metabolic adaption known as the Warburg effect [37]. The pioneer studies of Otto Warburg first demonstrated that cancer cells shift the utilization of OXPHOS to aerobic glycolysis to produce ATP [38,37]. Despite less efficient in terms of generating ATP compared with the complete respiratory process, cancer cells preferentially use high rates of glycolysis, as a rapid way of maximizing energy consumption, generating metabolic intermediates for anabolic processes, and increasing biomass growth [39].

However, aerobic glycolysis is not considered a hallmark of primary PCa cases [12,13], being crucial only in advanced prostate tumours [40-42]. In fact, androgen sensitive PCa cells, representing an initial stage of disease, display both active glycolysis and OXPHOS, with the Warburg effect being active only in the metastatic stage [36,42]. For this reason, FTG-PET scans have failed to detect the absorption of radiolabelled glucose in primary PCa [40,43,44].

However, in late stages of disease, high glycolytic activity was related with the stimulation of cell proliferation and migration in PCa cell lines [45]. Also, the intracellular concentrations of glucose have been shown to change the response of PCa cells to different therapeutic drugs [46,47].

Glycolysis is a complex process depending on the activity of several molecular regulators, such as the membrane glucose transporters (GLUTs), and hexokinase (HK) and phosphofructokinase (PFK) enzymes, key targets in this pathway that culminates with the production of pyruvate. GLUT1 overexpression has been detected in PCa cases, with a relevant role enhancing cell proliferation [48-50]. On the other hand, inhibition of GLUT1 enhanced the production of reactive oxygen species and induced apoptosis of PCa cells [51]. Also, the higher expression and activity of glycolytic enzymes HK, pyruvate kinase and PFK underlie PCa progression and the establishment of the glycolytic phenotype [52,41,53-55]. Besides its enzymatic activity in aerobic glycolysis, HK-2 has been shown to promote the viability of PCa cells, and tumour growth in PTEN- and P53-negative xenograft models [56,55]. Another study also showed that the inhibition of HK-2 resulted in a significant reduction of ATP production and cell viability, and augmented caspase-3 activity in PCa cells [13].

In glycolytic cells, pyruvate from glycolysis is converted to lactate by the activity of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) (Fig. 3.2.). Normally seen as a waste product, lactate has been shown to play a crucial role in cancer cells, including PCa [41,57,58]. Lactate can promote proliferation and the number of colony-forming PCa cells [59]. In an *in vivo* model of PCa, the transgenic adenocarcinoma of mouse prostate (TRAMP), lactate and an acidic tumour microenvironment provided a potential mechanism driving lymph node (86%) and liver (33%) metastases [60]. Similar findings were obtained by knocking-down or inhibiting LDH activity. LDHa knockdown diminished the tumour volume and reduced primary tumour growth, as well as decreased lymph node and visceral metastases in TRAMP mice [60]. Accordingly, the chemical inhibition of LDHa activity *in vitro* decreased cell proliferation, migration, and invasion of castrate resistant PCa (CRPC) cells, and promoted apoptosis [61].

The monocarboxylate transporters (MCTs) responsible for the lactate import/export are central players in the metabolism of cancer microenvironment [62]. MCT1 expression essentially is related with the tumour cells whereas MCT4 seems to be more expressed in the stromal compartment, with their expression being positively correlated in human PCa tissues and associated with poor clinical outcome [59,63,64]. MCTs have been shown to mediate alterations in PCa behaviour. For example, silencing MCT1 abolished the stimulatory effect of lactate on PCa cell survival and tumour growth [59,63], indicating the relevance of lactate as an energy substrate for cancer cells. MCT4 has been indicated as an oncogenic player in PCa with capacity of inhibiting apoptosis and accelerating cell proliferation, as well as, invasion [65].

In the last years, a lactate shuttle system between stroma cells and PCa cells has been proposed (Fig. 3.2.) [66,63]. Fibroblasts, the second most abundant cell type in the cancer microenvironment, have been pointed out as important glucose consumers (high GLUT1 expression) and active lactate producers [66,59].The lactate produced is then exported to the extracellular space through MCT4 (Fig. 3.2.) [66,59]. Neighbourhood cancer cells in contact with fibroblasts display decreased GLUT1 expression and increased utilization of lactate via MCT1 [66], which indicates the role of lactate as an energy substrate for cancer cells converted back to pyruvate (Fig. 3.2.). The import of lactate also can help cancer cells to regenerate NADH and accelerate glycolysis [57]. The hypothesis of lactate shuttling also is supported by a study showing the high expression of LDH-5 in PCa cells and LDH-1 in fibroblasts [67]. LDH-5 converts pyruvate to lactate whereas LDH-1 enzyme system utilizes the secreted lactate to produce pyruvate (Fig. 3.2.). Therefore, the direct relationship between the increased expression of LDH-5 and MCT1 in PCa cells [67], favours lactate production and simultaneously its uptake, creating a positive feedback loop for lactate use as an energy substrate. This trend has been shown in PCa cells *in vitro*, which gradually become independent of glucose consumption, and start using the lactate imported from the extracellular space to sustain the anabolic pathways and cell growth [63].

3.3.2. Glutamine

Glutamine, although classified as a non-essential amino acid, is the second most common extracellular nutrient, and a key fuel for cancer cell growth, in addition to glucose [16]. Glutamine availability has been shown to maintain higher OXPHOS, being an important substrate for prostate epithelial cells proliferation and growth [17]. In contrast, restriction of glutamine in cell culture medium was associated with diminished viability of metastatic PCa cell line models [68]. Furthermore, glutamine deprivation affected cancer cell motility by changing the actin dynamics, in consequence of altered expression of actin-binding proteins, namely, cofilin and profilin [69].

Indeed, over the years, it has been established that cancer cells growth rely on the reprogramming of other metabolic routes besides glycolysis. The aggressive behaviour of PCa cells has been linked with the anabolic metabolism, fatty acid β -oxidation, and glutaminolysis (Fig. 3.2.). The mitochondrial enzyme glutaminase transforms glutamine into glutamate, which is converted to α -ketoglutarate, a component of the Krebs cycle [70] (Fig. 3.2.). Overall, cancer cells, including PCa, display enhanced glutamine metabolism, sustained by the increased uptake of glutamine and up-regulated expression of glutaminase [15-17].

The sodium dependent antiporter, the alanine, serine, cysteine, glutamine transporter (ASCT2) is a key molecular player in glutamine homeostasis, being responsible by the glutamine uptake from the extracellular space (Fig. 3.2.) [71-76]. ASCT2 (also named SCL1A5 or L-type amino acid transporter [77,78], is expressed both in healthy and PCa cells [79,80], though its overexpression in tumour samples has been reported [79]. Moreover, ASCT2 expression is significantly increased in patients with recurrent PCa after androgen-deprivation therapy [79]. ASCT2 and enhanced glutamine consumption seem to pave the way for malignant transformation and PCa progression. ASCT2 activity was related with the cell

cycle progression and PCa cell growth *in vitro* [79]. On the other hand, ASCT2 inhibition diminished tumour growth and development of metastasis in PCa xenografts models [79]. Moreover, blocking ASCT2 decreased glutamine uptake, as expected, but also basal oxygen consumption and fatty acid synthesis [79].

Two different subtypes of glutaminase have been identified: a kidney- and a livertype, respectively, glutaminase 1 and glutaminase 2 [81]. Glutaminase 1 is the isoenzyme predominantly expressed in PCa, and its expression levels were positively correlated with the tumour stage and progression of PCa [82]. *In vitro* studies have been demonstrating the relevance of glutaminase activity promoting PCa cells survival and growth. Glutaminase was related with increased cell viability, growth and invasiveness of PCa cells [82,83]. Also, glutaminase was associated with subclones of metastatic PCa cell lines, which demonstrated an increase of glutamine utilization and higher sensitivity to glutaminase inhibition [82,84]. Blocking glutaminase, besides suppressing cell survival, also was suggested to affect PCa cells metabolism and glycolysis, decreasing ATP production and O₂ consumption, and glutathione production [85].

Finally, the product of glutaminase activity glutamate, also was involved in PCa. Glutamate deprivation or inhibition of glutamate receptor decreased PCa cells' proliferation, migration, and invasion, and augmented the expression levels of pro-apoptotic molecular signals [86].

3.3.3. Lipids

Lipids are a vast class of compounds comprising different types of molecules, namely fatty acids, triglycerides, cholesterol, phospholipids and sphingolipids. In the cell, lipids are crucial structural components of membranes, play a role as second messengers in intracellular signalling, and are an important energy source. In the last years, the capacity of PCa cells in increasing lipids uptake, fatty acids and phospholipids biosynthesis, fatty acid oxidation, and storage of cholesterol, and respective esters, in lipid droplets (Fig. 3.2.), has been described as a relevant mechanism to sustain cell growth and invasiveness.

Lipid (fatty acid, cholesterol, and lipoprotein) uptake by PCa cells was associated with cell growth, cancer progression, and development of bone metastasis [87-89]. However, some inconsistency appears on the role of fatty acids targeting cancer hallmarks, if specific compounds or cell-types are considered. If some articles indicate that fatty acid can have proliferative and growth/invasion promoting action, others report the opposite effect. It is, for example, the case of palmitate that activated apoptosis in PCa PC3 cells, and attenuated C4-2B cells growth [89]. In addition, other fatty acids supplementation protected PC3 cells from the palmitate-induced apoptosis [89]. In contrast, other study described increased migration of PC3 cells and decreased oxidative stress levels (by augmented catalase activity), after palmitate treatment [45].

Also, linoleate, arachidonic acid, and eicosapentaenoic acid have been shown to increase PCa LNCaP cells proliferation [90], whereas a report exists indicating the toxicity of linoleic acid and oleic acid in PC3 cells [91]. Moreover, it was demonstrated that different combinations of fatty acids and the concentration used can change the PCa cells' answer proliferating or dying [92]. This can be the reason for some of the inconsistency of results obtained across the different studies. Nevertheless, the fatty acid transporter CD36 (Fig. 3.2.), that has been characterized in different types of cancer cells [93-95], was associated with an aggressive phenotype of PCa. High CD36 expression positively correlated with lower survival rates and development of metastasis [88]. Studies on the detailed role of CD36 in PCa cells are scarce, but its deletion diminished fatty acid uptake, with impact on cell proliferation and migration, reducing tumour growth in patient-derived xenografts [88].

The cell incorporated FA can be drive to B-oxidation or, if not necessary as energy metabolites by proliferating cells, can be stored in lipid droplets (Fig. 3.2.). Fatty acid B-oxidation was proposed as the dominant bioenergetic pathway in PCa cells [14], which is supported by the fact that primary PCa cases do not rely on intense glycolytic or OXPHOS activity (Fig. 3.1.). The carnitine palmitoyltransferase I (CPT1) catalyses a rate-limiting step in fatty acid B-oxidation by converting fatty acids to acylcarnitines, which allows their translocation to the mitochondria and energy production (Fig. 3.2.). CPT1A was shown to be overexpressed in PCa compared with benign tissues, especially in high-grade tumours [96]. Moreover, the presence of CPT1A was needed to maintain PCa cells viability and invasion [96]. Lipid catabolism via CPT1 also sustained tumour growth and invasion in xenograft mice models [96,97].

If intracellular fatty acid content exceeds the cell needs, they can be stored in lipid droplets (Fig. 3.2.), which is a process mediated by storage enzymes, such as diglyceride acyltransferase (DGAT). On the opposite direction, the alpha-beta hydrolase domain containing 5 (ABHD5), an activating co-enzyme of adipose triglyceride lipase, promotes the hydrolysis of triacylglycerols generating fatty acids (Fig. 3.2.) [98]. In this way, the inhibition of DGTA1 stopped the formation of lipid droplets in PCa cells, whereas blocking ABHD5 promoted the accumulation of these organelles [99]. Moreover, loss of ABHD5 was also related with the aggressiveness of PCa, with authors suggesting its role as metabolic tumour suppressor gene [100].

Indeed, the metabolism of lipid droplets has been demonstrating to have a fundamental role in cancer cells' survival and growth [101-103]. Accumulation of lipid droplets is a common feature in human PCa [99,102,104] and was associated with the development of high-grade tumours and metastases [105]. Moreover, droplets' storage protects lipids from harmful peroxidation, and has been associated with resistance to therapy [101,106]. However, this relationship is unknown in the case of PCa, and further research is needed to clarify the role of lipid droplets in prostatic cancer.

Fatty acids synthesis is not a relevant process in non-neoplastic cells, being almost inexistent. In contrast, cancer cells, including PCa cells, typically display activated fatty acids *de novo* synthesis. The over-activation of this metabolic route results from the augmented expression of several enzymes such as, ATP citrate lyase (ACLY), acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC), fatty acid synthase (FASN), and stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD). At an initial step, ACLY converts citrate to acetyl-CoA, a crucial precursor of fatty acid synthesis (Fig. 3.2.). Next, ACC catalyses the conversion of acetyl-CoA in malonyl-CoA (Fig. 3.2.). Both ACLY and ACC were shown to be active in PCa cells, being crucial intermediates in fatty acid production [107,108].

FASN is the enzyme responsible for the synthesis of long-chain fatty acids from malonyl-Coa (Fig. 3.2.). It is overexpressed in prostate malignancies, being associated with the early development and progression of PCa, but also with more aggressive phenotypes, namely the appearance of CRPC bone metastasis [109-115]. Based on these findings, FASN has been suggested as an oncogene [116,112]. Studies in mice have demonstrated that the transgenic expression of FASN potentiated the onset of prostate intraepithelial neoplasia, but not the development of invasive tumours [112]. *In vitro* approaches have shown that FASN overexpression increased PCa cells proliferation and growth [112,117], whereas its inhibition blocked proliferation, induced caspase-dependent apoptosis, and increased ROS production [117].

Other enzymes involved in lipid handling downstream FASN also have been linked with the carcinogenic process. It is the case of SCD that elongates and desaturates palmitic acid. However, SCD expression and function in PCa still is controversial. SCD1 was considered a central regulator of PCa growth and viability [118]. However, Moore et al. [119] showed that SCD expression is lost in prostate carcinoma compared with normal prostate epithelium. In contrast, more recent data reported the association of SCD increased expression levels with malignant transformation and PCa progression [120-122].

Cholesterol metabolism is crucial for structural cell functions, being one of the major components of cell membranes. In normal conditions, a balance exists between cholesterol synthesis, uptake and storage. However, extracellular high cholesterol levels can disturb cholesterol homeostasis, which has been shown contributing to carcinogenesis. Several epidemiological studies have linked hypercholesterolemia with a higher risk of developing PCa, acceleration of the progression to CRPC, and appearance of bone metastasis after ADT [123-125]. This relationship was demonstrated in xenograft models, with diet-induced hypercholesterolemia promoting PCa metastasis [126,127]. Moreover, cholesterol richenvironment and cholesterol metabolites were also related with increased PCa cell proliferation, migration, viability and resistance to docetaxel [128-131], which highlights the importance of characterizing PCa cells dependency on these substrates and their cell and molecular effects over cell fate and metabolism.



Figure 3.2. Bioenergetic sources and metabolism in prostate cancer (PCa) cells. In advanced stages, PCa cells display increased glucose uptake and high rate of glycolysis and lactate production by the activity of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). Lactate is exported to the extracellular space through monocarboxilate transporters (MCTs), namely MCT1. PCa cells also collaborate with fibroblasts in a lactate shuttle. High glycolytic fibroblasts actively produce lactate that is exported by MCT4 an uptake by PCa cells, being converted back to pyruvate and used for fuelling tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. PCa cells also use amino acids and glutamine uptake occurs through the membrane amino acids transporter ASCT2. Glutamine is converted to glutamate by glutaminase (GLS). Glutamate in turn is transformed into α -ketoglutarate (α -KG) that enters the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Fatty acids (FA) uptake from the extracellular space is mediated by the CD36 transporter. FA B-oxidation starts with conjugation with carnitine by carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1 (CPT1), which allows the transport to the mitochondria generating acetyl-CoA, that enters the TCA cycle producing citrate. In turn, citrate can be used for the de novo FA synthesis, a metabolic pathway known to be activated in PCa cells and dependent on the activity of adenosine triphosphate citrate lyase (ACLY), acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and FA synthase (FASN). If not being used by the proliferating cells FA can be stored in lipid droplets by the activity of storage enzymes, such as diglyceride acyltransferase (DGAT1). On the contrary, lipid droplets can undergo lipolysis with the conversion of monoacylglycerols to FA. Cholesterol biosynthesis from acetyl-CoA and mevalonate, is mediated by 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGCR) and squalene monooxygenase (SQLE) enzymes. The generated cholesterol can suffer esterification by acetyl-CoA acetyltransferase1 (ACAT1), being stored in lipid droplets. Internalization of LDL-cholesterol complexed with the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDLr) also was described in PCa cells.

Cholesterol is internalized by binding to the low-density lipoprotein receptors (LDLr). High LDL-cholesterol availability and the LDLr have been implicated in breast cancer cell growth, in both cell lines and a mouse model of hyperlipidaemia [132,133]. The impact of LDL availability and LDLr in PCa is much less known, but it was shown that PCa cells can uptake cholesterol in a process mediated by LDLr [134]. Moreover, upon inhibiting cholesterol biosynthesis with statins, PCa cells seem to develop a compensatory mechanism increasing the expression of LDLr [135].

Also, *de novo* cholesterol synthesis (via squalene epoxidase, SQLE), rather than transcellular uptake (via LDLr) or esterification (via SOAT1) [136] (Fig. 3.2.), was shown to be important for PCa progression, and linked to lethal forms of disease. The expression and

activity of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGCR, Fig, 3.2.), a crucial enzyme in the mevalonate pathway for sterol biosynthesis, was related with PCa aggressiveness and CRPC resistance to the anti-androgen enzalutamide [137]. The mevalonate pathway including the HMGCR1 and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase 1 (HMGCS1) were shown to be upregulated in prostate stromal cells with stimulating effects on PCa cells growth [138]. This suggests that cholesterol synthesised by stromal cells can be supplied to the PCa cells, promoting their proliferative activity.

Cholesterol esterification is another event that has been shown to potentiate the development and growth of PCa metastatic lesions [104]. An aberrant accumulation of esterified cholesterol in lipid droplets was detected in high-grand PCa and metastases, while the depletion of cholesteryl ester induced the opposed scenario, significantly reducing cancer cell proliferation and invasion, and suppressing tumour growth [105]. Acetyl-CoA acetyltransferase1 (ACAT1) is the enzyme responsible for converting intracellular free cholesterol into cholesteryl esters for storage in lipid droplets (Fig. 3.2.), and its expression and activity were described in PCa [139]. Also, the inhibition of cholesterol esterification by blocking ACAT1 was shown to supress the development of PCa, decreasing cell migration both *in vitro* and *in vivo* and impairing cancer invasion [104,105].

3.4. Oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes driving the metabolic reprogramming in prostate cancer

Oncogenes and tumour suppressor genes' signalling networks are widely known to target the classical hallmarks of cancer, namely, the self-sustained cell proliferation and resistance to cell death [140]. After the Hanahan and Weinberg [141] proposal of the metabolic reprogramming as a new cancer hallmark in 2011, numerous reports have been showing that activation of oncogenes and/or loss of tumour suppressor genes can coordinate the metabolic adaptations of cancer cells. Several molecular players with established or putative roles as oncogenes/tumour suppressors, or activators of oncogenic signalling pathways, have been described as metabolic regulators in PCa, shaping the reprogramming of cell metabolism. Based on the available literature this list includes, for example, the AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1), phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), protein kinase B (AKT), P53, c-Myc, and sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP).

AMPK is the central energy sensor activated by the increased levels of AMP and ADP (decreased ATP), namely, in consequence of glucose deprivation or hypoxia [142]. Thus, AMPK activity contributes increasing ATP levels by activating cell catabolism and/or suppressing the biosynthetic pathways. AMPK actions also seem to be cancer-related, and in the case of PCa cells, they were shown to regulate glucose and lipid metabolism. AMPK regulation of glucose metabolism was crucial for maintaining PCa cell survival and avoiding apoptosis under glucose

deprivation [143]. This article also showed that AMPK actions were dependent on c-Jun Nterminal kinase (JNK), with Considering the relationship of AMPK with glycolysis, it was also shown that the calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase 2 can phosphorylate and activate AMPK increasing the expression of GLUT12 and its presence at plasma membrane, which resulted in enhanced glucose uptake and cell growth [144]. Also, *de novo* lipogenesis was identified as a relevant metabolic pathway downstream AMPK activation. AMPK activity suppressed this pathway decreasing the concentration of malonyl CoA (Fig. 3.2.) [145,146]. Increased phosphorylation of AMPK was shown to inactivate ACC, blocking malonyl CoA, and thus, reducing fatty acid synthesis [99]. Moreover, the concomitant inhibition of lipid synthesis and AMPK resulted in excess of oxidative stress, PCa cell death and inhibition of tumour growth [117]. Overall, AMPK actions regulating metabolism were translated in physiological effects, decreasing cell proliferation and the malignant behaviour of PCa cells, and inhibiting tumour growth [147,145].

Hypoxia is a common event in the tumour microenvironment that induces the expression of HIFs transcription factors, namely, HIF-1. HIF-1 modulates several transcriptional changes affecting the invasive and migratory behaviour of PCa cells, and is one of the most recognized drivers of the glycolytic phenotype in different types of cancer cells [148-150]. In PCa cells, HIF-1 regulates the expression of aconitase and LDH [151], contributing to the reactivation of the TCA cycle and promoting the establishment of the glycolytic phenotype (Fig. 3.1.). Metabolic reprogramming of both stromal and PCa cells becoming independent of glucose consumption and developing a dependence on lactate as an energy substrate (Fig. 3.2.) also is regulated by HIF-1 [63].

The tumour suppressor PTEN, a negative regulator of the PI3K/AKT pathway, is usually deleted in PCa cases and linked with the development of CRPC [152,153]. In this way, increased AKT activity, in the consequence of PTEN loss, has been detected in PCa, with several reports showing its association with a poor clinical outcome [154-156]. Indeed, PTEN deletion and AKT activity have been shown to play a determinant role in promoting cell survival, but its role as regulators of PCa metabolism also has been reported. A very recent study showed that PTEN deletion had a broad role reprogramming metabolism of PCa cells, increasing glycolysis and glutaminolysis metabolites, as well as, fatty acid synthesis and Boxidation [157]. PTEN also was related with the re-programming of mitochondrial respiratory in PCa cells, which displayed a substantial shift towards succinate-supported respiration compared to benign cells. This metabolic shift was shown to depend on PTEN, as its loss was associated with increased respiration and accumulation of succinate [158]. Naguib et al. [159] also reported the dependency of mitochondria to consume instead of producing ATP in PTEN null PCa cells relative to PTEN wild-type. Moreover, PTEN null cells showed higher vulnerability to the inhibition of mitochondria complex I displaying decreased cell viability and proliferation.

In turn, AKT activation was related with the accumulation of aerobic glycolysis metabolites [160], indicating a higher glycolytic flux in PCa cells. Accordingly, the inhibition

of AKT reduced aerobic glycolysis in PCa cells [161]. Besides the regulation of glucose use, AKT also has been connected with glutamine metabolism in prostate carcinoma. The inhibition of AKT decreased glutamine and glutamate levels PCa *in vitro* models, which would indicates a higher activity of glutaminolysis in the absence of AKT signalling [162]. However, increased glutamine levels were found in a PCa xenograft model upon inhibition of AKT [162]. Therefore, further studies are needed to clarify the role of AKT in the control of glutamine handling in PCa.

PTEN loss and PI3K/AKT activation in advanced and metastatic PCa were also associated with the accumulation of cholesteryl esters in lipid droplets, which had a positive effect on cell proliferation [105]. Moreover, the absence of PTEN and AKT activation resulted in FASN overexpression and increased activity [163,105,164], indicating that the fatty acid *de novo* synthesis also was enhanced in response to the activation of this oncogenic pathway. Some of the effects of PTEN loss on lipid metabolism were related with the SREBP transcription factor (discussion below). Finally, AKT localized in lipid rafts also was shown to stimulate cholesterol synthesis [165,166,105] and cholesteryl esters accumulation in lipid droplets [163,105].

c-Myc is one of the oncogenes commonly overexpressed in PCa, being extremely important for cancer progression, and also promoting the alteration of cancer cells metabolic phenotype [167-169]. c-Myc overexpression has been related with glutamine and lipid metabolism in PCa, though its role in glycolysis also is reported. c-Myc has been shown to increase the expression of ASCT2 glutamine transporter [170]. Also, glutaminase expression was increased by ten times in consequence of c-Myc action repressing the expression of regulatory microRNAs miR-23a and miR-23b [81]. Moreover, c-Myc was shown to activate glutaminolysis in PCa cells by increasing glutaminase activity [171]. Interestingly, it was also demonstrated that c-Myc stimulation of glutaminolysis influenced the glycolytic response of PCa cells. Augmented glutaminase activity was shown to repress the expression of thioredoxin-interacting protein, a potent negative regulator of glucose uptake, which resulted in stimulation of glycolysis [171]. Overall, c-Myc has been proposed as a strong stimulator of glutaminolysis. c-Myc overexpression was also associated with the deregulation of lipid metabolism in PCa cells, being reported the increased glycerolipid metabolism and fatty acid and cholesterol synthesis [160,172]. However, the molecular partners of c-Myc actions in regulating lipid metabolism in PCa cells remain to be fully characterized.

SREBPs are transcription factors that regulate the expression of genes involved in fatty acid and cholesterol biosynthesis. The transcriptional activity of SREBP requires the cleavage-activating protein (SCAP) that allows the subsequent cleavage and release of the SREBP [173]. SREBP and SCAP have been shown to regulate cholesterol homeostasis in PCa cells. SCAP overexpression and SREBP stimulated the expression of HMGCR in PCa cells [174,175] and, thus, the cholesterol synthesis pathway (Fig. 3.2.). Increased cholesterol biosynthesis triggered by SREBP-2, induced proliferation, invasion and migration of PCa cells, and was shown to be mediated by the transcriptional activation of c-Myc [172]. Moreover,

augmented expression of SCAP increased the expression levels of LDLr, which was related with the increased intracellular cholesterol levels [174]. SREBP function also increased the expression of FASN and SCD1 in PCa cells [176,177,122,175]. Moreover, SREBP transcriptional activity promoted the accumulation of lipid droplets in PCa cells [177], though the exact mechanism involved needs to be disclosed. Nevertheless, the response was functionally relevant as promoted PCa cell growth, migration and invasion [177].

Deletion of PTEN (with the reactivation of MAPK pathway) was a condition known to increased the SREBP expression with the activation of the lipogenic program by augmenting FASN and HMGCR expression [178]. The metabolic reprogramming induced by SREBP has shown to have impact on PCa cell growth, migration and invasion. Interestingly, SREBP inhibition has been used with positive results decreasing cell growth and inducing apoptosis of PCa, if in combination with docetaxel [177,175,179,178]. The most frequently mutated tumour suppressor gene in human cancers, the p53, [180] also was reported to play an important role in the regulation of metabolic pathways in cancer cells [181,182]. p53 enhanced the HK-2 mRNA stability through the inhibition of miR143 biogenesis, which increased aerobic glycolysis rates in xenograft mouse models of PCa [55]. Moreover, the activation of p53 by tenovin-1 in combination with metformin reduced the glucose consumption and lactate production, reducing the glycolysis capacity in PCa cells [183]. The liaison of p53 with metabolic rewiring in PCa cells is relatively scarce, but a report exists associating this tumour suppressor with the regulation of lipid metabolism. Obese mice with increased p53 levels showed reduced levels of SREBP-1, whereas the deletion of p53 restored both SREBP-1 and FASN levels [184].

3.5. The role of sex steroids in regulating prostate cancer metabolism

Androgens and the androgen receptor (AR) are essential for the normal prostate cell growth and differentiation, as well as for maintaining prostate physiology in the adult [185]. However, the androgens/AR actions also play a crucial role in promoting prostate carcinogenesis [186].

The AR is a ligand-dependent transcription factor that upon activation by androgens, translocate to the nucleus and bind to the androgen response elements in the promoter region of target genes, controlling the expression of cell signaling and proliferation regulators [187]. In the last years, several studies have described the role of androgens as metabolic regulators in PCa, controlling the expression levels of genes involved in lipid and cholesterol metabolism, glycolysis and glutaminolysis [188-191]. Nevertheless, lipid metabolism is the best characterized metabolic pathway under the influence of androgens. A study from Swinnen et al. [192] first described the relationship between androgens and the control of lipid metabolism. Thereafter, several articles have been detailing the androgens actions in

regulating the expression of several molecular targets involved in the fatty acid and cholesterol biosynthesis, lipid uptake, lipolysis, and lipid storage.

The most well known AR target gene is FASN (Fig. 3.2.). Androgens stimulated the expression and activity of FASN, whereas antiandrogen treatment inverted this effect [193,188]. The same findings were reported for ACC (Fig. 3.2.). Androgen deprivation resulted in a marked reduction of ACC expression with testosterone supplementation reverting this scenario [188]. The AR effect regulating FASN expression depend on the presence of SREBPs transcription factors, with androgens increased the nuclear levels of active SREBP and promoting the translocation of SCAP from its site of synthesis in the endoplasmic reticulum to the site of proteolytical activation in the Golgi [194,195]. The importance of androgens in controlling FASN cell levels also was demonstrated by a study investigating the degradation of AR by the ASC-J9. This compound promoted the degradation of AR concomitantly with suppressed expression of FASN and SREBP-1, pointing out for an AR \rightarrow SREBP-1 \rightarrow FASN signaling pathway [163]. Interestingly, it was demonstrated that androgens stimulation of lipogenesis depends on glycolysis as the main carbon source supplier, more exactly on the up-regulation of PFKFB2 (6-phosphofructo-2- kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase, allosterically control of PFK-1) and increased activity of HK-2, dependent on PKA signalling [196].

Cholesterol synthesis also was regulated by androgens. Expression of enzymes involved in cholesterol synthesis like HMG-CoA synthase, HMG-CoA reductase, and farnesyl diphosphate synthase were upregulated by androgens both *in vitro* and *in vivo* [197,188,198,139,199]. Moreover, free cholesterol available from increased biosynthesis or uptake, is likely a precursor for intratumoral *de novo* androgen synthesis. Increased serum cholesterol levels in PTEN-null transgenic mouse model fed ad libitum with high fat/high cholesterol diet were associated with elevated intraprostatic DHEA, androstenedione and testosterone levels [200,201].

Lipid uptake also was recently described as a target of androgenic regulation. Treatment with androgens increased cellular uptake of medium and long chain fatty acids, cholesterol, and low-density lipoproteins [87,202]. Moreover, androgen exposure or deprivation were shown to affect mRNA and protein expression of multiple lipid transporters in PCa cell lines and tumour xenografts [87]. Androgens are also involved in modulation of lipid content in cancer cells, by regulating lipolysis of adipose tissue, as well as, recruiting the intern reserves from intracellular lipid droplets [203-205]. However, how androgens exert all these effects is not entirely understood, and there are regulators of lipid metabolism that remain to be identified as androgen target genes. Moreover, androgens treatment increased lipid accumulation in lipid droplets, more exactly triglycerides and cholesterol esters [192].

The last decade has witnessed the identification of androgens as regulators of glycolytic metabolism in PCa. The synthetic androgen R1881 and the main prostatic androgen 5α -dihydrotestosterone stimulated glucose uptake and lactate production in PCa cells [189,188] by altering the expression levels of several targets in the glycolytic pathway. The increased expression of GLUT1, GLUT3, HK, PFK and MCT4 was reported [189,188]. Also,

testosterone was responsible for the increased expression of m-aconitase, inducing citrate oxidation [206], and, thus, activating the Krebs cycle and modulating the prostate cells to the cancer phenotype (Fig. 3.2.).

AR signaling driving metabolic alterations also was show to have a role in glutamine metabolism. Androgens/AR promoted glutamine metabolism by increasing the expression of glutamine transporter ASCT2 [170,207]. However, the interplay between androgens actions and glutaminolysis in PCa cells deserves further research.

Androgens are widely recognized as the main drivers of PCa, but other steroid hormones, namely, estrogens have been shown to influence prostate physiology. However, the estrogens' functions in PCa cells has remained a subject of some controversy. These steroid hormones have been used in PCa treatment for years, and disregarded because of the associated side-effects, but their role suppressing tumour growth has been widely reported [208,19]. Our research group demonstrated the protective actions of estrogens suppressing PCa cells proliferation and inducing apoptosis in both cancer cell lines and rat prostate [209]. Nevertheless, other studies defended a causative effect of estrogens in PCa, promoting tumour progression [210,211]. This duality of estrogenic effects in PCa cells is supported by the opposite roles of estrogen receptors (ER) subtypes. The ER α that has been indicated as oncogenic, while the ERB has pro-apoptotic and anti-proliferative actions counteracting PCa cells growth [212,213]. Both ER α and ER β have been implicated in the metabolic reprogramming in breast cancer [214], but little information exists on the activity of estrogens as regulators of prostate metabolism. However, $ER\alpha$ increased cell proliferation, promoting the neoplastic growth of PCa cells, by increasing the expression of GLUT1 and the sensitivity to glucose availability [215]. Moreover, proliferation of PCa cells with ERa knocked-down were less affected by glucose withdrawal than control cells [215]. Considering lipid metabolism, a prospective study showed that transdermal estrogen therapy decreased total cholesterol and LDL cholesterol, and increased HDL serum levels [216], but the action of these hormones affecting prostate lipid metabolism is unknown. The exploitation of the ER actions modulating PCa metabolism is a relevant research focus for the next upcoming years, which would allow the development of new treatment approaches.

3.6. Emerging therapeutic approaches targeting prostate cancer metabolism

There are several metabolic alterations trigging the development and progression of PCa that have been identified as new promising anti-cancer therapy targets. Table 3.1. summarizes the information on the metabolic targets that are actually being used for PCa treatment in pre-clinical and clinical studies.

Although glycolysis is not the main energy source used by primary PCa, blockage of this pathway showed usefulness for treatment. Overall, inhibition of glycolysis decreased tumour volumes and metastasis, delayed the onset of CRPC, increased the expression of proapoptotic factors, and maintained PSA levels low. Moreover, suppression of glycolytic activity in PCa cells had synergic effects with other anticancer drugs [12,13]. The metabolic targets of glycolytic pathway that have been used for treatment of PCa are GLUTs, HK, PFK, pyruvate kinase isozymes M2 (PKM2), LDH and MCTs. Concerning GLUTs, the membrane proteins responsible for glucose uptake, three inhibitors have been tested, namely, silybin, apigenin and ritonavir [217-252]. However, only silybin and ritonavir reached the stage of clinical trials, showing good efficacy decreasing prostate tumour growth and progression to metastasis [253-257]. The inhibition of HK, the first step of glycolysis, also has been used as strategy for PCa treatment by using methyl jasmonate, 3-bromopyruvate, 2-Deoxy-D-glucose and ionidamine [258-268]. From this list, only the last two compounds have already been investigated in clinical trials [269-272]. The most promising compound might be methyl jasmonate since it was more studied and the only one that demonstrated the ability to inhibit the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 inducting cell death of radioresistant human PCa cell line [260]. Sodium orthovanadate has been used as inhibitor of PFK in preclinical models of PCa, whereas shikonin has been exploited as an inhibitor of PKM2 [273-276]. Regarding LDH, the enzyme that converts pyruvate to lactate (Fig. 3.1.), there are two inhibitors that are being tested at clinical stages: AT-101 and FX11 [277-286]. In preclinical models, the use of AT-101 and FX11 inhibitors in combination with other therapies, namely ADT or surgical castration, improved disease outcomes [277,278]. In the end of glycolytic flux, the inhibition of MCTs, which will attenuate the export of lactate reducing the acidification of tumour microenvironment, also has been explored as an anti-PCa therapy. Two inhibitors of this class of transporters, namely, atorvastatin and simvastatin, showed effectiveness inhibiting tumour formation and growth, re-growing of tumours after castration, and reducing PSA levels [287-311]. Both statins are currently in test in clinical trials for PCa treatment [312,313]. However the specificity of these compounds for MCTs is very low [314-326].

As discussed above, the augmented proliferation of cancer cells requires the generation of new membrane phospholipids, and PCa displays enhanced lipid synthesis, thus targeting this anabolic pathway might be a crucial approach for PCa therapy. FASN, ACLY, ACC and SCD are the enzymes more explored in this context. Several inhibitors namely, cerulenin, C75, triclosan, EGCG, IPI-9119 and orlistat have been used for inhibition of FASN [327-352]. Overall, these compounds showed tumour growth and angiogenesis inhibitory properties, decreasing serum PSA levels, promoting apoptosis, and increasing the efficacy of radiotherapy and enzalutamide. However, from the extensive list, only EGCG reached the phase of clinical trials, which can be due to the weak solubility of the previously mentioned compounds [353-360]. Concerning the other enzymes of lipid biosynthetic pathway (Fig. 3.2.), ACLY, ACC and SCD, isolated compounds have been tested as inhibitors, namely, cucurbitacin B, soraphen A and SCD, respectively [361-364]. However, none of these molecules reached clinical phases. On other hand, it has been shown that fatty acid β-oxidation has an important role as an energy source in PCa cells [14]. Therefore, inhibition of fatty acid β-oxidation has

aroused as a promising therapeutic approach for PCA. Concerning the mitochondrial translocator CPT1, a limiting step in fatty acid β-oxidation, also there are known inhibitors tested in PCa treatment. It is the case of etomoxir, perhexiline and ranolazine that decreased cancer growth and metastasis, and improved the outcomes of enzalutamide treatment [365-370]. However, only ranolazine has been used in clinical stages, while others never passed through the preclinical stages due to their side-effects such as neurotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, risk of cardiovascular disease and heart failure [371]. ACAT (Fig. 3.2.), the enzyme linked with the formation of lipid droplets, is another target for PCa therapy through the utilization of two inhibitors as available inhibitors, avasimibe and beauvericin [372-374]. Lastly, in the fatty acid processing molecular players, the inhibition of DGAT (Fig. 3.2.) with xanthohumol using preclinical and *in vivo* models seemed to have benefits against the progression of PCa [375-380].

Regarding the cholesterol synthesis pathway, HMGCR is the most common target for prostate anti-cancer therapy. The inhibition of this enzyme was achieved through the use of statins compounds namely, atorvastatin, lovastatin, pravastatin, fluvastatin, rosuvastatin and simvastatin [287,295,293,381,382,292,383,290,289,291,288,384,294,296,385-390,297,391-395,301,396,303,299,397,298,309,308,305,302,398,311]. All of them have been tested in clinical trials with PCa patients [399,314-323,400-404,324-326].

Since cancer cells also depend on glutamine for proliferation and survival, the inhibition of key modulators of glutaminolysis also has earned consideration by their anticancer potential. The two key regulators of glutamine metabolism, glutaminase and ASCT2, have been targeted for PCa treatment. CB-839 and BPTES are the compounds used as glutaminase inhibitors, while in the case of ASCT2 the inhibitor is the $l-\gamma$ -glutamyl-p-nitroanilide [405-407]. However, none of these inhibitors has reached clinical trials.

The inhibition of other metabolic modulators with a central role in the regulation of glycolysis metabolism, lipid metabolism and glutaminolysis, as is the case of HIF1, AKT, AMPK, PTEN and SREBP, also has been applied in cancer treatment. Regarding HIF1, several inhibitors were developed, namely chetomin, chrysin and YC-1 [408-414]. AZD5363, Afuresertib, Ipatasertib and MK-2206 are the inhibitors clinically tested for the inhibition of AKT towards PCa therapy [415-432]. AICAR and salicylate are the molecules tested for the inhibition of AMPK as a possible treatment for PCa in preclinical models [433,350,434-437].

One of the most common recognized events leading to PCa development is the loss of function of the PTEN tumour suppressor [152,153]. Thus, several efforts have been focused in the "recuperation of function" of this tumour suppressor. The stimulation of PTEN reached the clinical trials by using rituximab, rosiglitazone, sodium selenite, sunitinib, trastuzumab and pertuzumab [438-485]. Sodium selenite was the compound more tested in preclinical studies, and demonstrated to induce apoptosis through several pathways such as, TRAIL receptor, p53 and generation of oxygen reactive species [446-454]. Moreover, sodium selenite has the ability to inhibit the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor, which is

important for the metastization process [451]. Finally, fatostatin A, which is an inhibitor of SREBP, has been tested in preclinical and *in vivo* models for the treatment of PCa [486,487].

The dependency of PCa cells on several metabolic pathways endows metabolism the potential as a therapeutic target. However, PCa continuously reprogram metabolism in consequence of accumulation of new mutations and environmental pressure, which can hamper or strongly limit the success of metabolic inhibitors. Then, the combination of several metabolic pathways or metabolic regulators simultaneously might be a more effective anticancer approach.

Metabolic pathway	Target	Compound	Stage as anti-cancer therapy	Refs
		Silybin	Preclinical	[217-228]
			In vivo models	[229-233,226]
			Clinical Studies	[253-255]
			Preclinical	[234-248]
	GLUIS	Apigenin	CompoundStage as anti-cancer therapySilybinPreclinicalSilybinIn vivo modelsClinical StudiesClinical StudiesApigeninPreclinicalApigeninIn vivo modelsRitonavirClinical StudiesClinical StudiesClinical Studiesethyl jasmonatePreclinicalIn vivo modelsIn vivo modelsobromopyruvatePreclinicalLonidamineClinical StudiesSodium OrthovanadatePreclinicalSodium OrthovanadatePreclinicalShikoninPreclinicalAT-101In vivo modelsFX11PreclinicalAtorvastatinPreclinical	[249,237,250,243- 246,251]
				[252]
		Ritonavir	In vivo models	[252]
			Clinical Studies	[256,257]
	Colysis GLUTS Appendix Appendi	methyl jasmonate	Preclinical	[258-261]
			In vivo models	[262,263]
		3-bromopyruvate	Preclinical	[264,265]
Glycolysis		2-Deoxy-D-glucose	Clinical Studies	[269,270]
		Lonidamine	Preclinical	[266]
			In vivo models	[267,266,268]
			Clinical Studies	[271,272]
	PFK	Sodium Orthovanadate	Preclinical	[273]
	PKM2	Shikonin	Preclinical	[274-276]
	LDH	AT-101	Preclinical	[277]
			In vivo models	[278]
			Clinical Studies	[279-285]
		FX11	Preclinical	[286]
	MCTs	Atorvastatin	Preclinical	[287-295]

Table 3.1. Overview of target metabolic pathways for prostate cancer treatment

			In vivo models	[288,290,296]
			Clinical Studies	[314-323]
			Preclinical	[297-310]
		Simvastatin	In vivo models	[300,311,303]
			Clinical Studies	[324-326,323]
Fatty acid synthesis	FASN	Cerulenin	Preclinical	[327]
		C75	Preclinical	[327]
			In vivo models	[328]
		Triclosan	Preclinical	[329]
		EGCG	Preclinical	[330-343]
			In vivo models	[344-348,341]
			Clinical Studies	[353-360]
		IPI-9119	Preclinical	[349]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[349]
		Orlistat	Preclinical	[350-352]
	ACLY	Cucurbitacin B	Preclinical	[361]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[361]
	ACC	Soraphen A	Preclinical	[362,363]
	SCD	SCD inhibitors	Preclinical	[364]
Fatty acid	CPT1	Etomoxir	Preclinical	[365-369]
			In vivo models	[368]
B-oxidation		Perhexiline	Preclinical	[369]
		Ranolazine	Preclinical	[369]

			In vivo models	[370]
			Clinical Studies	[371]
	ACAT	Avasimibe	Preclinical	[372]
			In vivo models	[372]
		Beauvericin	Preclinical	[373,374]
	DGAT	Xanthohumol	Preclinical	[375-379]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[380]
	GLS	CB-839	Preclinical	[488]
			In vivo models	[488]
Glutamine metabolism		BPTES	Preclinical	[406]
	ASCT2	l-γ-glutamyl-p- nitroanilide	Preclinical	[407]
			Preclinical	[407]
		Atorvastatin	Preclinical	[287,295,293,381, 382,292,383,290,2 89,291,288,384,29 4]
			PreclinicalIn vivo modelsIn vivo models <td>[290,296,288]</td>	[290,296,288]
				[399,314-323]
Cholesterol Synthesis	HMGCR	Lovastatin	Preclinical	[385-388]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[389]
			Clinical Studies	[400,401]
		Pravastatin	Clinical Studies	[323]
		Fluvastatin	Clinical Studies	[402]
		Rosuvastatin	Preclinical	[390]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[390]
			Clinical Studies	[403,323]
------------------------------	------	-------------	-----------------------	-----------------------------------------------------------------------
		Simvastatin	Preclinical	[297,391- 395,301,396,303,2 99,397,298,309,30 8,305,302,398]
			In vivo models	[395,311,303]
			Clinical Studies	[404,324-326,323]
Other metabolic routes	HIF1	Chetomin	Preclinical	[408,409]
		Chrysin	Preclinical	[410-412]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[410]
		YC-1	Preclinical	[413,414]
	AKT	AZD5363	Preclinical	[415-418]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[415-417,419,418]
			Clinical Studies	[420-423]
		Afuresertib	Clinical Studies	[424,425]
		lpatasertib	Clinical Studies	[426-429]
		MK-2206	Clinical Studies	[430-432]
	AMPK	AICAR	Preclinical	[433,350,434-436]
		Salicylate	Preclinical	[437]
	PTEN	Rituximab	Clinical Studies	[438-440]

		Rosiglitazone	Preclinical	[441-443]
			Clinical Studies	[444,445]
		Sodium Selenite	Preclinical	[446-454]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[455,456]
			Clinical Studies	[457,458]
		Sunitinib	Preclinical	[459-463]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[459,464,463]
			Clinical Studies	[465-475]
		Trastuzumab	Preclinical	[476]
			<i>In vivo</i> models	[477-480]
			Clinical Studies	[481,482]
		Pertuzumab	Clinical Studies	[483-485]
	SREBP	Fatostatin A	Preclinical	[486,487]
			In vivo models	[486,487]

ACAT - Sterol O-acyltransferase; ACC - Acetyl-CoA carboxylase; ACLY - ATP citrate lyase; AKT - Protein kinase B; AMPK - AMP-activated protein kinase; CPT1A - Carnitine palmitoyltransferase IA; DGAT -Diglyceride acyltransferase; FASN - Fatty acid synthase; GLS - glutaminase; Gluts - glucose transporters; HIF1- hypoxia inducible factor 1; HK - hexokinase; HMGCR - 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase; LDH - lactate dehydrogenase; MCTs - monocarboxylate transporters; PFK -phosphofructokinase; PFKM2 phosphofructokinase M2; PTEN - Phosphatase and tensin homolog; SCD - Stearoyl-CoA desaturase; SREBP - Sterol regulatory element-binding protein

3.7. Conclusions

The landscape of cancer cell metabolism has been intensively investigated over the last years mainly with the rationale of: i) disclosing the metabolic alterations driving carcinogenesis and tumour growth and ii) identifying the vulnerabilities of cancer cells that can be used with treatment purposes. Prostate cells have peculiar and unique metabolic features privileging the use of less efficient metabolic routes to the production of citrate, but a shift occurs in the metabolism PCa cells. Citrate secretion decelerates and the use of glycolysis, lipid metabolism and glutaminolysis is empowered. Moreover, the metabolic reprograming of PCa cells displays several specificities compared to other types of cancer.

This review revisited the metabolic alterations accompanying the development and progression of PCa, and the cancer cells' dependency on specific metabolites. PCa cells, mainly in advanced stages of disease, displayed high glycolytic activity, increased lipid uptake and oxidation, and enhanced use of glutamine. Overall, all these features were largely stimulated by the cell fate "decision makers" namely, the over-activation of oncogenes or the loss of function of tumour suppressors. Also, the hormonal milieu, and specifically the actions of androgens/AR, create a suitable environment to shape PCa cells metabolism, favouring the utilization of energy to sustain increased cell proliferation rates, as well as cell migration and invasion. However, a detailed understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying the metabolic responses of PCa cells in different stages of disease or under specific environmental conditions still is far from being completed. Future research is need in this field to fully draw the picture of the metabolic PCa cell.

Nevertheless, and following the trend observed in other cancer types, several drugs targeting the metabolic peculiarities of PCa cells have been tested in pre-clinical and clinical studies. Therapies suspending the use or production of metabolites essential for PCa cell survival showed to be promising strategies to regulate tumours growth. However, metabolic therapy also has shown some limitations, namely by, the acquisition of mechanisms of resistance, the weak specificity of compounds, associated-toxicity or adverse side-effects.

Moreover, the "rich-soup" of metabolites and regulators present in PCa cells and tumour microenvironment represents a complexity that can hamper treatment effects when specific metabolic enzymes/ transporters and metabolic regulators are targeted. PCa cells, and cancer cells in general, have a recognized plasticity in adapting the metabolic pathways dependently on the nutrient availability. This means that, blocking a metabolic route can be efficient suppressing tumour growth only transiently, until cancer cells reprogram the machinery to start using another pathway. A strategy to overcome this constrain could encompass the identification of synergic effects combining compounds that target different metabolic pathways. Alternatively, the use of metabolic inhibitors together with suppressors of oncogene activity or with the classical ADT may represent interesting approaches for management and treatment of PCa. The use of drugs targeting metabolic pathways also might

be an auspicious therapeutic approach for CRPC, a resistant and lethal stage of disease with unmet clinical needs concerning treatment.

3.8. Funding

This work was supported by FEDER funds through the POCI - COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme Competitiveness and Internationalisation in Axis I - Strengthening research, technological development and innovation (Project No. 007491; Project No 029114) and National Funds by FCT-Foundation for Science and Technology (Project UID/Multi/00709/2013). Henrique J Cardoso and Marília I Figueira were recipient of FCT fellowships (SFRH/BD/111351/2015 and SFRH/BD/104671/2014, respectively).

3.9. Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

3.10. References

1. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A (2018) Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians 68 (6):394-424. doi:10.3322/caac.21492

2. Pavlova NN, Thompson CB (2016) The Emerging Hallmarks of Cancer Metabolism. Cell metabolism 23 (1):27-47. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006

3. Srihari S, Kwong R, Tran K, Simpson R, Tattam P, Smith E (2018) Metabolic deregulation in prostate cancer. Molecular omics 14 (5):320-329. doi:10.1039/c8mo00170g

4. Ward PS, Thompson CB (2012) Metabolic reprogramming: a cancer hallmark even warburg did not anticipate. Cancer cell 21 (3):297-308. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2012.02.014

5. Carvalho TM, Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S (2019) The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: A route to metastasization and a target for therapy. European journal of medicinal chemistry 171:343-363. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.03.053

6. Zaal EA, Berkers CR (2018) The Influence of Metabolism on Drug Response in Cancer. Frontiers in oncology 8:500-500. doi:10.3389/fonc.2018.00500

7. Boroughs LK, DeBerardinis RJ (2015) Metabolic pathways promoting cancer cell survival and growth. Nat Cell Biol 17 (4):351-359. doi:10.1038/ncb3124

8. Costello LC, Franklin RB (2006) The clinical relevance of the metabolism of prostate cancer; zinc and tumor suppression: connecting the dots. Molecular cancer 5:17. doi:10.1186/1476-4598-5-17

9. Costello LC, Feng P, Milon B, Tan M, Franklin RB (2004) Role of zinc in the pathogenesis and treatment of prostate cancer: critical issues to resolve. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 7 (2):111-117. doi:10.1038/sj.pcan.4500712

10. Cooper JF, Farid I (1964) The role of citric acid in the physiology of the prostate. 3. Lactate/citrate ratios in benign and malignant prostatic homogenates as an index of prostatic malignancy. The Journal of urology 92:533-536. doi:10.1016/s0022-5347(17)64003-5

Costello LC, Franklin RB (1991) Concepts of citrate production and secretion by prostate.
 Metabolic relationships. The Prostate 18 (1):25-46

12. Liu Y, Zuckier LS, Ghesani NV (2010) Dominant uptake of fatty acid over glucose by prostate cells: a potential new diagnostic and therapeutic approach. Anticancer research 30 (2):369-374

13. Sadeghi RN, Karami-Tehrani F, Salami S (2015) Targeting prostate cancer cell metabolism: impact of hexokinase and CPT-1 enzymes. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine 36 (4):2893-2905. doi:10.1007/s13277-014-2919-4

14. Liu Y (2006) Fatty acid oxidation is a dominant bioenergetic pathway in prostate cancer. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 9 (3):230-234. doi:10.1038/sj.pcan.4500879

15. Daye D, Wellen KE (2012) Metabolic reprogramming in cancer: unraveling the role of glutamine in tumorigenesis. Seminars in cell & developmental biology 23 (4):362-369. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2012.02.002

16. Wise DR, Thompson CB (2010) Glutamine addiction: a new therapeutic target in cancer. Trends in biochemical sciences 35 (8):427-433. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2010.05.003

17. Vayalil PK, Landar A (2015) Mitochondrial oncobioenergetic index: A potential biomarker to predict progression from indolent to aggressive prostate cancer. Oncotarget 6 (40):43065-43080. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.5487

18. Tarrado-Castellarnau M, de Atauri P, Cascante M (2016) Oncogenic regulation of tumor metabolic reprogramming. Oncotarget 7 (38):62726-62753. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10911

19. Di Zazzo E, Galasso G, Giovannelli P, Di Donato M, Castoria G (2018) Estrogens and Their Receptors in Prostate Cancer: Therapeutic Implications. Frontiers in oncology 8:2-2. doi:10.3389/fonc.2018.00002

20. Tennakoon JB, Shi Y, Han JJ, Tsouko E, White MA, Burns AR, Zhang A, Xia X, Ilkayeva OR, Xin L, Ittmann MM, Rick FG, Schally AV, Frigo DE (2014) Androgens regulate prostate cancer cell growth via an AMPK-PGC-1alpha-mediated metabolic switch. Oncogene 33 (45):5251-5261. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.463

21. Verze P, Cai T, Lorenzetti S (2016) The role of the prostate in male fertility, health and disease. Nature reviews Urology 13 (7):379-386. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2016.89

22. DeBerardinis RJ, Lum JJ, Hatzivassiliou G, Thompson CB (2008) The Biology of Cancer: Metabolic Reprogramming Fuels Cell Growth and Proliferation. Cell metabolism 7 (1):11-20. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2007.10.002

23. Costello LC, Franklin RB, Feng P (2005) Mitochondrial function, zinc, and intermediary metabolism relationships in normal prostate and prostate cancer. Mitochondrion 5 (3):143-153. doi:10.1016/j.mito.2005.02.001

24. Tsui KH, Chang PL, Juang HH (2006) Zinc blocks gene expression of mitochondrial aconitase in human prostatic carcinoma cells. International journal of cancer 118 (3):609-615. doi:10.1002/ijc.21411

25. Franklin RB, Milon B, Feng P, Costello LC (2005) Zinc and zinc transporters in normal prostate and the pathogenesis of prostate cancer. Frontiers in bioscience : a journal and virtual library 10:2230-2239

26. Costello LC, Liu Y, Franklin RB, Kennedy MC (1997) Zinc inhibition of mitochondrial aconitase and its importance in citrate metabolism of prostate epithelial cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 272 (46):28875-28881. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.46.28875

27. Franz MC, Anderle P, Bürzle M, Suzuki Y, Freeman MR, Hediger MA, Kovacs G (2013) Zinc transporters in prostate cancer. Molecular Aspects of Medicine 34 (2):735-741. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2012.11.007

28. Franklin RB, Zou J, Yu Z, Costello LC (2006) EAAC1 is expressed in rat and human prostate epithelial cells; functions as a high-affinity L-aspartate transporter; and is regulated by prolactin and testosterone. BMC biochemistry 7:10. doi:10.1186/1471-2091-7-10

29. Costello LC, Franklin RB (1989) Prostate epithelial cells utilize glucose and aspartate as the carbon sources for net citrate production. The Prostate 15 (4):335-342

30. Costello LC, Lao L, Franklin R (1993) Citrate modulation of high-affinity aspartate transport in prostate epithelial cells. Cellular and molecular biology (Noisy-le-Grand, France) 39 (5):515-524

31. Harkonen PL, Kostian ML, Santti RS (1982) Indirect androgenic control of citrate accumulation in rat ventral prostate. Archives of andrology 8 (2):107-116

32. Lao L, Franklin RB, Costello LC (1993) High-affinity L-aspartate transporter in prostate epithelial cells that is regulated by testosterone. The Prostate 22 (1):53-63. doi:10.1002/pros.2990220108

33. Harkonen P (1981) Androgenic control of glycolysis, the pentose cycle and pyruvate dehydrogenase in the rat ventral prostate. Journal of steroid biochemistry 14 (10):1075-1084

34. Halliday KR, Fenoglio-Preiser C, Sillerud LO (1988) Differentiation of human tumors from nonmalignant tissue by natural-abundance 13C NMR spectroscopy. Magnetic resonance in medicine 7 (4):384-411

35. Mycielska ME, Broke-Smith TP, Palmer CP, Beckerman R, Nastos T, Erguler K, Djamgoz MB (2006) Citrate enhances in vitro metastatic behaviours of PC-3M human prostate cancer cells: status of endogenous citrate and dependence on aconitase and fatty acid synthase. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 38 (10):1766-1777. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2006.04.008

36. Cutruzzola F, Giardina G, Marani M, Macone A, Paiardini A, Rinaldo S, Paone A (2017) Glucose Metabolism in the Progression of Prostate Cancer. Front Physiol 8:97. doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00097

37. Warburg O, Wind F, Negelein E (1927) The metabolism of tumors in the body. The Journal of general physiology 8 (6):519-530. doi:10.1085/jgp.8.6.519

38. Warburg O (1956) On the origin of cancer cells. Science (New York, NY) 123 (3191):309-314. doi:10.1126/science.123.3191.309

39. Akhenblit PJ, Pagel MD (2016) Recent Advances in Targeting Tumor Energy Metabolism with Tumor Acidosis as a Biomarker of Drug Efficacy. Journal of cancer science & therapy 8 (1):20-29. doi:10.4172/1948-5956.1000382

40. Jadvar H (2016) PET of Glucose Metabolism and Cellular Proliferation in Prostate Cancer. J Nucl Med 57 (Suppl 3):25S-29S. doi:10.2967/jnumed.115.170704

41. Vaz CV, Alves MG, Marques R, Moreira PI, Oliveira PF, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2012) Androgenresponsive and nonresponsive prostate cancer cells present a distinct glycolytic metabolism profile. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 44 (11):2077-2084. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.08.013

42. Twum-Ampofo J, Fu DX, Passaniti A, Hussain A, Siddiqui MM (2016) Metabolic targets for potential prostate cancer therapeutics. Current opinion in oncology 28 (3):241-247. doi:10.1097/cco.0000000000000276

43. Jadvar H (2016) Is There Use for FDG-PET in Prostate Cancer? Semin Nucl Med 46 (6):502-506. doi:10.1053/j.semnuclmed.2016.07.004

44. Testa C, Pultrone C, Manners DN, Schiavina R, Lodi R (2016) Metabolic Imaging in Prostate Cancer: Where We Are. Frontiers in oncology 6:225. doi:10.3389/fonc.2016.00225

45. Rezende LP, Galheigo MRU, Landim BC, Cruz AR, Botelho FV, Zanon RG, Goes RM, Ribeiro DL (2019) Effect of glucose and palmitate environment on proliferation and migration of PC3-prostate cancer cells. Cell biology international 43 (4):373-383. doi:10.1002/cbin.11066

46. Biernacka KM, Uzoh CC, Zeng L, Persad RA, Bahl A, Gillatt D, Perks CM, Holly JM (2013) Hyperglycaemia-induced chemoresistance of prostate cancer cells due to IGFBP2. Endocrinerelated cancer 20 (5):741-751. doi:10.1530/erc-13-0077

47. Cardoso HJ, Vaz CV, Carvalho TMA, Figueira MI, Socorro S (2019) Tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib modulates the viability and apoptosis of castrate-resistant prostate cancer cells

dependently on the glycolytic environment. Life sciences 218:274-283. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2018.12.055

48. Li Z, Liu H, Ju W, Xing Y, Zhang X, Yang J (2019) LncRNA GASL1 inhibits growth and promotes expression of apoptosis-associated proteins in prostate carcinoma cells through GLUT-1. Oncology letters 17 (6):5327-5334. doi:10.3892/ol.2019.10244

49. Gonzalez-Menendez P, Hevia D, Alonso-Arias R, Alvarez-Artime A, Rodriguez-Garcia A, Kinet S, Gonzalez-Pola I, Taylor N, Mayo JC, Sainz RM (2018) GLUT1 protects prostate cancer cells from glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress. Redox Biology 17:112-127. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2018.03.017

50. Carvalho KC, Cunha IW, Rocha RM, Ayala FR, Cajaíba MM, Begnami MD, Vilela RS, Paiva GR, Andrade RG, Soares FA (2011) GLUT1 expression in malignant tumors and its use as an immunodiagnostic marker. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 66 (6):965-972. doi:10.1590/s1807-59322011000600008

51. Tian J, Guo F, Chen Y, Li Y, Yu B, Li Y (2019) Nanoliposomal formulation encapsulating celecoxib and genistein inhibiting COX-2 pathway and Glut-1 receptors to prevent prostate cancer cell proliferation. Cancer letters 448:1-10. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2019.01.002

52. Deng Y, Lu J (2015) Targeting hexokinase 2 in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Mol Cell Oncol 2 (3):e974465-e974465. doi:10.4161/23723556.2014.974465

53. Wong N, Yan J, Ojo D, De Melo J, Cutz JC, Tang D (2014) Changes in PKM2 associate with prostate cancer progression. Cancer investigation 32 (7):330-338. doi:10.3109/07357907.2014.919306

54. Ros S, Santos CR, Moco S, Baenke F, Kelly G, Howell M, Zamboni N, Schulze A (2012) Functional metabolic screen identifies 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase 4 as an important regulator of prostate cancer cell survival. Cancer discovery 2 (4):328-343. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.cd-11-0234

55. Wang L, Xiong H, Wu F, Zhang Y, Wang J, Zhao L, Guo X, Chang LJ, Zhang Y, You MJ, Koochekpour S, Saleem M, Huang H, Lu J, Deng Y (2014) Hexokinase 2-mediated Warburg effect is required for PTEN- and p53-deficiency-driven prostate cancer growth. Cell reports 8 (5):1461-1474. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.053

56. Martin PL, Yin JJ, Seng V, Casey O, Corey E, Morrissey C, Simpson RM, Kelly K (2017) Androgen deprivation leads to increased carbohydrate metabolism and hexokinase 2-mediated survival in Pten/Tp53-deficient prostate cancer. Oncogene 36 (4):525-533. doi:10.1038/onc.2016.223

57. Bok R, Lee J, Sriram R, Keshari K, Sukumar S, Daneshmandi S, Korenchan DE, Flavell RR, Vigneron DB, Kurhanewicz J, Seth P (2019) The Role of Lactate Metabolism in Prostate Cancer Progression and Metastases Revealed by Dual-Agent Hyperpolarized (13)C MRSI. Cancers 11 (2):257. doi:10.3390/cancers11020257

58. van der Mijn JC, Kuiper MJ, Siegert CEH, Wassenaar AE, van Noesel CJM, Ogilvie AC (2017) Lactic Acidosis in Prostate Cancer: Consider the Warburg Effect. Case Rep Oncol 10 (3):1085-1091. doi:10.1159/000485242

59. Sanita P, Capulli M, Teti A, Galatioto GP, Vicentini C, Chiarugi P, Bologna M, Angelucci A (2014) Tumor-stroma metabolic relationship based on lactate shuttle can sustain prostate cancer progression. BMC cancer 14:154. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-154

60. Bok R, Lee J, Sriram R, Keshari K, Sukumar S, Daneshmandi S, Korenchan DE, Flavell RR, Vigneron DB, Kurhanewicz J, Seth P (2019) The Role of Lactate Metabolism in Prostate Cancer Progression and Metastases Revealed by Dual-Agent Hyperpolarized (13)C MRSI. Cancers (Basel) 11 (2). doi:10.3390/cancers11020257

61. Xian ZY, Liu JM, Chen QK, Chen HZ, Ye CJ, Xue J, Yang HQ, Li JL, Liu XF, Kuang SJ (2015) Inhibition of LDHA suppresses tumor progression in prostate cancer. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine 36 (10):8093-8100. doi:10.1007/s13277-015-3540-x

62. Pértega-Gomes N, Baltazar F (2014) Lactate transporters in the context of prostate cancer metabolism: what do we know? International journal of molecular sciences 15 (10):18333-18348. doi:10.3390/ijms151018333

63. Fiaschi T, Marini A, Giannoni E, Taddei ML, Gandellini P, De Donatis A, Lanciotti M, Serni S, Cirri P, Chiarugi P (2012) Reciprocal metabolic reprogramming through lactate shuttle coordinately influences tumor-stroma interplay. Cancer research 72 (19):5130-5140. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-12-1949

64. Andersen S, Solstad O, Moi L, Donnem T, Eilertsen M, Nordby Y, Ness N, Richardsen E, Busund LT, Bremnes RM (2015) Organized metabolic crime in prostate cancer: The coexpression of MCT1 in tumor and MCT4 in stroma is an independent prognosticator for biochemical failure. Urologic oncology 33 (8):338.e339-317. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2015.05.013

65. Sun Q, Hu LL, Fu Q (2019) MCT4 promotes cell proliferation and invasion of castrationresistant prostate cancer PC-3 cell line. EXCLI journal 18:187-194. doi:10.17179/excli2018-1879

66. Pertega-Gomes N, Vizcaino JR, Attig J, Jurmeister S, Lopes C, Baltazar F (2014) A lactate shuttle system between tumour and stromal cells is associated with poor prognosis in prostate cancer. BMC cancer 14:352. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-352

67. Giatromanolaki A, Koukourakis MI, Koutsopoulos A, Mendrinos S, Sivridis E (2012) The metabolic interactions between tumor cells and tumor-associated stroma (TAS) in prostatic cancer. Cancer biology & therapy 13 (13):1284-1289. doi:10.4161/cbt.21785

68. Fu YM, Lin H, Liu X, Fang W, Meadows GG (2010) Cell death of prostate cancer cells by specific amino acid restriction depends on alterations of glucose metabolism. Journal of cellular physiology 224 (2):491-500. doi:10.1002/jcp.22148

69. Fu YM, Yu ZX, Lin H, Fu X, Meadows GG (2008) Selective amino acid restriction differentially affects the motility and directionality of DU145 and PC3 prostate cancer cells. Journal of cellular physiology 217 (1):184-193. doi:10.1002/jcp.21490

70. Altman BJ, Stine ZE, Dang CV (2016) From Krebs to clinic: glutamine metabolism to cancer therapy. Nature reviews Cancer 16 (10):619-634. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.71

71. Wahi K, Holst J (2019) ASCT2: a potential cancer drug target. Expert opinion on therapeutic targets 23 (7):555-558. doi:10.1080/14728222.2019.1627328

72. Scalise M, Pochini L, Console L, Losso MA, Indiveri C (2018) The Human SLC1A5 (ASCT2) Amino Acid Transporter: From Function to Structure and Role in Cell Biology. Frontiers in cell and developmental biology 6:96. doi:10.3389/fcell.2018.00096

73. Utsunomiya-Tate N, Endou H, Kanai Y (1996) Cloning and functional characterization of a system ASC-like Na+-dependent neutral amino acid transporter. The Journal of biological chemistry 271 (25):14883-14890. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.25.14883

74. van Geldermalsen M, Wang Q, Nagarajah R, Marshall AD, Thoeng A, Gao D, Ritchie W, Feng Y, Bailey CG, Deng N, Harvey K, Beith JM, Selinger CI, O'Toole SA, Rasko JE, Holst J (2016) ASCT2/SLC1A5 controls glutamine uptake and tumour growth in triple-negative basallike breast cancer. Oncogene 35 (24):3201-3208. doi:10.1038/onc.2015.381

75. Marshall AD, van Geldermalsen M, Otte NJ, Lum T, Vellozzi M, Thoeng A, Pang A, Nagarajah R, Zhang B, Wang Q, Anderson L, Rasko JEJ, Holst J (2017) ASCT2 regulates glutamine uptake and cell growth in endometrial carcinoma. Oncogenesis 6 (7):e367. doi:10.1038/oncsis.2017.70

76. Oka S, Okudaira H, Yoshida Y, Schuster DM, Goodman MM, Shirakami Y (2012) Transport mechanisms of trans-1-amino-3-fluoro[1-(14)C]cyclobutanecarboxylic acid in prostate cancer cells. Nuclear medicine and biology 39 (1):109-119. doi:10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2011.06.008

77. Esslinger CS, Cybulski KA, Rhoderick JF (2005) Ngamma-aryl glutamine analogues as probes of the ASCT2 neutral amino acid transporter binding site. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry 13 (4):1111-1118. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2004.11.028

78. Grewer C, Grabsch E (2004) New inhibitors for the neutral amino acid transporter ASCT2 reveal its Na+-dependent anion leak. The Journal of physiology 557 (Pt 3):747-759. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2004.062521

79. Wang Q, Hardie RA, Hoy AJ, van Geldermalsen M, Gao D, Fazli L, Sadowski MC, Balaban S, Schreuder M, Nagarajah R, Wong JJ, Metierre C, Pinello N, Otte NJ, Lehman ML, Gleave M, Nelson CC, Bailey CG, Ritchie W, Rasko JE, Holst J (2015) Targeting ASCT2-mediated

glutamine uptake blocks prostate cancer growth and tumour development. The Journal of pathology 236 (3):278-289. doi:10.1002/path.4518

80. Li R, Younes M, Frolov A, Wheeler TM, Scardino P, Ohori M, Ayala G (2003) Expression of neutral amino acid transporter ASCT2 in human prostate. Anticancer research 23 (4):3413-3418

81. Gao P, Tchernyshyov I, Chang TC, Lee YS, Kita K, Ochi T, Zeller KI, De Marzo AM, Van Eyk JE, Mendell JT, Dang CV (2009) c-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism. Nature 458 (7239):762-765. doi:10.1038/nature07823

82. Pan T, Gao L, Wu G, Shen G, Xie S, Wen H, Yang J, Zhou Y, Tu Z, Qian W (2015) Elevated expression of glutaminase confers glucose utilization via glutaminolysis in prostate cancer. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 456 (1):452-458. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.11.105

83. Xiang Y, Stine ZE, Xia J, Lu Y, O'Connor RS, Altman BJ, Hsieh AL, Gouw AM, Thomas AG, Gao P, Sun L, Song L, Yan B, Slusher BS, Zhuo J, Ooi LL, Lee CG, Mancuso A, McCallion AS, Le A, Milone MC, Rayport S, Felsher DW, Dang CV (2015) Targeted inhibition of tumor-specific glutaminase diminishes cell-autonomous tumorigenesis. The Journal of clinical investigation 125 (6):2293-2306. doi:10.1172/jci75836

84. Zacharias NM, McCullough C, Shanmugavelandy S, Lee J, Lee Y, Dutta P, McHenry J, Nguyen L, Norton W, Jones LW, Bhattacharya PK (2017) Metabolic Differences in Glutamine Utilization Lead to Metabolic Vulnerabilities in Prostate Cancer. Scientific reports 7 (1):16159. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16327-z

85. Gao P, Tchernyshyov I, Chang T-C, Lee Y-S, Kita K, Ochi T, Zeller KI, De Marzo AM, Van Eyk JE, Mendell JT, Dang CV (2009) c-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism. Nature 458 (7239):762-765. doi:10.1038/nature07823

86. Koochekpour S, Majumdar S, Azabdaftari G, Attwood K, Scioneaux R, Subramani D, Manhardt C, Lorusso GD, Willard SS, Thompson H, Shourideh M, Rezaei K, Sartor O, Mohler JL, Vessella RL (2012) Serum glutamate levels correlate with Gleason score and glutamate blockade decreases proliferation, migration, and invasion and induces apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 18 (21):5888-5901. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-12-1308

87. Tousignant KD, Rockstroh A, Taherian Fard A, Lehman ML, Wang C, McPherson SJ, Philp LK, Bartonicek N, Dinger ME, Nelson CC, Sadowski MC (2019) Lipid Uptake Is an Androgen-Enhanced Lipid Supply Pathway Associated with Prostate Cancer Disease Progression and Bone Metastasis. Molecular cancer research : MCR 17 (5):1166-1179. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-1147 88. Watt MJ, Clark AK, Selth LA, Haynes VR, Lister N, Rebello R, Porter LH, Niranjan B, Whitby ST, Lo J, Huang C, Schittenhelm RB, Anderson KE, Furic L, Wijayaratne PR, Matzaris M, Montgomery MK, Papargiris M, Norden S, Febbraio M, Risbridger GP, Frydenberg M, Nomura DK, Taylor RA (2019) Suppressing fatty acid uptake has therapeutic effects in preclinical models of prostate cancer. Science translational medicine 11 (478). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5758

89. Balaban S, Nassar ZD, Zhang AY, Hosseini-Beheshti E, Centenera MM, Schreuder M, Lin HM, Aishah A, Varney B, Liu-Fu F, Lee LS, Nagarajan SR, Shearer RF, Hardie RA, Raftopulos NL, Kakani MS, Saunders DN, Holst J, Horvath LG, Butler LM, Hoy AJ (2019) Extracellular Fatty Acids Are the Major Contributor to Lipid Synthesis in Prostate Cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR 17 (4):949-962. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-0347

90. Pandian SS, Sneddon AA, Bestwick CS, McClinton S, Grant I, Wahle KW, Heys SD (2001) Fatty acid regulation of protein kinase C isoforms in prostate cancer cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 283 (4):806-812. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.4873

91. Kizilsahin S, Nalbantsoy A, Yavasoglu NU (2015) In vitro synergistic efficacy of conjugated linoleic acid, oleic acid, safflower oil and taxol cytotoxicity on PC3 cells. Natural product research 29 (4):378-382. doi:10.1080/14786419.2014.945172

92. Motaung E, Prinsloo SE, van Aswegen CH, du Toit PJ, Becker PJ, du Plessis DJ (1999) Cytotoxicity of combined essential fatty acids on a human prostate cancer cell line. Prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and essential fatty acids 61 (5):331-337. doi:10.1054/plef.1999.0107

93. Ladanyi A, Mukherjee A, Kenny HA, Johnson A, Mitra AK, Sundaresan S, Nieman KM, Pascual G, Benitah SA, Montag A, Yamada SD, Abumrad NA, Lengyel E (2018) Adipocyteinduced CD36 expression drives ovarian cancer progression and metastasis. Oncogene 37 (17):2285-2301. doi:10.1038/s41388-017-0093-z

94. Pan J, Fan Z, Wang Z, Dai Q, Xiang Z, Yuan F, Yan M, Zhu Z, Liu B, Li C (2019) CD36 mediates palmitate acid-induced metastasis of gastric cancer via AKT/GSK-3beta/beta-catenin pathway. Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research : CR 38 (1):52. doi:10.1186/s13046-019-1049-7

95. Pascual G, Avgustinova A, Mejetta S, Martin M, Castellanos A, Attolini CS, Berenguer A, Prats N, Toll A, Hueto JA, Bescos C, Di Croce L, Benitah SA (2017) Targeting metastasisinitiating cells through the fatty acid receptor CD36. Nature 541 (7635):41-45. doi:10.1038/nature20791

96. Flaig TW, Salzmann-Sullivan M, Su LJ, Zhang Z, Joshi M, Gijon MA, Kim J, Arcaroli JJ, Van Bokhoven A, Lucia MS, La Rosa FG, Schlaepfer IR (2017) Lipid catabolism inhibition sensitizes prostate cancer cells to antiandrogen blockade. Oncotarget 8 (34):56051-56065. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.17359

97. Schlaepfer IR, Rider L, Rodrigues LU, Gijon MA, Pac CT, Romero L, Cimic A, Sirintrapun SJ, Glode LM, Eckel RH, Cramer SD (2014) Lipid catabolism via CPT1 as a therapeutic target for prostate cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (10):2361-2371. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-14-0183

98. Sanders MA, Zhang H, Mladenovic L, Tseng YY, Granneman JG (2017) Molecular Basis of ABHD5 Lipolysis Activation. Scientific reports 7:42589. doi:10.1038/srep42589

99. Mitra R, Le TT, Gorjala P, Goodman OB, Jr. (2017) Positive regulation of prostate cancer cell growth by lipid droplet forming and processing enzymes DGAT1 and ABHD5. BMC cancer 17 (1):631. doi:10.1186/s12885-017-3589-6

100. Chen G, Zhou G, Aras S, He Z, Lucas S, Podgorski I, Skar W, Granneman JG, Wang J (2017) Loss of ABHD5 promotes the aggressiveness of prostate cancer cells. Scientific reports 7 (1):13021. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-13398-w

101. Jarc E, Kump A, Malavasic P, Eichmann TO, Zimmermann R, Petan T (2018) Lipid droplets induced by secreted phospholipase A2 and unsaturated fatty acids protect breast cancer cells from nutrient and lipotoxic stress. Biochimica et biophysica acta Molecular and cell biology of lipids 1863 (3):247-265. doi:10.1016/j.bbalip.2017.12.006

102. Kaini RR, Sillerud LO, Zhaorigetu S, Hu CA (2012) Autophagy regulates lipolysis and cell survival through lipid droplet degradation in androgen-sensitive prostate cancer cells. The Prostate 72 (13):1412-1422. doi:10.1002/pros.22489

103. Liesenfeld DB, Grapov D, Fahrmann JF, Salou M, Scherer D, Toth R, Habermann N, Bohm J, Schrotz-King P, Gigic B, Schneider M, Ulrich A, Herpel E, Schirmacher P, Fiehn O, Lampe JW, Ulrich CM (2015) Metabolomics and transcriptomics identify pathway differences between visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue in colorectal cancer patients: the ColoCare study. The American journal of clinical nutrition 102 (2):433-443. doi:10.3945/ajcn.114.103804

104. Lee HJ, Li J, Vickman RE, Li J, Liu R, Durkes AC, Elzey BD, Yue S, Liu X, Ratliff TL, Cheng JX (2018) Cholesterol Esterification Inhibition Suppresses Prostate Cancer Metastasis by Impairing the Wnt/beta-catenin Pathway. Molecular cancer research : MCR 16 (6):974-985. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-17-0665

105. Yue S, Li J, Lee SY, Lee HJ, Shao T, Song B, Cheng L, Masterson TA, Liu X, Ratliff TL, Cheng JX (2014) Cholesteryl ester accumulation induced by PTEN loss and PI3K/AKT activation underlies human prostate cancer aggressiveness. Cell metabolism 19 (3):393-406. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2014.01.019

106. Li N, Lizardo DY, Atilla-Gokcumen GE (2016) Specific Triacylglycerols Accumulate via Increased Lipogenesis During 5-FU-Induced Apoptosis. ACS chemical biology 11 (9):2583-2587. doi:10.1021/acschembio.6b00410

107. Shah S, Carriveau WJ, Li J, Campbell SL, Kopinski PK, Lim HW, Daurio N, Trefely S, Won KJ, Wallace DC, Koumenis C, Mancuso A, Wellen KE (2016) Targeting ACLY sensitizes

castration-resistant prostate cancer cells to AR antagonism by impinging on an ACLY-AMPK-AR feedback mechanism. Oncotarget 7 (28):43713-43730. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.9666

108. Beckers A, Organe S, Timmermans L, Scheys K, Peeters A, Brusselmans K, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2007) Chemical inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase induces growth arrest and cytotoxicity selectively in cancer cells. Cancer research 67 (17):8180-8187. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-07-0389

109. Hamada S, Horiguchi A, Kuroda K, Ito K, Asano T, Miyai K, Iwaya K (2014) Increased fatty acid synthase expression in prostate biopsy cores predicts higher Gleason score in radical prostatectomy specimen. BMC clinical pathology 14 (1):3. doi:10.1186/1472-6890-14-3

110. Hamada S, Horiguchi A, Kuroda K, Ito K, Asano T, Miyai K, Iwaya K (2014) Elevated fatty acid synthase expression in prostate needle biopsy cores predicts upgraded Gleason score in radical prostatectomy specimens. The Prostate 74 (1):90-96. doi:10.1002/pros.22732

111. Yoshii Y, Furukawa T, Oyama N, Hasegawa Y, Kiyono Y, Nishii R, Waki A, Tsuji AB, Sogawa C, Wakizaka H, Fukumura T, Yoshii H, Fujibayashi Y, Lewis JS, Saga T (2013) Fatty acid synthase is a key target in multiple essential tumor functions of prostate cancer: uptake of radiolabeled acetate as a predictor of the targeted therapy outcome. PloS one 8 (5):e64570. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0064570

112. Migita T, Ruiz S, Fornari A, Fiorentino M, Priolo C, Zadra G, Inazuka F, Grisanzio C, Palescandolo E, Shin E, Fiore C, Xie W, Kung AL, Febbo PG, Subramanian A, Mucci L, Ma J, Signoretti S, Stampfer M, Hahn WC, Finn S, Loda M (2009) Fatty acid synthase: a metabolic enzyme and candidate oncogene in prostate cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 101 (7):519-532. doi:10.1093/jnci/djp030

113. Madigan AA, Rycyna KJ, Parwani AV, Datiri YJ, Basudan AM, Sobek KM, Cummings JL, Basse PH, Bacich DJ, O'Keefe DS (2014) Novel nuclear localization of fatty acid synthase correlates with prostate cancer aggressiveness. Am J Pathol 184 (8):2156-2162. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.04.012

114. Swinnen JV, Roskams T, Joniau S, Van Poppel H, Oyen R, Baert L, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (2002) Overexpression of fatty acid synthase is an early and common event in the development of prostate cancer. International journal of cancer 98 (1):19-22

115. Rossi S, Graner E, Febbo P, Weinstein L, Bhattacharya N, Onody T, Bubley G, Balk S, Loda M (2003) Fatty acid synthase expression defines distinct molecular signatures in prostate cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR 1 (10):707-715

116. Baron A, Migita T, Tang D, Loda M (2004) Fatty acid synthase: a metabolic oncogene in prostate cancer? Journal of cellular biochemistry 91 (1):47-53. doi:10.1002/jcb.10708

117. Fritz V, Benfodda Z, Henriquet C, Hure S, Cristol JP, Michel F, Carbonneau MA, Casas F, Fajas L (2013) Metabolic intervention on lipid synthesis converging pathways abrogates prostate cancer growth. Oncogene 32 (42):5101-5110. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.523

118. Scaglia N, Chisholm JW, Igal RA (2009) Inhibition of stearoylCoA desaturase-1 inactivates acetyl-CoA carboxylase and impairs proliferation in cancer cells: role of AMPK. PloS one 4 (8):e6812. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006812

119. Moore S, Knudsen B, True LD, Hawley S, Etzioni R, Wade C, Gifford D, Coleman I, Nelson PS (2005) Loss of stearoyl-CoA desaturase expression is a frequent event in prostate carcinoma. International journal of cancer 114 (4):563-571. doi:10.1002/ijc.20773

120. Fritz V, Benfodda Z, Rodier G, Henriquet C, Iborra F, Avances C, Allory Y, de la Taille A, Culine S, Blancou H, Cristol JP, Michel F, Sardet C, Fajas L (2010) Abrogation of de novo lipogenesis by stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 inhibition interferes with oncogenic signaling and blocks prostate cancer progression in mice. Molecular cancer therapeutics 9 (6):1740-1754. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-09-1064

121. Kim SJ, Choi H, Park SS, Chang C, Kim E (2011) Stearoyl CoA desaturase (SCD) facilitates proliferation of prostate cancer cells through enhancement of androgen receptor transactivation. Molecules and cells 31 (4):371-377. doi:10.1007/s10059-011-0043-5

122. Audet-Walsh E, Vernier M, Yee T, Laflamme C, Li S, Chen Y, Giguere V (2018) SREBF1 Activity Is Regulated by an AR/mTOR Nuclear Axis in Prostate Cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR 16 (9):1396-1405. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-17-0410

123. Murtola TJ, Kasurinen TVJ, Talala K, Taari K, Tammela TLJ, Auvinen A (2019) Serum cholesterol and prostate cancer risk in the Finnish randomized study of screening for prostate cancer. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 22 (1):66-76. doi:10.1038/s41391-018-0087-0

124. Jeon JC, Park J, Park S, Moon KH, Cheon SH, Park S (2016) Hypercholesterolemia Is Associated with a Shorter Time to Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer in Patients Who Have Undergone Androgen Deprivation Therapy. The world journal of men's health 34 (1):28-33. doi:10.5534/wjmh.2016.34.1.28

125. Magura L, Blanchard R, Hope B, Beal JR, Schwartz GG, Sahmoun AE (2008) Hypercholesterolemia and prostate cancer: a hospital-based case-control study. Cancer causes & control : CCC 19 (10):1259-1266. doi:10.1007/s10552-008-9197-7

126. Moon H, Ruelcke JE, Choi E, Sharpe LJ, Nassar ZD, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H, Parat MO, Shah A, Francois M, Inder KL, Brown AJ, Russell PJ, Parton RG, Hill MM (2015) Diet-induced hypercholesterolemia promotes androgen-independent prostate cancer metastasis via IQGAP1 and caveolin-1. Oncotarget 6 (10):7438-7453. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3476

127. Mostaghel EA, Solomon KR, Pelton K, Freeman MR, Montgomery RB (2012) Impact of circulating cholesterol levels on growth and intratumoral androgen concentration of prostate tumors. PloS one 7 (1):e30062-e30062. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030062

128. Sun Y, Sukumaran P, Varma A, Derry S, Sahmoun AE, Singh BB (2014) Cholesterol-induced activation of TRPM7 regulates cell proliferation, migration, and viability of human prostate cells. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1843 (9):1839-1850. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2014.04.019

129. Raza S, Meyer M, Schommer J, Hammer KD, Guo B, Ghribi O (2016) 27-Hydroxycholesterol stimulates cell proliferation and resistance to docetaxel-induced apoptosis in prostate epithelial cells. Medical oncology (Northwood, London, England) 33 (2):12. doi:10.1007/s12032-015-0725-5

130. Sekine Y, Demosky SJ, Stonik JA, Furuya Y, Koike H, Suzuki K, Remaley AT (2010) Highdensity lipoprotein induces proliferation and migration of human prostate androgenindependent cancer cells by an ABCA1-dependent mechanism. Molecular cancer research : MCR 8 (9):1284-1294. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-10-0008

131. Ifere GO, Barr E, Equan A, Gordon K, Singh UP, Chaudhary J, Igietseme JU, Ananaba GA (2009) Differential effects of cholesterol and phytosterols on cell proliferation, apoptosis and expression of a prostate specific gene in prostate cancer cell lines. Cancer detection and prevention 32 (4):319-328. doi:10.1016/j.cdp.2008.12.002

132. Gallagher EJ, Zelenko Z, Neel BA, Antoniou IM, Rajan L, Kase N, LeRoith D (2017) Elevated tumor LDLR expression accelerates LDL cholesterol-mediated breast cancer growth in mouse models of hyperlipidemia. Oncogene 36 (46):6462-6471. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.247

133. dos Santos CR, Domingues G, Matias I, Matos J, Fonseca I, de Almeida JM, Dias S (2014) LDL-cholesterol signaling induces breast cancer proliferation and invasion. Lipids Health Dis 13:16. doi:10.1186/1476-511x-13-16

134. Furuya Y, Sekine Y, Kato H, Miyazawa Y, Koike H, Suzuki K (2016) Low-density lipoprotein receptors play an important role in the inhibition of prostate cancer cell proliferation by statins. Prostate Int 4 (2):56-60. doi:10.1016/j.prnil.2016.02.003

135. Murtola TJ, Syvala H, Pennanen P, Blauer M, Solakivi T, Ylikomi T, Tammela TL (2012) The importance of LDL and cholesterol metabolism for prostate epithelial cell growth. PloS one 7 (6):e39445. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039445

136. Stopsack KH, Gerke TA, Andren O, Andersson SO, Giovannucci EL, Mucci LA, Rider JR (2017) Cholesterol uptake and regulation in high-grade and lethal prostate cancers. Carcinogenesis 38 (8):806-811. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgx058

137. Kong Y, Cheng L, Mao F, Zhang Z, Zhang Y, Farah E, Bosler J, Bai Y, Ahmad N, Kuang S, Li L, Liu X (2018) Inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis overcomes enzalutamide resistance in castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC). The Journal of biological chemistry 293 (37):14328-14341. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA118.004442

138. Ashida S, Kawada C, Inoue K (2017) Stromal regulation of prostate cancer cell growth by mevalonate pathway enzymes HMGCS1 and HMGCR. Oncology letters 14 (6):6533-6542. doi:10.3892/ol.2017.7025

139. Locke JA, Wasan KM, Nelson CC, Guns ES, Leon CG (2008) Androgen-mediated cholesterol metabolism in LNCaP and PC-3 cell lines is regulated through two different

isoforms of acyl-coenzyme A:Cholesterol Acyltransferase (ACAT). The Prostate 68 (1):20-33. doi:10.1002/pros.20674

140. Stass SA, Mixson J (1997) Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes: therapeutic implications. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 3 (12 Pt 2):2687-2695

141. Hanahan D, Weinberg Robert A (2011) Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell 144 (5):646-674. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

142. Laderoute KR, Amin K, Calaoagan JM, Knapp M, Le T, Orduna J, Foretz M, Viollet B (2006) 5'-AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is induced by low-oxygen and glucose deprivation conditions found in solid-tumor microenvironments. Molecular and cellular biology 26 (14):5336-5347. doi:10.1128/mcb.00166-06

143. Yun H, Kim HS, Lee S, Kang I, Kim SS, Choe W, Ha J (2009) AMP kinase signaling determines whether c-Jun N-terminal kinase promotes survival or apoptosis during glucose deprivation. Carcinogenesis 30 (3):529-537. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgn259

144. White MA, Tsouko E, Lin C, Rajapakshe K, Spencer JM, Wilkenfeld SR, Vakili SS, Pulliam TL, Awad D, Nikolos F, Katreddy RR, Kaipparettu BA, Sreekumar A, Zhang X, Cheung E, Coarfa C, Frigo DE (2018) GLUT12 promotes prostate cancer cell growth and is regulated by androgens and CaMKK2 signaling. Endocrine-related cancer 25 (4):453-469. doi:10.1530/erc-17-0051

145. Zadra G, Photopoulos C, Tyekucheva S, Heidari P, Weng QP, Fedele G, Liu H, Scaglia N, Priolo C, Sicinska E, Mahmood U, Signoretti S, Birnberg N, Loda M (2014) A novel direct activator of AMPK inhibits prostate cancer growth by blocking lipogenesis. EMBO molecular medicine 6 (4):519-538. doi:10.1002/emmm.201302734

146. Xiang X, Saha AK, Wen R, Ruderman NB, Luo Z (2004) AMP-activated protein kinase activators can inhibit the growth of prostate cancer cells by multiple mechanisms. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 321 (1):161-167. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.06.133

147. Zhou J, Huang W, Tao R, Ibaragi S, Lan F, Ido Y, Wu X, Alekseyev YO, Lenburg ME, Hu GF, Luo Z (2009) Inactivation of AMPK alters gene expression and promotes growth of prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 28 (18):1993-2002. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.63

148. Marin-Hernandez A, Gallardo-Perez JC, Ralph SJ, Rodriguez-Enriquez S, Moreno-Sanchez R (2009) HIF-1alpha modulates energy metabolism in cancer cells by inducing over-expression of specific glycolytic isoforms. Mini reviews in medicinal chemistry 9 (9):1084-1101. doi:10.2174/138955709788922610

149. Miska J, Lee-Chang C, Rashidi A, Muroski ME, Chang AL, Lopez-Rosas A, Zhang P, Panek WK, Cordero A, Han Y, Ahmed AU, Chandel NS, Lesniak MS (2019) HIF-1alpha Is a Metabolic Switch between Glycolytic-Driven Migration and Oxidative Phosphorylation-Driven

Immunosuppression of Tregs in Glioblastoma. Cell reports 27 (1):226-237.e224. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.03.029

150. Semenza GL (2007) HIF-1 mediates the Warburg effect in clear cell renal carcinoma. Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes 39 (3):231-234. doi:10.1007/s10863-007-9081-2

151. Tsui KH, Chung LC, Wang SW, Feng TH, Chang PL, Juang HH (2013) Hypoxia upregulates the gene expression of mitochondrial aconitase in prostate carcinoma cells. Journal of molecular endocrinology 51 (1):131-141. doi:10.1530/jme-13-0090

152. Chen Z, Trotman LC, Shaffer D, Lin H-K, Dotan ZA, Niki M, Koutcher JA, Scher HI, Ludwig T, Gerald W, Cordon-Cardo C, Paolo Pandolfi P (2005) Crucial role of p53-dependent cellular senescence in suppression of Pten-deficient tumorigenesis. Nature 436 (7051):725-730. doi:10.1038/nature03918

153. Lunardi A, Ala U, Epping MT, Salmena L, Clohessy JG, Webster KA, Wang G, Mazzucchelli R, Bianconi M, Stack EC, Lis R, Patnaik A, Cantley LC, Bubley G, Cordon-Cardo C, Gerald WL, Montironi R, Signoretti S, Loda M, Nardella C, Pandolfi PP (2013) A co-clinical approach identifies mechanisms and potential therapies for androgen deprivation resistance in prostate cancer. Nature Genetics 45:747. doi:10.1038/ng.2650

154. Lee SH, Johnson D, Luong R, Sun Z (2015) Crosstalking between androgen and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways in prostate cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 290 (5):2759-2768. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.607846

155. Crumbaker M, Khoja L, Joshua AM (2017) AR Signaling and the PI3K Pathway in Prostate Cancer. Cancers 9 (4):34. doi:10.3390/cancers9040034

156. Majumder PK, Sellers WR (2005) Akt-regulated pathways in prostate cancer. Oncogene 24 (50):7465-7474. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209096

157. Zhou X, Yang X, Sun X, Xu X, Li X, Guo Y, Wang J, Li X, Yao L, Wang H, Shen L (2019) Effect of PTEN loss on metabolic reprogramming in prostate cancer cells. Oncology letters 17 (3):2856-2866. doi:10.3892/ol.2019.9932

158. Weber A, Klocker H, Oberacher H, Gnaiger E, Neuwirt H, Sampson N, Eder IE (2018) Succinate Accumulation Is Associated with a Shift of Mitochondrial Respiratory Control and HIF-1alpha Upregulation in PTEN Negative Prostate Cancer Cells. International journal of molecular sciences 19 (7). doi:10.3390/ijms19072129

159. Naguib A, Mathew G, Reczek CR, Watrud K, Ambrico A, Herzka T, Salas IC, Lee MF, El-Amine N, Zheng W, Di Francesco ME, Marszalek JR, Pappin DJ, Chandel NS, Trotman LC (2018) Mitochondrial Complex I Inhibitors Expose a Vulnerability for Selective Killing of Pten-Null Cells. Cell reports 23 (1):58-67. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2018.03.032

160. Priolo C, Pyne S, Rose J, Regan ER, Zadra G, Photopoulos C, Cacciatore S, Schultz D, Scaglia N, McDunn J, De Marzo AM, Loda M (2014) AKT1 and MYC induce distinctive metabolic

fingerprints in human prostate cancer. Cancer research 74 (24):7198-7204. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-14-1490

161. Tee SS, Suster I, Truong S, Jeong S, Eskandari R, DiGialleonardo V, Alvarez JA, Aldeborgh HN, Keshari KR (2018) Targeted AKT Inhibition in Prostate Cancer Cells and Spheroids Reduces Aerobic Glycolysis and Generation of Hyperpolarized [1-(13)C] Lactate. Molecular cancer research : MCR 16 (3):453-460. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-17-0458

162. Al-Saffar NMS, Troy H, Wong Te Fong AC, Paravati R, Jackson LE, Gowan S, Boult JKR, Robinson SP, Eccles SA, Yap TA, Leach MO, Chung YL (2018) Metabolic biomarkers of response to the AKT inhibitor MK-2206 in pre-clinical models of human colorectal and prostate carcinoma. British journal of cancer 119 (9):1118-1128. doi:10.1038/s41416-018-0242-3

163. Wen S, Niu Y, Lee SO, Yeh S, Shang Z, Gao H, Li Y, Chou F, Chang C (2016) Targeting fatty acid synthase with ASC-J9 suppresses proliferation and invasion of prostate cancer cells. Molecular carcinogenesis 55 (12):2278-2290. doi:10.1002/mc.22468

164. Van de Sande T, De Schrijver E, Heyns W, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2002) Role of the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/PTEN/Akt kinase pathway in the overexpression of fatty acid synthase in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Cancer research 62 (3):642-646

165. Zhuang L, Lin J, Lu ML, Solomon KR, Freeman MR (2002) Cholesterol-rich lipid rafts mediate akt-regulated survival in prostate cancer cells. Cancer research 62 (8):2227-2231

166. Zhuang L, Kim J, Adam RM, Solomon KR, Freeman MR (2005) Cholesterol targeting alters lipid raft composition and cell survival in prostate cancer cells and xenografts. The Journal of clinical investigation 115 (4):959-968. doi:10.1172/jci19935

167. Barfeld SJ, Urbanucci A, Itkonen HM, Fazli L, Hicks JL, Thiede B, Rennie PS, Yegnasubramanian S, DeMarzo AM, Mills IG (2017) c-Myc Antagonises the Transcriptional Activity of the Androgen Receptor in Prostate Cancer Affecting Key Gene Networks. EBioMedicine 18:83-93. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.04.006

168. Bai S, Cao S, Jin L, Kobelski M, Schouest B, Wang X, Ungerleider N, Baddoo M, Zhang W, Corey E, Vessella RL, Dong X, Zhang K, Yu X, Flemington EK, Dong Y (2019) A positive role of c-Myc in regulating androgen receptor and its splice variants in prostate cancer. Oncogene. doi:10.1038/s41388-019-0768-8

169. Camarda R, Williams J, Goga A (2017) In vivo Reprogramming of Cancer Metabolism by MYC. Frontiers in cell and developmental biology 5:35. doi:10.3389/fcell.2017.00035

170. White MA, Lin C, Rajapakshe K, Dong J, Shi Y, Tsouko E, Mukhopadhyay R, Jasso D, Dawood W, Coarfa C, Frigo DE (2017) Glutamine Transporters Are Targets of Multiple Oncogenic Signaling Pathways in Prostate Cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR 15 (8):1017-1028. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-16-0480

171. Qu X, Sun J, Zhang Y, Li J, Hu J, Li K, Gao L, Shen L (2018) c-Myc-driven glycolysis via TXNIP suppression is dependent on glutaminase-MondoA axis in prostate cancer. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 504 (2):415-421. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.08.069

172. Li X, Wu JB, Li Q, Shigemura K, Chung LW, Huang WC (2016) SREBP-2 promotes stem cell-like properties and metastasis by transcriptional activation of c-Myc in prostate cancer. Oncotarget 7 (11):12869-12884. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.7331

173. Brown MS, Radhakrishnan A, Goldstein JL (2018) Retrospective on Cholesterol Homeostasis: The Central Role of Scap. Annual review of biochemistry 87:783-807. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-062917-011852

174. Prabhu AV, Krycer JR, Brown AJ (2013) Overexpression of a key regulator of lipid homeostasis, Scap, promotes respiration in prostate cancer cells. FEBS letters 587 (7):983-988. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2013.02.040

175. Li X, Chen YT, Hu P, Huang WC (2014) Fatostatin displays high antitumor activity in prostate cancer by blocking SREBP-regulated metabolic pathways and androgen receptor signaling. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (4):855-866. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-13-0797

176. Swinnen JV, Heemers H, Deboel L, Foufelle F, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (2000) Stimulation of tumor-associated fatty acid synthase expression by growth factor activation of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein pathway. Oncogene 19 (45):5173-5181. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203889

177. Huang WC, Li X, Liu J, Lin J, Chung LW (2012) Activation of androgen receptor, lipogenesis, and oxidative stress converged by SREBP-1 is responsible for regulating growth and progression of prostate cancer cells. Molecular cancer research : MCR 10 (1):133-142. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-11-0206

178. Chen M, Zhang J, Sampieri K, Clohessy JG, Mendez L, Gonzalez-Billalabeitia E, Liu XS, Lee YR, Fung J, Katon JM, Menon AV, Webster KA, Ng C, Palumbieri MD, Diolombi MS, Breitkopf SB, Teruya-Feldstein J, Signoretti S, Bronson RT, Asara JM, Castillo-Martin M, Cordon-Cardo C, Pandolfi PP (2018) An aberrant SREBP-dependent lipogenic program promotes metastatic prostate cancer. Nat Genet 50 (2):206-218. doi:10.1038/s41588-017-0027-2

179. Li X, Wu JB, Chung LW, Huang WC (2015) Anti-cancer efficacy of SREBP inhibitor, alone or in combination with docetaxel, in prostate cancer harboring p53 mutations. Oncotarget 6 (38):41018-41032. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.5879

180. Muller PA, Vousden KH (2013) p53 mutations in cancer. Nat Cell Biol 15 (1):2-8. doi:10.1038/ncb2641

181. Kruiswijk F, Labuschagne CF, Vousden KH (2015) p53 in survival, death and metabolic health: a lifeguard with a licence to kill. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology 16 (7):393-405. doi:10.1038/nrm4007

182. Liu J, Zhang C, Hu W, Feng Z (2015) Tumor suppressor p53 and its mutants in cancer metabolism. Cancer letters 356 (2 Pt A):197-203. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.12.025

183. Chen L, Ahmad N, Liu X (2016) Combining p53 stabilizers with metformin induces synergistic apoptosis through regulation of energy metabolism in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Cell cycle (Georgetown, Tex) 15 (6):840-849. doi:10.1080/15384101.2016.1151582

184. Yahagi N, Shimano H, Matsuzaka T, Najima Y, Sekiya M, Nakagawa Y, Ide T, Tomita S, Okazaki H, Tamura Y, Iizuka Y, Ohashi K, Gotoda T, Nagai R, Kimura S, Ishibashi S, Osuga J, Yamada N (2003) p53 Activation in adipocytes of obese mice. The Journal of biological chemistry 278 (28):25395-25400. doi:10.1074/jbc.M302364200

185. Banerjee PP, Banerjee S, Brown TR, Zirkin BR (2018) Androgen action in prostate function and disease. American journal of clinical and experimental urology 6 (2):62-77

186. Zhou Y, Bolton EC, Jones JO (2015) Androgens and androgen receptor signaling in prostate tumorigenesis. 54 (1):R15. doi:10.1530/jme-14-0203

187. Davey RA, Grossmann M (2016) Androgen Receptor Structure, Function and Biology: From Bench to Bedside. Clin Biochem Rev 37 (1):3-15

188. Massie CE, Lynch A, Ramos-Montoya A, Boren J, Stark R, Fazli L, Warren A, Scott H, Madhu B, Sharma N, Bon H, Zecchini V, Smith DM, Denicola GM, Mathews N, Osborne M, Hadfield J, Macarthur S, Adryan B, Lyons SK, Brindle KM, Griffiths J, Gleave ME, Rennie PS, Neal DE, Mills IG (2011) The androgen receptor fuels prostate cancer by regulating central metabolism and biosynthesis. The EMBO journal 30 (13):2719-2733. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.158

189. Vaz CV, Marques R, Alves MG, Oliveira PF, Cavaco JE, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2016) Androgens enhance the glycolytic metabolism and lactate export in prostate cancer cells by modulating the expression of GLUT1, GLUT3, PFK, LDH and MCT4 genes. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology 142 (1):5-16. doi:10.1007/s00432-015-1992-4

190. Emonds KM, Swinnen JV, van Weerden WM, Vanderhoydonc F, Nuyts J, Mortelmans L, Mottaghy FM (2011) Do androgens control the uptake of 18F-FDG, 11C-choline and 11Cacetate in human prostate cancer cell lines? European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging 38 (10):1842-1853. doi:10.1007/s00259-011-1861-6

191. Han W, Gao S, Barrett D, Ahmed M, Han D, Macoska JA, He HH, Cai C (2018) Reactivation of androgen receptor-regulated lipid biosynthesis drives the progression of castration-resistant prostate cancer. Oncogene 37 (6):710-721. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.385

192. Swinnen JV, Van Veldhoven PP, Esquenet M, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1996) Androgens markedly stimulate the accumulation of neutral lipids in the human prostatic adenocarcinoma cell line LNCaP. Endocrinology 137 (10):4468-4474. doi:10.1210/endo.137.10.8828509

193. Swinnen JV, Esquenet M, Goossens K, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1997) Androgens stimulate fatty acid synthase in the human prostate cancer cell line LNCaP. Cancer research 57 (6):1086-1090

194. Heemers H, Maes B, Foufelle F, Heyns W, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2001) Androgens stimulate lipogenic gene expression in prostate cancer cells by activation of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein cleavage activating protein/sterol regulatory element-binding protein pathway. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md) 15 (10):1817-1828. doi:10.1210/mend.15.10.0703

195. Swinnen JV, Ulrix W, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1997) Coordinate regulation of lipogenic gene expression by androgens: evidence for a cascade mechanism involving sterol regulatory element binding proteins. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94 (24):12975-12980. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.24.12975

196. Moon JS, Jin WJ, Kwak JH, Kim HJ, Yun MJ, Kim JW, Park SW, Kim KS (2011) Androgen stimulates glycolysis for de novo lipid synthesis by increasing the activities of hexokinase 2 and 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase 2 in prostate cancer cells. The Biochemical journal 433 (1):225-233. doi:10.1042/bj20101104

197. Swinnen JV, Ulrix W, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1997) Coordinate regulation of lipogenic gene expression by androgens: Evidence for a cascade mechanism involving sterol regulatory element binding proteins. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 94 (24):12975-12980. doi:10.1073/pnas.94.24.12975

198. Sharma Naomi L, Massie Charlie E, Ramos-Montoya A, Zecchini V, Scott Helen E, Lamb Alastair D, MacArthur S, Stark R, Warren Anne Y, Mills Ian G, Neal David E (2013) The Androgen Receptor Induces a Distinct Transcriptional Program in Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer in Man. Cancer cell 23 (1):35-47. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.11.010

199. Heemers H, Vanderhoydonc F, Roskams T, Shechter I, Heyns W, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2003) Androgens stimulate coordinated lipogenic gene expression in normal target tissues in vivo. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 205 (1-2):21-31

200. Leon CG, Locke JA, Adomat HH, Etinger SL, Twiddy AL, Neumann RD, Nelson CC, Guns ES, Wasan KM (2010) Alterations in cholesterol regulation contribute to the production of intratumoral androgens during progression to castration-resistant prostate cancer in a mouse xenograft model. The Prostate 70 (4):390-400. doi:10.1002/pros.21072

201. Allott EH, Masko EM, Freedland AR, Macias E, Pelton K, Solomon KR, Mostaghel EA, Thomas GV, Pizzo SV, Freeman MR, Freedland SJ (2018) Serum cholesterol levels and tumor growth in a PTEN-null transgenic mouse model of prostate cancer. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 21 (2):196-203. doi:10.1038/s41391-018-0045-x

202. Pinthus JH, Lu J-P, Bidaisee LA, Lin H, Bryskine I, Gupta RS, Singh G (2007) Androgendependent regulation of medium and long chain fatty acids uptake in prostate cancer. The Prostate 67 (12):1330-1338. doi:10.1002/pros.20609 203. Tousignant KD, Rockstroh A, Taherian Fard A, Lehman ML, Wang C, McPherson SJ, Philp LK, Bartonicek N, Dinger ME, Nelson CC, Sadowski MC (2019) Lipid Uptake Is an Androgen-Enhanced Lipid Supply Pathway Associated with Prostate Cancer Disease Progression and Bone Metastasis. Molecular Cancer Research 17 (5):1166-1179. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-1147

204. Kaini RR, Sillerud LO, Zhaorigetu S, Hu C-AA (2012) Autophagy regulates lipolysis and cell survival through lipid droplet degradation in androgen-sensitive prostate cancer cells. The Prostate 72 (13):1412-1422. doi:10.1002/pros.22489

205. O'Reilly MW, House PJ, Tomlinson JW (2014) Understanding androgen action in adipose tissue. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 143:277-284. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.04.008

206. Costello LC, Liu Y, Zou J, Franklin RB (2000) Mitochondrial aconitase gene expression is regulated by testosterone and prolactin in prostate epithelial cells. The Prostate 42 (3):196-202. doi:10.1002/(sici)1097-0045(20000215)42:3<196::aid-pros5>3.0.co;2-8

207. Ono M, Oka S, Okudaira H, Nakanishi T, Mizokami A, Kobayashi M, Schuster DM, Goodman MM, Shirakami Y, Kawai K (2015) [(14)C]Fluciclovine (alias anti-[(14)C]FACBC) uptake and ASCT2 expression in castration-resistant prostate cancer cells. Nuclear medicine and biology 42 (11):887-892. doi:10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2015.07.005

208. Reis LO, Zani EL, Garcia-Perdomo HA (2018) Estrogen therapy in patients with prostate cancer: a contemporary systematic review. International urology and nephrology 50 (6):993-1003. doi:10.1007/s11255-018-1854-5

209. Figueira MI, Correia S, Vaz CV, Cardoso HJ, Gomes IM, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2016) Estrogens down-regulate the stem cell factor (SCF)/c-KIT system in prostate cells: Evidence of antiproliferative and proapoptotic effects. Biochemical pharmacology 99:73-87. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2015.11.016

210. Carruba G (2007) Estrogen and prostate cancer: An eclipsed truth in an androgendominated scenario. Journal of cellular biochemistry 102 (4):899-911. doi:10.1002/jcb.21529

211. Arnold JT, Le H, McFann KK, Blackman MR (2005) Comparative effects of DHEA vs. testosterone, dihydrotestosterone, and estradiol on proliferation and gene expression in human LNCaP prostate cancer cells. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism 288 (3):E573-E584. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00454.2004

212. Ellem SJ, Risbridger GP (2009) The Dual, Opposing Roles of Estrogen in the Prostate. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1155 (1):174-186. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04360.x

213. Risbridger GP, Ellem SJ, McPherson SJ Estrogen action on the prostate gland: a critical mix of endocrine and paracrine signaling. 39 (3):183. doi:10.1677/jme-07-0053

214. Gandhi N, Das GM (2019) Metabolic Reprogramming in Breast Cancer and Its Therapeutic Implications. Cells 8 (2). doi:10.3390/cells8020089

215. Takizawa I, Lawrence MG, Balanathan P, Rebello R, Pearson HB, Garg E, Pedersen J, Pouliot N, Nadon R, Watt MJ, Taylor RA, Humbert P, Topisirovic I, Larsson O, Risbridger GP, Furic L (2015) Estrogen receptor alpha drives proliferation in PTEN-deficient prostate carcinoma by stimulating survival signaling, MYC expression and altering glucose sensitivity. Oncotarget 6 (2):604-616. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2820

216. Purnell JQ, Bland LB, Garzotto M, Lemmon D, Wersinger EM, Ryan CW, Brunzell JD, Beer TM (2006) Effects of transdermal estrogen on levels of lipids, lipase activity, and inflammatory markers in men with prostate cancer. Journal of lipid research 47 (2):349-355. doi:10.1194/jlr.M500276-JLR200

217. Mahira S, Kommineni N, Husain GM, Khan W (2019) Cabazitaxel and silibinin coencapsulated cationic liposomes for CD44 targeted delivery: A new insight into nanomedicine based combinational chemotherapy for prostate cancer. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 110:803-817

218. Ting H, Deep G, Agarwal R (2013) Molecular mechanisms of silibinin-mediated cancer chemoprevention with major emphasis on prostate cancer. The AAPS journal 15 (3):707-716

219. Kim S-H, Kim K-Y, Yu S-N, Seo Y-K, Chun S-S, Yu H-S, Ahn S-C (2016) Silibinin induces mitochondrial NOX4-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress response and its subsequent apoptosis. BMC cancer 16 (1):452

220. Wu K-j, Zeng J, Zhu G-d, Zhang L-l, Zhang D, Li L, Fan J-h, Wang X-y, He D-l (2009) Silibinin inhibits prostate cancer invasion, motility and migration by suppressing vimentin and MMP-2 expression. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica 30 (8):1162

221. Anestopoulos I, Sfakianos A, Franco R, Chlichlia K, Panayiotidis M, Kroll D, Pappa A (2017) A novel role of silibinin as a putative epigenetic modulator in human prostate carcinoma. Molecules 22 (1):62

222. Vue B, Zhang S, Vignau A, Chen G, Zhang X, Diaz W, Zhang Q, Zheng S, Wang G, Chen Q-H (2018) O-Aminoalkyl-O-Trimethyl-2, 3-Dehydrosilybins: Synthesis and In Vitro Effects Towards Prostate Cancer Cells. Molecules 23 (12):3142

223. Deep G, Kumar R, Jain AK, Agarwal C, Agarwal R (2014) Silibinin inhibits fibronectin induced motility, invasiveness and survival in human prostate carcinoma PC3 cells via targeting integrin signaling. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 768:35-46

224. Nambiar DK, Rajamani P, Deep G, Jain AK, Agarwal R, Singh RP (2015) Silibinin preferentially radiosensitizes prostate cancer by inhibiting DNA repair signaling. Molecular cancer therapeutics 14 (12):2722-2734

225. Vue B, Zhang X, Lee T, Nair N, Zhang S, Chen G, Zhang Q, Zheng S, Wang G, Chen Q-H (2017) 5-or/and 20-O-Alkyl-2, 3-dehydrosilybins: Synthesis and biological profiles on prostate cancer cell models. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry 25 (17):4845-4854

226. Deep G, Kumar R, Nambiar DK, Jain AK, Ramteke AM, Serkova NJ, Agarwal C, Agarwal R (2017) Silibinin inhibits hypoxia-induced HIF-1α-mediated signaling, angiogenesis and lipogenesis in prostate cancer cells: In vitro evidence and in vivo functional imaging and metabolomics. Molecular carcinogenesis 56 (3):833-848

227. Nambiar DK, Deep G, Singh RP, Agarwal C, Agarwal R (2014) Silibinin inhibits aberrant lipid metabolism, proliferation and emergence of androgen-independence in prostate cancer cells via primarily targeting the sterol response element binding protein 1. Oncotarget 5 (20):10017

228. Prajapati V, Kale RK, Singh RP (2015) Silibinin combination with arsenic strongly inhibits survival and invasiveness of human prostate carcinoma cells. Nutrition and cancer 67 (4):647-658

229. Raina K, Blouin M-J, Singh RP, Majeed N, Deep G, Varghese L, Glodé LM, Greenberg NM, Hwang D, Cohen P (2007) Dietary feeding of silibinin inhibits prostate tumor growth and progression in transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate model. Cancer research 67 (22):11083-11091

230. Deep G, Raina K, Singh RP, Oberlies NH, Kroll DJ, Agarwal R (2008) Isosilibinin inhibits advanced human prostate cancer growth in athymic nude mice: comparison with silymarin and silibinin. International journal of cancer 123 (12):2750-2758

231. Raina K, Rajamanickam S, Singh RP, Deep G, Chittezhath M, Agarwal R (2008) Stagespecific inhibitory effects and associated mechanisms of silibinin on tumor progression and metastasis in transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate model. Cancer research 68 (16):6822-6830

232. Singh RP, Raina K, Sharma G, Agarwal R (2008) Silibinin inhibits established prostate tumor growth, progression, invasion, and metastasis and suppresses tumor angiogenesis and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in transgenic adenocarcinoma of the mouse prostate model mice. Clinical Cancer Research 14 (23):7773-7780

233. Raina K, Serkova NJ, Agarwal R (2009) Silibinin feeding alters the metabolic profile in TRAMP prostatic tumors: 1H-NMRS-based metabolomics study. Cancer research 69 (9):3731-3735

234. Erdogan S, Turkekul K, Serttas R, Erdogan Z (2017) The natural flavonoid apigenin sensitizes human CD44+ prostate cancer stem cells to cisplatin therapy. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 88:210-217

235. Erdogan S, Turkekul K, Dibirdik I, Doganlar ZB, Doganlar O, Bilir A (2019) Midkine silencing enhances the anti-prostate cancer stem cell activity of the flavone apigenin: cooperation on signaling pathways regulated by ERK, p38, PTEN, PARP, and NF-κB. Investigational new drugs:1-18

236. Chien M-H, Lin Y-W, Wen Y-C, Yang Y-C, Hsiao M, Chang J-L, Huang H-C, Lee W-J (2019) Targeting the SPOCK1-snail/slug axis-mediated epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition by apigenin contributes to repression of prostate cancer metastasis. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research 38 (1):246

237. Kaur P, Shukla S, Gupta S (2008) Plant flavonoid apigenin inactivates Akt to trigger apoptosis in human prostate cancer: an in vitro and in vivo study. Carcinogenesis 29 (11):2210-2217

238. Franzen CA, Amargo E, Todorović V, Desai BV, Huda S, Mirzoeva S, Chiu K, Grzybowski BA, Chew T-L, Green KJ (2009) The chemopreventive bioflavonoid apigenin inhibits prostate cancer cell motility through the focal adhesion kinase/Src signaling mechanism. Cancer prevention research 2 (9):830-841

239. Gonzalez-Menendez P, Hevia D, Rodriguez-Garcia A, Mayo JC, Sainz RM (2014) Regulation of GLUT transporters by flavonoids in androgen-sensitive and-insensitive prostate cancer cells. Endocrinology 155 (9):3238-3250

240. Seo YJ, Kim BS, Chun SY, Park YK, Kang KS, Kwon TG (2011) Apoptotic effects of genistein, biochanin-A and apigenin on LNCaP and PC-3 cells by p21 through transcriptional inhibition of polo-like kinase-1. Journal of Korean medical science 26 (11):1489-1494

241. Mirzoeva S, Franzen CA, Pelling JC (2014) Apigenin inhibits TGF-B-induced VEGF expression in human prostate carcinoma cells via a Smad2/3-and Src-dependent mechanism. Molecular carcinogenesis 53 (8):598-609

242. Zhu Y, Wu J, Li S, Wang X, Liang Z, Xu X, Xu X, Hu Z, Lin Y, Chen H (2015) Apigenin inhibits migration and invasion via modulation of epithelial mesenchymal transition in prostate cancer. Molecular medicine reports 11 (2):1004-1008

243. Shukla S, Gupta S (2008) Apigenin-induced prostate cancer cell death is initiated by reactive oxygen species and p53 activation. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 44 (10):1833-1845

244. Shukla S, Fu P, Gupta S (2014) Apigenin induces apoptosis by targeting inhibitor of apoptosis proteins and Ku70-Bax interaction in prostate cancer. Apoptosis 19 (5):883-894

245. Pandey M, Kaur P, Shukla S, Abbas A, Fu P, Gupta S (2012) Plant flavone apigenin inhibits HDAC and remodels chromatin to induce growth arrest and apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells: in vitro and in vivo study. Molecular carcinogenesis 51 (12):952-962

246. Shukla S, Kanwal R, Shankar E, Datt M, Chance MR, Fu P, MacLennan GT, Gupta S (2015) Apigenin blocks IKKα activation and suppresses prostate cancer progression. Oncotarget 6 (31):31216

247. Oishi M, Iizumi Y, Taniguchi T, Goi W, Miki T, Sakai T (2013) Apigenin sensitizes prostate cancer cells to Apo2L/TRAIL by targeting adenine nucleotide translocase-2. PLoS One 8 (2):e55922

248. Singh V, Sharma V, Verma V, Pandey D, Yadav SK, Maikhuri JP, Gupta G (2015) Apigenin manipulates the ubiquitin-proteasome system to rescue estrogen receptor-B from degradation and induce apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. European journal of nutrition 54 (8):1255-1267

249. Shukla S, MacLennan GT, Flask CA, Fu P, Mishra A, Resnick MI, Gupta S (2007) Blockade of B-catenin signaling by plant flavonoid apigenin suppresses prostate carcinogenesis in TRAMP mice. Cancer research 67 (14):6925-6935

250. Shukla S, Bhaskaran N, Babcook MA, Fu P, MacLennan GT, Gupta S (2013) Apigenin inhibits prostate cancer progression in TRAMP mice via targeting PI3K/Akt/FoxO pathway. Carcinogenesis 35 (2):452-460

251. Shukla S, Shankar E, Fu P, MacLennan GT, Gupta S (2015) Suppression of NF- κ B and NF- κ B-regulated gene expression by apigenin through I κ B α and IKK pathway in TRAMP mice. PLoS One 10 (9):e0138710

252. Ikezoe T, Hisatake Y, Takeuchi T, Ohtsuki Y, Yang Y, Said JW, Taguchi H, Koeffler HP (2004) HIV-1 protease inhibitor, ritonavir: a potent inhibitor of CYP3A4, enhanced the anticancer effects of docetaxel in androgen-independent prostate cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. Cancer research 64 (20):7426-7431

253. Flaig TW, Gustafson DL, Su L-J, Zirrolli JA, Crighton F, Harrison GS, Pierson AS, Agarwal R, Glodé LM (2007) A phase I and pharmacokinetic study of silybin-phytosome in prostate cancer patients. Investigational new drugs 25 (2):139-146

254. Flaig TW, Glodé M, Gustafson D, van Bokhoven A, Tao Y, Wilson S, Su LJ, Li Y, Harrison G, Agarwal R (2010) A study of high-dose oral silybin-phytosome followed by prostatectomy in patients with localized prostate cancer. The Prostate 70 (8):848-855

255. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00487721.

256. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03136640.

257. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03066154.

258. Farooqi AA, Butt G, Razzaq Z (2012) Algae extracts and methyl jasmonate anti-cancer activities in prostate cancer: choreographers of 'the dance macabre'. Cancer cell international 12 (1):50

259. Ezekwudo DE, Wang RC, Elegbede JA (2007) Methyl jasmonate induced apoptosis in human prostate carcinoma cells via 5-Lipoxygenase dependent pathway. Journal of experimental therapeutics & oncology 6 (4)

260. Ezekwudo D, Shashidharamurthy R, Devineni D, Bozeman E, Palaniappan R, Selvaraj P (2008) Inhibition of expression of anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 and induction of cell death in radioresistant human prostate adenocarcinoma cell line (PC-3) by methyl jasmonate. Cancer letters 270 (2):277-285

261. Yeruva L, Pierre KJ, Bathina M, Elegbede A, Carper SW (2008) Delayed cytotoxic effects of methyl jasmonate and cis-jasmone induced apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Cancer investigation 26 (9):890-899

262. Adaramoye OA, Akanni OO, Abiola OJ, Owumi SE, Akinloye O, Olapade-olaopa EO (2017) Methyl jasmonate reduces testosterone-induced benign prostatic hyperplasia through regulation of inflammatory and apoptotic processes in rats. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 95:1493-1503

263. Liu AG, Juvik JA, Jeffery EH, Berman-Booty LD, Clinton SK, Erdman Jr JW (2014) Enhancement of broccoli indole glucosinolates by methyl jasmonate treatment and effects on prostate carcinogenesis. Journal of medicinal food 17 (11):1177-1182

264. Pichla M, Sroka J, Pienkowska N, Piwowarczyk K, Madeja Z, Bartosz G, Sadowska-Bartosz I (2019) Metastatic prostate cancer cells are highly sensitive to 3-bromopyruvic acid. Life sciences 227:212-223

265. Valenti D, Vacca RA, de Bari L (2015) 3-Bromopyruvate induces rapid human prostate cancer cell death by affecting cell energy metabolism, GSH pool and the glyoxalase system. Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes 47 (6):493-506

266. Dudak SD, Lopez A, Block NL, Lokeshwar BL (1996) Enhancement of radiation response of prostatic carcinoma by lonidamine. Anticancer research 16 (6B):3665-3671

267. Nath K, Nelson DS, Heitjan DF, Leeper DB, Zhou R, Glickson JD (2015) Lonidamine induces intracellular tumor acidification and ATP depletion in breast, prostate and ovarian cancer xenografts and potentiates response to doxorubicin. NMR in Biomedicine 28 (3):281-290

268. Bloch WE, Lokeshwar BL, Ferrell SM, Block NL (1994) Enhancement of hyperthermic toxicity by lonidarnine in the dunning R3327G rat prostatic adenocarcinoma. The Prostate 24 (3):131-138

269. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00633087.

270. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00588185.

271. Boccardo F, Guarneri D, Pace M, Decensi A, Oneto F, Martorana G (1992) Phase II study with lonidamine in the treatment of hormone-refractory prostatic cancer patients. Tumori Journal 78 (2):137-139

272. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00435448.

273. Klein A, Holko P, Ligeza J, Kordowiak AM (2008) Sodium orthovanadate affects growth of some human epithelial cancer cells (A549, HTB44, DU145). Folia biologica 56 (3-4):115-121

274. Gara RK, Srivastava VK, Duggal S, Bagga JK, Bhatt M, Sanyal S, Mishra DP (2015) Shikonin selectively induces apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells through the endoplasmic

reticulum stress and mitochondrial apoptotic pathway. Journal of biomedical science 22 (1):26

275. Jang SY, Jang EH, Jeong SY, Kim J-H (2014) Shikonin inhibits the growth of human prostate cancer cells via modulation of the androgen receptor. International journal of oncology 44 (5):1455-1460

276. Chen Y, Zheng L, Liu J, Zhou Z, Cao X, Lv X, Chen F (2014) Shikonin inhibits prostate cancer cells metastasis by reducing matrix metalloproteinase-2/-9 expression via AKT/mTOR and ROS/ERK1/2 pathways. International immunopharmacology 21 (2):447-455

277. McGregor N, Patel L, Craig M, Weidner S, Wang S, Pienta KJ (2010) AT-101 (R-(-)-gossypol acetic acid) enhances the effectiveness of androgen deprivation therapy in the VCaP prostate cancer model. Journal of cellular biochemistry 110 (5):1187-1194

278. Loberg RD, McGregor N, Ying C, Sargent E, Pienta KJ (2007) In Vivo Evaluation of AT-101 (R-(-)-Gossypol Acetic Acid) in Androgen-Independent Growth of VCaP Prostate Cancer Cells in Combination with Surgical Castration. Neoplasia 9 (12):1030-1037

279. Stein MN, Hussain M, Stadler WM, Liu G, Tereshchenko IV, Goodin S, Jeyamohan C, Kaufman HL, Mehnert J, DiPaola RS (2016) A phase II study of AT-101 to overcome Bcl-2mediated resistance to androgen deprivation therapy in patients with newly diagnosed castration-sensitive metastatic prostate cancer. Clinical genitourinary cancer 14 (1):22-27

280. Liu G, Kelly WK, Wilding G, Leopold L, Brill K, Somer B (2009) An open-label, multicenter, phase I/II study of single-agent AT-101 in men with castrate-resistant prostate cancer. Clinical cancer research 15 (9):3172-3176

281. Sonpavde G, Matveev V, Burke J, Caton J, Fleming M, Hutson T, Galsky M, Berry W, Karlov P, Holmlund J (2011) Randomized phase II trial of docetaxel plus prednisone in combination with placebo or AT-101, an oral small molecule Bcl-2 family antagonist, as first-line therapy for metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. Annals of Oncology 23 (7):1803-1808

282. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00571675.

283. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00286806.

284. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT006666666.

285. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00286793.

286. Xian Z-Y, Liu J-M, Chen Q-K, Chen H-Z, Ye C-J, Xue J, Yang H-Q, Li J-L, Liu X-F, Kuang S-J (2015) Inhibition of LDHA suppresses tumor progression in prostate cancer. Tumor Biology 36 (10):8093-8100

287. Chen B, Zhang M, Xing D, Feng Y (2017) Atorvastatin enhances radiosensitivity in hypoxia-induced prostate cancer cells related with HIF-1 α inhibition. Bioscience reports 37 (4):BSR20170340

288. Zheng X, Cui X-X, Gao Z, Zhao Y, Lin Y, Shih WJ, Huang M-T, Liu Y, Rabson A, Reddy B (2010) Atorvastatin and celecoxib in combination inhibits the progression of androgendependent LNCaP xenograft prostate tumors to androgen independence. Cancer Prevention Research 3 (1):114-124

289. Rentala S, Chintala R, Guda M, Chintala M, Komarraju AL, Mangamoori LN (2013) Atorvastatin inhibited Rho-associated kinase 1 (ROCK1) and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) mediated adhesion and differentiation of CD133+ CD44+ prostate cancer stem cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 441 (3):586-592

290. Wang Z-S, Huang H-R, Zhang L-Y, Kim S, He Y, Li D-L, Farischon C, Zhang K, Zheng X, Du Z-Y (2017) Mechanistic study of inhibitory effects of metformin and atorvastatin in combination on prostate cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin 40 (8):1247-1254

291. Wang Z, Zhang L, Wan Z, He Y, Huang H, Xiang H, Wu X, Zhang K, Liu Y, Goodin S (2018) Atorvastatin and Caffeine in Combination Regulates Apoptosis, Migration, Invasion and Tumorspheres of Prostate Cancer Cells. Pathology & Oncology Research:1-8

292. Yu H, Sun S-Q, Gu X-B, Wang W, Gao X-S (2017) Atorvastatin prolongs the lifespan of radiation-induced reactive oxygen species in PC-3 prostate cancer cells to enhance the cell killing effect. Oncology reports 37 (4):2049-2056

293. He Z, Mangala LS, Theriot CA, Rohde LH, Wu H, Zhang Y (2012) Cell killing and radiosensitizing effects of atorvastatin in PC3 prostate cancer cells. Journal of radiation research 53 (2):225-233

294. Peng X, Li W, Yuan L, Mehta RG, Kopelovich L, McCormick DL (2013) Inhibition of proliferation and induction of autophagy by atorvastatin in PC3 prostate cancer cells correlate with downregulation of Bcl2 and upregulation of miR-182 and p21. PloS one 8 (8):e70442

295. Ghalali A, Wiklund F, Zheng H, Stenius U, Högberg J (2014) Atorvastatin prevents ATPdriven invasiveness via P2X7 and EHBP1 signaling in PTEN-expressing prostate cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 35 (7):1547-1555

296. Zheng X, Cui X-X, Avila GE, Huang M-T, Liu Y, Patel J, Kong ANT, Paulino R, Shih WJ, Lin Y (2007) Atorvastatin and celecoxib inhibit prostate PC-3 tumors in immunodeficient mice. Clinical cancer research 13 (18):5480-5487

297. Syvälä H, Pennanen P, Bläuer M, Tammela TL, Murtola TJ (2016) Additive inhibitory effects of simvastatin and enzalutamide on androgen-sensitive LNCaP and VCaP prostate cancer cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 481 (1-2):46-50

298. AL-Husein B, Goc A, Somanath PR (2013) Suppression of interactions between prostate tumor cell-surface integrin and endothelial ICAM-1 by simvastatin inhibits micrometastasis. Journal of cellular physiology 228 (11):2139-2148

299. Alqudah MA, Mansour HT, Mhaidat N (2018) Simvastatin enhances irinotecan-induced apoptosis in prostate cancer via inhibition of MCL-1. Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal 26 (2):191-197

300. Babcook MA, Shukla S, Fu P, Vazquez EJ, Puchowicz MA, Molter JP, Oak CZ, MacLennan GT, Flask CA, Lindner DJ (2014) Synergistic simvastatin and metformin combination chemotherapy for osseous metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (10):2288-2302

301. Chen Y-A, Shih H-W, Lin Y-C, Hsu H-Y, Wu T-F, Tsai C-H, Wu C-L, Wu H-Y, Hsieh J-T, Tang C-H (2018) Simvastatin sensitizes radioresistant prostate cancer cells by compromising DNA double-strand break repair. Frontiers in pharmacology 9:600

302. Kang M, Lee K-H, Lee HS, Jeong CW, Ku JH, Kim HH, Kwak C (2017) Concurrent treatment with simvastatin and NF- κ B inhibitor in human castration-resistant prostate cancer cells exerts synergistic anti-cancer effects via control of the NF- κ B/LIN28/let-7 miRNA signaling pathway. PloS one 12 (9):e0184644

303. Kochuparambil ST, Al-Husein B, Goc A, Soliman S, Somanath PR (2011) Anticancer efficacy of simvastatin on prostate cancer cells and tumor xenografts is associated with inhibition of Akt and reduced prostate-specific antigen expression. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 336 (2):496-505

304. Oliveira KA, Zecchin KG, Alberici LC, Castilho RF, Vercesi AE (2008) Simvastatin inducing PC3 prostate cancer cell necrosis mediated by calcineurin and mitochondrial dysfunction. Journal of bioenergetics and biomembranes 40 (4):307-314

305. Park YH, Seo SY, Lee E, Ku JH, Kim HH, Kwak C (2013) Simvastatin induces apoptosis in castrate resistant prostate cancer cells by deregulating nuclear factor-κB pathway. The Journal of urology 189 (4):1547-1552

306. Pennanen P, Syvälä H, Bläuer M, Savinainen K, Ylikomi T, Tammela TL, Murtola TJ (2016) The effects of metformin and simvastatin on the growth of LNCaP and RWPE-1 prostate epithelial cell lines. European journal of pharmacology 788:160-167

307. Sekine Y, Furuya Y, Nishii M, Koike H, Matsui H, Suzuki K (2008) Simvastatin inhibits the proliferation of human prostate cancer PC-3 cells via down-regulation of the insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 372 (2):356-361

308. Sekine Y, Nakayama H, Miyazawa Y, Kato H, Furuya Y, Arai S, Koike H, Matsui H, Shibata Y, Ito K (2018) Simvastatin in combination with meclofenamic acid inhibits the proliferation and migration of human prostate cancer PC-3 cells via an AKR1C3 mechanism. Oncology letters 15 (3):3167-3172

309. Xie F, Liu J, Li C, Zhao Y (2016) Simvastatin blocks TGF-B1-induced epithelialmesenchymal transition in human prostate cancer cells. Oncology letters 11 (5):3377-3383 310. Xu WP, Shen E, Bai WK, Wang Y, Hu B (2014) Enhanced antitumor effects of low-frequency ultrasound and microbubbles in combination with simvastatin by downregulating caveolin-1 in prostatic DU145 cells. Oncology letters 7 (6):2142-2148

311. Gordon J, Midha A, Szeitz A, Ghaffari M, Adomat H, Guo Y, Klassen T, Guns E, Wasan K, Cox M (2016) Oral simvastatin administration delays castration-resistant progression and reduces intratumoral steroidogenesis of LNCaP prostate cancer xenografts. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 19 (1):21

312. Knuuttila E, Riikonen J, Syvala H, Auriola S, Murtola TJ (2019) Access and concentrations of atorvastatin in the prostate in men with prostate cancer. The Prostate 79 (12):1412-1419. doi:10.1002/pros.23863

313. Chen YA, Lin YJ, Lin CL, Lin HJ, Wu HS, Hsu HY, Sun YC, Wu HY, Lai CH, Kao CH (2018)
Simvastatin Therapy for Drug Repositioning to Reduce the Risk of Prostate Cancer Mortality in
Patients With Hyperlipidemia. Frontiers in pharmacology 9:225.
doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.00225

314. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04026230.

315. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01821404.

316. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01220973.

317. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03819101.

318. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01555632.

319. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02497638.

320. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01759836.

321. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03830164.

322. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02093390.

323. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03127631.

324. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01561482.

325. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00572468.

326. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02534376.

327. Rae C, Haberkorn U, Babich JW, Mairs RJ (2015) Inhibition of fatty acid synthase sensitizes prostate cancer cells to radiotherapy. Radiation research 184 (5):482-493

328. Chen H, Chang Y, Chuang H, Tai W, Hwang J (2012) Targeted therapy with fatty acid synthase inhibitors in a human prostate carcinoma LNCaP/tk-luc-bearing animal model. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 15 (3):260

329. Sadowski MC, Pouwer RH, Gunter JH, Lubik AA, Quinn RJ, Nelson CC (2014) The fatty acid synthase inhibitor triclosan: repurposing an anti-microbial agent for targeting prostate cancer. Oncotarget 5 (19):9362

330. Deb G, Shankar E, Thakur VS, Ponsky LE, Bodner DR, Fu P, Gupta S (2019) Green teainduced epigenetic reactivation of tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3 suppresses prostate cancer progression through histone-modifying enzymes. Molecular carcinogenesis 58 (7):1194-1207

331. Tang S-N, Singh C, Nall D, Meeker D, Shankar S, Srivastava RK (2010) The dietary bioflavonoid quercetin synergizes with epigallocathechin gallate (EGCG) to inhibit prostate cancer stem cell characteristics, invasion, migration and epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Journal of Molecular Signaling 5 (1):14

332. Kim MH, Chung J (2007) Synergistic cell death by EGCG and ibuprofen in DU-145 prostate cancer cell line. Anticancer research 27 (6B):3947-3956

333. Albrecht DS, Clubbs EA, Ferruzzi M, Bomser JA (2008) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) inhibits PC-3 prostate cancer cell proliferation via MEK-independent ERK1/2 activation. Chemico-biological interactions 171 (1):89-95

334. Eom D-W, Lee JH, Kim Y-J, Hwang GS, Kim S-N, Kwak JH, Cheon GJ, Kim KH, Jang H-J, Ham J (2015) Synergistic effect of curcumin on epigallocatechin gallate-induced anticancer action in PC3 prostate cancer cells. BMB reports 48 (8):461

335. Kobalka AJ, Keck RW, Jankun J (2015) Synergistic anticancer activity of biologicals from green and black tea on DU 145 human prostate cancer cells. Central-European journal of immunology 40 (1):1

336. Mukherjee S, Siddiqui MA, Dayal S, Ayoub YZ, Malathi K (2014) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate suppresses proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines induced by Toll-like receptor 9 agonists in prostate cancer cells. Journal of inflammation research 7:89

337. Hagen RM, Chedea VS, Mintoff CP, Bowler E, Morse HR, Ladomery MR (2013) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate promotes apoptosis and expression of the caspase 9a splice variant in PC3 prostate cancer cells. International journal of oncology 43 (1):194-200

338. Morrissey C, Brown M, O'Sullivan J, Weathered N, Watson RWG, Tenniswood M (2007) Epigallocatechin-3-gallate and bicalutamide cause growth arrest and apoptosis in NRP-152 and NRP-154 prostate epithelial cells. International journal of urology 14 (6):545-551

339. Chuu C-P, Chen R-Y, Kokontis JM, Hiipakka RA, Liao S (2009) Suppression of androgen receptor signaling and prostate specific antigen expression by (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate in different progression stages of LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Cancer letters 275 (1):86-92

340. Modernelli A, Naponelli V, Troglio MG, Bonacini M, Ramazzina I, Bettuzzi S, Rizzi F (2015) EGCG antagonizes Bortezomib cytotoxicity in prostate cancer cells by an autophagic mechanism. Scientific reports 5:15270

341. Sanna V, Singh CK, Jashari R, Adhami VM, Chamcheu JC, Rady I, Sechi M, Mukhtar H, Siddiqui IA (2017) Targeted nanoparticles encapsulating (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate for prostate cancer prevention and therapy. Scientific reports 7:41573

342. Farooqi AA, Mansoor Q, Ismail M, Bhatti S (2010) Therapeutic effect of epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) and silibinin on ATM dynamics in prostate cancer cell line LNCaP. World journal of oncology 1 (6):242

343. Lee Y-H, Kwak J, Choi H-K, Choi K-C, Kim S, Lee J, Jun W, Park H-J, Yoon H-G (2012) EGCG suppresses prostate cancer cell growth modulating acetylation of androgen receptor by anti-histone acetyltransferase activity. International Journal of Molecular Medicine 30 (1):69-74

344. Khan N, Bharali DJ, Adhami VM, Siddiqui IA, Cui H, Shabana SM, Mousa SA, Mukhtar H (2013) Oral administration of naturally occurring chitosan-based nanoformulated green tea polyphenol EGCG effectively inhibits prostate cancer cell growth in a xenograft model. Carcinogenesis 35 (2):415-423

345. Harper CE, Patel BB, Wang J, Eltoum IA, Lamartiniere CA (2007) Epigallocatechin-3-Gallate suppresses early stage, but not late stage prostate cancer in TRAMP mice: Mechanisms of action. The Prostate 67 (14):1576-1589

346. Lee S-C, Chan W-K, Lee T-W, Lam W-H, Wang X, Chan T-H, Wong Y-C (2008) Effect of a prodrug of the green tea polyphenol (-)-epigallocatechin-3-gallate on the growth of androgenindependent prostate cancer in vivo. Nutrition and cancer 60 (4):483-491

347. Wang P, Vadgama JV, Said JW, Magyar CE, Doan N, Heber D, Henning SM (2014) Enhanced inhibition of prostate cancer xenograft tumor growth by combining quercetin and green tea. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry 25 (1):73-80

348. Sartor L, Pezzato E, Donà M, Dell'Aica I, Calabrese F, Morini M, Albini A, Garbisa S (2004) Prostate carcinoma and green tea:(-) epigallocatechin-3-gallate inhibits inflammation-triggered MMP-2 activation and invasion in murine TRAMP model. International journal of cancer 112 (5):823-829

349. Zadra G, Ribeiro CF, Chetta P, Ho Y, Cacciatore S, Gao X, Syamala S, Bango C, Photopoulos C, Huang Y (2019) Inhibition of de novo lipogenesis targets androgen receptor signaling in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116 (2):631-640

350. Wright C, Iyer AKV, Kaushik V, Azad N (2017) Anti-Tumorigenic Potential of a Novel Orlistat-AICAR Combination in Prostate Cancer Cells. Journal of cellular biochemistry 118 (11):3834-3845

351. Souchek JJ, Davis AL, Hill TK, Holmes MB, Qi B, Singh PK, Kridel SJ, Mohs AM (2017) Combination treatment with orlistat-containing nanoparticles and taxanes is synergistic and enhances microtubule stability in taxane-resistant prostate cancer cells. Molecular cancer therapeutics 16 (9):1819-1830

352. Fujiwara J, Sowa Y, Horinaka M, Koyama M, Wakada M, Miki T, Sakai T (2012) The antiobesity drug orlistat promotes sensitivity to TRAIL by two different pathways in hormonerefractory prostate cancer cells Corrigendum in/10.3892/ijo. 2015.3265. International journal of oncology 40 (5):1483-1491

353. Lee P, Ng C, Liu Z, Ho W, Lee M, Wang F, Kan H, He Y, Ng S, Wong S (2017) Reduced prostate cancer risk with green tea and epigallocatechin 3-gallate intake among Hong Kong Chinese men. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 20 (3):318

354. Zhang Z, Garzotto M, Beer TM, Thuillier P, Lieberman S, Mori M, Stoller WA, Farris PE, Shannon J (2016) Effects of ω -3 Fatty Acids and Catechins on Fatty Acid Synthase in the Prostate: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Nutrition and cancer 68 (8):1309-1319

355. Kumar NB, Pow-Sang J, Spiess PE, Park J, Salup R, Williams CR, Parnes H, Schell MJ (2016) Randomized, placebo-controlled trial evaluating the safety of one-year administration of green tea catechins. Oncotarget 7 (43):70794

356. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01340599.

357. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00676780.

358. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00596011.

359. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00253643.

360. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01105338.

361. Gao Y, Islam MS, Tian J, Lui VWY, Xiao D (2014) Inactivation of ATP citrate lyase by Cucurbitacin B: A bioactive compound from cucumber, inhibits prostate cancer growth. Cancer letters 349 (1):15-25

362. Beckers A, Organe S, Timmermans L, Scheys K, Peeters A, Brusselmans K, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2007) Chemical inhibition of acetyl-CoA carboxylase induces growth arrest and cytotoxicity selectively in cancer cells. Cancer research 67 (17):8180-8187

363. Rysman E, Brusselmans K, Scheys K, Timmermans L, Derua R, Munck S, Van Veldhoven PP, Waltregny D, Daniëls VW, Machiels J (2010) De novo lipogenesis protects cancer cells from free radicals and chemotherapeutics by promoting membrane lipid saturation. Cancer research 70 (20):8117-8126

364. Peck B, Schug ZT, Zhang Q, Dankworth B, Jones DT, Smethurst E, Patel R, Mason S, Jiang M, Saunders R (2016) Inhibition of fatty acid desaturation is detrimental to cancer cell survival in metabolically compromised environments. Cancer & metabolism 4 (1):6

365. de Mas IM, Aguilar E, Zodda E, Balcells C, Marin S, Dallmann G, Thomson TM, Papp B, Cascante M (2018) Model-driven discovery of long-chain fatty acid metabolic reprogramming in heterogeneous prostate cancer cells. PLoS computational biology 14 (1):e1005914

366. Sadeghi RN, Karami-Tehrani F, Salami S (2015) Targeting prostate cancer cell metabolism: impact of hexokinase and CPT-1 enzymes. Tumor Biology 36 (4):2893-2905

367. Dheeraj A, Agarwal C, Schlaepfer IR, Raben D, Singh R, Agarwal R, Deep G (2018) A novel approach to target hypoxic cancer cells via combining B-oxidation inhibitor etomoxir with radiation. Hypoxia 6:23

368. Schlaepfer IR, Rider L, Rodrigues LU, Gijón MA, Pac CT, Romero L, Cimic A, Sirintrapun SJ, Glodé LM, Eckel RH (2014) Lipid catabolism via CPT1 as a therapeutic target for prostate cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (10):2361-2371

369. Flaig TW, Salzmann-Sullivan M, Su L-J, Zhang Z, Joshi M, Gijón MA, Kim J, Arcaroli JJ, Van Bokhoven A, Lucia MS (2017) Lipid catabolism inhibition sensitizes prostate cancer cells to antiandrogen blockade. Oncotarget 8 (34):56051

370. Bugan I, Kucuk S, Karagoz Z, Fraser SP, Kaya H, Dodson A, Foster CS, Altun S, Djamgoz MB (2019) Anti-metastatic effect of ranolazine in an in vivo rat model of prostate cancer, and expression of voltage-gated sodium channel protein in human prostate. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases

371. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01992016.

372. Lee SS-Y, Li J, Tai JN, Ratliff TL, Park K, Cheng J-X (2015) Avasimibe encapsulated in human serum albumin blocks cholesterol esterification for selective cancer treatment. ACS nano 9 (3):2420-2432

373. Zhan J, Burns AM, Liu MX, Faeth SH, Gunatilaka AL (2007) Search for cell motility and angiogenesis inhibitors with potential anticancer activity: beauvericin and other constituents of two endophytic strains of Fusarium oxysporum. Journal of natural products 70 (2):227-232

374. Xu Y, Zhan J, Wijeratne EK, Burns AM, Gunatilaka AL, Molnár I (2007) Cytotoxic and antihaptotactic beauvericin analogues from precursor-directed biosynthesis with the insect pathogen Beauveria bassiana ATCC 7159. Journal of natural products 70 (9):1467-1471

375. Colgate EC, Miranda CL, Stevens JF, Bray TM, Ho E (2007) Xanthohumol, a prenylflavonoid derived from hops induces apoptosis and inhibits NF-kappaB activation in prostate epithelial cells. Cancer letters 246 (1-2):201-209

376. Delmulle L, Bellahcene A, Dhooge W, Comhaire F, Roelens F, Huvaere K, Heyerick A, Castronovo V, De Keukeleire D (2006) Anti-proliferative properties of prenylated flavonoids from hops (Humulus lupulus L.) in human prostate cancer cell lines. Phytomedicine 13 (9-10):732-734

377. Tronina T, Bartmańska A, Filip-Psurska B, Wietrzyk J, Popłoński J, Huszcza E (2013) Fungal metabolites of xanthohumol with potent antiproliferative activity on human cancer cell lines in vitro. Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry 21 (7):2001-2006

378. Deeb D, Gao X, Jiang H, Arbab AS, Dulchavsky S, Gautam SC (2010) Growth inhibitory and apoptosis-inducing effects of xanthohumol, a prenylated chalone present in hops, in human prostate cancer cells. Anticancer research 30 (9):3333-3339
379. Kłósek M, Mertas A, Król W, Jaworska D, Szymszal J, Szliszka E (2016) Tumor Necrosis Factor-Related Apoptosis-Inducing Ligand-Induced Apoptosis in Prostate Cancer Cells after Treatment with Xanthohumol—A Natural Compound Present in Humulus lupulus L. International journal of molecular sciences 17 (6):837

380. Venè R, Benelli R, Minghelli S, Astigiano S, Tosetti F, Ferrari N (2012) Xanthohumol impairs human prostate cancer cell growth and invasion and diminishes the incidence and progression of advanced tumors in TRAMP mice. Molecular medicine 18 (9):1292-1302

381. He Z, Yuan J, Qi P, Zhang L, Wang Z (2015) Atorvastatin induces autophagic cell death in prostate cancer cells in vitro. Molecular medicine reports 11 (6):4403-4408

382. He Y, Huang H, Farischon C, Li D, Du Z, Zhang K, Zheng X, Goodin S (2017) Combined effects of atorvastatin and aspirin on growth and apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells. Oncology reports 37 (2):953-960

383. Toepfer N, Childress C, Parikh A, Rukstalis D, Yang W (2011) Atorvastatin induces autophagy in prostate cancer PC3 cells through activation of LC3 transcription. Cancer biology & therapy 12 (8):691-699

384. Chen X, Liu Y, Wu J, Huang H, Du Z, Zhang K, Zhou D, Hung K, Goodin S, Zheng X (2016) Mechanistic study of inhibitory effects of atorvastatin and docetaxel in combination on prostate cancer. Cancer Genomics-Proteomics 13 (2):151-160

385. Marcelli M, Cunningham GR, Haidacher SJ, Padayatty SJ, Sturgis L, Kagan C, Denner L (1998) Caspase-7 is activated during lovastatin-induced apoptosis of the prostate cancer cell line LNCaP. Cancer research 58 (1):76-83

386. Niknejad N, Gorn-Hondermann I, Ma L, Zahr S, Johnson-Obeseki S, Corsten M, Dimitroulakos J (2014) Lovastatin-induced apoptosis is mediated by activating transcription factor 3 and enhanced in combination with salubrinal. International journal of cancer 134 (2):268-279

387. Liu Y, Chen L, Gong Z, Shen L, Kao C, Hock JM, Sun L, Li X (2015) Lovastatin enhances adenovirus-mediated TRAIL induced apoptosis by depleting cholesterol of lipid rafts and affecting CAR and death receptor expression of prostate cancer cells. Oncotarget 6 (5):3055

388. Yang L, Egger M, Plattner R, Klocker H, Eder IE (2011) Lovastatin causes diminished PSA secretion by inhibiting AR expression and function in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Urology 77 (6):1508. e1501-1508. e1507

389. Shibata M-A, Kavanaugh C, Shibata E, Abe H, Nguyen P, Otsuki Y, Trepel JB, Green JE (2003) Comparative effects of lovastatin on mammary and prostate oncogenesis in transgenic mouse models. Carcinogenesis 24 (3):453-459

390. Wang C, Tao W, Wang Y, Bikow J, Lu B, Keating A, Verma S, Parker TG, Han R, Wen X-Y (2010) Rosuvastatin, identified from a zebrafish chemical genetic screen for antiangiogenic compounds, suppresses the growth of prostate cancer. European urology 58 (3):418-426

391. Goc A, Kochuparambil ST, Al-Husein B, Al-Azayzih A, Mohammad S, Somanath PR (2012) Simultaneous modulation of the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways by simvastatin in mediating prostate cancer cell apoptosis. BMC cancer 12 (1):409

392. Kim JH, Cox ME, Wasan KM (2014) Effect of simvastatin on castration-resistant prostate cancer cells. Lipids in health and disease 13 (1):56

393. Jung EJ, Chung KH, Kim CW (2017) Identification of simvastatin-regulated targets associated with JNK activation in DU145 human prostate cancer cell death signaling. BMB reports 50 (9):466

394. Babcook M, Sramkoski R, Fujioka H, Daneshgari F, Almasan A, Shukla S, Nanavaty R, Gupta S (2014) Combination simvastatin and metformin induces G1-phase cell cycle arrest and Ripk1-and Ripk3-dependent necrosis in C4-2B osseous metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer cells. Cell death & disease 5 (11):e1536

395. Li N, Xie X, Hu Y, He H, Fu X, Fang T, Li C (2019) Herceptin-conjugated liposomes coloaded with doxorubicin and simvastatin in targeted prostate cancer therapy. American journal of translational research 11 (3):1255

396. Gao Y, Li L, Li T, Ma L, Yuan M, Sun W, Cheng HL, Niu L, Du Z, Quan Z (2019) Simvastatin delays castration-resistant prostate cancer metastasis and androgen receptor antagonist resistance by regulating the expression of caveolin-1. International journal of oncology 54 (6):2054-2068

397. Miyazawa Y, Sekine Y, Kato H, Furuya Y, Koike H, Suzuki K (2017) Simvastatin Up-Regulates Annexin A10 That Can Inhibit the Proliferation, Migration, and Invasion in Androgen-Independent Human Prostate Cancer Cells. The Prostate 77 (4):337-349

398. Sedki M, Khalil IA, El-Sherbiny IM (2018) Hybrid nanocarrier system for guiding and augmenting simvastatin cytotoxic activity against prostate cancer. Artificial cells, nanomedicine, and biotechnology 46 (sup3):S641-S650

399. Knuuttila E, Riikonen J, Syvälä H, Auriola S, Murtola TJ (2019) Access and concentrations of atorvastatin in the prostate in men with prostate cancer. The Prostate

400. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01478828.

401. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00580970.

402. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01992042.

403. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02592317.

404. Chen Y-A, Lin Y-J, Lin C-L, Lin H-J, Wu H-S, Hsu H-Y, Sun Y-C, Wu H-Y, Lai C-H, Kao C-H (2018) Simvastatin therapy for drug repositioning to reduce the risk of prostate cancer mortality in patients with hyperlipidemia. Frontiers in pharmacology 9:225

405. Zacharias NM, McCullough C, Shanmugavelandy S, Lee J, Lee Y, Dutta P, McHenry J, Nguyen L, Norton W, Jones LW, Bhattacharya PK (2017) Metabolic Differences in Glutamine

Utilization Lead to Metabolic Vulnerabilities in Prostate Cancer. Scientific reports 7 (1):16159-16159. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16327-z

406. Pan T, Gao L, Wu G, Shen G, Xie S, Wen H, Yang J, Zhou Y, Tu Z, Qian W (2015) Elevated expression of glutaminase confers glucose utilization via glutaminolysis in prostate cancer. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 456 (1):452-458

407. Wang Q, Hardie RA, Hoy AJ, Van Geldermalsen M, Gao D, Fazli L, Sadowski MC, Balaban S, Schreuder M, Nagarajah R (2015) Targeting ASCT2-mediated glutamine uptake blocks prostate cancer growth and tumour development. The Journal of pathology 236 (3):278-289

408. Fernandez EV, Reece KM, Ley AM, Troutman SM, Sissung TM, Price DK, Chau CH, Figg WD (2015) Dual targeting of the androgen receptor and hypoxia-inducible factor 1α pathways synergistically inhibits castration-resistant prostate cancer cells. Molecular pharmacology 87 (6):1006-1012

409. Yano K, Horinaka M, Yoshida T, Yasuda T, Taniguchi H, Goda AE, Wakada M, Yoshikawa S, Nakamura T, Kawauchi A (2011) Chetomin induces degradation of XIAP and enhances TRAIL sensitivity in urogenital cancer cells. International journal of oncology 38 (2):365-374

410. Fu B, Xue J, Li Z, Shi X, Jiang B-H, Fang J (2007) Chrysin inhibits expression of hypoxiainducible factor-1α through reducing hypoxia-inducible factor-1α stability and inhibiting its protein synthesis. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics 6 (1):220-226

411. Samarghandian S, Afshari JT, Davoodi S (2011) Chrysin reduces proliferation and induces apoptosis in the human prostate cancer cell line pc-3. Clinics 66 (6):1073-1079

412. Ryu S, Lim W, Bazer FW, Song G (2017) Chrysin induces death of prostate cancer cells by inducing ROS and ER stress. Journal of cellular physiology 232 (12):3786-3797

413. Huang Y-T, Pan S-L, Guh J-H, Chang Y-L, Lee F-Y, Kuo S-C, Teng C-M (2005) YC-1 suppresses constitutive nuclear factor-κB activation and induces apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells. Molecular cancer therapeutics 4 (10):1628-1635

414. Sun H, Liu Y, Huang Y, Pan S, Huang D, Guh J, Lee F, Kuo S, Teng C (2007) YC-1 inhibits HIF-1 expression in prostate cancer cells: contribution of Akt/NF- κ B signaling to HIF-1 α accumulation during hypoxia. Oncogene 26 (27):3941

415. Lamoureux F, Thomas C, Crafter C, Kumano M, Zhang F, Davies BR, Gleave ME, Zoubeidi A (2013) Blocked autophagy using lysosomotropic agents sensitizes resistant prostate tumor cells to the novel Akt inhibitor AZD5363. Clinical cancer research 19 (4):833-844

416. Marques RB, Aghai A, de Ridder CM, Stuurman D, Hoeben S, Boer A, Ellston RP, Barry ST, Davies BR, Trapman J (2015) High efficacy of combination therapy using PI3K/AKT inhibitors with androgen deprivation in prostate cancer preclinical models. European urology 67 (6):1177-1185 417. Toren P, Kim S, Cordonnier T, Crafter C, Davies BR, Fazli L, Gleave ME, Zoubeidi A (2015) Combination AZD5363 with enzalutamide significantly delays enzalutamide-resistant prostate cancer in preclinical models. European urology 67 (6):986-990

418. Feng S, Shao L, Castro P, Coleman I, Nelson PS, Smith PD, Davies BR, Ittmann M (2017) Combination treatment of prostate cancer with FGF receptor and AKT kinase inhibitors. Oncotarget 8 (4):6179

419. Thomas C, Lamoureux F, Crafter C, Davies BR, Beraldi E, Fazli L, Kim S, Thaper D, Gleave ME, Zoubeidi A (2013) Synergistic targeting of PI3K/AKT pathway and androgen receptor axis significantly delays castration-resistant prostate cancer progression in vivo. Molecular cancer therapeutics 12 (11):2342-2355

420. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02121639.

421. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01692262.

422. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02525068.

423. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03310541.

424. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT04060394.

425. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02380313.

426. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03072238.

427. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01485861.

428. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03840200.

429. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03673787.

430. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01480154.

431. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01251861.

432. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01295632.

433. Guo F, Liu S-q, Gao X-h, Zhang L-y (2016) AICAR induces AMPK-independent programmed necrosis in prostate cancer cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 474 (2):277-283

434. Rae C, Mairs RJ (2019) AMPK activation by AICAR sensitizes prostate cancer cells to radiotherapy. Oncotarget 10 (7):749

435. Sauer H, Engel S, Milosevic N, Sharifpanah F, Wartenberg M (2012) Activation of AMPkinase by AICAR induces apoptosis of DU-145 prostate cancer cells through generation of reactive oxygen species and activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase. International journal of oncology 40 (2):501-508

436. Su C-C, Hsieh K-L, Liu P-L, Yeh H-C, Huang S-P, Fang S-H, Cheng W-C, Huang K-H, Chiu F-Y, Lin I (2019) AICAR Induces Apoptosis and Inhibits Migration and Invasion in Prostate Cancer Cells Through an AMPK/mTOR-Dependent Pathway. International journal of molecular sciences 20 (7):1647

437. O'Brien AJ, Villani LA, Broadfield LA, Houde VP, Galic S, Blandino G, Kemp BE, Tsakiridis T, Muti P, Steinberg GR (2015) Salicylate activates AMPK and synergizes with metformin to reduce the survival of prostate and lung cancer cells ex vivo through inhibition of de novo lipogenesis. Biochemical Journal 469 (2):177-187

438. Bindal P, Jalil SA, Holle LM, Clement JM (2019) Potential role of rituximab in metastatic castrate-resistant prostate cancer. Journal of Oncology Pharmacy Practice 25 (6):1509-1511

439. Dalgleish A, Featherstone P, Vlassov V, Rogosnitzky M (2014) Rituximab for treating CD20+ prostate cancer with generalized lymphadenopathy: a case report and review of the literature. Investigational new drugs 32 (5):1048-1052

440. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01804712.

441. Papageorgiou E, Pitulis N, Manoussakis M, Lembessis P, Koutsilieris M (2008) Rosiglitazone attenuates insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor survival signaling in PC-3 cells. Molecular Medicine 14 (7):403

442. Qin L, Gong C, Chen AM, Guo FJ, Xu F, Ren Y, Liao H (2014) Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ agonist rosiglitazone inhibits migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells through inhibition of the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis. Molecular medicine reports 10 (2):695-700

443. Murtola TJ, Pennanen P, Syvälä H, Bläuer M, Ylikomi T, Tammela TL (2009) Effects of simvastatin, acetylsalicylic acid, and rosiglitazone on proliferation of normal and cancerous prostate epithelial cells at therapeutic concentrations. The Prostate 69 (9):1017-1023

444. Smith MR, Manola J, Kaufman DS, George D, Oh WK, Mueller E, Slovin S, Spiegelman B, Small E, Kantoff PW (2004) Rosiglitazone versus placebo for men with prostate carcinoma and a rising serum prostate-specific antigen level after radical prostatectomy and/or radiation therapy. Cancer 101 (7):1569-1574

445. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00182052.

446. Jiang C, Hu H, Malewicz B, Wang Z, Lü J (2004) Selenite-induced p53 Ser-15 phosphorylation and caspase-mediated apoptosis in LNCaP human prostate cancer cells. Molecular cancer therapeutics 3 (7):877-884

447. Freitas M, Alves V, Sarmento-Ribeiro AB, Mota-Pinto A (2011) Combined effect of sodium selenite and docetaxel on PC3 metastatic prostate cancer cell line. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 408 (4):713-719

448. Sarveswaran S, Liroff J, Zhou Z, Nikitin AY, Ghosh J (2010) Selenite triggers rapid transcriptional activation of p53, and p53-mediated apoptosis in prostate cancer cells: Implication for the treatment of early-stage prostate cancer. International journal of oncology 36 (6):1419-1428

449. Hu H, Jiang C, Li G, Lü J (2005) PKB/AKT and ERK regulation of caspase-mediated apoptosis by methylseleninic acid in LNCaP prostate cancer cells. Carcinogenesis 26 (8):1374-1381

450. Hu H, Jiang C, Schuster T, Li G-X, Daniel PT, Lü J (2006) Inorganic selenium sensitizes prostate cancer cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis through superoxide/p53/Bax-mediated activation of mitochondrial pathway. Molecular cancer therapeutics 5 (7):1873-1882

451. Pei Z, Li H, Guo Y, Jin Y, Lin D (2010) Sodium selenite inhibits the expression of VEGF, TGFB1 and IL-6 induced by LPS in human PC3 cells via TLR4-NF-KB signaling blockage. International immunopharmacology 10 (1):50-56

452. Berggren M, Sittadjody S, Song Z, Samira J-L, Burd R, Meuillet EJ (2009) Sodium selenite increases the activity of the tumor suppressor protein, PTEN, in DU-145 prostate cancer cells. Nutrition and cancer 61 (3):322-331

453. Zhao R, Xiang N, Domann FE, Zhong W (2009) Effects of selenite and genistein on G2/M cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in human prostate cancer cells. Nutrition and cancer 61 (3):397-407

454. Xiang N, Zhao R, Zhong W (2009) Sodium selenite induces apoptosis by generation of superoxide via the mitochondrial-dependent pathway in human prostate cancer cells. Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology 63 (2):351-362

455. Bhattacharyya RS, Husbeck B, Feldman D, Knox SJ (2008) Selenite treatment inhibits LAPC-4 tumor growth and prostate-specific antigen secretion in a xenograft model of human prostate cancer. International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics 72 (3):935-940

456. Tian J, Ning S, Knox SJ (2010) Sodium selenite radiosensitizes hormone-refractory prostate cancer xenograft tumors but not intestinal crypt cells in vivo. International Journal of Radiation Oncology* Biology* Physics 78 (1):230-236

457. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01155791.

458. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02184533.

459. Brooks C, Sheu T, Bridges K, Mason K, Kuban D, Mathew P, Meyn R (2012) Preclinical evaluation of sunitinib, a multi-tyrosine kinase inhibitor, as a radiosensitizer for human prostate cancer. Radiation Oncology 7 (1):154

460. Wang B, Lu D, Xuan M, Hu W (2017) Antitumor effect of sunitinib in human prostate cancer cells functions via autophagy. Experimental and therapeutic medicine 13 (4):1285-1294

461. Pla AF, Brossa A, Bernardini M, Genova T, Grolez G, Villers A, Leroy X, Prevarskaya N, Gkika D, Bussolati B (2014) Differential sensitivity of prostate tumor derived endothelial cells to sorafenib and sunitinib. BMC cancer 14 (1):939

462. Diaz R, Nguewa PA, Redrado M, Manrique I, Calvo A (2015) Sunitinib reduces tumor hypoxia and angiogenesis, and radiosensitizes prostate cancer stem-like cells. The Prostate 75 (11):1137-1149

463. Nishikawa M, Miyake H, Fujisawa M (2015) Enhanced sensitivity to sunitinib by inhibition of Akt1 expression in human castration-resistant prostate cancer PC3 cells both in vitro and in vivo. Urology 85 (5):1215. e1211-1215. e1217

464. Jing C, Ning J, Yuanjie N (2012) The preventative effects of sunitinib malate observed in the course from non-castration to castration LNCaP xenograft prostate tumors. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology 138 (12):2137-2143

465. Castellano D, González-Larriba JL, Antón-Aparicio LM, Cassinello J, Grande E, Esteban E, Sepúlveda J (2011) Experience in the use of sunitinib given as a single agent in metastatic chemoresistant and castration-resistant prostate cancer patients. Expert opinion on pharmacotherapy 12 (16):2433-2439

466. Parimi S, Eliasziw M, North S, Trudeau M, Winquist E, Chi KN, Ruether D, Cheng T, Eigl BJ (2016) Sunitinib maintenance therapy after response to docetaxel in metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC). Investigational new drugs 34 (6):771-776

467. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00299741.

468. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00631527.

469. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00672594.

470. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00137436.

471. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00676650.

472. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00790595.

473. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00879619.

474. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT01803503.

475. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00428220.

476. Zhang K, Moussavi M, Kim C, Chow E, Chen I, Fazli L, Jia W, Rennie P (2009) Lentiviruses with trastuzumab bound to their envelopes can target and kill prostate cancer cells. Cancer gene therapy 16 (11):820

477. Mitran B, Rinne SS, Konijnenberg MW, Maina T, Nock BA, Altai M, Vorobyeva A, Larhed M, Tolmachev V, de Jong M (2019) Trastuzumab co-treatment improves survival of mice with PC-3 prostate cancer xenografts treated with the GRPR antagonist 177Lu-DOTAGA-PEG2-RM26. International journal of cancer

478. Tan Z, Chen P, Schneider N, Glover S, Cui L, Torgue J, Rixe O, Spitz HB, Dong Z (2012) Significant systemic therapeutic effects of high-LET immunoradiation by 212Pb-trastuzumab against prostatic tumors of androgen-independent human prostate cancer in mice. International journal of oncology 40 (6):1881-1888 479. Formento P, Hannoun-Levi J-M, Gérard F, Mazeau C, Fischel J-L, Etienne-Grimaldi M, Gugenheim J, Milano G (2005) Gefitinib-trastuzumab combination on hormone-refractory prostate cancer xenograft. European Journal of Cancer 41 (10):1467-1473

480. Legrier M, Oudard S, Judde J, Guyader C, De Pinieux G, Boye K, de Cremoux P, Dutrillaux B, Poupon M (2007) Potentiation of antitumour activity of docetaxel by combination with trastuzumab in a human prostate cancer xenograft model and underlying mechanisms. British journal of cancer 96 (2):269

481. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00003740.

482. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00005857.

483. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02480010.

484. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT00058539.

485. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03878524.

486. Li X, Chen Y-T, Hu P, Huang W-C (2014) Fatostatin displays high antitumor activity in prostate cancer by blocking SREBP-regulated metabolic pathways and androgen receptor signaling. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (4):855-866

487. Li X, Wu JB, Chung LW, Huang W-C (2015) Anti-cancer efficacy of SREBP inhibitor, alone or in combination with docetaxel, in prostate cancer harboring p53 mutations. Oncotarget 6 (38):41018

488. Zacharias NM, McCullough C, Shanmugavelandy S, Lee J, Lee Y, Dutta P, McHenry J, Nguyen L, Norton W, Jones LW (2017) Metabolic differences in glutamine utilization lead to metabolic vulnerabilities in prostate cancer. Scientific reports 7 (1):16159

Chapter 4

Aim and Outline of the thesis

Aim and outline of the thesis

The development and progression of PCa are driven by numerous factors and complex cellular and molecular mechanisms. However, the initial progression of PCa mainly depends on androgens, which enables the use of ADT reducing androgens production and the AR-mediated effects.

In the past few years, the reprogramming of energy metabolism was added to the list of cancer hallmarks. This has been highly related with rewiring of aerobic glycolysis, indicated as the pathway mostly explored by cancer cells to sustain their growth. In the case of PCa, and unlike other types of neoplasms, initial tumour growth does not rely on aerobic glycolysis. In this context, the hypothesis that PCa cells differ from other cancer cells, predominantly utilizing fatty acids and glutamine as energy substrates, has been gaining consistency. Deregulated lipid metabolism, namely, hypercholesterolemia, augmented lipid and glutamine uptake and increased de novo fatty acid synthesis, have been associated with PCa development and progression. Nevertheless, the inter-relationship among energy substrates and the contribution of the different metabolic routes to PCa cells survival and growth remains unknown. Indeed, only more advanced stages of the disease have been shown to be highly glycolytic, namely, those characterized by the loss of androgen responsiveness, the so-called CRPC. Also, it has been shown that androgens have a stimulatory effect on multiple metabolic pathways, both in benign and malignant prostate cells. Moreover, androgens were shown to fuel the progression to the highly glycolytic more aggressive stages of PCa, also driving important alterations in lipid metabolism. Notwithstanding, the role of androgens controlling PCa metabolism needs to be more detailed. Although new therapies for CRPC have emerged recently, the therapeutic options for this stage of disease are restricted and display limited duration of clinical and survival benefits. Presently, there are drugs targeting metabolism that have been envisaged for the treatment of PCa and CRPC. However, there are important knowledge gaps in the understanding of PCa cells metabolism that should be fulfilled to improve its efficacy and to avoid resistance and bypassing metabolic pathways. For example, how the tumour metabolic microenvironment influences the response of PCa cells to therapy is a subject clearly underexplored.

To shed light on some of these questions, the present thesis aims to:

1. Establish the PCa cells dependency on the different metabolic pathways and the relationship between each route;

2. Determine the relevance of glutaminolysis for PCa cells survival and growth and the effect of androgens in the regulation of glutamine metabolism;

3. Study the role of androgens in regulating lipid metabolism and the influence of these hormones and LDL-cholesterol in modulating PCa cells fate;

4. Investigate the effect of glucose availability on PCa cells response to therapy: the case of imatinib in two cell line models of CRPC.

After a brief description of the prostate gland anatomy and physiology and characterization of the cellular and molecular basis of PCa (Chapter 1), cancer cell metabolism (Chapter 2) and PCa specific metabolic features were revised (Chapter 3). Chapter 4 establishes the main objectives of the thesis, and Chapters 5-9 were organized as follows:

Chapter 5 describes the dependency and capacity of PCa cells using glucose, glutamine and fatty acid metabolism. Also, it determines the dependency of PCa cells on glycolysis and their utilization of glycolysis and aerobic glycolysis in conditions of glucose deprivation or hyperglycaemia.

Chapter 6 explores the relevance of glutaminolysis for PCa cells survival and growth and the effect of androgens in the regulation of glutamine metabolism. It characterizes the expression of target regulators of glutaminolysis in PCa cell line models and describes the effect of 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) in regulating glutamine metabolism in PCa cells and rat dorsolateral prostate. Moreover, this chapter addresses whether inhibition of glutaminase would sensitize PCa cells to anti-androgens. The effect of inhibiting glutaminase on PCa cells viability, apoptosis, and migration is described. Also, it evaluates the utilization of other metabolic pathways, like glycolytic metabolism after blockage of glutaminolysis.

Chapter 7 establishes the effect of androgens (DHT) in the regulation of lipid metabolism, and the influence of these hormones and LDL-cholesterol in modulating PCa cells viability, proliferation and migration. Moreover, it characterizes the expression of target regulators of lipid metabolism and lipid content in PCa cells under different LDL-cholesterol availabilities with or without DHT.

Chapter 8 investigates the response of CRPC cells to the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib under hypoglycaemic and hyperglycaemic conditions, evaluating cell viability, apoptosis, glucose consumption, lactate production and expression and activity of glycolytic regulators.

Finally, **Chapter 9** contains an integrative view of the results presented in the thesis and discusses the potential impact of the obtained findings in the context of PCa prevention and treatment.

Chapter 5

Metabolic features of human androgensensitive and castrate-resistant prostate cancer cells

Abstract

Cancer cells have the ability of reprogramming metabolism to sustain biomass synthesis and cell growth. Glucose, glutamine and fatty acids are crucial fuels for prostate cancer (PCa) cells, and their differential utilization has been proposed accompanying the transition of PCa from the androgen-sensitive stage to the castrate-resistant PCa (CRPC). However, the full understanding of PCa metabolism still needs clarification. Conditions of different glucose availability (high/low) have been shown to switch on specific metabolic pathways in several cell types, but the effect of hyperglycaemia driving alterations on PCa cell metabolism remains unexplored. The present study characterises the glycolytic phenotype of androgen-sensitive (LNCaP) and CRPC (PC3 and DU145) cells by the robust analysis of extracellular acidification using the Seahorse methodology. Also, it is investigated the PCa cells dependency on glucose, glutamine and fatty acids, and their capacity of using these fuels. In addition, it is assessed the impact of glucose availability (glucose depletion vs. hyperglycaemia) on PCa cells' use of glycolysis and lipid metabolism. The results obtained demonstrated that CRPC cells have higher metabolic rates being more glycolytic than the androgen-sensitive cells, especially PC3 cells, which also showed a higher capacity to oxidize glutamine. LNCaP cells displayed a higher capacity for using fatty acids as mitochondrial fuels. Hyperglycaemia decreased glycolytic activity in PCa cells and promoted lipid metabolism. Overall, these findings characterized PCa cells metabolism, showing a differential dependency and capacity of fuel use between androgen-sensitive and CRPC cells. Also, it was shown that hyperglycaemia induced a metabolic shift in PCa cells from glycolysis to lipid metabolism.

5.1. Introduction

The capacity of metabolic reprogramming is a known feature of tumour cells that is recognized since 2011 as a hallmark of cancer [1]. This flexibility on using different metabolic routes provides cancer cells with the necessary energy for maintenance of biomass synthesis and sustainment of cell growth [2,3]. The peculiar metabolic features of cancer cells, known since the pioneer studies of Otto Warburg, are characterized by the use of glucose for lactate production, acidifying the tumor microenvironment and promoting cancer cells growth and dissemination [4,5]. Moreover, due to these specificities, cancer cells metabolism has been gaining increasing interest in therapy [6]. The initial stages of prostate cancer (PCa) are less glycolytic than other cancer types. However, an increase in the glycolytic phenotype accompanies the transition of disease from the androgen-sensitive stage to the castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) [7,8], which represents an aggressive and lethal form of disease [9,10]. Moreover, PCa cells also have been shown to use glutaminolysis and fatty acid metabolism [11,12]. Nevertheless, there are important knowledge gaps in the understanding

of PCa metabolism, and their clarification can provide new insights for the development of new therapies targeting metabolic pathways.

On the other hand, the reduced blood flow and nutrient deprivation act as engines, forcing the cancer cells to adapt their metabolism to the tumoral microenvironment and allowing them to survive in hostile conditions [13,14]. In this way, nutrient availability is responsible for the reactivation of specific metabolic pathways and the acquisition of more aggressive disease phenotypes [13]. In addition, nutrient availability (e.g. hyperglycaemia) have been shown to influence cancer cells' response to therapy [15,16] In the case of PCa, glucose deprivation have been related with aggressive phenotypes and reactivation of several survival pathways [17,18]. Also, reports exist indicating that the aggressive behaviour of PCa cells depends on fatty acids supplementation and lipid *de novo* synthesis [19,20]. Nevertheless, PCa cell's use of glycolysis and lipid metabolism in hyperglycaemia remains unexplored.

The present study characterises the glycolytic phenotype of androgen-sensitive and CRPC cells using a robust methodology for metabolism analysis. The PCa cells dependency on glycolysis, glutaminolysis and lipid metabolism, and their capacity to oxidize the corresponding fuels also is investigated. In addition, it is assessed the impact of glucose availability (glucose depletion vs. hyperglycaemia) on glycolysis and lipid metabolism.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Chemicals

All chemicals and culture media unless otherwise stated were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA).

5.2.2. Cell lines and treatments

Human PCa cell lines (LNCaP, DU145, and PC3) were purchased from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC, Salisbury, UK). LNCaP cells, originated from a PCa lymph node metastasis, express the androgen receptor and are an androgen-sensitive model. DU145 and PC3 cell lines are nonresponsive to androgens and known models of metastatic (advanced) stages of human PCa. DU145 and PC3 cell lines have origin in brain and bone metastasis of undifferentiated grade IV prostate adenocarcinomas [21,22].

LNCaP, DU145, and PC3 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1 % penicillin/ streptomycin at 37 °C in an air incubator equilibrated with 5 % CO₂. In all experiments, cells were maintained up to 60% confluence and then culture medium was replaced by glucose-free medium or medium supplemented with 30 mM glucose (hyperglycaemia) for 24 h.

5.2.3. Glycolytic Rate and Mito Fuel Flex Assays

PCa cells dependency/capacity on glucose, glutamine and fatty acids, and cell glycolytic response were evaluated by measurement of the extracellular acidification (proton efflux rate, PER) using the Seahorse XF-96 analyser (Seahorse Bioscience, Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA). LNCaP (15000 or 35000 cells/well), DU145 (5000 or 9000 cells/well), and PC3 (5000 or 8000 cells/well) cells were seeded in 96-well plates (Seahorse Bioscience) and maintained for 24 h before the Seahorse XF Glycolytic Rate and Mito Fuel Flex Assays, In parallel, an XFe96 sensor cartridge for each cell plate was placed in a 96-well calibration plate containing 200 μ L/well calibration buffer and left to hydrate overnight at 37°C. The sensor cartridge and the calibration plate were loaded into the XFe96 Extracellular Flux Analyzer for calibration, and then, the utility plate, containing the calibration solution, was replaced with the cell culture plate and the assay started. Cell culture medium was replaced by low-buffered serum-free medium without phenol red with 2 mM glutamine, 10 mM glucose, 1 mM pyruvate, and 5.0 mM HEPES (Glycolytic Rate Assay) or 2 mM glutamine, 10 mM glucose, 1 mM pyruvate (Mito Fuel Flex) at pH 7.4, and cells were maintained at 37° C for 1 h in the absence of CO₂. Next, for Glycolytic Rate Assay, mitochondrial inhibitors rotenone plus antimycin A (0.5 μ M each) and glycolysis inhibitor 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG, 50 µM) were injected via ports A and B, respectively, and PER was measured (Fig. 5.1.A). For, Mito Fuel Flex different combinations of glutaminase inhibitor BPTES (5 µM), carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A) inhibitor Etomoxir (10 μ M), and mitochondrial pyruvate carrier inhibitor UK5099 (4 μ M) were injected in Ports A and B, and oxygen consumption rate was measured (Fig. 5.1.C). Data were analysed using the XFe96 Extracellular Flux Analyzer software (Seahorse XF Glycolytic Rate Assay or Seahorse XF Mito Fuel Flex Test). All results were normalized by the sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay. Briefly, cells were fixed with 50 µl of 60% trichloroacetic acid (TCA), overnight at 4 °C. After removing the fixing solution and washing with distilled water, fixed cellular proteins were stained with the SRB solution (0.05 % w/v in 1% acetic acid) for 1 h at 37 $^{\circ}$ C. Unbound dye was removed with 1% acetic acid, and cell bound dye solubilized with 10 mM Tris base solution, pH 10. Colour intensity was measured at 540 nm using the Cytation 3 microplate reader, from Biotek (Winooski, VT, USA).

5.2.3. Western blot (WB) analysis

PCa cells were homogenized by pippeting in the appropriate volume of radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) (150 mM NaCl, 1 % Nonidet-P40 substitute, 0.5 % Na-deoxycholate, 0.1 % SDS, 50 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with 1 % protease inhibitors cocktail and 10 % PMSF , kept on ice for 20 min with occasional mixing, and then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. Protein concentration was determined using the Pierce^M BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

Total proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE on 7.5, 10 or 12,5% gels and electro-transferred to PVDF membraned (Bio-Rad). Membranes were incubated overnight at 4 $^{\circ}$ C with rabbit anti-

CD36 (1:400, ab64014; Abcam, Cambridge, UK), rabbit anti-acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) (1:1000, no.3662; Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA), rabbit anti-fatty acid synthase (FASN, 1:1000, no.3180; Cell Signaling Technology), mouse anti-CPT1A (1:1000, ab128568; Abcam), Then, membranes were washed and incubated 1 h at room temperature with the anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked (1:20000, no.7074; Cell Signaling Technology) or anti-mouse-IgGĸ HRP-linked (1:20000, sc-516102, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany) secondary antibodies. Protein expression was normalized using a mouse anti-B-actin (1:1000, A5441) antibody. Membranes were incubated with ECL substrate (Bio-Rad) for 5 min, and immunoreactive proteins were visualized with the ChemiDoc™ MP System (Bio-Rad). Band densities were obtained according to standard methods using the Image Lab software (Bio-Rad) and normalized by division with the respective B-actin band density.

5.2.4. Statistical analysis

Statistical significance of differences between experimental groups was evaluated by unpaired t-test with Welch's correction or one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test, using GraphPad Prism v6.00 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. All experimental data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (S.E.M).

5.3. Results and Discussion

The present study investigated the LNCaP, DU145, and PC3 PCa cells dependency on different metabolic pathways, as well as the utilization of glycolysis and aerobic glycolysis in glucose deprivation or hyperglycaemic conditions.

First, we characterized the glycolytic profile of different PCa cells using the Seahorse XF Glycolytic Rate Assay (Fig. 5.1.A and 1B). Pyruvate from glycolysis can be converted to lactate in the cytoplasm, or, alternatively, to CO_2 and water in the mitochondria. Both pathways contribute to the extrusion of protons to the extracellular medium (Fig. 5.1.A). Basal PER represents the contribution of both pathways to acidification at the initial moment. Basal PER was significantly higher in CRPC cells relative to LNCaP (3.03 ± 0.18 and 1.31 ± 0.07 fold-change, respectively, Fig. 5.1.B). These results follow the knowledge that DU145 and PC3 cells have higher metabolic rates than LNCaP cells [21,23,24].

Discounting the contribution from CO_2 -dependent effect on acidification from Basal PER, give as the contribution from glycolysis (Glyco PER) (Fig. 5.1.A). Also, Glyco PER was higher in DU145 and PC3 cells compared to LNCaP (3.67 ± 0.23 and 1.61 ± 0.09 fold-change, respectively, Fig. 5.1.B), which indicates that CRPC display higher glycolytic metabolism. Glyco PER measurement is highly correlated with the extracellular lactate production rate. In fact, our research group has shown the augmented production of lactate in PC3 cells relative to LNCaP cells and non-neoplastic prostate cells PNT1A, which was sustained by the increased activity of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and enhanced expression of monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4) [8]. Note worthy, these *in vitro* outcomes are in accordance with

patients' clinical data. It has been described that CRPC patients present a higher glycolytic activity with LDH activity being used to predict progression-free survival [25-27].

The Compensatory Glycolysis indicates the maximum cells' capacity to use glycolysis to meet energy demands in response to the inhibition of mitochondria by addition of rotenone plus antimycin A (Fig. 5.1.A). Both DU145 and PC3 cells presented a higher capacity to use



Figure 5.1. Glycolytic profile of LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells, and dependency and capacity of utilization of glucose, glutamine and fatty acids. (A) Scheme illustrating the experimental strategy for analysis of glycolytic metabolism. Proton efflux rate (PER) was obtained by the Seahorse XF96 Glycolytic Rate Assay. Basal PER represents the initial total PER. The use of mitochondrial inhibitors, rotenone and antimycin A (0.5 µM each), enabled calculating the mitochondrial-associated acidification (Mito PER). The Glycolytic PER (Glyco PER) resulted from subtracting Mito PER from Basal PER results. Inhibition of mitochondria drives cells compensatory changes to use glycolysis to meet energy demands (Compensatory Glycolysis). Secondly, glycolysis was inhibited by using the glucose analogue 2-deoxy-Dglucose (2-DG, 50 mM, Post-2-DG acidification). (B) Basal PER, Glyco PER, Compensatory Glycolysis and Post 2-DG Acidification in LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells. (C) Schematic panel illustrating the experimental strategy to evaluate cells' dependency on specific fuels, and their capacity to oxidize glucose, glutamine and fatty acids. The rate of oxidation of each fuel was determined by measuring mitochondrial respiration, i.e. oxygen consumption rate (OCR) using the Seahorse XF96 Mito Fuel Flex Test Kit. Glucose, Glutamine, and Fatty acids Dependency is the measurement of cancer cells reliance on each of these pathways to maintain baseline respiration upon inhibition of mitochondrial oxidation with UK5099, BPTES or Etomoxir, respectively. Glucose, Glutamine, Fatty acids Capacity is the ability of a cancer cell's mitochondria to oxidize each of these fuels when the other fuel pathways are inhibited, i.e upon inhibition of BPTES/Etomoxir, UK5099/Etomoxir or UK5099/BPTES, respectively. (D) LNCaP, DU145, PC3 cells dependency and capacity to oxidize glucose, glutamine, and fatty acids. All experimental results were normalized to cell mass determined by the SRB assay. Results are expressed as fold-variation relative to LNCaP cells. Error bars indicate mean ± S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 when compared with LNCaP, \$ p<0.05; \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared with DU145.

glycolysis in these conditions compared to LNCaP cells $(3.27 \pm 0.19 \text{ and } 1.47 \pm 0.08 \text{ fold-change, respectively, Fig. 5.1.B}$). CRPC cells have a lower activity of mitochondrial respiratory chain complexes III and IV naturally, whereas LNCaP cells were described as having a more oxidative phenotype [28]. These findings support our results, with the CRPC cells more easily compensating inhibition of mitochondrial activity using glycolysis.

It is note worthy, that DU145 cells, which are originated from brain metastasis of prostate adenocarcinomas, displayed significantly higher Basal PER, Glyco PER and Compensatory Glycolysis when compared with PC3 (Fig. 5.1.B). Indeed, brain metastasis of breast and lung cancers are characteristically described as being highly glycolytic [29]. Moreover, it was shown that DU145 tumour xenografts had enhanced capacity of converting pyruvate into lactate relative to those originated from PC3 cells, also displaying a greater sensitivity to inhibition of LDH [30].

Injection of the glucose analogue 2-DG inhibits glycolysis through its competitive binding to hexokinase, the first enzyme in the glycolytic pathway. Post-2-DG acidification indicates the sources of extracellular acidification that are not attributed to glycolysis or mitochondrial phosphorylation (Fig. 5.1.A). CRPC cells showed a significantly higher post-2-DG acidification relative to LNCaP cells (1.79 \pm 0.09 and 1.76 \pm 0.10 fold-change, respectively, Fig. 5.1.B), which indicates that these cells are more able to use alternative energy sources that contribute to acidification.

Next, the dependency of androgen-sensitive and CRPC cells on specific fuels, and their capacity to oxidize glucose, glutamine and fatty acids in the mitochondria were determined using the Seahorse XFp Mito Fuel Flex Test. Dependency indicates that the cells' mitochondria are unable to compensate for the blocked pathway by oxidizing other fuels to maintain the baseline respiration (Fig. 5.1.C). Whereas, capacity is the ability of a cancer cell's mitochondria to oxidize a fuel of interest when other alternative fuels pathways are inhibited (Fig. 5.1.C). PC3 cells dependency on glucose was significantly lower relative to LNCaP and DU145 cells (0.11 \pm 0.05 fold-change relative to LNCaP, Fig. 5.1.D). However, PC3 cells were the cancer line with the highest capacity for oxidation of glucose (1.05 \pm 0.10 vs 0.73 \pm 0.05 fold-change in DU145 compared to LNCaP, Fig. 5.1.D). The inhibition of pyruvate entry into the mitochondria by UK5099 has been tested in several studies, which showed the reprogramming of aggressive cancer cells metabolism to use aerobic glycolysis and glutamine uptake [31-33]. Compared with LNCaP and DU145 cells, PC3 cells do not rely on glutamine (Fig. 5.1D). However, PC3 cells displayed a higher capacity to oxidize glutamine relative to LNCaP and DU145 cells (1.47 \pm 0.07 fold-change relative to LNCaP, Fig. 5.1.D).

Dependency on fatty acids was significantly lower in CRPC cells (DU145 and PC3) relative to the androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells (0.03 ± 0.02 and 0.32 ± 0.14 fold change compared to LNCaP cells, respectively, Fig. 5.1.D). These findings are sustained by the fact that fatty acid B-oxidation is extremely regulated by androgens and androgen receptor in the androgen-sensitive stages of PCa [53, 54]. Moreover, treatment with etomoxir, a specific inhibitor of CPT1A, showed to be effective in suppressing viability and proliferative activity of

androgen-sensitive PCa cells [34,35]. DU145 cells also presented lower fatty acids capacity relatively to LNCaP and PC3 cells (0.71 \pm 0.02 fold changed compared to LNCaP, Fig 1.D).

Altogether, the results obtained showed a predominant capacity of PC3 cells to use the glucose and glutamine as fuels to sustain the mitochondrial respiration when the other metabolic pathways were inhibited. Moreover, LNCaP presented more dependency on fatty acids and a higher capacity to oxidize this fuel relative to CRPC cells (Fig. 5.1.D).

It has been shown that glucose availability and the glycolytic environment can change the metabolic machinery, as well as influence the PCa cells response to therapy [15,16]. Therefore, we decided to investigate the glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells maintained in glucose deprivation or hyperglycaemic conditions for 24 h. LNCaP and PC3 cells in hyperglycaemic conditions presented lower levels of Basal PER relative to glucose deprivation conditions (52.44 ± 3.15 vs. 61.08 ± 2.78 pmol/min in LNCaP and 61.15 ± 3.24 vs 79.65 ± 3.97 pmol/min in PC3, Fig. 5.2.A). However, GlycoPER measurement was only diminished by high glucose availability in PC3 cells (49.23 ± 2.75 vs. 72.01 ± 3.48 pmol/min in glucose deprivation conditions, Fig. 5.2.B).



Figure 5.2. Effect of glucose deprivation and hyperglycaemia (30 mM glucose) on Basal Proton Efflux Rate (PER), Glycolytic PER, Compensatory Glycolysis, and Post 2-DG Acidification in LNCaP, DU145, PC3 cells. PER was obtained by the Seahorse XF96 Glycolytic Rate Assay. (A) Basal PER represents the initial total PER. The use of mitochondrial inhibitors, rotenone and antimycin A (0.5 μ M each), enabled calculating the mitochondrial-associated acidification. (B) The Glycolytic PER (Glyco PER) resulted from subtracting mitochondrial acidification from Basal PER results. (C) Inhibition of mitochondria drives cells compensatory changes to use glycolysis to meet energy demands (Compensatory Glycolysis). (D) Secondly, glycolysis was inhibited by using the glucose analogue 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG, 50 mM, Post-2-DG acidification). All experimental results were normalized to cell mass determined by the SRB assay. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 when compared with glucose deprivation.

Following the addition of mitochondrial inhibitors, the compensatory glycolysis in LNCaP and PC3 cells also was lower in hyperglycaemia relatively to glucose deprivation (90.38 \pm 6.77 vs 116.7 \pm 5.84 pmol/min in LNCaP, and 91.33 \pm 5.30 vs 127.6 \pm 4.59 pmol/min in PC3, Fig. 5.2.C). Furthermore, post-2-DG acidification (Fig. 5.1.A), that indicates the usage of others energy sources besides glycolysis or mitochondrial phosphorylation, was significantly decreased by hyperglycaemia in LNCaP and PC3 cells (9.019 \pm 0.86 vs. 18.24 \pm 1.09 pmol/min



Figure 5.3. Effect of glucose deprivation and hyperglycaemia (30 mM glucose) on the expression of target regulators of lipid metabolism in LNCaP, DU145, PC3 cells. Protein expression of CD36 (A), ACC (B), FASN (C) and CPT1A (D) in LNCaP, DU145, PC3 cells analysed by WB after normalization with B-actin. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01 when compared with glucose deprivation. Representative immunoblots are shown in panel E.

and 21.74 ± 1.351 vs. 26.26 ± 1.062 pmol/min , respectively, Fig. 5.2.D), whereas was augmented in DU145 cells (19.04 \pm 1.24 vs 25.98 \pm 1.05, Fig. 5.2.D). These results showed that DU145 cells present some plasticity to face alterations on glucose availability, which is in accordance with other findings describing the resistance of DU145 cells to radiation in glucose deprivation conditions [36].

The available literature also shows that glucose deprivation, as well as hypoxia and hypoxia-inducible factor-1, activate glycolysis and upregulate the expression of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1), which was a mechanism of resistance to cell death [37-39]. Overall, others and our results have confirmed the dynamics of the Warburg Effect in PCa cells to answer to cell's energy necessities [40].

Finally taking into account that glucose metabolism is one of the principal sources to lipid metabolism, we decided to evaluate the expression of target regulators of lipid metabolism in hyperglycaemic and glucose deprivation conditions (Fig. 5.3.). The expression of the fatty acid transporter, CD36, was significantly increased in LNCaP and PC3 cells in hyperglycaemia relative to glucose deprivation (p=0.024 and p=0.018, respectively Fig. 5.3.A). ACC, the enzyme that catalyzes the carboxylation of acetyl-CoA to malonyl-CoA is a key element in the biosynthesis and oxidation of fatty acids. Hyperglycaemia induced ACC expression relative to glucose deprivation, both in LNCaP and PC3 cells (p=0.015 and p=0.027, respectively, Fig. 3B). In fact, the majority of acetyl-CoA used for lipid synthesis is generated from glucose by the conversion of pyruvate to citrate [41,42]. Similarly, the expression of FASN, a crucial enzyme in fatty acid synthesis, was increased in LNCaP and PC3 cells in high glucose availability (p=0.007 and p=0.045, respectively Fig. 5.3.C). Knowledge of the mechanisms that underpin the hyperglycaemia actions influencing lipid metabolism is very limited. However, it was reported that glucose could activate the sterol regulatory elementbinding proteins (SREBPs) [43], transcription factors known to regulate the expression of genes involved in lipid and cholesterol metabolism, including FASN [44-47]. Also, the expression of CPT1A, a rate-limiting component in fatty acid oxidation by catalysing the carnitine-dependent transport of fatty acids across the inner mitochondrial membrane, was shaped by the glycolytic environment. Hyperglycaemia induced CPT1A expression relative to glucose deprivation, both in LNCaP and PC3 cells (p=0.017 and p=0.047, respectively, Fig. 5.3.D). No effect was seen on the expression of fatty acid metabolism regulators, CD36, ACC, FASN, CPT1A in DU145 cells, in response to different glucose concentrations (Fig. 5.3.). In LNCaP and PC3 cells, our results showed that high glucose availability diminished the glycolytic activity and augmented lipid metabolism, indicating a -shift of PCa metabolism dependently on glucose availability.

In summary, this is the first study fully characterizing the metabolism of PCa cells by the Seahorse analysis and showing a differential dependency and capacity of PCa cells. In addition, hyperglycaemia conditions induced a metabolic shift turning off glycolytic pathways and activating lipid metabolism. Overall, these findings contribute to the deep understanding of PCa metabolism and are of utmost importance for development of therapeutic options targeting metabolic pathways.

5.4. Acknowledgments

None.

5.5. Funding

This work was supported by FEDER funds through the POCI - COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme Competitiveness and Internationalisation in Axis I - Strengthening research, technological development and innovation (Projects No. 007491 and 029114) and National Funds by FCT-Foundation for Science and Technology (Project UID/Multi/00709/2013). Cardoso HJ and Figueira MI were recipient of FCT fellowships, respectively, SFRH/BD/111351/2015 and SFRH/BD/104671/2014.

5.6. Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

5.7. References

1. Hanahan D, Weinberg Robert A (2011) Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell 144 (5):646-674. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

2. Sun L, Suo C, Li ST, Zhang H, Gao P (2018) Metabolic reprogramming for cancer cells and their microenvironment: Beyond the Warburg Effect. Biochimica et biophysica acta Reviews on cancer 1870 (1):51-66. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2018.06.005

3. Gouirand V, Guillaumond F, Vasseur S (2018) Influence of the Tumor Microenvironment on Cancer Cells Metabolic Reprogramming. Frontiers in oncology 8:117-117. doi:10.3389/fonc.2018.00117

4. Warburg O, Wind F, Negelein E (1927) The metabolism of tumors in the body. The Journal of general physiology 8 (6):519-530

5. Hirschhaeuser F, Sattler UG, Mueller-Klieser W (2011) Lactate: a metabolic key player in cancer. Cancer research 71 (22):6921-6925. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-11-1457

6. Carvalho TM, Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S (2019) The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: A route to metastasization and a target for therapy. European journal of medicinal chemistry 171:343-363. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.03.053

7. Huang Y, Jiang X, Liang X, Jiang G (2018) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of castration resistant prostate cancer. Oncology letters 15 (5):6063-6076. doi:10.3892/ol.2018.8123

8. Vaz CV, Alves MG, Marques R, Moreira PI, Oliveira PF, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2012) Androgenresponsive and nonresponsive prostate cancer cells present a distinct glycolytic metabolism profile. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 44 (11):2077-2084. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.08.013

9. Penning TM (2015) Mechanisms of drug resistance that target the androgen axis in castration resistant prostate cancer (CRPC). The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 153:105-113. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.05.010

10. Wadosky KM, Koochekpour S (2016) Molecular mechanisms underlying resistance to androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer. Oncotarget 7 (39):64447-64470. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10901

11. Han W, Gao S, Barrett D, Ahmed M, Han D, Macoska JA, He HH, Cai C (2018) Reactivation of androgen receptor-regulated lipid biosynthesis drives the progression of castration-resistant prostate cancer. Oncogene 37 (6):710-721. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.385

12. Cutruzzolà F, Giardina G, Marani M, Macone A, Paiardini A, Rinaldo S, Paone A (2017) Glucose Metabolism in the Progression of Prostate Cancer. Frontiers in physiology 8:97-97. doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00097

13. Eales KL, Hollinshead KE, Tennant DA (2016) Hypoxia and metabolic adaptation of cancer cells. Oncogenesis 5:e190. doi:10.1038/oncsis.2015.50

14. Wek RC, Staschke KA (2010) How do tumours adapt to nutrient stress? The EMBO journal 29 (12):1946-1947. doi:10.1038/emboj.2010.110

15. Cardoso HJ, Vaz CV, Carvalho TMA, Figueira MI, Socorro S (2019) Tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib modulates the viability and apoptosis of castrate-resistant prostate cancer cells dependently on the glycolytic environment. Life sciences 218:274-283. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2018.12.055

16. Biernacka KM, Uzoh CC, Zeng L, Persad RA, Bahl A, Gillatt D, Perks CM, Holly JM (2013) Hyperglycaemia-induced chemoresistance of prostate cancer cells due to IGFBP2. Endocrinerelated cancer 20 (5):741-751. doi:10.1530/erc-13-0077

17. Gonzalez-Menendez P, Hevia D, Alonso-Arias R, Alvarez-Artime A, Rodriguez-Garcia A, Kinet S, Gonzalez-Pola I, Taylor N, Mayo JC, Sainz RM (2018) GLUT1 protects prostate cancer cells from glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress. Redox Biol 17:112-127. doi:10.1016/j.redox.2018.03.017

18. Tonry C, Armstrong J, Pennington SR (2017) Probing the prostate tumour microenvironment I: impact of glucose deprivation on a cell model of prostate cancer progression. Oncotarget 8 (9):14374-14394. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.14605

19. Balaban S, Nassar ZD, Zhang AY, Hosseini-Beheshti E, Centenera MM, Schreuder M, Lin HM, Aishah A, Varney B, Liu-Fu F, Lee LS, Nagarajan SR, Shearer RF, Hardie RA, Raftopulos NL, Kakani MS, Saunders DN, Holst J, Horvath LG, Butler LM, Hoy AJ (2019) Extracellular Fatty Acids Are the Major Contributor to Lipid Synthesis in Prostate Cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR 17 (4):949-962. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-0347

20. Madigan AA, Rycyna KJ, Parwani AV, Datiri YJ, Basudan AM, Sobek KM, Cummings JL, Basse PH, Bacich DJ, O'Keefe DS (2014) Novel nuclear localization of fatty acid synthase correlates with prostate cancer aggressiveness. Am J Pathol 184 (8):2156-2162. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.04.012

21. Kaighn ME, Narayan KS, Ohnuki Y, Lechner JF, Jones LW (1979) Establishment and characterization of a human prostatic carcinoma cell line (PC-3). Investigative urology 17 (1):16-23

22. Stone KR, Mickey DD, Wunderli H, Mickey GH, Paulson DF (1978) Isolation of a human prostate carcinoma cell line (DU 145). International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 21 (3):274-281

23. Horoszewicz JS, Leong SS, Chu TM, Wajsman ZL, Friedman M, Papsidero L, Kim U, Chai LS, Kakati S, Arya SK, Sandberg AA (1980) The LNCaP cell line--a new model for studies on human prostatic carcinoma. Progress in clinical and biological research 37:115-132

24. Kirk D, Kagawa S, Vener G (1983) Comparable growth regulation of five human tumor cell lines by neonatal human lung fibroblasts in semisolid culture media. Cancer research 43 (8):3754-3758

25. Vargas HA, Wassberg C, Fox JJ, Wibmer A, Goldman DA, Kuk D, Gonen M, Larson SM, Morris MJ, Scher HI, Hricak H (2014) Bone metastases in castration-resistant prostate cancer: associations between morphologic CT patterns, glycolytic activity, and androgen receptor expression on PET and overall survival. Radiology 271 (1):220-229. doi:10.1148/radiol.13130625

26. Mori K, Kimura T, Onuma H, Kimura S, Yamamoto T, Sasaki H, Miki J, Miki K, Egawa S (2017) Lactate dehydrogenase predicts combined progression-free survival after sequential therapy with abiraterone and enzalutamide for patients with castration-resistant prostate cancer. The Prostate 77 (10):1144-1150. doi:10.1002/pros.23373

27. Pertega-Gomes N, Felisbino S, Massie CE, Vizcaino JR, Coelho R, Sandi C, Simoes-Sousa S, Jurmeister S, Ramos-Montoya A, Asim M, Tran M, Oliveira E, Lobo da Cunha A, Maximo V, Baltazar F, Neal DE, Fryer LGD (2015) A glycolytic phenotype is associated with prostate cancer progression and aggressiveness: a role for monocarboxylate transporters as metabolic targets for therapy. The Journal of pathology 236 (4):517-530. doi:10.1002/path.4547

28. Higgins LH, Withers HG, Garbens A, Love HD, Magnoni L, Hayward SW, Moyes CD (2009) Hypoxia and the metabolic phenotype of prostate cancer cells. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1787 (12):1433-1443. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2009.06.003

29. Ciminera AK, Jandial R, Termini J (2017) Metabolic advantages and vulnerabilities in brain metastases. Clin Exp Metastasis 34 (6-7):401-410. doi:10.1007/s10585-017-9864-8

30. Scroggins BT, Matsuo M, White AO, Saito K, Munasinghe JP, Sourbier C, Yamamoto K, Diaz V, Takakusagi Y, Ichikawa K, Mitchell JB, Krishna MC, Citrin DE (2018) Hyperpolarized [1-(13)C]-Pyruvate Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopic Imaging of Prostate Cancer In Vivo Predicts Efficacy of Targeting the Warburg Effect. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 24 (13):3137-3148. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-17-1957

31. Li X, Han G, Li X, Kan Q, Fan Z, Li Y, Ji Y, Zhao J, Zhang M, Grigalavicius M, Berge V, Goscinski MA, Nesland JM, Suo Z (2017) Mitochondrial pyruvate carrier function determines cell stemness and metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells. Oncotarget 8 (28):46363-46380. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.18199

32. Zhong Y, Li X, Yu D, Li X, Li Y, Long Y, Yuan Y, Ji Z, Zhang M, Wen JG, Nesland JM, Suo Z (2015) Application of mitochondrial pyruvate carrier blocker UK5099 creates metabolic reprogram and greater stem-like properties in LnCap prostate cancer cells in vitro. Oncotarget 6 (35):37758-37769. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.5386

33. Bader DA, Hartig SM, Putluri V, Foley C, Hamilton MP, Smith EA, Saha PK, Panigrahi A, Walker C, Zong L, Martini-Stoica H, Chen R, Rajapakshe K, Coarfa C, Sreekumar A, Mitsiades N, Bankson JA, Ittmann MM, O'Malley BW, Putluri N, McGuire SE (2019) Mitochondrial pyruvate import is a metabolic vulnerability in androgen receptor-driven prostate cancer. Nature metabolism 1 (1):70-85. doi:10.1038/s42255-018-0002-y

34. Schlaepfer IR, Rider L, Rodrigues LU, Gijon MA, Pac CT, Romero L, Cimic A, Sirintrapun SJ, Glode LM, Eckel RH, Cramer SD (2014) Lipid catabolism via CPT1 as a therapeutic target for prostate cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (10):2361-2371. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-14-0183

35. Flaig TW, Salzmann-Sullivan M, Su LJ, Zhang Z, Joshi M, Gijon MA, Kim J, Arcaroli JJ, Van Bokhoven A, Lucia MS, La Rosa FG, Schlaepfer IR (2017) Lipid catabolism inhibition sensitizes prostate cancer cells to antiandrogen blockade. Oncotarget 8 (34):56051-56065. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.17359

36. Li J, Ayene R, Ward KM, Dayanandam E, Ayene IS (2009) Glucose deprivation increases nuclear DNA repair protein Ku and resistance to radiation induced oxidative stress in human cancer cells. Cell biochemistry and function 27 (2):93-101. doi:10.1002/cbf.1541

37. Gonzalez-Menendez P, Hevia D, Alonso-Arias R, Alvarez-Artime A, Rodriguez-Garcia A, Kinet S, Gonzalez-Pola I, Taylor N, Mayo JC, Sainz RM (2018) GLUT1 protects prostate cancer cells from glucose deprivation-induced oxidative stress. Redox biology 17:112-127. doi:10.1016/j.redox.2018.03.017

38. Marin-Hernandez A, Lopez-Ramirez SY, Del Mazo-Monsalvo I, Gallardo-Perez JC, Rodriguez-Enriquez S, Moreno-Sanchez R, Saavedra E (2014) Modeling cancer glycolysis under hypoglycemia, and the role played by the differential expression of glycolytic isoforms. The FEBS journal 281 (15):3325-3345. doi:10.1111/febs.12864

39. Nishimoto A, Kugimiya N, Hosoyama T, Enoki T, Li TS, Hamano K (2014) HIF-1alpha activation under glucose deprivation plays a central role in the acquisition of anti-apoptosis in human colon cancer cells. International journal of oncology 44 (6):2077-2084. doi:10.3892/ijo.2014.2367

40. van Beek J (2018) The dynamic side of the Warburg effect: glycolytic intermediate storage as buffer for fluctuating glucose and O 2 supply in tumor cells. F1000Research 7:1177. doi:10.12688/f1000research.15635.2

41. Granchi C (2018) ATP citrate lyase (ACLY) inhibitors: An anti-cancer strategy at the crossroads of glucose and lipid metabolism. European journal of medicinal chemistry 157:1276-1291. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2018.09.001

42. Zhao S, Torres A, Henry RA, Trefely S, Wallace M, Lee JV, Carrer A, Sengupta A, Campbell SL, Kuo YM, Frey AJ, Meurs N, Viola JM, Blair IA, Weljie AM, Metallo CM, Snyder NW, Andrews AJ, Wellen KE (2016) ATP-Citrate Lyase Controls a Glucose-to-Acetate Metabolic Switch. Cell reports 17 (4):1037-1052. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.09.069

43. Guo D (2016) SCAP links glucose to lipid metabolism in cancer cells. Mol Cell Oncol 3 (2). doi:10.1080/23723556.2015.1132120

44. Ericsson J, Jackson SM, Lee BC, Edwards PA (1996) Sterol regulatory element binding protein binds to a cis element in the promoter of the farnesyl diphosphate synthase gene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93 (2):945-950. doi:10.1073/pnas.93.2.945

45. Briggs MR, Yokoyama C, Wang X, Brown MS, Goldstein JL (1993) Nuclear protein that binds sterol regulatory element of low density lipoprotein receptor promoter. I. Identification of the protein and delineation of its target nucleotide sequence. The Journal of biological chemistry 268 (19):14490-14496

46. Wen Y-A, Xiong X, Zaytseva YY, Napier DL, Vallee E, Li AT, Wang C, Weiss HL, Evers BM, Gao T (2018) Downregulation of SREBP inhibits tumor growth and initiation by altering cellular metabolism in colon cancer. Cell Death & Disease 9 (3):265. doi:10.1038/s41419-018-0330-6

47. Cheng X, Li J, Guo D (2018) SCAP/SREBPs are Central Players in Lipid Metabolism and Novel Metabolic Targets in Cancer Therapy. Current topics in medicinal chemistry 18 (6):484-493. doi:10.2174/1568026618666180523104541

Chapter 6

Glutaminolysis is a metabolic route essential for survival and growth of prostate cancer cells, and a target of 5αdihydrotestosterone regulation

This Chapter was submitted for publication:

Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Carvalho TM, Vaz CV, Madureira PA, Oliveira PJ, Sardão VA, Socorro S. Glutaminolysis is a metabolic route essential for survival and growth of prostate cancer cells, and a target of 5α-dihydrotestosterone regulation. Submitted to Cancer Letters.

Abstract

Resistance to androgen-deprivation therapies and the progression of disease to the so-called castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) remain a challenge in prostate cancer (PCa) management and treatment. Among other alterations, the establishment of CRPC is associated with a set of metabolic alterations driven by androgens. The present study aimed to characterize the importance of glutaminolysis in controlling the survival and growth of androgen-sensitive (LNCaP) and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells, and investigate the role of androgens regulating this metabolic route. Moreover, the consequence of inhibiting glutaminase on the PCa cells response to anti-androgens, and their capability to use other metabolic pathways, were evaluated. Western Blot (WB) analysis demonstrated the lower expression of the glutamine transporter, ASCT2 in DU145 and PC3 cells relative to LNCaP, whereas glutaminase was increased. 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) up-regulated the expression of ASCT2 and glutaminase both in LNCaP cells (10 nM) and rat prostate (500 μ g/kg/day). Glutaminase inhibition (BPTES, 10 μ M) diminished PCa cell viability, migration and c-Myc oncogene expression, while increasing the expression of the cell cycle inhibitor p21 and augmenting caspase-3 activity. Moreover, co-treatment with BPTES and the anti-androgen bicalutamide had a synergic effect suppressing LNCaP cells viability. Biochemical assays, WB analysis and the extracellular flux analyses demonstrated that inhibiting glutaminolysis had a differential impact on glycolysis and lipid metabolism in androgen-sensitive and CRPC cells. Overall, the present findings support glutaminolysis as a central metabolic route controlling PCa cell fate and highlight for the benefit of co-targeting androgen receptor and glutamine metabolism in PCa treatment.

Keywords: 5α -dihydrotestosterone, bicalutamide, BPTES, prostate cancer, glutamine, glutaminolysis.

6.1. Introduction

Prostate cancer (PCa) is one of the most diagnosed cancers among men, although treatment and monitoring remain a clinical and research challenge. The progression of PCa is initially dependent on the stimulatory action of androgens, which validates the use of therapies reducing androgens biosynthesis or antagonizing the androgen receptor (AR) [1,2]. However, the majority of PCa cases becomes resistant to androgen-deprivation therapy (ADT), progressing to the so-called castrate-resistant PCa (CRPC), on average after 38 months [3]. Thus, this stage of the disease is characterized by the proliferation of PCa cells independently of androgen depletion and, despite the important advances in the last years, effective treatment options for CRPC are still needed [4,5]. Preclinical and clinical research aimed at developing strategies for better management of PCa and slowing the progression to CRPC, have involved investigating the efficacy of ADT in combination with other drugs, namely docetaxel or cabazitaxel [6]. However, the benefits for patients are modest, increasing the overall survival by a few months only, while the development of resistance also occurs [6]. The identification of new therapeutic targets in connection with the androgens and AR actions remains a fundamental aspect to improve management and treatment of PCa.

Metabolic reprogramming favouring cancer development and progression is one of the hallmarks of cancer that has been intensively exploited with therapeutic interest in the last years [7-9]. In the case of PCa, progression to CRPC has been associated with a set of metabolic alterations that can be driven by androgens [10-12]. These steroid hormones have been characterized as master regulators of several metabolic pathways in PCa, such as aerobic glycolysis, glutamine metabolism, pyruvate import, oxidative phosphorylation, fatty acid β-oxidation, and *de novo* lipid synthesis [13,14,12]. Indeed, the androgens' role stimulating glucose and lipid usage and metabolism has been detailed, but their action modulating other routes, namely, glutaminolysis is less known.

Glutamine is one of the principal energy sources, supplying nitrogen for purine and pyrimidines biosynthesis, being also a carbon substrate for anabolic processes in cancer [15,16]. Glutamine uptake is mediated by the alanine, serine, cysteine transporter 2 (ASCT2) (also called SLC1A5 or L-type amino acid transporter) whose expression has been shown to be significantly increased in several types of cancer, including PCa [17]. In the intracellular space, glutamine is converted to glutamate by the activity of the mitochondrial enzyme glutaminase [18]. In turn, glutamate originates α -ketoglutarate, an intermediate metabolite that fuels the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Moreover, glutaminase activity and the α -ketoglutarate have been shown to influence other metabolic pathways, such as glycolysis [19].

Glutaminase has been shown to be highly expressed in PCa and to correlate positively with tumour stage and disease progression [20,19]. Also, there are indications that glutaminolysis is a relevant metabolic pathway in PCa, and that inhibiting glutaminase can suppress PCa cell proliferation [21-26]. However, the broad actions of androgens regulating this metabolic route and the effect of glutaminase inhibition in PCa cells in the presence (or absence) of anti-androgens still need attention. Also, it is entirely unknown whether the inhibition of glutaminolysis by blocking glutaminase activity shapes PCa cells towards higher glucose and lipid utilization.

Our main objective was to characterize the importance of glutaminolysis in controlling cell fate in androgen-sensitive and CRPC cells, and investigate the androgenic regulation of this metabolic route. We determined not only whether inhibition of glutaminase sensitizes PCa cells to anti-androgens, but also ascertained how PCa cells respond using other metabolic pathways, such as glycolysis, after blockage of glutaminolysis.

6.2. Materials and methods

6.2.1. Chemicals

All chemicals, culture media, and antibodies unless otherwise stated were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). All solutions were prepared with ultra-pure water. BPTES was dissolved in DMSO and 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) and bicalutamide in ethanol.

6.2.2. Cell lines and treatments

Human prostate cancer adenocarcinoma cell lines (LNCaP, DU145, and PC3) were purchased from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC, Salisbury, UK). LNCaP cells have origin in PCa lymph node metastasis, express the AR and are used as an androgen-sensitive model. DU145 and PC3 cell lines are originated from brain and bone metastasis of undifferentiated grade IV prostate adenocarcinomas, and mimic the castrate-resistant stage of PCa [27,28].

LNCaP, DU145, and PC3 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1 % penicillin/ streptomycin at 37 °C in an atmosphere equilibrated with 5 % CO₂. At 60% confluence, culture medium was replaced by phenol red-free RPMI1640 medium containing 5% charcoal-stripped FBS. Next, cells were maintained for additional 24 h and then, exposed to DHT (10 nM) or vehicle for 12, 24, 48 h. Alternatively, cells were exposed to different concentrations of glutaminase inhibitor, BPTES (1, 2, 5, 10, 25, and 50 μ M), alone or in the presence of the AR inhibitor bicalutamide (10, 20, and 40 μ M).

6.2.3. Animals and hormone treatment

Adult male Wistar (*Rattus norvegicus*) rats, approximately aged 3 months old (250-300 g) were maintained in an animal room at constant temperature and humidity, under a 12 h lightdark cycle, with standard food pellets and water available *ad libitum*. Animal handling and all experimental procedures complied with the guidelines established by the "Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals" published by the US National Institutes of Health (NIH Publication No. 85-23, revised 1996), and the National and European Union rules for the care and handling of laboratory animals (Directive 2010/63/EU).

A total of 16 rats were orchidectomised (ORCHX) under anaesthesia (Clorketam 1000, Vétoquinol, Lure, France). Five days after surgery, animals were randomly divided into two groups receiving daily intraperitoneal injections of DHT (500 μ g/kg/day) (ORCHX + DHT) or vehicle alone (physiologic serum/ethanol 30% alone; ORCHX + Vehicle) for 5 days. Another group of animals that did not undergone surgery was treated daily with vehicle alone (Intact group, n = 8). After treatment, animals were euthanized by cervical dislocation under anesthesia (100 mg ketamine/8 mg xilazine per Kg), and prostates removed and immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen for protein extraction.

6.2.4. Protein extraction

Human prostate cells and rat prostate tissues were homogenized in the appropriate volume of radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) (150 mM NaCl, 1 % Nonidet-P40 substitute, 0.5 % Na-deoxycholate, 0.1 % SDS, 50 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with 1 % protease inhibitors cocktail and PMSF (0,1 mM), kept on ice for 20 min with occasional mixing, and then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. Protein concentration was determined using the Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

6.2.5. Western blot (WB) analysis

Twenty-five microgram of protein extracts were resolved on a 12.5% acryl-bisacrylamide gel by SDS-PAGE. Proteins were electro-transferred to PVDF membranes (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), which were incubated with rabbit anti-ASCT2 (1:1000, V501; Cell Signalling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA), rabbit anti-glutaminase (1:1000, ab93434, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), rabbit anti-Glucose transporter type1 (GLUT1, 1:1000,CBL242, Millipore), rabbit anti-GLUT2 (1:1000, sc-9117, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany), rabbit anti-GLUT3 (1:1000, sc-30107, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-Phosphofructokinase 1 (PFK1, 1:1000, sc-67028, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-lactate dehydrogenase (LDH, 1:10,000, Ab52488, Abcam,), rabbit anti-monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4, 1:1000, sc-50329,Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-Fatty Acid Synthase (FASN, 1:1000, no.3180; Cell Signaling Technology), mouse anti-Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A, 1:1000, ab128568; Abcam), rabbit anti-p21 (1:500, sc-397, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and rabbit anti-phospho-c-Myc (1:1000, no.13748; Cell Signaling Technology) primary antibodies. After that, membranes were washed and incubated with either anti-rabbit IgG HRP-linked (1:20000, sc-2004, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or anti-mouse-IgGk HRP-linked (1:20000, sc-516102, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) secondary antibodies for 1 h at room temperature. Protein expression was normalized using an anti-n-tubulin monoclonal antibody (1:10000, T9026) or mouse anti-Bactin (1:1000, A5441) antibodies. Membranes were incubated with ECL substrate (Bio-Rad) for 5 min, and immunoreactive proteins were visualized using the ChemiDoc™ MP System (Bio-Rad). Band densities were obtained according to standard methods using Image Lab software (Bio-Rad) and normalized by the respective housekeeping band density.

6.2.6. Fluorescence immunocytochemistry

LNCaP cells were fixed with 4% PFA for 10 min and permeabilized with 1% Triton X-100 for 5 min at room temperature. Non-specific staining was blocked by incubation with PBS containing 0.1% (w/v) Tween-20 (PBS-T) and 20% FBS for 1 h. After washing, cells were incubated with the rabbit anti-ASCT2 (1:100, V501; Cell Signalling Technology) primary antibody for 1 h at room temperature. Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen,

Darmstadt, Germany) was used as secondary antibody. Alternatively, cells were incubated with rabbit anti-Calnexin (1:50, sc-11397, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) primary antibody for 1 h at room temperature and Alexa Fluor 546 goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen) was used as secondary antibody. Specificity of staining was assessed by omission of the primary antibodies. Cell nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33342 (5 mg/mL, Invitrogen) for 10 min. Lamellae were washed with PBS-T and mounted with Dako fluorescent mounting medium (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark). Images were acquired using a Zeiss LSM710 laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Gottingen, Germany). The threshold for the co-localization of ASCT2-calnexin was defined through the omission of anti-Calnexin or anti-ASCT2 antibodies. The degree of co-localization was measured by the Pearson's Correlation Coefficient obtained in the Zeiss LSM710 laser scanning confocal microscope.

6.2.7. Cell viability assay

LNCaP (25.000 cells/well), DU145 (8000 cells/well) and PC3 (8000 cells/well) cells were grown in 96-well plates, and cell viability was determined by the colorimetric MTT assay. After BPTES or bicalutamide treatments, MTT (3-(4,5-Dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide), at a final concentration of 0.5 mg/ml, was added to the cell culture medium and reaction occurred in the dark at 37 °C for 4 h. After that, MTT solution was carefully removed, and the formed formazan crystals were solubilized with 100 μ L DMSO. The absorbance of the resultant purple coloured solution was measured at 570 nm using the xMarkTM Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad). The absorbance value is directly proportional to the number of viable cells in each experimental group.

6.2.8. Migration assay

Cell migration assay was performed using 8 μ M pore size inserts (35224, SPL, Life Sciences, Naechon-Myeon Pocheon, South Korea). Briefly, LNCaP (3.0 x10⁵ cells/transwell), DU145 (10⁵ cells/transwell) and PC3 (1.5 x10⁵ cells/transwell) cells were placed into the upper chambers with serum-free media in the presence or absence of BPTES. The lower chambers contained media supplemented with 20% FBS. After 24 h, cells on the lower surface of the transwell were fixed and stained with haematoxylin. Cells were then counted in 10, randomly selected, ×40 magnification fields per transwell.

6.2.9. Caspase-3-like activity

The caspase-3-like activity was determined spectrophotometrically at 405 nm by detecting the presence of the yellow product p-nitro-aniline (pNA), upon cleavage of caspase-3 substrate (Ac-DEVD-pNA). In brief, 10 μ l of total protein extract was incubated overnight at 37 °C with reaction buffer (20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4, 2 mM EDTA, 0.1% CHAPS, and 5 mM DTT)

and 200 μ M of Ac-DEVD-pNA. The amount of generated pNA was calculated by extrapolation with a standard curve with known amounts of pNA. All measurements were normalized to the total amount (μ g) of protein in each sample.

6.2.10. Quantification of glutamine, glucose and lactate

The concentration of glutamine (NZYTech, Lisboa, Portugal), glucose and lactate (Spinreact, Girona, Spain) in the cell culture medium of DHT- or BPTES-treated cells was determined by spectrophotometric analysis using commercial kits according to the manufacturer's instructions. The glutamine and glucose consumption, as well as lactate production, were calculated relatively to the initial concentration of these metabolites at 0 h of treatment. All measurements were normalized to the total amount (μ g) of protein in each sample.

6.2.11. Glycolytic rate assay

The cell glycolytic response upon BPTEs treatment was evaluated by measurement of the extracellular acidification (proton efflux rate) using the Seahorse XF-96 analyser (Seahorse Bioscience, Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA). LNCaP (15000 cells/ well), DU145 (5000 cells/ well), PC3 (5000 cells/ well) cells were seeded in 96-well plates (Seahorse Bioscience) and maintained at 37° C, 5% CO₂ for 24 h. Cells were then exposed to 10 µM BPTES for 24 h. In parallel, an XFe96 sensor cartridge for each cell plate was placed in a 96-well calibration plate containing 200 µL/well calibration buffer and left to hydrate overnight at 37° C. The sensor cartridge and the calibration plate were loaded into the XFe96 Extracellular Flux Analyzer for calibration, and then, the utility plate, containing the calibration solution was replaced with the study plate, and the assay started. After 24 h of treatment with BPTES, cell culture medium was replaced by 180 µL/well of low-buffered serum-free medium without phenol red containing 2 mM glutamine, 10 mM glucose, 1 mM pyruvate, and 5.0 mM HEPES at pH 7.4, and cells maintained at 37° C for 1 h in the absence of CO₂. Mitochondrial inhibitors rotenone plus antimycin A (0.5 µM each) and glycolysis inhibitor 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG, 50 mM) were injected via ports A and B, respectively.

Data were analysed using the Agilent Seahorse Glycolytic Rate Assay Report Generator, and the raw data were used to calculate the initial proton efflux rate, mitochondrial- and glycolysis-associated acidification, and the acidification rate upon mitochondria and glycolysis inhibition were calculated. All results were normalized by the sulforhodamine B (SRB) assay [29]. Briefly, cells were fixed with 50 µl of 60% trichloroacetic acid (TCA), overnight at 4 °C. After removing the fixing solution and washing with distilled water, fixed cellular proteins were stained with the SRB solution (0.05 % w/v in 1% acetic acid) for 1 h at 37 °C. Unbound dye was removed with 1% acetic acid, and cell bound dye solubilized with 10 mM Tris base solution, pH 10. Colour intensity was measured at 540 nm using the Cytation 3 microplate reader, from Biotek (Winooski, VT, USA).
6.2.12. Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) enzymatic activity

The enzymatic activity of ALT in BPTES-treated cells was determined using a commercial kit (Spinreact) according to the manufacturers' instructions. ALT catalyses the reversible transfer of an amino group from alanine to α -ketoglutarate forming pyruvate and glutamate. The pyruvate produced is reduced to lactate by LDH together with the oxidation of NADH to NAD⁺. The rate of decrease in NADH concentration, measured spectrophotometrically, is proportional to the catalytic concentration of ALT present in the sample. The enzymatic activity was calculated by measuring samples variation in the absorbance (340 nm). The activities achieved were calculated as U/µg of protein.

6.2.13. Statistical analysis

Statistical significance of differences among experimental groups were evaluated by unpaired T-test with Welch's correction or one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test, using GraphPad Prism v6.00 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All experimental data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (S.E.M).

6.3. Results

6.3.1. ASCT2 and glutaminase are differentially expressed in androgensensitive compared to CRPC cells

The protein expression of glutamine metabolism regulators ASCT2 and glutaminase (Fig. 6.1.A) in PCa cell line models was evaluated by WB analysis. The expression of the glutamine transporter, ASCT2, was significantly lower in CRPC cell lines (DU145 and PC3) relatively to the androgen-sensitive LNCaP cell line (0.57 \pm 0.07 and 0.61 \pm 0.02 fold variation, respectively, Fig. 6.1.B). On the other hand, glutaminase expression (Fig. 6.1.A), was significantly higher in DU145 and PC3 cells relatively to LNCaP (3.66 \pm 0.26 and 2.686 \pm 0.22, fold variation, respectively, Fig. 6.1.B). Amongst all the PCa cell lines, DU145 cells displayed the highest expression of glutaminase (Fig. 6.1.B).



Figure 6.1. ASCT2 and glutaminase in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cell line models. (A) Schematic representation of glutamine metabolism. Glutamine uptake from the extracellular space occurs through the activity of the ASCT2 transporter, whose translocation to the cell membrane via endoplasmic reticulum seems to depend on post-translational modifications, namely, N-linked glycosylation. At the mitochondria, glutaminase (GLS) converts glutamine into glutamate that enters the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle generating ATP. (B) ASCT2 and glutaminase protein expression determined by WB analysis after normalization with α -tubulin. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001 when compared to LNCaP cells and # p<0.05; when compared to DU145 cells. Representative immunoblots are shown in the right panel.

6.3.2. DHT stimulated glutamine metabolism in LNCaP cells and rat prostate in vivo

Androgens have been shown to play a role as metabolic regulators fuelling PCa cells growth and proliferation [12,10,30]. In this work, we evaluated the effect of DHT (10 nM) in regulating glutamine consumption (Fig. 6.2.A), and ASCT2 (Fig. 6.2.B and Fig. 6.2.D) and glutaminase (Fig. 6.2.C and Fig. 6.2.D) expression in PCa cells. DHT-treatment significantly augmented glutamine consumption in the androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells for 24 h of treatment (1.36 \pm 0.15 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.2.A). Moreover, DHT significantly increased the protein expression levels of ASCT2 and glutaminase in these cells upon 24 h and 48 h of exposure (ASCT2, 1.68 \pm 0.27 and 1.98 \pm 0.33 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.2.B; glutaminase, 1.20 \pm 0.06 and 1.26 \pm 0.12 fold variation vs. control, respectively,



Fig. 6.2.C). Overall, no effect was seen on the expression of ASCT2 (Fig. 6.2.B) and glutaminase (Fig. 6.2.C) in CRPC cells, DU145 and PC3, in response to DHT.

Figure 6.2. Effect of DHT (10 nM) on glutamine consumption (A), ASCT2 (B) and glutaminase (C) expression, and ASCT2 subcellular localization (E, F) in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP) and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells treated for 12, 24, or 48 h. (A) Glutamine consumption was determined spectrophotometrically using a commercial kit. (B,C) Protein expression was determined by WB after normalization with B-actin. All results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the control untreated group (0 nM DHT, dashed line). (D) Representative immunoblots. (E) ASCT2 co-localization with the endoplasmic reticulum marker calnexin assessed by immunofluorescence and calculated using the Pearson's Correlation Coefficient. (F) Representative confocal microscopy images showing co-localization of ASCT2 (green) with calnexin (red). Nuclei are stained blue with Hoechst 33342. Negative controls for ASCT2, obtained by omission of the primary antibody, are provided as insert panels (-).Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05, ** p<0.01 when compared to control.

Recently, it was shown that N-linked glycosylation is an important post-translational modification required for ASCT2 trafficking from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cell membrane (Fig. 6.1.A) [31]. Also, it has been shown that androgens can upregulate global protein glycosylation in PCa cells [32], and alter the distribution of several molecular targets across cell compartments [33-35]. Therefore, we investigated whether DHT-stimulation would affect ASCT2 subcellular localization. For this purpose, ASCT2 co-localization with calnexin was analysed by confocal microscopy (Fig. 6.2.E and Fig. 6.2.F). Calnexin is a membrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum that functions as a molecular chaperone responsible for glycoprotein folding and quality control [36]. DHT-treatment increased the co-localization of ASCT2 with the endoplasmic reticulum protein calnexin by approximately 50% (1.47 \pm 0.14

fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.2.E), determined by immunofluorescence staining (Fig. 6.2.F) and analysed by the Pearson's correlation coefficient (Fig. 6.2.E).

We also investigated whether the increase of expression levels of glutamine regulators, ASCT2 and glutaminase induced by DHT found in LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.2.) could be recapitulated *in vivo*. For this purpose, orchidectomised rats were treated with DHT (ORCHX + DHT, 500 μ g/kg/day) for 5 days. Both ASCT2 and glutaminase expression were significantly augmented in the ORCHX + DHT group when compared to the ORCHX + Vehicle and/or intact groups (Fig. 6.3.). ASCT2 and glutaminase expression changed by 2.06 ± 0.24 and 1.61 ± 0.11 fold variation relative to intact animals, respectively, Fig. 6.3.). No effect was perceived on the protein expression of ASCT2 and glutaminase upon castration only (Fig. 6.3.).



Figure 6.3. Effect of DHT (500µg/kg/day) on ASCT2 and glutaminase protein expression levels in rat dorsolateral prostate. Three months old ORCHX animals received intraperitoneal injections of vehicle (ORCHX + vehicle) or DHT (ORCHX + DHT) for 5 consecutive days. The intact group includes animals that did not undergone surgery and receiving vehicle only. Protein expression was determined by WB after normalization with B-actin. All results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the control intact group. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05 when compared to intact group. # p<0.05; when compared to ORCHX + vehicle group. Representative immunoblots are shown in the right panel.

6.3.3. Inhibition of glutamine metabolism decreased PCa cells viability and migration whereas increasing caspase-3-like activity

Viability of LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells was determined by the MTT assay after treatment with BPTES, a specific glutaminase inhibitor, which was used to inhibit glutamine metabolism [37]. All BPTES concentrations tested (1-50 μ M) significantly decreased the viability of DU145 and PC3 cells (Fig. 6.4.A), though not always on a concentration-dependent manner. BPTES also decreased the viability of LNCaP cells. However, the effect was seen only at the highest (25 μ M and 50 μ M) concentrations (78 ± 3 % and 73 ± 2 % cell viability compared to the control, respectively, Fig. 6.4.A). Moreover, 1 μ M and 2 μ M BPTES increased LNCaP cells viability (141 ± 9 % and 127 ± 8 % compared to the control, Fig. 6.4.A).



Figure 6.4. Effect of BPTES (1-50 μ M) on cell viability (A), migration (B), caspase-3-like activity (C), and p21 and c-Myc protein expression (D, E) in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells treated for 24 h. (A) LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells viability was determined by the MTT assay (% of control). (B) PCa cells migration was determined by a trans-wells assay in uncoated chambers. The upper chamber contained serum free medium and cells in the presence or absence of BPTES (10 μ M). FBS complete medium in the lower chamber was used as chemoattractant. Data are expressed as the mean number of migrating cells per 20x magnification field (10 fields were assessed for each experimental condition). (C) Caspase-3-like activity in 10 μ M BPTES-treated cells was measured spectrophotometrically based on the release of pNA chromophore. (D) Protein expression upon BPTES-treatment (10 μ M) was determined by WB analysis after normalization with B-actin. (E) Representative immunoblots. Results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the control untreated group (0 nM BPTES, dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001 when compared to the control.

BPTES effects on migration and apoptosis of PCa cells were assessed with the single concentration of 10 μ M, also following previous studies in other cancer cell types [23,38]. BPTES supplementation decreased the migration capacity of LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells in trans-wells assays (0.70 ± 0.04, 0.75 ± 0.03 and 0.61 ± 0.05 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.4.B).

The activity-like of the executioner caspase-3, as an end-point indicator of apoptosis, was measured in the cell lines after treatment with BPTES. Caspase-3-like activity was significantly increased in CRPC cell lines (1.28 ± 0.06 and 1.20 ± 0.06 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.4.C), whereas no differences were detected in LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.4.C).

WB analysis showed that the alterations observed in PCa cell fate after BPTES treatment were accompanied by the altered expression of the cell cycle inhibitor p21 and the oncogene c-Myc (Fig. 6.4.D and Fig. 6.4.E). p21 expression was increased in response to BPTES treatment in all PCa cells (2.05 ± 0.40 , 1.60 ± 0.06 and 1.52 ± 0.18 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.4.D). On the other hand, BPTES significantly decreased c-Myc

expression in LNCaP and PC3 cells (0.59 \pm 0.06 and 0.75 \pm 0.05 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.4.D).

6.3.4. BPTES increased the sensitivity of LNCaP cells to the anti-androgen bicalutamide

Next, we investigated whether BPTES would influence the response of PCa cells to standard anti-androgen therapy. For this purpose, LNCaP, DU145, and PC3 cells were treated with



Figure 6.5. Viability of androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRCP (DU145 and PC3) cells after BPTEStreatment (10 μ M) together with bicalutamide (Bica, 10-40, μ M) for 24 h. Cell viability was determined by MTT assay. Results are expressed as % of control. Error bars indicate mean ± S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05, *** p<0.001 when compared with the control. \$\$ p<0.01, \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared with bicalutamide (40 μ M); # p<0.05 when compared with BPTES (10 μ M).

BPTES (10 μ M) and a concentration range of bicalutamide (10-40 μ M). 40 μ M bicalutamide significantly decreased the viability of LNCaP, DU145, PC3 cells (75 ± 3%, 69 ± 4% and 76 ± 2% of control, respectively, Fig. 6.5.). Also, 20 μ M bicalutamide was effective in reducing the viability of DU145 cells (85 ± 2% of control, Fig. 6.5.). Furthermore, 10 μ M BPTES plus 40 μ M bicalutamide had a synergistic effect suppressing the viability of the androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells (54 ± 8% of control, Fig. 6.5.).

6.3.5. Glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells was affected by inhibition of glutaminase

Cancer cells display astonishing metabolic plasticity, reprogramming metabolic routes according to the environmental conditions and nutrients availability [8,39]. Also, the glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells has been shown to be modulated by the increased expression of glutaminase [19]. With this rationale, we investigated if glutaminase inhibition resulting from BPTES treatment would disturb the glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells (Fig. 6.6. and Fig. 6.7.).



Figure 6.6. Glucose consumption (A), lactate production (B) and GLUT1 (C), GLUT2 (C), GLUT3 (C), PFK1 (C), LDH (C) and MCT4 (C) protein levels in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells treated with BPTES (10 μ M). (A,B) Glucose consumption and lactate production were determined spectrophotometrically using commercial Kits. (C) Protein expression was determined by WB after normalization with B-actin. d Representative immunoblots. Results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the control untreated group (0 nM BPTES, dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01, when compared with control.

Glucose consumption and lactate production were determined spectrophotometrically, and the protein levels of key transporters and enzymes involved in glucose metabolism were evaluated by WB analysis (Fig. 6.6.). BPTES treatment decreased glucose consumption in all PCa cells (0.83 ± 0.04 , 0.97 ± 0.01 and 0.86 ± 0.02 fold variation vs. control in LNCaP, DU145 and PC3, respectively, Fig. 6.6.A). This was accompanied by the decreased production of lactate in LNCaP cells (0.83 ± 0.04 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6B), whereas no significant differences were observed in the other cell lines (Fig. 6.6.B).

Glucose consumption is first mediated by the uptake of glucose through the activity of GLUTs, namely, GLUT1, GLUT2 and GLUT3, which have been identified in PCa cells [40,11].

BPTES treatment differently affected GLUTs expression levels in PCa cell line models (Fig. 6.6.C and Fig. 6.6.D). GLUT1 expression was significantly decreased with BPTES treatment in PC3 cells (0.65 \pm 0.07 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.6.C). Diminished expression of GLUT2 upon BPTES-treatment was observed in LNCaP cells (0.59 \pm 0.05 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6C). Concerning GLUT3, BPTES exposure diminished its expression only in DU145 cells (0.73 \pm 0.04 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.6.C).

Considered one of rate-limiting steps in glycolysis, the conversion of fructose 6-phosphate into fructose 1,6-bisphosphate by PFK1 is a crucial step in the glycolytic flux. BPTES-treatment significantly decreased PFK1 expression in all PCa cells (0.66 ± 0.07 , 0.69 ± 0.07 and 0.81 ± 0.05 fold variation vs. control in PC3, DU145 and LNCaP cells, respectively, Fig. 6.6.C). Also, a decreased expression of LDH, the enzyme that converts the end-product of glycolysis pyruvate into lactate, was found in all PCa cell lines in response to BPTES (0.68 ± 0.08 , 0.73 ± 0.07 and 0.87 ± 0.03 fold variation vs. control in PC3, DU145 and LNCaP cells, respectively, Fig. 6.6.C). The lactate produced is exported to the extracellular space by the activity of specific members of the MCTs family, namely MCT4 that has been associated with PCa progression and poor prognosis [41,42,11]. MCT4 expression was significantly decreased upon BPTES treatment in LNCaP cells (0.59 ± 0.07 fold variation vs. control, Fig 6.6.C).

The Seahorse XF Glycolytic Rate Assay was used to investigate the effect of BPTES in terms of the glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells (Fig. 6.7.). The contribution of glycolysis for extracellular acidification before and after mitochondrial inhibition was evaluated (Fig. 6.7.A). Pyruvate from glycolysis can be converted to lactate in the cytosol, or, alternatively, to CO2 and water in the mitochondria. Both pathways result in the acidification of extracellular media by the extrusion of protons or by the reaction of CO_2 with water forming carbonic acid, which also produces protons (Fig. 6.7.A). Basal proton efflux rate (PER) represents the contribution of both pathways to the acidification of cell culture medium under normal culture conditions (Fig. 6.7.B). Basal PER was significantly decreased by BPTES treatment in LNCaP and PC3 cells (0.60 \pm 0.04 and 0.83 \pm 0.05 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.7.C) whereas remaining unaltered in DU145 (Fig. 6.7.C). Subtracting the contribution from the effect of CO₂-dependent acidification (mitochondrial-associated acidification) gives the contribution from glycolysis (Glyco PER, Fig. 6.7.B). BPTES-treatment decreased Glyco PER only in LNCaP cells (0.64 ± 0.05 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.7.C), which was correlated with the observed reduction of lactate extrusion rate (Fig. 6.6.B). The Compensatory Glycolysis (Fig. 6.7.B) indicates the maximum cell capability to use glycolysis after mitochondrial inhibition. Adding rotenone and antimycin A, inhibitors of mitochondrial electron transport chain Complex I and III, respectively, upon BPTES-treatment showed a significant diminution of Compensatory Glycolysis in all PCa cells (0.70 ± 0.04 , 0.83 ± 0.04 and 0.71 ± 0.04 fold variation vs. control in DU145, LNCaP and PC3 cell, respectively, Fig. 6.7.C).



Figure 6.7. Effect of BPTES (10 µM) on glycolysis and extracellular acidification in androgensensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells. (A) Glycolysis and mitochondrial respiration as cell energy sources. Glucose is transformed into lactate during glycolysis, with the resulting protons from NADH conversion to NAD+ being extruded into the extracellular space. Mitochondrial activity (TCA cycle and oxidative phosphorylation) produces CO2 and water, and generates H+, which contributes to acidify the surrounding environment. (B) Schematic panel illustrating the experimental strategy. Proton efflux rate (PER) was obtained by the Seahorse XF96 Glycolytic Rate Assay. Basal PER represents the initial total PER. The use of rotenone and antimycin A (0.5μ M), inhibitors of mitochondrial complexes I and III, respectively, enabled calculating the mitochondrial-associated acidification (Mito PER). The Glycolytic PER (Glyco PER) resulted from subtracting Mito PER from Basal PER results. Inhibition of mitochondria drives cells compensatory changes to use glycolysis to meet energy demands (Compensatory Glycolysis). Secondly, glycolysis was inhibited by using the glucose analogue 2-deoxy-Dglucose (2-DG, 50 mM, Post-2-DG acidification). (C) Basal PER, Glycolytic PER, Compensatory Glycolysis and Post 2-DG Acidification in LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 BPTES-treated cells, Each experimental result was normalized to cell mass determined by the SRB assay. Results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the control untreated group (0 nM BPTES, dashed line). Error bars indicate mean ± S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 when compared with control.

The Post-2-DG acidification (Fig. 6.7.B), obtained after inhibition of glycolysis by 2-DG injection, induced a differential response in LNCaP and CRPC cells. BPTES-treatment significantly increased Post-2-DG acidification in LNCaP cells (1.70 \pm 0.28 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.7.C), whereas the opposite effect was observed in DU145 and PC3 cells (0.80 \pm 0.06 and 0.63 \pm 0.06 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.7.C).



Figure 6.8. Effect of BPTES (10 μ M) on enzymatic activity of ALT in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells. All results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the untreated control group (0 nM BPTES, dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01 when compared with control.

Ultimately, extracellular acidification can occur through glucose- and glutamineindependent pathways, namely by the activity of aminotransferase enzymes. It is the case of ALT that catalyzes the reversible conversion of alanine into glutamate and pyruvate [43]. By measuring ALT activity, we found that BPTES-treatment significantly increased enzyme activity in LNCaP cells (2.60 \pm 0.63 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.8.), whereas a diminution was observed in PC3 cells (0.44 \pm 0.05 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.8.).

Glutamine and glutamate are the main suppliers of the anaplerotic reaction that produces citrate, which in turn, is the principal source for new lipid synthesis during cancer cell growth [44,45]. For this reason, the relationship between glutaminolysis and fatty acid metabolism has been reported [46-48]. Therefore, we evaluated the expression of FASN, a crucial enzyme in fatty acid synthesis, and CPT1A, a rate-limiting component in the carnitine-dependent transport of fatty acids across the inner mitochondrial membrane, upon glutaminase inhibition (Fig. 6.9.). Androgen-sensitive and CPRC cells displayed a different response to BPTES (Fig. 6.9.). FASN expression was significantly decreased in BPTES-treated LNCaP cells (0.48 ± 0.06 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.9.), but increased in PC3 cells upon BPTES treatment (1.77 ± 0.24 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.9.). Similarly, CPT1A expression was decreased in LNCaP cells (0.73 ± 0.077 fold variation vs. control, Fig. 6.9.) whereas increased in DU145 and PC3 (2.9 ± 0.46 and 2.10 ± 0.14 fold variation vs. control, respectively, Fig. 6.8.) upon exposure to BPTES.



Figure 6.9. Effect of BPTES (10 μ M) on the expression of FASN and CPT1A in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP), and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells. Protein expression was determined by WB after normalization with B-actin. All results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the control untreated group (0 nM BPTES, dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01 when compared with control. Representative immunoblots are shown in right panel.

6.4. Discussion

This study showed the importance of glutaminolysis in maintaining survival and migration ability of androgen-sensitive and CRPC cells, as well as the relevance of inhibiting this metabolic pathway for PCa cells response to the anti-androgen bicalutamide. Also, it demonstrated that glutaminase inhibition could have an impact on other metabolic pathways, namely, in the glycolytic metabolism.

We started by characterizing the expression of key regulators of the glutamine metabolism, the glutamine transporter ASCT2 and glutaminase (Fig. 6.1.A), in different cell lines models of PCa, namely, LNCaP (androgen-sensitive) and CRPC DU145 and PC3 cells. CRPC cells displayed a lower basal expression of ASCT2 compared with LNCaP (Fig. 6.1.B and Fig. 6.1.C). ASCT2 expression has been shown to be increased in PCa samples compared to the non-cancer tissues [49]. On the other hand, patients undergoing anti-androgen therapy displayed a significant decrease of prostate ASCT2 protein expression relative to untreated individuals [49], which supports the expression pattern we observed in androgen-sensitive and CRPC cell lines models.

In contrast, glutaminase expression was significantly higher in the more aggressive CRPC cells relative to LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.1.B and Fig. 6.1.C). Data in patients have shown the overexpression of glutaminase in PCa tissues compared with benign prostate hyperplasia or non-cancer tissues, which positively correlated with Gleason scores [20,19], also linking increased glutaminase expression with the aggressiveness of the disease. The higher expression of glutaminase in PCa cells relative to the normal prostatic epithelial cell line RWPE-1 also was previously reported [20]. Nevertheless, the present study is the first showing the differential glutaminase expression between castration-resistant and androgen-sensitive PCa cell line models, which is in accordance with patients' findings.

Androgens are widely recognized as the principal hormones responsible for maintaining prostate cells proliferation and survival [50,51]. These sex hormones also have been pointed out as important regulators of prostate cell metabolism, including the modulation of lipid metabolism and glycolysis [51,52,12,10,30]. However, the action androgens in the regulation of glutamine metabolism is much less known. Herein, we

analyzed the effect of DHT in regulating glutamine consumption, ASCT2 and glutaminase expression, and ASCT2 sub-cellular localization (Fig. 6.2). Our results showed that DHT-treatment enhanced glutamine consumption in LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.2.A), which was supported by the increased expression of both ASCT2 (Fig. 6.2.B and Fig. 6.2.D) and glutaminase (Fig. 6.2.C and Fig. 6.2.D). ASCT2 is the major molecular player mediating glutamine uptake, and, thus, its increased expression levels clearly support the enhanced glucose consumption observed. Indeed, other studies have shown the upregulation of ASCT2 expression in LNCaP and VCaP cells in response to androgens, [53,54], which was also accompanied by the increased uptake of glutamine [53].

The human amino acid transporter ASCT2 contains two N-glycosylation sites (N163 and N212) that, although not altering the activity of the protein, have been shown to increase its stability, and are responsible for the intracellular trafficking from the endoplasmic reticulum to theplasma membrane (Fig. 6.1.A) [31]. Aberrant glycosylation has been identified as a typical event in PCa and demonstrated to be a target of regulation by androgens [32,55-57]. These steroid hormones are also capable of altering the subcellular localization of several molecular targets [33-35]. Therefore, we sought to investigate whether exposure to DHT affects the intracellular distribution of ASCT2. Indeed, DHT-treatment significantly increased the co-localization of ASCT2 with the endoplasmic reticulum chaperone calnexin (Fig. 6.2.E and 6.2.F), which coordinates N-linked protein glycosylation, glycoprotein folding and quality control [36,58,59]. The endoplasmic reticulum is the major organelle involved in protein glycosylation and the central player in the distribution of proteins to the cell membrane through the endoplasmic reticulum - Golgi apparatus pathway, thus, the obtained findings support the role of androgens driving the traffic of ASCT2 from the endoplasmic reticulum to the plasma membrane. Future studies are needed to clarify the role of androgens regulating glycosylation and intracellular traffic of ASCT2, but herein we first demonstrated the colocalization of ASCT2 with the endoplasmic reticulum. Moreover, increased co-localization of ASCT2 with calnexin was concomitant with the augmented glutamine consumption in LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.2.A), supporting the increased density of the transporter molecules at the cell membrane.

Intracellular glutamine can be converted to glutamate through the activity of glutaminase (Fig. 6.1.A). Also in line with the observed augment in glucose uptake, DHT-treatment increased the expression of glutaminase in LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.2.C and Fig. 6.2.D). This observation is first in this PCa cell type and follows a previous study showing the action of androgens regulating glutaminase expression in other androgen-sensitive cells, the VCaP [53]. The obtained findings indicate that LNCaP cells are actively using glutamine as an energy substrate, which implicates glutaminolysis as a potential therapeutic target, which was further investigated by us.

Strikingly, stimulation of glutaminolysis by androgens in LNCaP cells *in vitro* (Fig. 6.2.) were also mimicked *in vivo* (Fig. 6.3.). ASCT2 and glutaminase expression was upregulated in the prostate of castrated rats receiving DHT supplementation (Fig. 6.3.), which supports a

direct stimulation of glutaminolysis by DHT in prostatic tissues *in vivo*. Altogether, these findings broaden the role of androgens as central regulators of glutamine metabolism in PCa cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Our next aim was to analyze the survival and metabolic response of PCa cells upon inhibition of glutaminolysis. BPTES, a recognized inhibitor of glutaminase [37], was used, and PCa cells fate was evaluated. BPTES exposure decreased the viability of all PCa cell lines studied (Fig. 6.4.A). However, CRPC and androgen-sensitive cells displayed a differential response to BPTES concentrations range. Low concentrations of glutaminase inhibitor (1-10 μ M) effectively suppressed the viability of DU145 and PC3 cells, whereas LNCaP showed to be resistant to these BPTES concentrations. Only the highest (25 and 50 μ M) concentrations of BPTES effectively diminished the viability of LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.4.A). Interestingly, this differential response to BPTES was correlated with the distinct glutaminase basal expression levels in PCa cell line models, which were higher in CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells relative to LNCaP (Fig. 6.1.B). Altogether the obtained results also indicate that CRPC cells are more dependent on the utilization of glutamine as an energy source to support their growth than LNCaP. The inhibition of glutaminolysis by using enzyme inhibitors, such as BPTES or CB-839, or silencing glutaminase expression also has been shown to decrease the proliferation of several cancer cell types (lung, myeloma and breast) including the PC3 prostate cancer cells [19,60,26,21]. Moreover, the present findings follow a previous report showing that the cancer cell lines that more actively use glutamine, are the most sensitive to the inhibition of this metabolic pathway [61].

Glutaminase inhibition with BPTES also induced apoptosis of CRPC cells, DU145 and PC3 (Fig. 6.4.C), evidenced by the augmented caspase-3-like activity, a recognized end-point of apoptosis at the convergence of both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways [62,63]. The inhibition of glutaminase had no effect over LNCaP (Fig. 6.4.C) caspase-3-like activity, which is in line with the results of cell viability (Fig. 6.4.A). Nevertheless, the BTPES effects modulating PCa cells behavior were underpinned by the altered expression of target regulators of cell cycle and oncogenic pathways in all PCa cell lines (Fig. 6.4.D). The expression of the potent cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor (CKI) p21, a cell cycle inhibitor functioning as tumor suppressor and an activator of apoptosis by cleavage of precursor caspase-3 [64,65], was significantly increased in LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells (Fig. 6.4.D). There are no other reports on the inhibition of glutaminase by compound 968 in PCa cells, but in ovarian cancer cells compound 968 also increased p21 expression, concomitantly with the reduced levels of CDK4 and cyclin D [66].

c-Myc is one of the oncogenes widely known to be overexpressed in PCa, being important for cancer progression and establishment of the CRPC phenotype [67-69]. Moreover, c-Myc has been shown to be involved in the metabolic reprogramming of PCa, specifically promoting the expression of glutaminase [70,18]. Noteworthy, c-Myc expression decreased in LNCaP and PC3 cells (Fig. 6.4.D) after treatment with BPTES. The mechanisms in the interplay of c-Myc expression upon glutaminase inhibition in PCa cells need to be clarified

in the future. However, BPTES inhibition in renal cell carcinoma stopped renal cancer progression driven by c-Myc [71].

Besides the effects on cell viability and caspase-3-like activity, this study showed that the inhibition of glutaminase also has the potential of decreasing the migration capability of PCa cells (Fig. 6.4.B), effects that were transversal to all cell lines. These findings follow similar reports in oral, lung and breast cancer cells, where glutaminase activity was shown to be related to the promotion of cancer cell migration [72-74].

Overall, our data revealed the effectiveness of the glutaminase inhibitor BPTES in decreasing viability, inducing apoptosis and suppressing the migration of CRPC cells, whereas showing only moderate effects in the hormone-sensitive LNCaP cells.

ADT remains the mainstream therapy for hormone-sensitive primary and metastatic PCa [75,6]. However, tumours that initially respond to therapy, inevitably acquire treatment resistance and progress to more aggressive stages, the castration resistance form of the disease [75,6]. It has been shown that metabolic reprogramming concurs to the establishment of the androgen independent phenotype and treatment resistance, which includes changes on glucose, lipid and glutamine metabolism [76,30,77]. The metabolic peculiarities of PCa cells and potential therapeutic advantage of such have been gaining increasing interest [8]. In fact, supporting in vitro and in vivo evidence exist showing that the combination of ADT with, for example, blockage of lipid or cholesterol metabolism, had a positive effect suppressing cancer cells growth and overcoming resistance to ADT [76,78,79]. With this rationale, we hypothesized that inhibiting glutaminolysis (BPTES treatment) would sensitize PCa cells to the effect of the anti-androgen bicalutamide. In accordance with our hypothesis, the concomitant administration of BPTES and bicalutamide showed a synergistic effect diminishing the viability of the androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells (Fig. 6.5.A). It is well established that anti-androgens treatment has associated adverse side-effects such as gynecomastia, breast pain, fatigue, and decreased libido [80,81]. The present findings suggest that the possible use of bicalutamide, or other anti-androgens, together with BPTES would allow using lower doses of the antiandrogen minimizing its adverse effects. Also, they open interesting perspectives for the exploitation of these results in future preclinical and clinical studies.

Cancer cell metabolism is a complex mixture of diverse and intricate processes that depend on a variety of nutrients fuelling the TCA cycle. Previous reports have shown that a relationship exists between glucose and glutamine handling, and that glutamine availability can change glucose uptake and metabolism [82,19]. Glutamine is converted into glutamate by the activity of glutaminase (Fig. 6.1.A) and subsequently to α -ketoglutarate. It has been shown that α -ketoglutarate itself could directly regulate glucose uptake [83,84]. Also, a metabolic crosstalk exists between glucose and glutamine, and their intermediate metabolites. Pyruvate, the end product of glycolysis, can also be obtained from glutamine by the activity of ALT, which catalyses the reversible transfer of an amino group from alanine to α -ketoglutarate forming pyruvate and glutamate [85].

Herein, we analysed how inhibition of glutaminolysis re-shapes the glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells (Fig. 6.6 and Fig. 6.7). Suppression of glutaminase by BPTES treatment significantly reduced glucose consumption in all PCa cells (Fig. 6.6.A). Similar effects were described in PC3 cells upon siRNA silencing of glutaminase or BPTES administration, being observed a decrease in glucose uptake [19].

Glucose consumption starts with the uptake from the extracellular medium ensured by the activity of GLUTs family members, namely GLUT1, GLUT2 and GLUT3 in PCa cells [86,87]. BPTES-treatment decreased glucose consumption in all PCa cell line models, which was supported by the diminished expression of GLUTs. However, a differential response was observed concerning specific GLUTs family members. Treatment with BPTES decreased GLUT1, GLUT2 or GLUT3, respectively, in PC3, LNCaP, and DU145 cells (Fig. 6.6.C). The distinct utilization of GLUTs among PCa cell lines was also found in another study [88].

A crucial step in the glycolytic process is the irreversible conversion of fructose 6phosphate to fructose 1,6-bisphosphate, a reaction catalysed by PFK1. Diminished expression of PFK1 (Fig. 6.6.C) was found in BPTES-treated PCa cells, which indicates that besides the reduced glucose consumption, the rate of glycolytic flux is lower upon glutaminase inhibition. The possible correlation between PFK1 activity and glutamine metabolism in PCa cells is unknown for the moment. However, in Hela cells both glucose and glutamine were required for cell cycle progression, which was also related with the decreased activity of APC/C-Cdh1 ubiquitin ligase leading to the accumulation of glutaminase and glycolysis-promoting enzyme 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase, isoform 3 [89].

The last step in the glycolytic metabolism is the conversion of pyruvate to lactate through the activity of LDH, which is followed by the export of lactate to the extracellular space. In BPTES-treated LNCaP cells, the reduced glucose consumption observed was accompanied by decreased export of lactate (Fig. 6.6.B), supported by the decreased expression of LDH and MCT4 (Fig. 6.6.C). Information in PCa is very limited or non-existent, but the inhibition of glutaminase by Compound 968 in ovarian cancer cells also showed to decrease lactate export [90]. Similar findings were also found in colorectal cancer cells, with glutaminase inhibition suppressing glucose uptake and lactate export [91].

The results obtained with the Seahorse XF Glycolytic Rate Assay (Fig. 6.7.) also confirmed the effect of BPTES altering the glycolytic metabolism of PCa cells. BPTES-treatment decreased the basal efflux of protons (Basal PER) in LNCaP and PC3 cells (Fig. 6.7.B and Fig. 6.7.C), which in the case of LNCaP cells seems to result from the direct contribution from glycolysis (Glyco PER) (Fig. 6.7.B and 6.7.C). The Glyco PER parameter is directly correlated with the export of lactate, and strictly follows the decreased lactate production observed in LNCaP cells after BPTES treatment (Fig. 6.6.B). Interestingly, when oxidative phosphorylation was inhibited none of the PCa cell lines had the capability to compensate this phenomenon (Fig. 6.7.C) by using glycolysis (Compensatory Glycolysis, Fig. 6.7.B).

These results demonstrated the relevance of glutaminase activity influencing the glycolytic pathway. Also, they pointed glutaminase as a metabolic checkpoint in the interplay of glutamine and glucose metabolism, with impact on cell survival and growth, and migration. When inhibiting glutaminolysis and oxidative phosphorylation, the addition of 2-DG stopped the glycolytic pathway, disabling PCa cells of using any of these metabolic pathways. CRPC cells treated with BPTES presented lower levels of acidification attributed to other sources than glycolysis or mitochondrial TCA activity (Fig. 6.7.C). Interestingly, LNCaP cells, the PCa cell line more resistant to BPTES treatment (Fig. 6.5.), presented increased levels of extracellular acidification after inhibition of glutaminolysis, mitochondrial activity and glycolysis (Fig. 6.7.C). This indicates that these cells are capable of using diverse and alternative energy sources. In this sense, we evaluated the activity of ALT in response to glutaminase inhibition, as this enzyme is placed in the interplay of glycolysis and glutaminolysis, by its capability of generating both pyruvate and glutamate. Interestingly, BPTES-treated LNCaP cells displayed increased ALT activity, whereas an enzyme diminished activity was observed in PC3 cells (Fig. 6.8.). Similar findings were described in HeLa cells, with ALT expression being induced by glutamine deprivation or glutaminase inhibition, which was shown to sustain the TCA cycle by the conversion of glutamate to α -ketoglutarate [43]. The compensatory response of cancer cells upon inhibition of glutaminolysis was also demonstrated in pancreatic cells, which displayed increased ALT and production of glutamate, as well as no decrease on α -ketoglutarate levels indicating the reactivation of alternative sources of carbon [92]. Therefore, it is possible that the source for the extracellular acidification in LNCaP cells after inhibition of glutaminolysis, mitochondrial activity and glycolysis, may come from the reactivation of alternative carbon sources likely by ALT activity (Fig. 6.6.C).

Cancer cell growth is intimately associated with lipid synthesis, which is continuously sustained by the supply of citrate. Several pieces of evidence have shown that cancer cells can generate citrate for fatty acid synthesis from the reductive metabolism of glutamine [44,45]. Glutaminase inhibition decreased FASN expression in LNCaP cells, whereas augmented in PC3 cells (Fig. 6.9.). Moreover, CPT1A expression was diminished in LNCaP cells and increased in CRPC cells (Fig. 6.9.). These results indicate that CRPC cells have the capability to augment fatty acid synthesis and lipid oxidation in response to glutaminase inhibition. Accelerated lipid catabolism under inhibited glutaminolysis was also described in breast cancer cells and related with activation of survival mechanisms [93]. Moreover, a previous study reported that the inhibition of ASCT2 decreased fatty acid synthesis in LNCaP cells, but not in PC3 cells [94], which suggests that LNCaP cells, contrarily to PC3, are directly using glutamine for fatty acid synthesis.

Altogether, the results obtained herein indicated a pivotal role for glutamine in shaping PCa cells metabolism, namely glycolysis and lipid handling. Despite this adaptation, inhibition of glutaminolysis with BPTES significantly altered PCa cells fate. Nevertheless,

these findings show that it is crucial deeply understanding the metabolic response of cancer cells when specific metabolic pathways are targeted for therapy.

In conclusion, androgens potentiated glutamine metabolism in PCa cells, whereas the inhibition of glutaminase activity diminished cell viability and migration, and increased apoptosis, particularly in the CRPC (Fig. 6.10.). These outcomes sound quite exciting considering targeting glutaminase CRPC therapy. Using molecular and metabolic extracellular flux analysis, this study also provided evidence that the suppression of glutaminolysis in PCa cells has impact on glycolysis and lipid metabolism (Fig. 6.10.). Moreover, it was first shown that the inhibition of glutamine metabolism in combination with androgen blockade had a synergic effect suppressing the viability of LNCaP cells. The obtained results indicate that co-targeting of the AR axis and glutamine metabolism may provide additional benefit for treatment of androgen-sensitive PCa. However, the present findings also highlight the importance of fully understand cancer metabolic remodelling whenever specific metabolic



Figure 6.10. Glutaminolysis is an essential metabolic route in androgen-sensitive (LNCaP) and CRPC cells. DHT stimulates glutamine uptake, and the expression of ASCT2 and glutaminase (GLS) in LNCaP cells. DHT also triggered ASCT2 localization from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cell membrane. GLS inhibition suppressed glycolysis, and the expression of FASN (catalyses the conversion of malonyl CoA to fatty acids (FA)) and CPT1A in LNCaP cells. In contrast, FASN and CPT1A expression levels increased in CRPC cells. Augmented activity of ALT was found in LNCaP cells upon blockage of glutaminolysis. GLS inhibition decreased the viability and migration of CRPC, whereas augmenting apoptosis.

6.5. Acknowledgments

This work was supported by FEDER funds through the POCI - COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme Competitiveness and Internationalization in Axis I -Strengthening research, technological development and innovation (Projects No. 007491 and 029114) and National Funds by FCT-Foundation for Science and Technology (Project UID/Multi/00709/2013).

Cardoso H. J. and Figueira M.I. were recipient of FCT fellowships SFRH/BD/111351/2015 and SFRH/BD/104671/2014, respectively. P.A.M. is funded by FCT Investigator contract from the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), Portugal (Ref: IF/00614/2014) and FCT exploratory grant, Ref: IF/00614/2014/CP12340006. CBMR is financed by FCT Research Center Grant

6.6. Conflict of interest

The author declares that there is no competing interest.

6.7. References

1. Green SM, Mostaghel EA, Nelson PS (2012) Androgen action and metabolism in prostate cancer. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 360 (1-2):3-13. doi:10.1016/j.mce.2011.09.046

2. Siddiqui ZA, Krauss DJ (2018) Adjuvant androgen deprivation therapy for prostate cancer treated with radiation therapy. Translational andrology and urology 7 (3):378-389. doi:10.21037/tau.2018.01.06

3. Ji G, Song G, Huang C, He S, Zhou L (2017) Rapidly decreasing level of prostate-specific antigen during initial androgen deprivation therapy is a risk factor for early progression to castration-resistant prostate cancer: A retrospective study. Medicine 96 (36):e7823. doi:10.1097/md.000000000007823

4. Huang Y, Jiang X, Liang X, Jiang G (2018) Molecular and cellular mechanisms of castration resistant prostate cancer. Oncology letters 15 (5):6063-6076. doi:10.3892/ol.2018.8123

5. El-Amm J, Aragon-Ching JB (2019) The Current Landscape of Treatment in Non-Metastatic Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Clin Med Insights Oncol 13:1179554919833927-1179554919833927. doi:10.1177/1179554919833927

6. Teo MY, Rathkopf DE, Kantoff P (2019) Treatment of Advanced Prostate Cancer. Annual review of medicine 70:479-499. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-051517-011947

7. Hanahan D, Weinberg Robert A (2011) Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. Cell 144 (5):646-674. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

8. Carvalho TM, Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Vaz CV, Socorro S (2019) The peculiarities of cancer cell metabolism: A route to metastasization and a target for therapy. European journal of medicinal chemistry 171:343-363. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.03.053

9. Luengo A, Gui DY, Vander Heiden MG (2017) Targeting Metabolism for Cancer Therapy. Cell chemical biology 24 (9):1161-1180. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.08.028

10. Massie CE, Lynch A, Ramos-Montoya A, Boren J, Stark R, Fazli L, Warren A, Scott H, Madhu B, Sharma N, Bon H, Zecchini V, Smith DM, Denicola GM, Mathews N, Osborne M, Hadfield J, Macarthur S, Adryan B, Lyons SK, Brindle KM, Griffiths J, Gleave ME, Rennie PS, Neal DE, Mills

IG (2011) The androgen receptor fuels prostate cancer by regulating central metabolism and biosynthesis. The EMBO journal 30 (13):2719-2733. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.158

11. Vaz CV, Alves MG, Marques R, Moreira PI, Oliveira PF, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2012) Androgenresponsive and nonresponsive prostate cancer cells present a distinct glycolytic metabolism profile. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 44 (11):2077-2084. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.08.013

12. Vaz CV, Marques R, Alves MG, Oliveira PF, Cavaco JE, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2016) Androgens enhance the glycolytic metabolism and lactate export in prostate cancer cells by modulating the expression of GLUT1, GLUT3, PFK, LDH and MCT4 genes. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology 142 (1):5-16. doi:10.1007/s00432-015-1992-4

13. Gonthier K, Poluri RTK, Audet-Walsh E (2019) Functional genomic studies reveal the androgen receptor as a master regulator of cellular energy metabolism in prostate cancer. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 191:105367. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2019.04.016

14. Bader DA, Hartig SM, Putluri V, Foley C, Hamilton MP, Smith EA, Saha PK, Panigrahi A, Walker C, Zong L, Martini-Stoica H, Chen R, Rajapakshe K, Coarfa C, Sreekumar A, Mitsiades N, Bankson JA, Ittmann MM, O'Malley BW, Putluri N, McGuire SE (2019) Mitochondrial pyruvate import is a metabolic vulnerability in androgen receptor-driven prostate cancer. Nature metabolism 1 (1):70-85. doi:10.1038/s42255-018-0002-y

15. Choi Y-K, Park K-G (2018) Targeting Glutamine Metabolism for Cancer Treatment. Biomol Ther (Seoul) 26 (1):19-28. doi:10.4062/biomolther.2017.178

16. Vanhove K, Derveaux E, Graulus G-J, Mesotten L, Thomeer M, Noben J-P, Guedens W, Adriaensens P (2019) Glutamine Addiction and Therapeutic Strategies in Lung Cancer. International journal of molecular sciences 20 (2):252. doi:10.3390/ijms20020252

17. Liu Y, Zhao T, Li Z, Wang L, Yuan S, Sun L (2018) The role of ASCT2 in cancer: A review. European Journal of Pharmacology 837:81-87. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.07.007

18. Gao P, Tchernyshyov I, Chang TC, Lee YS, Kita K, Ochi T, Zeller KI, De Marzo AM, Van Eyk JE, Mendell JT, Dang CV (2009) c-Myc suppression of miR-23a/b enhances mitochondrial glutaminase expression and glutamine metabolism. Nature 458 (7239):762-765. doi:10.1038/nature07823

19. Pan T, Gao L, Wu G, Shen G, Xie S, Wen H, Yang J, Zhou Y, Tu Z, Qian W (2015) Elevated expression of glutaminase confers glucose utilization via glutaminolysis in prostate cancer. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 456 (1):452-458. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.11.105

20. Zhang J, Mao S, Guo Y, Wu Y, Yao X, Huang Y (2019) Inhibition of GLS suppresses proliferation and promotes apoptosis in prostate cancer. Bioscience reports 39 (6). doi:10.1042/bsr20181826

21. Boysen G, Jamshidi-Parsian A, Davis MA, Siegel ER, Simecka CM, Kore RA, Dings RPM, Griffin RJ (2019) Glutaminase inhibitor CB-839 increases radiation sensitivity of lung tumor cells and human lung tumor xenografts in mice. International journal of radiation biology 95 (4):436-442. doi:10.1080/09553002.2018.1558299

22. Nagana Gowda GA, Barding GA, Jr., Dai J, Gu H, Margineantu DH, Hockenbery DM, Raftery D (2018) A Metabolomics Study of BPTES Altered Metabolism in Human Breast Cancer Cell Lines. Frontiers in molecular biosciences 5:49. doi:10.3389/fmolb.2018.00049

23. Chen L, Cui H, Fang J, Deng H, Kuang P, Guo H, Wang X, Zhao L (2016) Glutamine deprivation plus BPTES alters etoposide- and cisplatin-induced apoptosis in triple negative breast cancer cells. Oncotarget 7 (34):54691-54701. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10579

24. Elgogary A, Xu Q, Poore B, Alt J, Zimmermann SC, Zhao L, Fu J, Chen B, Xia S, Liu Y, Neisser M, Nguyen C, Lee R, Park JK, Reyes J, Hartung T, Rojas C, Rais R, Tsukamoto T, Semenza GL, Hanes J, Slusher BS, Le A (2016) Combination therapy with BPTES nanoparticles and metformin targets the metabolic heterogeneity of pancreatic cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113 (36):E5328-5336. doi:10.1073/pnas.1611406113

25. Reckzeh ES, Karageorgis G, Schwalfenberg M, Ceballos J, Nowacki J, Stroet MCM, Binici A, Knauer L, Brand S, Choidas A, Strohmann C, Ziegler S, Waldmann H (2019) Inhibition of Glucose Transporters and Glutaminase Synergistically Impairs Tumor Cell Growth. Cell chemical biology. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2019.06.005

26. Thompson RM, Dytfeld D, Reyes L, Robinson RM, Smith B, Manevich Y, Jakubowiak A, Komarnicki M, Przybylowicz-Chalecka A, Szczepaniak T, Mitra AK, Van Ness BG, Luczak M, Dolloff NG (2017) Glutaminase inhibitor CB-839 synergizes with carfilzomib in resistant multiple myeloma cells. Oncotarget 8 (22):35863-35876. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.16262

27. Kaighn ME, Narayan KS, Ohnuki Y, Lechner JF, Jones LW (1979) Establishment and characterization of a human prostatic carcinoma cell line (PC-3). Investigative urology 17 (1):16-23

28. Stone KR, Mickey DD, Wunderli H, Mickey GH, Paulson DF (1978) Isolation of a human prostate carcinoma cell line (DU 145). International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 21 (3):274-281

29. Teixeira J, Amorim R, Santos K, Soares P, Datta S, Cortopassi GA, Serafim TL, Sardao VA, Garrido J, Borges F, Oliveira PJ (2018) Disruption of mitochondrial function as mechanism for anti-cancer activity of a novel mitochondriotropic menadione derivative. Toxicology 393:123-139. doi:10.1016/j.tox.2017.11.014

30. Han W, Gao S, Barrett D, Ahmed M, Han D, Macoska JA, He HH, Cai C (2018) Reactivation of androgen receptor-regulated lipid biosynthesis drives the progression of castration-resistant prostate cancer. Oncogene 37 (6):710-721. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.385

31. Console L, Scalise M, Tarmakova Z, Coe IR, Indiveri C (2015) N-linked glycosylation of human SLC1A5 (ASCT2) transporter is critical for trafficking to membrane. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1853 (7):1636-1645. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2015.03.017

32. Munkley J (2017) Glycosylation is a global target for androgen control in prostate cancer cells. Endocrine-related cancer 24 (3):R49-r64. doi:10.1530/erc-16-0569

33. Sheflin LG, Zhang W, Spaulding SW (2001) Androgen regulates the level and subcellular distribution of the AU-rich ribonucleic acid-binding protein HuR both in vitro and in vivo. Endocrinology 142 (6):2361-2368. doi:10.1210/endo.142.6.8164

34. Li Y, Zhang DY, Ren Q, Ye F, Zhao X, Daniels G, Wu X, Dynlacht B, Lee P (2012) Regulation of a novel androgen receptor target gene, the cyclin B1 gene, through androgen-dependent E2F family member switching. Molecular and cellular biology 32 (13):2454-2466. doi:10.1128/mcb.06663-11

35. Hsiao JJ, Ng BH, Smits MM, Wang J, Jasavala RJ, Martinez HD, Lee J, Alston JJ, Misonou H, Trimmer JS, Wright ME (2015) Androgen receptor and chemokine receptors 4 and 7 form a signaling axis to regulate CXCL12-dependent cellular motility. BMC cancer 15:204. doi:10.1186/s12885-015-1201-5

36. Williams DB (2006) Beyond lectins: the calnexin/calreticulin chaperone system of the endoplasmic reticulum. Journal of cell science 119 (Pt 4):615-623. doi:10.1242/jcs.02856

37. Robinson MM, McBryant SJ, Tsukamoto T, Rojas C, Ferraris DV, Hamilton SK, Hansen JC, Curthoys NP (2007) Novel mechanism of inhibition of rat kidney-type glutaminase by bis-2-(5-phenylacetamido-1,2,4-thiadiazol-2-yl)ethyl sulfide (BPTES). The Biochemical journal 406 (3):407-414. doi:10.1042/bj20070039

38. Xiang Y, Stine ZE, Xia J, Lu Y, O'Connor RS, Altman BJ, Hsieh AL, Gouw AM, Thomas AG, Gao P, Sun L, Song L, Yan B, Slusher BS, Zhuo J, Ooi LL, Lee CG, Mancuso A, McCallion AS, Le A, Milone MC, Rayport S, Felsher DW, Dang CV (2015) Targeted inhibition of tumor-specific glutaminase diminishes cell-autonomous tumorigenesis. The Journal of clinical investigation 125 (6):2293-2306. doi:10.1172/jci75836

39. Sciacovelli M, Frezza C (2017) Metabolic reprogramming and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer. The FEBS journal 284 (19):3132-3144. doi:10.1111/febs.14090

40. Chandler JD, Williams ED, Slavin JL, Best JD, Rogers S (2003) Expression and localization of GLUT1 and GLUT12 in prostate carcinoma. Cancer 97 (8):2035-2042. doi:10.1002/cncr.11293

41. Choi SY, Xue H, Wu R, Fazli L, Lin D, Collins CC, Gleave ME, Gout PW, Wang Y (2016) The MCT4 Gene: a Novel, Potential Target for Therapy of Advanced Prostate Cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-15-1624

42. Andersen S, Solstad O, Moi L, Donnem T, Eilertsen M, Nordby Y, Ness N, Richardsen E, Busund LT, Bremnes RM (2015) Organized metabolic crime in prostate cancer: The coexpression of MCT1 in tumor and MCT4 in stroma is an independent prognosticator for biochemical failure. Urologic oncology 33 (8):338.e339-317. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2015.05.013

43. Kim M, Gwak J, Hwang S, Yang S, Jeong SM (2019) Mitochondrial GPT2 plays a pivotal role in metabolic adaptation to the perturbation of mitochondrial glutamine metabolism. Oncogene 38 (24):4729-4738. doi:10.1038/s41388-019-0751-4

44. Brose SA, Marquardt AL, Golovko MY (2014) Fatty acid biosynthesis from glutamate and glutamine is specifically induced in neuronal cells under hypoxia. J Neurochem 129 (3):400-412. doi:10.1111/jnc.12617

45. DeBerardinis RJ, Mancuso A, Daikhin E, Nissim I, Yudkoff M, Wehrli S, Thompson CB (2007) Beyond aerobic glycolysis: transformed cells can engage in glutamine metabolism that exceeds the requirement for protein and nucleotide synthesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104 (49):19345-19350. doi:10.1073/pnas.0709747104

46. Anastasiou D, Cantley LC (2012) Breathless cancer cells get fat on glutamine. Cell Res 22 (3):443-446. doi:10.1038/cr.2012.5

47. Brose SA, Marquardt AL, Golovko MY (2014) Fatty acid biosynthesis from glutamate and glutamine is specifically induced in neuronal cells under hypoxia. J Neurochem 129 (3):400-412. doi:10.1111/jnc.12617

48. Wang Y, Bai C, Ruan Y, Liu M, Chu Q, Qiu L, Yang C, Li B (2019) Coordinative metabolism of glutamine carbon and nitrogen in proliferating cancer cells under hypoxia. Nature Communications 10 (1):201. doi:10.1038/s41467-018-08033-9

49. Wang Q, Hardie RA, Hoy AJ, van Geldermalsen M, Gao D, Fazli L, Sadowski MC, Balaban S, Schreuder M, Nagarajah R, Wong JJ, Metierre C, Pinello N, Otte NJ, Lehman ML, Gleave M, Nelson CC, Bailey CG, Ritchie W, Rasko JE, Holst J (2015) Targeting ASCT2-mediated glutamine uptake blocks prostate cancer growth and tumour development. The Journal of pathology 236 (3):278-289. doi:10.1002/path.4518

50. Banerjee PP, Banerjee S, Brown TR, Zirkin BR (2018) Androgen action in prostate function and disease. American journal of clinical and experimental urology 6 (2):62-77

51. Xu Y, Chen SY, Ross KN, Balk SP (2006) Androgens induce prostate cancer cell proliferation through mammalian target of rapamycin activation and post-transcriptional increases in cyclin D proteins. Cancer research 66 (15):7783-7792. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-05-4472

52. Banerjee PP, Banerjee S, Brown TR, Zirkin BR (2018) Androgen action in prostate function and disease. American journal of clinical and experimental urology 6 (2):62-77

53. White MA, Lin C, Rajapakshe K, Dong J, Shi Y, Tsouko E, Mukhopadhyay R, Jasso D, Dawood W, Coarfa C, Frigo DE (2017) Glutamine Transporters Are Targets of Multiple Oncogenic Signaling Pathways in Prostate Cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR 15 (8):1017-1028. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-16-0480

54. Ono M, Oka S, Okudaira H, Nakanishi T, Mizokami A, Kobayashi M, Schuster DM, Goodman MM, Shirakami Y, Kawai K (2015) [(14)C]Fluciclovine (alias anti-[(14)C]FACBC) uptake and ASCT2 expression in castration-resistant prostate cancer cells. Nuclear medicine and biology 42 (11):887-892. doi:10.1016/j.nucmedbio.2015.07.005

55. Munkley J, Lafferty NP, Kalna G, Robson CN, Leung HY, Rajan P, Elliott DJ (2015) Androgen-regulation of the protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPRR activates ERK1/2 signalling in prostate cancer cells. BMC cancer 15:9. doi:10.1186/s12885-015-1012-8

56. Munkley J, Livermore KE, McClurg UL, Kalna G, Knight B, McCullagh P, McGrath J, Crundwell M, Leung HY, Robson CN, Harries LW, Rajan P, Elliott DJ (2015) The PI3K regulatory subunit gene PIK3R1 is under direct control of androgens and repressed in prostate cancer cells. Oncoscience 2 (9):755-764. doi:10.18632/oncoscience.243

57. Itkonen HM, Mills IG (2013) N-Linked Glycosylation Supports Cross-Talk between Receptor Tyrosine Kinases and Androgen Receptor. PloS one 8 (5):e65016. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0065016

58. Schrag JD, Bergeron JJ, Li Y, Borisova S, Hahn M, Thomas DY, Cygler M (2001) The Structure of calnexin, an ER chaperone involved in quality control of protein folding. Molecular cell 8 (3):633-644

59. Hammond C, Braakman I, Helenius A (1994) Role of N-linked oligosaccharide recognition, glucose trimming, and calnexin in glycoprotein folding and quality control. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 91 (3):913-917. doi:10.1073/pnas.91.3.913

60. Gross MI, Demo SD, Dennison JB, Chen L, Chernov-Rogan T, Goyal B, Janes JR, Laidig GJ, Lewis ER, Li J, Mackinnon AL, Parlati F, Rodriguez ML, Shwonek PJ, Sjogren EB, Stanton TF, Wang T, Yang J, Zhao F, Bennett MK (2014) Antitumor activity of the glutaminase inhibitor CB-839 in triple-negative breast cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (4):890-901. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-13-0870

61. Zacharias NM, McCullough C, Shanmugavelandy S, Lee J, Lee Y, Dutta P, McHenry J, Nguyen L, Norton W, Jones LW, Bhattacharya PK (2017) Metabolic Differences in Glutamine Utilization Lead to Metabolic Vulnerabilities in Prostate Cancer. Scientific reports 7 (1):16159. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16327-z

62. Olsson M, Zhivotovsky B (2011) Caspases and cancer. Cell death and differentiation 18 (9):1441-1449. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.30

63. Huang Q, Li F, Liu X, Li W, Shi W, Liu F-F, O'Sullivan B, He Z, Peng Y, Tan A-C, Zhou L, Shen J, Han G, Wang X-J, Thorburn J, Thorburn A, Jimeno A, Raben D, Bedford JS, Li C-Y (2011) Caspase 3-mediated stimulation of tumor cell repopulation during cancer radiotherapy. Nature medicine 17 (7):860-866. doi:10.1038/nm.2385

64. Georgakilas AG, Martin OA, Bonner WM (2017) p21: A Two-Faced Genome Guardian. Trends in molecular medicine 23 (4):310-319. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2017.02.001

65. Zhang Y, Fujita N, Tsuruo T (1999) Caspase-mediated cleavage of p21Waf1/Cip1 converts cancer cells from growth arrest to undergoing apoptosis. Oncogene 18 (5):1131-1138. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202426

66. Yuan L, Sheng X, Clark LH, Zhang L, Guo H, Jones HM, Willson AK, Gehrig PA, Zhou C, Bae-Jump VL (2016) Glutaminase inhibitor compound 968 inhibits cell proliferation and sensitizes paclitaxel in ovarian cancer. Am J Transl Res 8 (10):4265-4277

67. Barfeld SJ, Urbanucci A, Itkonen HM, Fazli L, Hicks JL, Thiede B, Rennie PS, Yegnasubramanian S, DeMarzo AM, Mills IG (2017) c-Myc Antagonises the Transcriptional Activity of the Androgen Receptor in Prostate Cancer Affecting Key Gene Networks. EBioMedicine 18:83-93. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.04.006

68. Bai S, Cao S, Jin L, Kobelski M, Schouest B, Wang X, Ungerleider N, Baddoo M, Zhang W, Corey E, Vessella RL, Dong X, Zhang K, Yu X, Flemington EK, Dong Y (2019) A positive role of c-Myc in regulating androgen receptor and its splice variants in prostate cancer. Oncogene. doi:10.1038/s41388-019-0768-8

69. Camarda R, Williams J, Goga A (2017) In vivo Reprogramming of Cancer Metabolism by MYC. Frontiers in cell and developmental biology 5:35. doi:10.3389/fcell.2017.00035

70. Qu X, Sun J, Zhang Y, Li J, Hu J, Li K, Gao L, Shen L (2018) c-Myc-driven glycolysis via TXNIP suppression is dependent on glutaminase-MondoA axis in prostate cancer. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 504 (2):415-421. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.08.069

71. Shroff EH, Eberlin LS, Dang VM, Gouw AM, Gabay M, Adam SJ, Bellovin DI, Tran PT, Philbrick WM, Garcia-Ocana A, Casey SC, Li Y, Dang CV, Zare RN, Felsher DW (2015) MYC oncogene overexpression drives renal cell carcinoma in a mouse model through glutamine metabolism. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112 (21):6539-6544. doi:10.1073/pnas.1507228112

72. Wang T, Cai B, Ding M, Su Z, Liu Y, Shen L (2019) c-Myc Overexpression Promotes Oral Cancer Cell Proliferation and Migration by Enhancing Glutaminase and Glutamine Synthetase Activity. The American journal of the medical sciences. doi:10.1016/j.amjms.2019.05.014

73. Reis LMD, Adamoski D, Ornitz Oliveira Souza R, Rodrigues Ascencao CF, Sousa de Oliveira KR, Correa-da-Silva F, Malta de Sa Patroni F, Meira Dias M, Consonni SR, Mendes de Moraes-Vieira PM, Silber AM, Dias SMG (2019) Dual inhibition of glutaminase and carnitine palmitoyltransferase decreases growth and migration of glutaminase inhibition-resistant triple-negative breast cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 294 (24):9342-9357. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA119.008180

74. Han T, Guo M, Zhang T, Gan M, Xie C, Wang JB (2017) A novel glutaminase inhibitor-968 inhibits the migration and proliferation of non-small cell lung cancer cells by targeting EGFR/ERK signaling pathway. Oncotarget 8 (17):28063-28073. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.14188

75. Polotti CF, Kim CJ, Chuchvara N, Polotti AB, Singer EA, Elsamra S (2017) Androgen deprivation therapy for the treatment of prostate cancer: a focus on pharmacokinetics. Expert opinion on drug metabolism & toxicology 13 (12):1265-1273. doi:10.1080/17425255.2017.1405934

76. Zadra G, Ribeiro CF, Chetta P, Ho Y, Cacciatore S, Gao X, Syamala S, Bango C, Photopoulos C, Huang Y, Tyekucheva S, Bastos DC, Tchaicha J, Lawney B, Uo T, D'Anello L, Csibi A, Kalekar R, Larimer B, Ellis L, Butler LM, Morrissey C, McGovern K, Palombella VJ, Kutok JL, Mahmood U, Bosari S, Adams J, Peluso S, Dehm SM, Plymate SR, Loda M (2019) Inhibition of de novo lipogenesis targets androgen receptor signaling in castration-resistant prostate cancer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 116 (2):631-640. doi:10.1073/pnas.1808834116

77. Zacharias NM, McCullough C, Shanmugavelandy S, Lee J, Lee Y, Dutta P, McHenry J, Nguyen L, Norton W, Jones LW, Bhattacharya PK (2017) Metabolic Differences in Glutamine Utilization Lead to Metabolic Vulnerabilities in Prostate Cancer. Scientific reports 7 (1):16159-16159. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-16327-z

78. Kong Y, Cheng L, Mao F, Zhang Z, Zhang Y, Farah E, Bosler J, Bai Y, Ahmad N, Kuang S, Li L, Liu X (2018) Inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis overcomes enzalutamide resistance in castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC). The Journal of biological chemistry 293 (37):14328-14341. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA118.004442

79. Flaig TW, Salzmann-Sullivan M, Su LJ, Zhang Z, Joshi M, Gijon MA, Kim J, Arcaroli JJ, Van Bokhoven A, Lucia MS, La Rosa FG, Schlaepfer IR (2017) Lipid catabolism inhibition sensitizes prostate cancer cells to antiandrogen blockade. Oncotarget 8 (34):56051-56065. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.17359

80. See WA, Wirth MP, McLeod DG, Iversen P, Klimberg I, Gleason D, Chodak G, Montie J, Tyrrell C, Wallace DM, Delaere KP, Vaage S, Tammela TL, Lukkarinen O, Persson BE, Carroll K, Kolvenbag GJ (2002) Bicalutamide as immediate therapy either alone or as adjuvant to standard care of patients with localized or locally advanced prostate cancer: first analysis of the early prostate cancer program. The Journal of urology 168 (2):429-435

81. Mazzola CR, Mulhall JP (2012) Impact of androgen deprivation therapy on sexual function. Asian J Androl 14 (2):198-203. doi:10.1038/aja.2011.106

82. Damiani C, Colombo R, Gaglio D, Mastroianni F, Pescini D, Westerhoff HV, Mauri G, Vanoni M, Alberghina L (2017) A metabolic core model elucidates how enhanced utilization of glucose and glutamine, with enhanced glutamine-dependent lactate production, promotes cancer cell

growth: The WarburQ effect. PLoS Comput Biol 13 (9):e1005758. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005758

83. Doucette CD, Schwab DJ, Wingreen NS, Rabinowitz JD (2011) α -Ketoglutarate coordinates carbon and nitrogen utilization via enzyme I inhibition. Nat Chem Biol 7 (12):894-901. doi:10.1038/nchembio.685

84. Singh D, Vishnoi T, Kumar A (2013) Effect of alpha-ketoglutarate on growth and metabolism of cells cultured on three-dimensional cryogel matrix. International journal of biological sciences 9 (5):521-530. doi:10.7150/ijbs.4962

85. Altman BJ, Stine ZE, Dang CV (2016) From Krebs to clinic: glutamine metabolism to cancer therapy. Nature reviews Cancer 16 (10):619-634. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.71

86. Vaz CV, Alves MG, Marques R, Moreira PI, Oliveira PF, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2012) Androgenresponsive and nonresponsive prostate cancer cells present a distinct glycolytic metabolism profile. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 44 (11):2077-2084. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.08.013

87. Chandler JD, Williams ED, Slavin JL, Best JD, Rogers S (2003) Expression and localization of GLUT1 and GLUT12 in prostate carcinoma. Cancer 97 (8):2035-2042. doi:10.1002/cncr.11293

88. Cardoso HJ, Vaz CV, Carvalho TMA, Figueira MI, Socorro S (2019) Tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib modulates the viability and apoptosis of castrate-resistant prostate cancer cells dependently on the glycolytic environment. Life sciences 218:274-283. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2018.12.055

89. Colombo SL, Palacios-Callender M, Frakich N, Carcamo S, Kovacs I, Tudzarova S, Moncada S (2011) Molecular basis for the differential use of glucose and glutamine in cell proliferation as revealed by synchronized HeLa cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108 (52):21069-21074. doi:10.1073/pnas.1117500108

90. Yuan L, Sheng X, Willson AK, Roque DR, Stine JE, Guo H, Jones HM, Zhou C, Bae-Jump VL (2015) Glutamine promotes ovarian cancer cell proliferation through the mTOR/S6 pathway. Endocrine-related cancer 22 (4):577-591. doi:10.1530/erc-15-0192

91. Song Z, Wei B, Lu C, Li P, Chen L (2017) Glutaminase sustains cell survival via the regulation of glycolysis and glutaminolysis in colorectal cancer. Oncology letters 14 (3):3117-3123. doi:10.3892/ol.2017.6538

92. Biancur DE, Paulo JA, Malachowska B, Quiles Del Rey M, Sousa CM, Wang X, Sohn ASW, Chu GC, Gygi SP, Harper JW, Fendler W, Mancias JD, Kimmelman AC (2017) Compensatory metabolic networks in pancreatic cancers upon perturbation of glutamine metabolism. Nat Commun 8:15965. doi:10.1038/ncomms15965

93. Halama A, Kulinski M, Dib SS, Zaghlool SB, Siveen KS, Iskandarani A, Zierer J, Prabhu KS, Satheesh NJ, Bhagwat AM, Uddin S, Kastenmüller G, Elemento O, Gross SS, Suhre K (2018)

Accelerated lipid catabolism and autophagy are cancer survival mechanisms under inhibited glutaminolysis. Cancer letters 430:133-147. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2018.05.017

94. Wang Q, Hardie R-A, Hoy AJ, van Geldermalsen M, Gao D, Fazli L, Sadowski MC, Balaban S, Schreuder M, Nagarajah R, Wong JJ-L, Metierre C, Pinello N, Otte NJ, Lehman ML, Gleave M, Nelson CC, Bailey CG, Ritchie W, Rasko JE, Holst J (2015) Targeting ASCT2-mediated glutamine uptake blocks prostate cancer growth and tumour development. The Journal of pathology 236 (3):278-289. doi:10.1002/path.4518

Chapter 7

The interplay between androgens and LDL-cholesterol modulating prostate cancer cells fate: enhanced proliferation and migration, and altered lipid metabolism

This Chapter was submitted for publication:

Cardoso HJ, Figueira MI, Carvalho TM, Vaz CV, Madureira PA, Socorro S. The interplay between androgens and LDL-cholesterol modulating prostate cancer cells fate: enhanced proliferation and migration, and altered lipid metabolism. Submitted to Andrology. 2019

Abstract

Androgens are the central stimulators of prostate cancer (PCa) cells growth and important metabolic regulators, stimulating lipid uptake, and de novo fatty acid synthesis. However, if exogenous lipid availability can influence the androgens actions in regulating lipid metabolism in PCa is unknown. On the other hand, the direct effect of LDL-supplementation modifying PCa cell fate remains underexplored. Also, it is unknown if the hormonal environment and the presence of androgens may alter the response of PCa cells to LDL-cholesterol. The present study investigated the effect of 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) in regulating lipid metabolism, and its influence and that of LDL-cholesterol in modulating PCa cells viability, proliferation and migration. DHT upregulated the expression of fatty acid synthase (FASN) and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A) in androgen-sensitive PCa cells. The DHT effect stimulating FASN expression was maintained in lipid-depleted conditions and inhibited by fatostatin, which indicates the involvement of the transcription factor SREBP-1. LDL supplementation suppressed FASN expression regardless of the presence of DHT, whereas augmenting CPT1A levels. LDL-cholesterol enrichment increased PCa cells viability, proliferation, and migration dependently on DHT. Moreover, LDL and DHT co-administration increased the lipid droplets contents in PCa cells. Inhibition of LDL receptor or CPT1A abrogated the LDL effects promoting the viability of PCa cells. Overall, these findings showed that androgens deregulate lipid metabolism and enhance the effects of high-LDL availability, increasing PCa cells viability, proliferation and migration. This in vitro approach supports clinical and epidemiological data linking obesity with PCa, and first implicated androgens in this relationship.

7.1. Introduction

Androgens are widely recognized as the central stimulators of prostate cancer (PCa) cells survival and growth [1-3], exerting their actions through the androgen receptor (AR), a member of the steroid hormone receptor subfamily of ligand-activated nuclear transcription factors [4-6]. Therefore, androgen deprivation therapy (ADT), suppressing androgens levels and the AR-mediated effects, remains a standard for treatment of men with local high-risk and metastatic PCa [7, 8]. However, the disease progresses to a stage where tumor growth occurs despite the maintenance of reduced serum androgen levels; it is the so-called castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC). Advances in the understanding of mechanisms that contribute to the establishment of CRPC and the identification of androgens/AR actions and their molecular connections are of paramount relevance for the development of new therapeutic strategies for advanced PCa.

In the last years, we and others have described the role of androgens as metabolic regulators in PCa, modulating glycolysis, nucleotide and amino acid metabolism and cell lipid handling [5, 9-11]. Indeed, lipid metabolism, which is crucial for energy production and

membrane synthesis in PCa cells [12-14], is one of the main targets of the metabolic actions of androgens [15]. Androgens have been shown to stimulate lipid uptake, synthesis, storage and lipolysis from lipid droplets [16-18]. These outcomes are achieved by the regulation of expression and activity of several molecular targets. However, how androgens control lipid metabolism in prostate cells is not entirely understood, and there are several molecular partners involved in lipid handling that remain to be identified as androgens targets. Also, it is unknown if exogenous lipid availability would influence the effect of androgens regulating lipid metabolism.

On the other hand, clinical and epidemiological studies have been establishing a relationship between obesity and PCa, mainly by the fact that obese PCa patients develop aggressive forms of disease with accelerated progression to CRPC, poor prognosis and reduced survival rates [19-23]. Also, experimental *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies showed that diet-induced hypercholesterolemia induces PCa metastasis [24, 25]. However, the direct influence of exogenous LDL supplementation modifying PCa cell fate remains unknown, though this has been demonstrated in other types of cancer, namely, breast cancer and oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma [26-28]. Moreover, it is entirely unknown if the hormonal milieu driving cancer and the presence of androgens as lipid metabolism modulators may have a role altering PCa cells response to LDL-cholesterol.

The present study aimed to elucidate further the effect of androgens (5 α dihydrotestosterone, DHT) in regulating lipid metabolism, and the influence of these hormones and LDL-cholesterol modulating PCa cells viability, proliferation and migration. The expression of target regulators of lipid metabolism and lipid content in PCa cells under different LDL-cholesterol availability with or without DHT were also assessed.

7.2. Materials and methods

7.2.1. Chemicals

All chemicals, culture media, and antibodies unless otherwise stated were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA).

7.2.2. Cell lines and treatments

Human prostate cell lines (PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145, and PC3) were purchased from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC, Salisbury, UK). PNT1A are non-tumorigenic prostate epithelial cells. LNCaP cells, originated from a PCa lymph node metastasis, express the AR and are an androgen-sensitive model. DU145 and PC3 cell lines have origin in brain and bone metastasis of an undifferentiated grade IV prostate adenocarcinomas, and are considered to be non-sensitive to androgens [29, 30].

PNT1A, LNCaP, DU145, and PC3 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1 % penicillin/ streptomycin at 37 °C in

an atmosphere equilibrated with 5 % CO₂. At 60% confluence, culture medium was replaced by phenol red-free RPMI1640 medium (R8755) containing 1% lipid-depleted FBS (LD-FBS, Biowest, Riverside, MO, USA) or 5% charcoal-stripped FBS depending on cells will be treated with lipids or androgens. Cells were maintained for additional 24 h and, then, exposed to 10 nM DHT or vehicle for 12, 24, 48 h. Alternatively, cells were exposed to Low density Lipoproteins (LDL) (100 μ g/ml, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) in the presence or absence of DHT. LDL-exposure experiments were repeated in LNCaP cells in the presence of 40 μ M Etomoxir or human anti-LDLr antibody (5 μ g/ml, AF2148, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) for 24 h and 48 h. Antibody was added to culture medium 1 h before LDL-stimulation. DHT-treated LNCaP cells in LD-FBS conditions were simultaneously cultured with 20 μ M fatostatin. At different experimental conditions, cells were used for cell viability and migration assays, Ki-67 immunocytochemistry, and determination of lipid content, or, alternatively, harvested for protein extraction.

7.2.3. Cell Viability Assay

LNCaP (20.000 cells/well) and PC3 (5000 cells/well) cells were grown in 96-well plates, and cell viability was determined by the colorimetric MTT assay. After LDL, DHT and/or inhibitors stimulation, culture medium was removed and incubated with MTT (1-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-3,5-diphenylformazan) at a final concentration of 0,5 mg/ml, in the dark for 4 h at 37 °C. After incubation, MTT solution was carefully removed, and the formed formazan crystals were solubilized with 100 μ L DMSO. The absorbance of the resultant purple coloured solution was measured at 570 nm using the xMark^M Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The value of absorbance is directly proportional to the number of viable cells in each experimental group.

7.2.4. Ki-67 immunocytochemistry

LNCaP cells (2.5×10^5 /well) were fixed with 4% PFA and permeabilized with 1 % Triton X-100 for 5 min at room temperature. Nonspecific staining was blocked by incubation with PBS containing 0.1% (w/v) Tween-20 (PBS-T) and 20% FBS for 1 h. After blocking, cells were incubated with the rabbit monoclonal anti-Ki-67 antibody (1:50, ab16667, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) for 1 h at room temperature. Alexa Fluor 546 goat anti-rabbit IgG (Invitrogen, Darmstadt, Germany) was used as secondary antibody. Specificity of staining was assessed by omission of the primary antibody. Cell nuclei were stained with Hoechst 33342 (5 μ g/mL, Invitrogen) for 10 min. Lamellae were washed with PBS-T and mounted with Dako fluorescent mounting medium (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark). Images were acquired using the Zeiss LSM 710 laser scanning confocal microscope (Carl Zeiss, Göttingen, Germany). Proliferation was determined by the percentage of Ki-67-positive cells out of the total

number of Hoechst stained nuclei in 10 randomly selected ×40 magnification fields in each lamellae.

7.2.5. Migration Assay

Cell migration assay was performed using 8 μ M pore size inserts (35224, SPL, Life Sciences, Naechon-Myeon Pocheon, South Korea). Briefly, LNCaP cells (3.0 x10⁵ cells/well), in the presence or absence of LDL and DHT, were placed into the upper chambers in serum-free media. The lower chambers contained 20% LD-FBS. After 24 h, cells on the lower surface of membrane were fixed and stained with haematoxylin. Then, cells were counted in 10, randomly selected, ×40 magnification fields in each membrane.

7.2.6. Oil Red O Assay

LNCaP cells (5.0×10^5 cells/well) seeded in 12-well plates and exposed to LDL ($100 \mu g/ml$) and DHT (10 nM) for 24 h, were then fixed with 4% PFA for 30 min. Cells were washed twice with distilled waster and rinsed with 60% isopropanol for 5 min. After washing, cells were stained with Oil Red O for 20 min. Representative microscope images were acquired. Oil Red O (lipid content) quantification was carried out by diluting dye with 100 % isopropanol for 5 min with gentle agitation. Absorbance was measured using xMark^m Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad) at 492 nm.

7.2.7. Western Blot (WB)

cells were Human prostate homogenized in the appropriate volume of radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) (150 mM NaCl, 1 % Nonidet-P40 substitute, 0.5 % Na-deoxycholate, 0.1 % SDS, 50 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with 1 % protease inhibitors cocktail and 10 % PMSF , kept on ice for 20 min with occasional mixing, and then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. Protein concentration was determined using the Pierce[™] BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific). Total proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE on 7.5 or 10% gels and electrotransferred to a PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad). Membranes were incubated overnight at 4 °C with rabbit anti-CD36 (1:400, ab64014; Abcam), rabbit anti-fatty acid synthase (FASN, 1:1000, no.3180; Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA), mouse anti-Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A, 1:1000, ab128568; Abcam), rabbit anti-AKT (1:1000, no.9272; Cell Signaling Technology), rabbit anti-phospho-AKT (1:1000, no.9271; Cell Signaling Technology), rabbit anti-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (1:1000, no.9102; Cell Signaling Technology), rabbit anti-phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (1:1000, no.9101; Cell Signaling Technology), rabbit anti-phospho-c-Myc (1:1000, no.13748; Cell Signaling Technology), or mouse anti-E-cadherin (1:1000, sc-8426, Santa Cruz Biotecnhnology, Heidelberg, Germany) primary antibodies. Then, membranes were washed and incubated 1 h at room temperature with the anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked (1:20000, no.7074; Cell Signaling Technology) or antimouse-IgG κ HRP-linked (1:20000, sc-516102, Santa Cruz Biotecnhnology) secondary antibodies. Protein expression was normalized using a mouse anti-B-actin (1:1000, A5441) antibody. Membranes were incubated with ECL substrate (Bio-Rad) for 5 min, and immunoreactive proteins were visualized with the ChemiDocTM MP System (Bio-Rad). Band densities were obtained according to standard methods using the Image Lab software (Bio-Rad) and normalized by division with the respective B-actin band density.

7.2.8. Statistical Analysis

The statistical significance of differences between experimental groups was evaluated by unpaired t -test with Welch's correction, or one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey post-hoc test, using GraphPad Prism v6.00 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. All experimental data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean (S.E.M).

7.3. Results

7.3.1. Fatty acid metabolism regulators are differential expressed in PCa cells and regulated by androgens

The protein expression of fatty acid metabolism regulators (Fig. 7.1.A) in neoplastic and nonneoplastic prostate cell lines was evaluated by WB analysis (Fig. 7.1.B). The expression of the fatty acid transporter, CD36, was significantly lower in CRPC cell lines (DU145, PC3) relatively to the non-neoplastic PNT1A cells (0.66 ± 0.04 and 0.53 ± 0.07 fold variation, respectively, Fig. 7.1B), as well as in PC3 cells relatively to LNCaP cells (Fig. 7.1B). On the other hand, the expression of FASN (Fig. 7.1.A), an enzyme crucial to fatty acid synthesis, was significantly higher in all PCa cells relatively to PNT1A cells (2.76 ± 0.10 , 1.43 ± 0.13 and 2.15 ± 0.11 fold variation for LNCaP, DU145 and PC3, respectively, Fig. 7.1.B). Among PCa cell lines, DU145 cells displayed significantly lower expression of FASN when compared to LNCaP or PC3 (Fig. 7.1.B); and LNCaP cells showed the highest FASN expression levels (Fig. 7.1.B).

CPT1A is a rate-limiting component in the carnitine-dependent transport of fatty acids across the inner mitochondrial membrane (Fig. 7.1.A), catalysing an important step in β -oxidation. CPT1 expression was significantly higher in LNCaP and PC3 cells (respectively, 2.39 ± 0.17 and 3.22 ± 0.31 fold variation relatively to PNT1A, Fig. 7.1.B), whereas DU145 cells displayed the lowest CPT1A expression among all PCa cell lines (0.69 ± 0.07 fold variation relatively to PNT1A, Fig. 7.1.B).

Androgens have been shown to play a role as metabolic regulators fuelling PCa cells growth and proliferation [5, 9, 11]. In this work, we evaluated the effect of DHT (10 nM) regulating the expression of CD36 (Fig. 7.2.A), FASN (Fig. 7.2.B) and CPT1A (Fig 7.2.C). DHT-treatment significantly decreased the protein expression of CD36 in PTN1A cells for 24 h of

treatment (0.2955 \pm 0.05 fold variation to control, Fig. 7.2.A) and in LNCaP cells for 12 h, 24 h and 48 h (respectively, 0.72 \pm 0.09, 0.63 \pm 0.04 and 0.86 \pm 0.02 fold variation to control, Fig. 7.2.A).



Figure 7.1. Lipid metabolism regulators, CD36, FASN and CPT1A, in PCa cell line models, LNCaP, DU145 and PC3 cells (A) Fatty acid uptake occurs through the membrane transporter CD36. In the intracellular space, fatty acids can be guided to 8-oxidation with the participation of CPT1A, an enzyme at outer mitochondrial membrane that allows the transport of fatty acid to mitochondrial matrix, which is a rate-limiting step in 8-oxidation. The products of lipid oxidation enter the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle generating ATP. Alternatively, incorporated fatty acids can be stored in lipid droplets, being recruited by lipolysis when more energy substrates are needed. Cancer cells also have been shown to have the ability of de novo synthesise fatty acids, which depends on the activity of FASN. (B) Protein expression determined by WB analysis after normalization with α -tubulin. All results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the non-neoplastic PNT1A prostate cells. Error bars indicate mean ± S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 when compared to PNT1A cells; \$\$ p<0.01; \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared to DU145 cells. Representative immunoblots are shown in the right panel.
On the other hand, DHT induced a significant increase on the expression of FASN in LNCaP cells treated for 24 h and 48 h (respectively, 1.37 ± 0.09 and 1.27 ± 0.09 fold variation to control, Fig. 7.2.B). CPT1A expression was significantly increased in PNT1A cells treated with DHT for 24 h and 48 h (respectively, 2.44 ± 0.55 and 1.59 ± 0.20 fold variation to control, Fig. 7.2.C), as well as, in LNCaP-treated cells for 24 h (1.63 ± 0.12 fold variation to control, Fig. 7.2.C).

Overall, no effect was seen on the expression of fatty acid metabolism regulators, CD36 (Fig. 2A), FASN (Fig. 7.2.B), and CPT1A (Fig. 7.2.C) in CRPC cells, DU145 and PC3, in response to DHT.



Figure 7.2. Effect of DHT (10 nM) on the expression of CD36 (A), FASN (B) and CPT1A (C) in neoplastic (LNCaP, DU145 and PC3) and non-neoplastic (PNT1A) prostate cells treated for 12, 24, or 48 h. Protein expression was analysed by WB after normalization with β -actin. All results are expressed as fold-variation relative to the control untreated group (0 nM DHT, dashed line). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05, *** p<0.001 when compared to control. Representative immunoblots are shown in the right panels.

7.3.2. LDL-cholesterol increased PCa cells viability, proliferation and migration dependently on DHT

The effect of LDL-supplementation, alone or in combination with DHT, on PCa cells viability, proliferation and migration was investigated. LDL-stimulation significantly increased the viability of LNCaP and PC3 cells both for 24 h and 48 h of treatment (respectively 140 \pm 1%, 167 \pm 5% and 149 \pm 7%, 186 \pm 4% fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.3.A). Moreover, the viability of androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells was significantly increased in ~ 25 % when LDL was combined with DHT (175 \pm 3 % fold variation to LDL-untreated group, for 24 h of treatment, Fig. 7.3.A).



Figure 7.3. Effect of LDL (100 µg/ml) and DHT (10 nM) on PCa cells viability (A), proliferation (B, C) and migration (D). (A) Cell viability of LNCaP and PC3 cells was determined by the MTT assay after 24 and 48 h of treatment. (B) Proliferation of LNCaP cells was determined by the immunofluorescence analysis of Ki67 at 24 h. Data are expressed as the mean of Ki67-positive cells relatively to the total cell number (10 fields were assessed for each experimental condition). (C) Representative confocal microscopy images showing Ki67 labelling in the different groups. Images were obtained in the Zeiss LSM 710 laser scanning confocal microscope under 630 x magnification. Nuclei are stained with Hoechst 33342 (blue) and Ki67 positive staining is red. Negative controls for Ki67 obtained by omission of the primary antibody are provided as insert panels (-). (D) Migration of LNCaP cells was determined by a trans-wells assay in uncoated chambers. The upper chamber contained serum free medium and LNCaP cells in the presence or absence of LDL and DHT. Lipid depleted medium in the lower chamber was used as chemoattractant. Data are expressed as the mean number of migrating cells per 20x magnification field (10 fields were assessed for each experimental condition). All results are expressed as foldvariation relatively to the LDL-untreated group (LDL (-)). Error bars indicate mean ± S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 when compared to LDL (-) group; \$ p<0.05, \$\$ p<0.01, \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared to LDL (-)/DHT (+) group; # p<0.05, ### p<0.001 when compared to LDL (+) group.

Immunofluorescent labelling of the nuclear proliferation marker Ki-67 was used to confirm whether treatment with LDL plus DHT also improves LNCaP cells proliferation. Indeed, cell proliferation was significantly augmented in the LDL (+)/DHT (+) group (2.20 \pm 0.07 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.3B, 7.3.C). The enhanced effects of LDl in the presence of DHT were also observed in a trans-wells assay for assessing cell migration. LDL-supplementation significantly increased LNCaP cells migration (1.31 \pm 0.06 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.3.D), an effect that was ~ 25 % amplified in the presence of DHT (1.64 \pm 0.10 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.3.D).

Both LDL and DHT are known to influence PCa cells fate by modulating several intracellular signalling pathways. With this rationale, we analysed the expression of total and phosphorylated AKT and ERK isoforms (Fig. 7.4.). WB analysis showed that total AKT, a key downstream mediator regulating cell survival and proliferation, was decreased in the LDL (+)/DHT (+) group relatively to the group non-supplemented with LDL (0.75 \pm 0.04 fold variation, Fig. 7.4.). However, p-AKT levels were only significantly increased in response to DHT (2.26 \pm 0.40 fold variation in LDL(-)/DHT(+) relatively to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.4.). The DHT effect on p-AKT levels was not perceived when LDL was present (Fig. 7.4.).



Figure 7.4. Effect of LDL (100 µg/ml) and DHT (10 nM) on the expression of AKT, p-AKT, ERK, p-ERK, c-Myc and E-cadherin in LNCaP cells treated for 24 h. Protein expression was analysed by WB after normalization with B-actin. All results are expressed as fold variation relative to the LDL-untreated group (LDL (-)). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001 when compared to LDL (-) group; \$ p<0.05, \$\$ p<0.01 when compared to LDL (-)/DHT (+) group; # p<0.05, ## p<0.01, ### p<0.001 when compared to LDL (+) group. Representative immunoblots are shown in the right panel.

Concerning ERK the presence of LDL significantly decreased p-ERK levels (0.59 \pm 0.06 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.4.). Both p-ERK and ERK expression decreased in the LDL(+)/DHT(+) treated group, an effect that was more pronounced for p-ERK (respectively, 0.32 \pm 0.03 and 0.72 \pm 0.06 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.4.).

The oncogene c-Myc that is over-expressed in PCa is a potent driver of cell proliferative activity and has been indicated as a central player in the regulation of cell metabolism. The presence of LDL did not affect c-Myc expression, whereas DHT augmented its levels (2.82 \pm 0.32 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.4.). Moreover, upon

combining LDL with DHT, a further increase in c-Myc expression was observed (3.89 \pm 0.44 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.4.).

We also analysed if the enhanced migration of LNCaP cells in the LDL (+) and LDL (+)/DHT (+) experimental groups (Fig. 7.3.D) would be mediated by the loss of E-cadherin, a protein known to be supressed in the epithelial mesenchymal transition underliving the emergence of metastatic carcinomas. E-cadherin expression was decreased in DHT-treated groups independently of the presence of LDL (0.68 \pm 0.07 and 0.65 \pm 0.08 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.4.).

7.3.3. LDL/DHT effects are accompanied by altered fatty acid metabolism with accumulation of lipid droplets

Considering the effect of DHT modulating the expression of lipid metabolism regulators and the LDL actions affecting LNCaP cells fate dependently on DHT, we decided to investigate whether LDL availability wouldZ affect the response to DHT and lipid handling in prostate cells.



Figure 7.5. Effect of LDL (100 μg/ml) and DHT (10 nM) on the expression of FASN (A) and CPT1A (A), and accumulation of lipid droplets (B) in LNCaP cells treated for 24 h. (A) Protein expression was analysed by WB after normalization with β-actin. Representative immunoblots are shown in the right panel. (B) Lipid droplet staining and quantification were made using the Oil Red-O assay. Representative images are shown in the right panel. All results are expressed as fold variation relative to the LDL-

untreated group ((-) LDL). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05, *** p<0.001 when compared to (-) LDL group; \$\$ p<0.01, \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared to (-) LDL (+) DHT group.

First, we analysed FASN and CPT1A expression, targeting fatty acid synthesis and oxidation, respectively. As expected, DHT-treatment for 24 h augmented FASN expression in the LDL (-) group (1.38 ± 0.08 fold variation, Fig. 7.5.A). LDL itself did not affect FASN expression levels, but its presence suppressed the DHT-stimulatory effects over FASN (Fig. 5A).

DHT did not affect CPT1A expression (Fig. 7.5.A). However, LDL-treated groups displayed increased expression of CPT1A (LDL (+), 1.31 ± 0.02 and LDL (+)/DHT (+), 1.40 ± 0.10 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.5.A).

The accumulation of triglycerides and cholesterol esters in cytosolic lipid droplets protects lipids from harmful peroxidation and represent a lipid reservoir for maintenance and formation of cell membranes. We evaluated if LDL availability and DHT-treatment altered LNCaP cells capability for storing neutral lipids (Fig. 5B). The combination of LDL(+)/DHT(+) enhanced the relative number of lipid droplets relatively to the LDL-untreated groups (1.23 \pm 0.03 fold variation to LDL-untreated group, Fig. 7.5.B).

7.3.4. The transcription factor SREBP mediates the DHT actions regulating fatty acid metabolism and p-AKT levels

As shown, DHT increased LNCaP cells viability (Fig. 7.3.A), and p-AKT and FASN expression (Fig. 7.4.) in lipid-depleted conditions (LDL(-)). The sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1 (SREBP-1) has been shown to be involved in the transcriptional activity of AR regulating FASN [31-33]. Next, we determined if the chemical inhibition of SREBP through a recognized inhibitor, Fatostatin, inhibited the effects of DHT in lipid depleted conditions. Exposure to fatostatin strongly diminished FASN expression in LNCaP DHT-treated cells (0.20 \pm 0.05 fold variation to control, Fig. 7.6.). Moreover, fatostatin strongly blocked AKT and p-AKT expression (respectively, 0.07 \pm 0.02 and 0.08 \pm 0.02 fold variation to control, Fig. 7.6.).



Figure 7.6. Effect of fatostatin (20 μ M) suppressing DHT (10 nM) actions regulating the expression of AKT, p-AKT, FASN in LNCaP cells treated for 24 h in lipid-depleted conditions. Protein expression was analysed by WB after normalization with B-actin. All results are expressed as fold variation relative to DHT-treated group. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) *** p<0.001. Representative immunoblots are shown in the right panel.

7.3.5. Anti-LDLR antibody and etomoxir blocked the LDL-effects increasing viability of PCa cells

Finally, we tested if blocking LDL entry into the cell or fatty acid oxidation would reverse LDL effects enhancing PCa cells viability (Fig. 7.7.). Cells were stimulated with LDL in the presence of anti-LDLR antibody, which resulted in decreased viability of both LNCaP and PC3 cells (respectively, 59 ± 18 and $79 \pm 2\%$ fold variation to control group, Fig. 7.7.A).

After 48 h of treatment, etomoxir, a well-known inhibitor of CPT1A, completely abolished the LDL effect increasing viability of LNCaP cells (Fig. 7.7.B). A ~ 78% reduction was observed when etomoxir was present, restoring LNCaP cells viability to that of the control.



Figure 7.7. Effect of anti-LDLR antibody (5 µg/mL) (A) and etomoxir (40 µM) (B) over LDL actions sustaining LNCaP cells viability. (A) Cells were pre-treated with the anti-LDLR antibody for 2 h before exposure to LDL (100 µg/mL). (B) Cells were treated with LDL (100 µM/ml) in the presence or absence of etomoxir for 24 and 48 h. Cell viability was determined by the MTT assay. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5) * p<0.05, *** p<0.001 when compared to the respective control group; \$\$ p<0.01, \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared to (-) LDL (+) etomoxir group; ### p<0.001 when compared to (+) LDL (-) etomoxir group.

7.4. Discussion

In this study, we investigated the effect of androgens in regulating lipid metabolism, and the influence of these hormones and LDL-cholesterol modulating PCa cells fate.

First, we characterized the basal expression of target regulators of lipid metabolism in our prostate cell line models; non-neoplastic (PNT1A) prostate cells, androgen-sensitive (LNCaP) PCa cells, and CRPC (DU145 and PC3) cells. Expression analysis of CD36, FASN and CPT1A targeted fatty acid transport, synthesis and oxidation (Fig. 7.1.A), respectively. CRPC cells displayed a decreased expression of the fatty acid transporter CD36 compared to nonneoplastic PNT1A and LNCaP cells (Fig. 7.1.B). These results first described the expression of CD36 in prostate cell line models dependently on their androgen-responsiveness. Interestingly, a differential increased expression of CD36 was found in estrogen receptorpositive breast cancer cells compared with estrogen receptor-negative [34], which indicates this transporter as a target of hormone regulation. Moreover, CD36 has been shown to be overexpressed in pancreatic, gastric, and ovarian human cancer cases, and also in PCa [35-38].

FASN and CPT1A expression was significantly increased in PCa cell line models (Fig. 7.1.B), which follows other previous reports. FASN has little importance in non-neoplastic cells, but its overexpression has been identified as an early event in the development of PCa [39]. Moreover, increased expression and activity of FASN have been associated with PCa progression, more aggressive phenotypes of disease, and CRPC bone metastasis [39-42]. Concerning CPT1A, the studies evaluating its expression in human PCa cases or cell lines are almost non-existent, but a report demonstrated that CPT1A is highly abundant in PCa compared with benign tissues, especially if considering high-grade tumours [43]. This is in accordance with our results showing the highest expression of CPT1A in PC3 cells (Fig. 7.1.B), the most aggressive PCa cell line model under study.

Androgens are widely recognized as the main stimulators of prostate cell proliferation [44, 45], and also have been indicated as important regulators of cell metabolism, influencing several metabolic pathways, including glycolysis and lipid metabolism [5, 9, 11]. Indeed, androgen exposure has been shown to modulate lipid handling in PCa cells, with effects on lipogenesis, fatty acid uptake and lipid storage [15]. However, it is unknown whether conditions of different lipid availability would shape the effect of androgens regulating lipid metabolism in prostate cells. Also, there are several molecular partners involved in lipid handling that remain to be identified as androgens targets. Herein, we analyzed the effect of DHT in regulating the expression of FASN, CPT1A and CD36 (Fig. 7.2.).

Our results confirmed the effect of DHT-treatment enhancing the expression of FASN in the androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells (Fig. 7.2.B). FASN has been shown as a classical target of the androgens actions regulating lipid *de novo* synthesis in PCa cells [5, 46, 47]. Accordingly, and rogen deprivation was shown to cause a marked reduction in FASN expression that was reverted by the administration of testosterone [48]. The results obtained in this study also showed that the DHT effects increasing FASN expression in LNCaP cells were maintained in lipid-depleted conditions, but abrogated in the presence of LDL (Fig. 7.5.A). These findings indicate that high LDL availability turn-off the production of fatty acids by PCa cells. On the other hand, results showed that LNCaP cells could maintain the capability of synthesizing de novo fatty acids in lipid-depleted conditions if stimulated with DHT. Moreover, the effect of DHT in regulating FASN expression in LNCaP cells was linked to the transcription factor SREBP-1, a central player in the control of lipid metabolism and a mediator of androgens actions regulating lipid handling [49-51]. Fatostatin, a well-known inhibitor of SREBP, suppressed the DHT effects up-regulating FASN protein levels in lipiddepleted conditions (Fig. 7.6.). Similar results were found in breast cancer cells with fatostatin decreasing FASN expression only in the absence of lipids [52].

CPT1A mediates a rate-limiting step in B-oxidation by converting fatty acids to acylcarnitines, which enables the translocation to the intermembrane space of mitochondria and energy production. DHT exposure upregulated CPT1A expression levels in PNT1A and

LNCaP cells (Fig. 7.2.C), which indicates that androgens can stimulate lipid oxidation both in non-neoplastic and neoplastic prostate cells. However, the DHT effects upregulating CPT1A in LNCaP cells occurred only in conditions of LDL availability, being absent in lipid depleted conditions (Fig. 7.2.C, 7.5.A). Previous reports indicated that lipid mitochondrial metabolization through β -oxidation is regulated by the AR [53, 54], but our findings show that androgens can stimulate lipid oxidation at the early step of their translocation to mitochondria. This is quite relevant since several studies have described that lipid utilization by the mitochondria is crucial for cell survival, activation of proliferation pathways and resistance to treatment [25, 55-57].

CD36, also known as fatty acid translocase, is a major transporter for fatty acids uptake. Moreover, CD36 was shown to play a relevant role in oncogenic signalling and, consequently, in cancer progression in several types of cancer, including prostate [34, 38, 58]. DHT-treatment diminished the expression levels of CD36 in PNT1A and LNCaP cells (Fig. 7.2.A). At least for our knowledge, this is the first report identifying the cell membrane fatty acid transporter CD36 as an androgen target gene. Other authors also showed that androgen exposure increased medium and long-chain fatty acids, cholesterol, and low-density lipoproteins uptake [59, 60]. However, several transporters can mediate lipid uptake in PCa cells [59]. A study indicated that the augmented uptake of lipids in response to androgens was associated with the increased expression of membrane fatty acid-binding protein (FABPm) [60]. In this way, androgens actions stimulating lipid uptake would result from the balance between CD36 and FABPm expression pattern [60]. Overall, the obtained findings broadened the role of androgens as central regulators of lipid metabolism.

Next, we analysed the effect of LDL altering PCa cells fate on the dependency of DHT. LDL exposure augmented LNCaP and PC3 cells viability, an effect that was amplified in LNCaP cells in the presence of DHT (Fig. 7.3.A). As a proof of concept, we evaluated LDL actions in the presence of anti-LDLr antibody. Inhibition of LDLr decreased LNCaP cells viability to the control levels (Fig. 7.7.A), demonstrating the importance of LDL uptake in promoting PCa cell viability. The information on LDLr actions in PCa is scarce, but it was shown to accelerate breast cancer cell growth in a mouse model of hyperlipidaemia [61]. LDLr inhibition also was shown to sensitize pancreatic cancer cells to chemotherapeutic drugs [62], which is demonstrative of the relevance of lipids viability for cancer cells growth.

Moreover, LNCaP cells proliferation was highly promoted by LDL whenever DHT was present (Fig. 7.3.B, 7.3.C). The information on LDL effects over PCa cell fate is limited, though a study showed that LDL exposure was related to an increased number of cancer cells [63]. However, high LDL availability has been shown to promote cell proliferation in several cancer types, namely, breast cancer and oesophageal squamous cell carcinoma [26-28]. The presence of androgens potentiating the effects of LDL in AR-positive LNCaP cells is a new finding that is supported by the existent reports demonstrating the role of androgens increasing LDL uptake [59].

LDL/DHT effects modulating LNCaP cells behaviour were underpinned by alterations on the protein fingerprint of key targets of survival and oncogenic pathways (Fig. 7.4.), namely, the AKT pathway that plays an important role in the survival of PCa cells, and has been associated with a poor clinical outcome [64-66]. The results obtained herein showed a significant increase of p-AKT in response to DHT in lipid-depleted conditions (Fig. 7.4.), which was linked with increased cell viability (Fig. 7.3.A). Increased p-AKT in DHT-treated LNCaP cells was also concomitant with the increased expression of FASN (Fig. 5A) and completely blocked by SREBP-1 inhibitor fatostatin (Fig. 7.6.). These findings are in line with the report of AKT activation, and the involvement of the PI3K/AKT \rightarrow SREBP-1 \rightarrow FASN pathway, and fatty acid synthesis, to satisfy the energy demands of cancer cells, their growth and invasion [67].

The ERK pathway is another important driver of cell proliferation and survival. The expression of the active p-ERK decreased with LDL supplementation and dependently on coadministration of DHT (Fig. 7.4.), whereas LDL or DHT alone had no effect. In breast cancer cells, LDL-cholesterol enhanced p-ERK expression levels [26]. Another study also showed a decreased expression of p-ERK with DHT treatment in LNCaP cells, which we verified only in the LDL(+)/DHT(+) group, probably because a completely lipid-free medium was used [68]. Nevertheless, the relationship between ERK activity in PCa is somehow controversial. Some authors have demonstrated a decline in ERK activity in advanced tumours, whereas others showed activation of this pathway in malignancy [69-72].

c-Myc is one of the oncogenes overexpressed in PCa being extremely important for cancer progression and establishment of the CRPC phenotype [73-75]. Also, coordinated action of c-Myc and AR has been proposed in PCa development [73, 74]. Furthermore, c-Myc has been indicated as a central regulator of metabolic alterations in cancer cells, namely in glucose and glutamine metabolism [76, 77]. This study showed an increased expression of c-Myc with LDL exposure in the presence of DHT (Fig. 7.4.). LDL alone had no effect, but DHT also increased c-Myc expression (Fig. 7.4.). It was demonstrated that c-Myc is associated with the deregulation of lipid metabolism in PCa cells and triple-negative breast cancer [68, 78]. Interestingly, the increased expression of c-Myc in the LDL(+)/DHT(+) group occurred concomitantly with the accumulation of intracellular lipids (discussion below). Further studies are needed to confirm the relationship of c-Myc with LDL/DHT actions in lipid metabolism.

Our results also showed that LDL had a stimulatory effect over LNCaP cells migration (Fig. 7.3.D), which was potentiated by DHT. This was accompanied by the altered expression of EMT markers, namely, E-cadherin, a key cell-to-cell adhesion molecule associated with cancer cell migration and invasion. Loss of E-cadherin has been shown facilitating PCa metastasis and enhancing PCa chemoresistance [79-81]. LDL exposure in the presence of DHT decreased expression of E-cadherin (Fig. 7.4.). Moreover, DHT alone also decreased E-cadherin expression, which is in line with the concept of androgens as enhancers of PCa cell migration and metastasis [82-84]. Our findings are also supported by a study describing the decreased expression of E-cadherin using the same DHT concentration [85]. Concerning other

EMT markers, such as vimentin and N-cadherin, their protein expression was undetectable (data not shown). Indeed, LNCaP cells have been shown to present low levels of vimentin [86, 87], being negative for N-cadherin [88].

Overall, this study first showed the interplay of LDL and androgens enhancing viability, and the proliferative and migration abilities of androgen-sensitive PCa cells (Fig. 7.8.).

It has been shown that cancer cells have the capability of metabolic adaptation in response to lipids availability [89]. When cell lipids are in excess, cholesterol is converted to cholesteryl esters that can be stored as lipid droplets [90, 91]. High LDL availability in the presence of DHT increased storage of lipids in LNCaP cells (Fig. 5B). The LDL stored in lipid droplets would be a reservoir to satisfy the cell growth needs, and maybe is supporting the enhanced proliferative activity and migration of LNCaP cells (Fig. 7.3.A, 7.3.C). Moreover, LDL supplementation, besides suppressing FASN expression and the lipid *de novo* synthesis, increased CPT1A levels (Fig. 5A) driving fatty acids to β -oxidation. The rate of mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation is regulated by CPT1A as it mediates the transport of fatty acids across the inner mitochondrial membrane. Etomoxir is a small-molecule widely used as an inhibitor of fatty acid oxidation by its irreversible inhibition of CPT1A [92]. CPT1A inhibition with etomoxir reverted the LDL effects promoting LNCaP cells viability (Fig. 7B), which indicates that the LDL incorporated in lipid droplets is being routed for lipolysis with fatty acids production and β -oxidation, to sustain cell viability (Fig. 7.8.).

Obesity and hypercholesterolemia have been associated with more aggressive stages of PCa [19-23, 93], with periprostatic adipocytes having a significant impact on cancer cells invasiveness [94]. Also, it has been indicated that cholesterol, as a steroidogenesis precursor, can fuel intratumoral androgen synthesis accelerating prostate tumors growth [95]. On the other hand, treatment with inhibitors of cholesterol synthesis, as simvastatin, was shown to reduce LNCaP tumors xenografts growth and androgen steroidogenesis [96]. These data, together with the cooperative relationship found here between LDL and androgens promoting PCa cell growth, open new doors to target cholesterol availability together with ADT for treatment of PCa.

In conclusion, this study showed that androgens regulate a wide range of lipid metabolism targets, and promote the LDL effects increasing cell viability, proliferation and migration of PCa cells (Fig. 7.8.). These findings support clinical data linking obesity and PCa, and first implicated androgens in this relationship. Furthermore, they sustain the development of future strategies for PCa treatment targeting obesity and the AR simultaneously.



Figure 7.8. DHT and LDL-cholesterol actions in modulating PCa cells fate and lipid metabolism. LDL promoted viability, proliferation and migration of PCa cells dependently on the presence of DHT. These effects were underpinned by the altered expression of the oncogene c-Myc, and decreased expression of E-cadherin, which is a protein downregulated in the epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT). The combination of LDL and DHT augmented the lipid droplets content. Blocking fatty acid *B*-oxidation with etomoxir, an inhibitor of CPT1A, reverted the effect of LDL promoting cell viability, which indicates that the LDL incorporated in lipid droplets is being routed for fatty acids production and oxidation. DHT increased the expression of FASN, an effect also observed in lipid-depleted conditions and mediated by the transcriptional factor SREBP. The presence of exogenous LDL, regardless of the presence of DHT, turned-off FASN expression.

7.5. Acknowledgments

None.

7.6. Funding

This work was supported by FEDER funds through the POCI - COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme Competitiveness and Internationalisation in Axis I - Strengthening research, technological development and innovation (Project No. 007491) and National Funds by FCT-Foundation for Science and Technology (Project UID/Multi/00709/2013). Cardoso HJ and Figueira MI were recipient of BID/ICI-FCS/CICS/Santander and FCT fellowships, respectively, SFRH/BD/111351/2015 and SFRH/BD/104671/2014.

7.7. Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

7.8. References

1. Wang D, Tindall DJ (2011) Androgen Action During Prostate Carcinogenesis. In: Saatcioglu F (ed) Androgen Action: Methods and Protocols. Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, pp 25-44. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-243-4_2

2. Saraon P, Jarvi K, Diamandis EP (2011) Molecular Alterations during Progression of Prostate Cancer to Androgen Independence. Clinical Chemistry 57 (10):1366-1375. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2011.165977

3. Pienta KJ, Bradley D (2006) Mechanisms Underlying the Development of Androgen-Independent Prostate Cancer. Clinical Cancer Research 12 (6):1665-1671. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-06-0067

4. Leung JK, Sadar MD (2017) Non-Genomic Actions of the Androgen Receptor in Prostate Cancer. Frontiers in Endocrinology 8 (2). doi:10.3389/fendo.2017.00002

5. Massie CE, Lynch A, Ramos-Montoya A, Boren J, Stark R, Fazli L, Warren A, Scott H, Madhu B, Sharma N, Bon H, Zecchini V, Smith DM, Denicola GM, Mathews N, Osborne M, Hadfield J, Macarthur S, Adryan B, Lyons SK, Brindle KM, Griffiths J, Gleave ME, Rennie PS, Neal DE, Mills IG (2011) The androgen receptor fuels prostate cancer by regulating central metabolism and biosynthesis. The EMBO journal 30 (13):2719-2733. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.158

6. Tan MHE, Li J, Xu HE, Melcher K, Yong E-l (2014) Androgen receptor: structure, role in prostate cancer and drug discovery. Acta Pharmacologica Sinica 36:3. doi:10.1038/aps.2014.18

7. Tosco L, Briganti A, D'Amico A V, Eastham J, Eisenberger M, Gleave M, Haustermans K, Logothetis CJ, Saad F, Sweeney C, Taplin ME, Fizazi K (2019) Systematic Review of Systemic Therapies and Therapeutic Combinations with Local Treatments for High-risk Localized Prostate Cancer. European urology 75 (1):44-60. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2018.07.027

8. Teo MY, Rathkopf DE, Kantoff P (2019) Treatment of Advanced Prostate Cancer. Annual review of medicine 70:479-499. doi:10.1146/annurev-med-051517-011947

9. Vaz CV, Marques R, Alves MG, Oliveira PF, Cavaco JE, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2016) Androgens enhance the glycolytic metabolism and lactate export in prostate cancer cells by modulating the expression of GLUT1, GLUT3, PFK, LDH and MCT4 genes. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology 142 (1):5-16. doi:10.1007/s00432-015-1992-4

10. Emonds KM, Swinnen JV, van Weerden WM, Vanderhoydonc F, Nuyts J, Mortelmans L, Mottaghy FM (2011) Do androgens control the uptake of 18F-FDG, 11C-choline and 11C-acetate in human prostate cancer cell lines? European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging 38 (10):1842-1853. doi:10.1007/s00259-011-1861-6

11. Han W, Gao S, Barrett D, Ahmed M, Han D, Macoska JA, He HH, Cai C (2018) Reactivation of androgen receptor-regulated lipid biosynthesis drives the progression of castration-resistant prostate cancer. Oncogene 37 (6):710-721. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.385

12. Liu Y, Zuckier LS, Ghesani NV (2010) Dominant uptake of fatty acid over glucose by prostate cells: a potential new diagnostic and therapeutic approach. Anticancer research 30 (2):369-374

13. Eidelman E, Twum-Ampofo J, Ansari J, Siddiqui MM (2017) The Metabolic Phenotype of Prostate Cancer. Frontiers in oncology 7:131. doi:10.3389/fonc.2017.00131

14. Giunchi F, Fiorentino M, Loda M (2019) The Metabolic Landscape of Prostate Cancer. European urology oncology 2 (1):28-36. doi:10.1016/j.euo.2018.06.010

15. Butler LM, Centenera MM, Swinnen JV (2016) Androgen control of lipid metabolism in prostate cancer: novel insights and future applications. Endocrine-related cancer 23 (5):R219-227. doi:10.1530/erc-15-0556

16. Swinnen JV, Van Veldhoven PP, Esquenet M, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1996) Androgens markedly stimulate the accumulation of neutral lipids in the human prostatic adenocarcinoma cell line LNCaP. Endocrinology 137 (10):4468-4474. doi:10.1210/endo.137.10.8828509

17. Tousignant KD, Rockstroh A, Taherian Fard A, Lehman ML, Wang C, McPherson SJ, Philp LK, Bartonicek N, Dinger ME, Nelson CC, Sadowski MC (2019) Lipid Uptake Is an Androgen-Enhanced Lipid Supply Pathway Associated with Prostate Cancer Disease Progression and Bone Metastasis. Molecular Cancer Research 17 (5):1166-1179. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-1147

18. O'Reilly MW, House PJ, Tomlinson JW (2014) Understanding androgen action in adipose tissue. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 143:277-284. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.04.008

19. Lavalette C, Trétarre B, Rebillard X, Lamy P-J, Cénée S, Menegaux F (2018) Abdominal obesity and prostate cancer risk: epidemiological evidence from the EPICAP study. Oncotarget 9 (77):34485-34494. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.26128

20. Bandini M, Gandaglia G, Briganti A (2017) Obesity and prostate cancer. Current opinion in urology 27 (5):415-421. doi:10.1097/mou.00000000000424

21. Allott EH, Masko EM, Freedland SJ (2013) Obesity and prostate cancer: weighing the evidence. European urology 63 (5):800-809. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2012.11.013

22. Jamnagerwalla J, Howard LE, Allott EH, Vidal AC, Moreira DM, Castro-Santamaria R, Andriole GL, Freeman MR, Freedland SJ (2018) Serum cholesterol and risk of high-grade prostate cancer: results from the REDUCE study. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 21 (2):252-259. doi:10.1038/s41391-017-0030-9

23. Jeon JC, Park J, Park S, Moon KH, Cheon SH, Park S (2016) Hypercholesterolemia Is Associated with a Shorter Time to Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer in Patients Who Have Undergone Androgen Deprivation Therapy. The world journal of men's health 34 (1):28-33. doi:10.5534/wjmh.2016.34.1.28

24. Moon H, Ruelcke JE, Choi E, Sharpe LJ, Nassar ZD, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H, Parat MO, Shah A, Francois M, Inder KL, Brown AJ, Russell PJ, Parton RG, Hill MM (2015) Diet-induced hypercholesterolemia promotes androgen-independent prostate cancer metastasis via IQGAP1 and caveolin-1. Oncotarget 6 (10):7438-7453. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3476

25. Dueregger A, Schopf B, Eder T, Hofer J, Gnaiger E, Aufinger A, Kenner L, Perktold B, Ramoner R, Klocker H, Eder IE (2015) Differential Utilization of Dietary Fatty Acids in Benign and Malignant Cells of the Prostate. PloS one 10 (8):e0135704. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135704

26. dos Santos CR, Domingues G, Matias I, Matos J, Fonseca I, de Almeida JM, Dias S (2014) LDL-cholesterol signaling induces breast cancer proliferation and invasion. Lipids in health and disease 13:16-16. doi:10.1186/1476-511X-13-16

27. Gallagher EJ, Zelenko Z, Neel BA, Antoniou IM, Rajan L, Kase N, LeRoith D (2017) Elevated tumor LDLR expression accelerates LDL cholesterol-mediated breast cancer growth in mouse models of hyperlipidemia. Oncogene 36:6462. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.247

28. Deng H, Zhou T, Mo X, Liu C, Yin Y (2019) Low-density lipoprotein promotes lymphatic metastasis of esophageal squamous cell carcinoma and is an adverse prognostic factor. Oncology letters 17 (1):1053-1061. doi:10.3892/ol.2018.9683

29. Kaighn ME, Narayan KS, Ohnuki Y, Lechner JF, Jones LW (1979) Establishment and characterization of a human prostatic carcinoma cell line (PC-3). Investigative urology 17 (1):16-23

30. Stone KR, Mickey DD, Wunderli H, Mickey GH, Paulson DF (1978) Isolation of a human prostate carcinoma cell line (DU 145). International journal of cancer Journal international du cancer 21 (3):274-281

31. Suh JH, Gong EY, Kim JB, Lee IK, Choi HS, Lee K (2008) Sterol regulatory element-binding protein-1c represses the transactivation of androgen receptor and androgen-dependent growth of prostatic cells. Molecular cancer research : MCR 6 (2):314-324. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-07-0354

32. Swinnen JV, Heemers H, Deboel L, Foufelle F, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (2000) Stimulation of tumor-associated fatty acid synthase expression by growth factor activation of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein pathway. Oncogene 19 (45):5173-5181. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203889

33. Huang WC, Li X, Liu J, Lin J, Chung LW (2012) Activation of androgen receptor, lipogenesis, and oxidative stress converged by SREBP-1 is responsible for regulating growth and progression of prostate cancer cells. Molecular cancer research : MCR 10 (1):133-142. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-11-0206

34. Liang Y, Han H, Liu L, Duan Y, Yang X, Ma C, Zhu Y, Han J, Li X, Chen Y (2018) CD36 plays a critical role in proliferation, migration and tamoxifen-inhibited growth of ER-positive breast cancer cells. Oncogenesis 7 (12):98. doi:10.1038/s41389-018-0107-x

35. Ladanyi A, Mukherjee A, Kenny HA, Johnson A, Mitra AK, Sundaresan S, Nieman KM, Pascual G, Benitah SA, Montag A, Yamada SD, Abumrad NA, Lengyel E (2018) Adipocyteinduced CD36 expression drives ovarian cancer progression and metastasis. Oncogene 37 (17):2285-2301. doi:10.1038/s41388-017-0093-z

36. Pan J, Fan Z, Wang Z, Dai Q, Xiang Z, Yuan F, Yan M, Zhu Z, Liu B, Li C (2019) CD36 mediates palmitate acid-induced metastasis of gastric cancer via AKT/GSK-3B/B-catenin pathway. Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research 38 (1):52. doi:10.1186/s13046-019-1049-7

37. Jia S, Zhou L, Shen T, Zhou S, Ding G, Cao L (2018) Down-expression of CD36 in pancreatic adenocarcinoma and its correlation with clinicopathological features and prognosis. Journal of Cancer 9 (3):578-583. doi:10.7150/jca.21046

38. Watt MJ, Clark AK, Selth LA, Haynes VR, Lister N, Rebello R, Porter LH, Niranjan B, Whitby ST, Lo J, Huang C, Schittenhelm RB, Anderson KE, Furic L, Wijayaratne PR, Matzaris M, Montgomery MK, Papargiris M, Norden S, Febbraio M, Risbridger GP, Frydenberg M, Nomura DK, Taylor RA (2019) Suppressing fatty acid uptake has therapeutic effects in preclinical models of prostate cancer. Science translational medicine 11 (478). doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5758

39. Swinnen JV, Roskams T, Joniau S, Van Poppel H, Oyen R, Baert L, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (2002) Overexpression of fatty acid synthase is an early and common event in the development of prostate cancer. International journal of cancer 98 (1):19-22

40. Van de Sande T, Roskams T, Lerut E, Joniau S, Van Poppel H, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2005) High-level expression of fatty acid synthase in human prostate cancer tissues is linked to activation and nuclear localization of Akt/PKB. The Journal of pathology 206 (2):214-219. doi:10.1002/path.1760

41. Madigan AA, Rycyna KJ, Parwani AV, Datiri YJ, Basudan AM, Sobek KM, Cummings JL, Basse PH, Bacich DJ, O'Keefe DS (2014) Novel nuclear localization of fatty acid synthase correlates with prostate cancer aggressiveness. Am J Pathol 184 (8):2156-2162. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.04.012

42. Rossi S, Graner E, Febbo P, Weinstein L, Bhattacharya N, Onody T, Bubley G, Balk S, Loda M (2003) Fatty acid synthase expression defines distinct molecular signatures in prostate cancer. Molecular cancer research : MCR 1 (10):707-715

43. Flaig TW, Salzmann-Sullivan M, Su LJ, Zhang Z, Joshi M, Gijon MA, Kim J, Arcaroli JJ, Van Bokhoven A, Lucia MS, La Rosa FG, Schlaepfer IR (2017) Lipid catabolism inhibition sensitizes prostate cancer cells to antiandrogen blockade. Oncotarget 8 (34):56051-56065. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.17359

44. Xu Y, Chen SY, Ross KN, Balk SP (2006) Androgens induce prostate cancer cell proliferation through mammalian target of rapamycin activation and post-transcriptional increases in cyclin D proteins. Cancer research 66 (15):7783-7792. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-05-4472

45. Banerjee PP, Banerjee S, Brown TR, Zirkin BR (2018) Androgen action in prostate function and disease. American journal of clinical and experimental urology 6 (2):62-77

46. Swinnen JV, Esquenet M, Goossens K, Heyns W, Verhoeven G (1997) Androgens stimulate fatty acid synthase in the human prostate cancer cell line LNCaP. Cancer research 57 (6):1086-1090

47. Swinnen JV, Verhoeven G (1998) Androgens and the control of lipid metabolism in human prostate cancer cells. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 65 (1-6):191-198

48. Heemers H, Vanderhoydonc F, Roskams T, Shechter I, Heyns W, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2003) Androgens stimulate coordinated lipogenic gene expression in normal target tissues in vivo. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 205 (1-2):21-31

49. Shimano H, Sato R (2017) SREBP-regulated lipid metabolism: convergent physiology – divergent pathophysiology. Nature Reviews Endocrinology 13:710. doi:10.1038/nrendo.2017.91

50. Cheng X, Li J, Guo D (2018) SCAP/SREBPs are Central Players in Lipid Metabolism and Novel Metabolic Targets in Cancer Therapy. Current topics in medicinal chemistry 18 (6):484-493. doi:10.2174/1568026618666180523104541

51. Heemers HV, Verhoeven G, Swinnen JV (2006) Androgen activation of the sterol regulatory element-binding protein pathway: Current insights. Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md) 20 (10):2265-2277. doi:10.1210/me.2005-0479

52. Brovkovych V, Izhar Y, Danes JM, Dubrovskyi O, Sakallioglu IT, Morrow LM, Atilla-Gokcumen GE, Frasor J (2018) Fatostatin induces pro- and anti-apoptotic lipid accumulation in breast cancer. Oncogenesis 7 (8):66. doi:10.1038/s41389-018-0076-0

53. Shafi AA, Putluri V, Arnold JM, Tsouko E, Maity S, Roberts JM, Coarfa C, Frigo DE, Putluri N, Sreekumar A, Weigel NL (2015) Differential regulation of metabolic pathways by androgen receptor (AR) and its constitutively active splice variant, AR-V7, in prostate cancer cells. Oncotarget 6 (31):31997-32012. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.5585

54. Tennakoon JB, Shi Y, Han JJ, Tsouko E, White MA, Burns AR, Zhang A, Xia X, Ilkayeva OR, Xin L, Ittmann MM, Rick FG, Schally AV, Frigo DE (2014) Androgens regulate prostate cancer cell growth via an AMPK-PGC-1alpha-mediated metabolic switch. Oncogene 33 (45):5251-5261. doi:10.1038/onc.2013.463

55. Samudio I, Harmancey R, Fiegl M, Kantarjian H, Konopleva M, Korchin B, Kaluarachchi K, Bornmann W, Duvvuri S, Taegtmeyer H, Andreeff M (2010) Pharmacologic inhibition of fatty acid oxidation sensitizes human leukemia cells to apoptosis induction. The Journal of clinical investigation 120 (1):142-156. doi:10.1172/jci38942

56. Park JH, Vithayathil S, Kumar S, Sung PL, Dobrolecki LE, Putluri V, Bhat VB, Bhowmik SK, Gupta V, Arora K, Wu D, Tsouko E, Zhang Y, Maity S, Donti TR, Graham BH, Frigo DE, Coarfa C, Yotnda P, Putluri N, Sreekumar A, Lewis MT, Creighton CJ, Wong LC, Kaipparettu BA (2016) Fatty Acid Oxidation-Driven Src Links Mitochondrial Energy Reprogramming and Oncogenic Properties in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Cell reports 14 (9):2154-2165. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.02.004

57. Du Q, Tan Z, Shi F, Tang M, Xie L, Zhao L, Li Y, Hu J, Zhou M, Bode A, Luo X, Cao Y (2019) PGC1alpha/CEBPB/CPT1A axis promotes radiation resistance of nasopharyngeal carcinoma through activating fatty acid oxidation. Cancer science 110 (6):2050-2062. doi:10.1111/cas.14011

58. Pascual G, Avgustinova A, Mejetta S, Martin M, Castellanos A, Attolini CS, Berenguer A, Prats N, Toll A, Hueto JA, Bescos C, Di Croce L, Benitah SA (2017) Targeting metastasisinitiating cells through the fatty acid receptor CD36. Nature 541 (7635):41-45. doi:10.1038/nature20791

59. Tousignant KD, Rockstroh A, Taherian Fard A, Lehman ML, Wang C, McPherson SJ, Philp LK, Bartonicek N, Dinger ME, Nelson CC, Sadowski MC (2019) Lipid Uptake Is an Androgen-Enhanced Lipid Supply Pathway Associated with Prostate Cancer Disease Progression and Bone Metastasis. Molecular cancer research : MCR 17 (5):1166-1179. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-1147

60. Pinthus JH, Lu JP, Bidaisee LA, Lin H, Bryskine I, Gupta RS, Singh G (2007) Androgendependent regulation of medium and long chain fatty acids uptake in prostate cancer. The Prostate 67 (12):1330-1338. doi:10.1002/pros.20609

61. Gallagher EJ, Zelenko Z, Neel BA, Antoniou IM, Rajan L, Kase N, LeRoith D (2017) Elevated tumor LDLR expression accelerates LDL cholesterol-mediated breast cancer growth in mouse models of hyperlipidemia. Oncogene 36 (46):6462-6471. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.247

62. Guillaumond F, Bidaut G, Ouaissi M, Servais S, Gouirand V, Olivares O, Lac S, Borge L, Roques J, Gayet O, Pinault M, Guimaraes C, Nigri J, Loncle C, Lavaut M-N, Garcia S, Tailleux A, Staels B, Calvo E, Tomasini R, Iovanna JL, Vasseur S (2015) Cholesterol uptake disruption, in association with chemotherapy, is a promising combined metabolic therapy for pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112 (8):2473-2478. doi:10.1073/pnas.1421601112

63. Murtola TJ, Syvala H, Pennanen P, Blauer M, Solakivi T, Ylikomi T, Tammela TL (2012) The importance of LDL and cholesterol metabolism for prostate epithelial cell growth. PloS one 7 (6):e39445. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039445

64. Lee SH, Johnson D, Luong R, Sun Z (2015) Crosstalking between androgen and PI3K/AKT signaling pathways in prostate cancer cells. The Journal of biological chemistry 290 (5):2759-2768. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.607846

65. Crumbaker M, Khoja L, Joshua AM (2017) AR Signaling and the PI3K Pathway in Prostate Cancer. Cancers 9 (4):34. doi:10.3390/cancers9040034

66. Majumder PK, Sellers WR (2005) Akt-regulated pathways in prostate cancer. Oncogene 24 (50):7465-7474. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209096

67. Wen S, Niu Y, Lee SO, Yeh S, Shang Z, Gao H, Li Y, Chou F, Chang C (2016) Targeting fatty acid synthase with ASC-J9 suppresses proliferation and invasion of prostate cancer cells. Molecular carcinogenesis 55 (12):2278-2290. doi:10.1002/mc.22468

68. Lin HP, Lin CY, Hsiao PH, Wang HD, Jiang SS, Hsu JM, Jim WT, Chen M, Kung HJ, Chuu CP (2013) Difference in protein expression profile and chemotherapy drugs response of different progression stages of LNCaP sublines and other human prostate cancer cells. PloS one 8 (12):e82625. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0082625

69. Moro L, Arbini AA, Marra E, Greco M (2007) Constitutive activation of MAPK/ERK inhibits prostate cancer cell proliferation through upregulation of BRCA2. International journal of oncology 30 (1):217-224

70. Malik SN, Brattain M, Ghosh PM, Troyer DA, Prihoda T, Bedolla R, Kreisberg JI (2002) Immunohistochemical demonstration of phospho-Akt in high Gleason grade prostate cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 8 (4):1168-1171

71. Gioeli D, Mandell JW, Petroni GR, Frierson HF, Jr., Weber MJ (1999) Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase associated with prostate cancer progression. Cancer research 59 (2):279-284

72. Nickols NG, Nazarian R, Zhao SG, Tan V, Uzunangelov V, Xia Z, Baertsch R, Neeman E, Gao AC, Thomas GV, Howard L, De Hoedt AM, Stuart J, Goldstein T, Chi K, Gleave ME, Graff JN,

Beer TM, Drake JM, Evans CP, Aggarwal R, Foye A, Feng FY, Small EJ, Aronson WJ, Freedland SJ, Witte ON, Huang J, Alumkal JJ, Reiter RE, Rettig MB (2019) MEK-ERK signaling is a therapeutic target in metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases. doi:10.1038/s41391-019-0134-5

73. Barfeld SJ, Urbanucci A, Itkonen HM, Fazli L, Hicks JL, Thiede B, Rennie PS, Yegnasubramanian S, DeMarzo AM, Mills IG (2017) c-Myc Antagonises the Transcriptional Activity of the Androgen Receptor in Prostate Cancer Affecting Key Gene Networks. EBioMedicine 18:83-93. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.04.006

74. Bai S, Cao S, Jin L, Kobelski M, Schouest B, Wang X, Ungerleider N, Baddoo M, Zhang W, Corey E, Vessella RL, Dong X, Zhang K, Yu X, Flemington EK, Dong Y (2019) A positive role of c-Myc in regulating androgen receptor and its splice variants in prostate cancer. Oncogene. doi:10.1038/s41388-019-0768-8

75. Camarda R, Williams J, Goga A (2017) In vivo Reprogramming of Cancer Metabolism by MYC. Frontiers in cell and developmental biology 5:35. doi:10.3389/fcell.2017.00035

76. Gabriel SS, Kallies A (2016) Glucose- and glutamine-fueled stabilization of C-Myc is required for T-cell proliferation and malignant transformation. Cell death discovery 2:16047. doi:10.1038/cddiscovery.2016.47

77. Miller DM, Thomas SD, Islam A, Muench D, Sedoris K (2012) c-Myc and cancer metabolism. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 18 (20):5546-5553. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-12-0977

78. Camarda R, Zhou AY, Kohnz RA, Balakrishnan S, Mahieu C, Anderton B, Eyob H, Kajimura S, Tward A, Krings G, Nomura DK, Goga A (2016) Inhibition of fatty acid oxidation as a therapy for MYC-overexpressing triple-negative breast cancer. Nature medicine 22 (4):427-432. doi:10.1038/nm.4055

79. Putzke AP, Ventura AP, Bailey AM, Akture C, Opoku-Ansah J, Celiktaş M, Hwang MS, Darling DS, Coleman IM, Nelson PS, Nguyen HM, Corey E, Tewari M, Morrissey C, Vessella RL, Knudsen BS (2011) Metastatic progression of prostate cancer and e-cadherin regulation by zeb1 and SRC family kinases. The American journal of pathology 179 (1):400-410. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.03.028

80. Lin C-Y, Chuu C-P (2016) Friend or foe: role of E-cadherin in prostate cancer metastasis. Translational andrology and urology 5 (6):961-963. doi:10.21037/tau.2016.11.08

81. Wang W, Wang L, Mizokami A, Shi J, Zou C, Dai J, Keller ET, Lu Y, Zhang J (2017) Downregulation of E-cadherin enhances prostate cancer chemoresistance via Notch signaling. Chinese journal of cancer 36 (1):35. doi:10.1186/s40880-017-0203-x

82. Zhu ML, Kyprianou N (2010) Role of androgens and the androgen receptor in epithelialmesenchymal transition and invasion of prostate cancer cells. Faseb j 24 (3):769-777. doi:10.1096/fj.09-136994

83. Fiandalo MV, Stocking JJ, Pop EA, Wilton JH, Mantione KM, Li Y, Attwood KM, Azabdaftari G, Wu Y, Watt DS, Wilson EM, Mohler JL (2018) Inhibition of dihydrotestosterone synthesis in prostate cancer by combined frontdoor and backdoor pathway blockade. Oncotarget 9 (13):11227-11242. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.24107

84. Fenner A (2011) DHT bypasses testosterone to drive progression to castration resistance. Nature Reviews Urology 8:470. doi:10.1038/nrurol.2011.122

85. Zhu M-L, Kyprianou N (2010) Role of androgens and the androgen receptor in epithelialmesenchymal transition and invasion of prostate cancer cells. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 24 (3):769-777. doi:10.1096/fj.09-136994

86. Singh S, Sadacharan S, Su S, Belldegrun A, Persad S, Singh G (2003) Overexpression of vimentin: role in the invasive phenotype in an androgen-independent model of prostate cancer. Cancer research 63 (9):2306-2311

87. Baritaki S, Chapman A, Yeung K, Spandidos DA, Palladino M, Bonavida B (2009) Inhibition of epithelial to mesenchymal transition in metastatic prostate cancer cells by the novel proteasome inhibitor, NPI-0052: pivotal roles of Snail repression and RKIP induction. Oncogene 28 (40):3573-3585. doi:10.1038/onc.2009.214

88. Bussemakers MJ, Van Bokhoven A, Tomita K, Jansen CF, Schalken JA (2000) Complex cadherin expression in human prostate cancer cells. International journal of cancer 85 (3):446-450

89. Long J, Zhang C-J, Zhu N, Du K, Yin Y-F, Tan X, Liao D-F, Qin L (2018) Lipid metabolism and carcinogenesis, cancer development. American journal of cancer research 8 (5):778-791

90. Lee HJ, Li J, Vickman RE, Li J, Liu R, Durkes AC, Elzey BD, Yue S, Liu X, Ratliff TL, Cheng JX (2018) Cholesterol Esterification Inhibition Suppresses Prostate Cancer Metastasis by Impairing the Wnt/beta-catenin Pathway. Molecular cancer research : MCR 16 (6):974-985. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-17-0665

91. Yue S, Li J, Lee SY, Lee HJ, Shao T, Song B, Cheng L, Masterson TA, Liu X, Ratliff TL, Cheng JX (2014) Cholesteryl ester accumulation induced by PTEN loss and PI3K/AKT activation underlies human prostate cancer aggressiveness. Cell metabolism 19 (3):393-406. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2014.01.019

92. Schlaepfer IR, Rider L, Rodrigues LU, Gijon MA, Pac CT, Romero L, Cimic A, Sirintrapun SJ, Glode LM, Eckel RH, Cramer SD (2014) Lipid catabolism via CPT1 as a therapeutic target for prostate cancer. Molecular cancer therapeutics 13 (10):2361-2371. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-14-0183

93. Magura L, Blanchard R, Hope B, Beal JR, Schwartz GG, Sahmoun AE (2008) Hypercholesterolemia and prostate cancer: a hospital-based case-control study. Cancer causes & control : CCC 19 (10):1259-1266. doi:10.1007/s10552-008-9197-7

94. Laurent V, Toulet A, Attane C, Milhas D, Dauvillier S, Zaidi F, Clement E, Cinato M, Le Gonidec S, Guerard A, Lehuede C, Garandeau D, Nieto L, Renaud-Gabardos E, Prats AC, Valet P, Malavaud B, Muller C (2019) Periprostatic Adipose Tissue Favors Prostate Cancer Cell Invasion in an Obesity-Dependent Manner: Role of Oxidative Stress. Molecular cancer research : MCR 17 (3):821-835. doi:10.1158/1541-7786.mcr-18-0748

95. Mostaghel EA, Solomon KR, Pelton K, Freeman MR, Montgomery RB (2012) Impact of circulating cholesterol levels on growth and intratumoral androgen concentration of prostate tumors. PloS one 7 (1):e30062. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0030062

96. Gordon JA, Midha A, Szeitz A, Ghaffari M, Adomat HH, Guo Y, Klassen TL, Guns ES, Wasan KM, Cox ME (2016) Oral simvastatin administration delays castration-resistant progression and reduces intratumoral steroidogenesis of LNCaP prostate cancer xenografts. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 19 (1):21-27. doi:10.1038/pcan.2015.37

Chapter 8

Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Imatinib Modulates the Viability and Apoptosis of Castrate-Resistant Prostate Cancer Cells Dependently on the Glycolytic Environment

This Chapter was submitted published as:

Cardoso HJ[#], Vaz CV[#], Carvalho TM, Figueira MI, Socorro S. Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Imatinib Modulates the Viability and Apoptosis of Castrate-Resistant Prostate Cancer Cells Dependently on the Glycolytic Environment. Life Sci. 1;218:274-283. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.12.055. [#] Contributed equally

Abstract

Aims: The tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib has been used in prostate cancer treatment with outcomes that did not follow the in vitro findings. The glycolytic environment has been shown to influence the efficacy of anti-cancer drugs. This study aimed to evaluate the effect of imatinib on cell viability, apoptosis, and metabolism in cell line models of castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) under hyperglycemic and hypoglycemic conditions.

Main Methods: DU145 and PC3 CRPC cell lines were exposed to 20 µM imatinib under 5 mM (hypoglycemia) or 30 mM glucose (hyperglycemia) for 48-72h. Cell viability was assessed by the MTS assay. The expression of apoptosis regulators and glycolytic metabolism-related proteins was analysed by Western blot, and the activity of caspase-3 and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was determined spectrophotometrically. Glucose consumption and lactate production were determined using biochemical assays.

Key findings: Imatinib decreased CRPC cells viability, whereas increasing apoptosis; effects only observed in hyperglycemic conditions. Glucose consumption and lactate production were significantly increased in imatinib-treated DU145 and PC3 cells, and independently of glucose availability. Accordingly, LDH expression and activity were significantly increased in response to imatinib.

Significance: Higher glucose availability improved the effectiveness of imatinib suppressing survival and growth of CRPC cells. It was also shown that imatinib treatment stimulated the glycolytic metabolism of CRPC cells. This study first demonstrated that a glucose-enriched environment intensifies the effect of imatinib, which stimulates the interest for testing this compound into the clinical setting, namely in hyperglycemia conditions (diabetic patients) or in co-administration with inhibitors of glycolytic metabolism.

Keywords: apoptosis, imatinib, glycaemia, glycolytic metabolism, prostate cancer

8.1. Introduction

The advanced metastatic prostate cancer (PCa) is characterized by the loss of androgen responsiveness, reaching the stage of disease so-called castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) (1). Clinically this means the failure of classical androgen ablation therapies and corresponds to a usually lethal form of PCa (2, 3).

Imatinib mesylate is a potent and selective inhibitor of receptors tyrosine kinase that has been used to treat gastrointestinal stromal tumors and leukemias (4, 5). Imatinib also has been tested in PCa treatment, but the results obtained were modest with this compound seeming to be ineffective controlling prostate-specific antigen levels and reducing tumor size (6, 7). Contrastingly, *in vitro* and animal experimentation studies showed that imatinib, alone or in combination with other drugs, has cytotoxic effects and sensitizes PCa cells to chemo-or radiotherapy (8-10). Our research group investigated the cytotoxic effects of imatinib in cell line models of CRPC, DU145 and PC3 cells (11). Imatinib was effective decreasing viability

and increasing apoptosis of DU145 cells, whereas displaying opposite effects in PC3 cells (11). These contradictory results were related to the distinct expression of c-KIT receptor isoforms (11), but also indicated that imatinib responses might depend on cell-specific or environmental conditions.

The glycolytic environment has been shown to influence the efficacy of various anticancer drugs in different types of cancer (12, 13). Although imatinib actions have been linked with alterations in glucose metabolism (14, 15), the effect of this tyrosine kinase inhibitor dependently on the glycolytic environment has not been examined.

On the other hand, the dependence on glycolysis is a recognized feature of cancer cells. This behavior, known as the Warburg's effect, is characterized by the use of glucose for lactate production instead of driven it to oxidative phosphorylation, what happens even in the presence of oxygen (16). The lactate produced is exported into the extracellular space, acidifying the tumor microenvironment and promoting cancer cells growth and dissemination (17). CRPC cells have been shown to display an increased glycolytic metabolism relatively to androgen-sensitive cells, with the glycolytic pattern being associated with progression and aggressiveness of disease (18-20).

Overall, the gathered information lead us to hypothesize that the imatinib effects controlling of PCa cells growth may depend on the glycolytic environment. The present study investigated the effect of imatinib in two cell line models of CRPC under conditions of different glucose availability (hyperglycemic vs. hypoglycemic). Alterations in cell viability, apoptosis and glycolytic metabolism were assessed. This included the expression analysis and activity measurement of several apoptosis regulators (Bcl-2, Bax, caspase-8, caspase-9 and caspase-3 proteins) and glycolytic metabolism-related proteins, namely glucose transporters (GLUTs), phosphofructokinase-1 (PFK1), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) and monocarboxylate transporter 4 (MCT4).

8.2. Materials and methods

8.2.1. Cell lines and treatments

The human CRPC cell lines, DU145 and PC3, were purchased from the European Collection of Cell Cultures (ECACC, Salisbury, UK) and maintained in RPMI 1640 medium (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO, USA) supplemented with 10 % fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Biochrom AG, Berlin, Germany) and penicillin (100 U /ml)/streptomycin (125 μ g/ml)/amphotericin B (0,25 μ g/ml) (SC-3690, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Heidelberg, Germany), at 37 °C in an atmosphere equilibrated with 5 % CO₂. Cells were maintained up to 60% confluence in all experiments and then the culture medium was replaced by glucose-free RPMI (R1383, Sigma-Aldrich) supplemented with 5 mM (hypoglycemia) or 30 mM of glucose (hyperglycemia) (21, 22). After additional 24 h, cells were exposed to a cytotoxic concentration (20 μ M) of imatinib mesylate (CAS 220127-57-1, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) for 48 to 72 h, as recently described (10, 11). The experimental groups were as follow: i) 5 mM glucose without imatinib (imatinib (-)

hypoglycemic group); ii) 5 mM glucose with imatinib (imatinib (+) hypoglycemic group); iii) 30 mM glucose without imatinib (imatinib (-) hyperglycemic group); and iv) 30 mM glucose with imatinib (imatinib (+) hyperglycemic group). For 72 h of treatment, control and treated-cells were harvested for protein extraction, and cell culture medium was collected for measurement of glucose and lactate concentration.

8.2.2. Cell viability assay

DU145 and PC3 cells were grown in 96-well plates, and cell viability was determined by the colorimetric CellTiter 96[®] AQ_{ueous} One Solution Cell Proliferation Assay (Promega, Madison, WI) at 48 and 72 h after treatment with imatinib in the presence of 5 mM or 30 mM glucose. The conversion of MTS (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxy-methoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2M) tetrazolium compound to the colored formazan product was detected at 490 nm in the xMarkTM Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). The relative number of viable cells in each experimental condition was calculated by normalizing the absorbance to that of the experimental group without imatinib (-) in hypoglycemic condition (5 mM glucose).

8.2.3. Quantification of glucose and lactate

The concentration of glucose and lactate in the cell culture medium was determined by spectrophotometric analysis using commercial kits (Spinreact, Girona, Spain) as described previously (18). The glucose consumption and lactate production were calculated relatively to initial glucose and lactate concentrations at 0 h of treatment. All measurements were normalized to the total number of cells in each experimental condition.

8.2.4. Protein extraction

DU145 and PC3 cells were homogenized by pipetting in 60 μ l of radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) (150 mM NaCl, 1 % Nonidet-P40 substitute, 0.5 % Na-deoxycholate, 0.1 % SDS, 50 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with 1 % protease inhibitors cocktail (Sigma-Aldrich) and 10 % PMSF (Sigma- Aldrich), kept on ice for 20 min with occasional mixing, and then centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. Protein concentration was determined by the Bradford assay (Bio-Rad).

8.2.5. Western blot (WB)

Total proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE on 12.5 % gels and electrotransferred to a PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad). Membranes were incubated overnight at 4 °C with rabbit anti-Bcl-2 (1:1000, no. 2876; Cell Signaling Technology), rabbit anti-Bax (1:500, no. 2772, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA), rabbit anti-caspase-9 (1:500, H-170: sc-8355; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), mouse anti-caspase-8 (1:500, D-8: sc-5263; Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-GLUT1 (1:1000, CBL242, Millipore), rabbit anti-GLUT3 (1:2500, sc-30107, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-PFK1 (1:1000, sc-67028, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit anti-

LDH (1:10,000, Ab52488, Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom) or rabbit anti-MCT4 (1:1000, sc-50329, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) primary antibodies. Protein expression was normalized using a mouse anti-B-actin (1:1000, A5441, Sigma-Aldrich) antibody. Membranes were incubated with ECL substrate (Bio-Rad) for 5 min, and immunoreactive proteins were visualized with the ChemiDocTM MP System (Bio-Rad). Band densities were obtained according to standard methods using the Image Lab software (Bio-Rad) and normalized by division with the respective B-actin band density.

8.2.6. Caspase-3 activity assay

The enzymatic activity of caspase-3 was determined spectrophotometrically at 405 nm by detecting the presence of the yellow product p-nitro-aniline (pNA), upon cleavage of caspase-3 substrate (Ac-DEVD-pNA). In brief, 50 μ g of total protein extract was incubated overnight at 37°C with reaction buffer (25mM HEPES, 0.1% 3CHAPS, 10% sucrose, and 10mM DTT, pH 7.5) and 200 μ M of Ac-DEVD-pNA. The amount of generated pNA was calculated by extrapolation with a standard curve.

8.2.7. LDH activity

The enzymatic activity of LDH was determined using a commercial assay kit (Spinreact) following the manufacturers' instructions. LDH catalyses the reduction of pyruvate by NADH and the rate of decrease in concentration of NADH is proportional to the catalytic concentration of LDH present in the cells. The NADH concentration is measured spectrophotometrically at 340 nm using a xMarkTM Microplate Absorbance Spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad).

8.2.8. Statistical analysis

The statistical significance of differences between experimental groups was evaluated by one-way ANOVA followed by *Bonferroni post-hoc test*, using GraphPad Prism v6.00 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). P<0.05 was considered statistically significant. All experimental data are shown as mean ± standard error of the mean (S.E.M).

8.3. Results

8.3.1. Imatinib decreased DU145 and PC3 cells viability under hyperglycemic conditions

The cytotoxic effects of imatinib in DU145 (Fig. 8.1.A) and PC3 (Fig. 8.1.B) cells under hypoglycemic (5 mM) and hyperglycemic (30 mM) conditions were evaluated by the MTS assay. Upon 48 h and 72 h of treatment with imatinib, the viability of DU145 cells was significantly decreased in the hyperglycemic group, 73,6 \pm 9,8 and 77,4 \pm 9,0 vs. 114,2 \pm 8, 9 and 127,2 \pm 10,7 % in the imatinib (-) hyperglycemic condition, respectively (Fig. 8.1.A). Moreover, DU145

viability in the imatinib (+) hyperglycemic group at 72 h was significantly decreased relatively to the imatinib (+) hypoglycemic group (~ 42% reduction). Also, the viability of PC3 cells was markedly reduced after 48 h and 72 h of treatment with imatinib in hyperglycemic conditions (73,9 \pm 15,3 vs. 103,1 \pm 4,7 (P<0,05) and 65,6 \pm 11,0 vs. 102,7 \pm 2,9 (P<0,01), respectively) (Fig. 8.1.B). All the subsequent analysis on gene expression and cell metabolism were performed for 72 h of treatment.



Figure 8.1. Viability of DU145 (A) and PC3 (B) cells after treatment with imatinib (20 μ M) at different glucose concentrations (5 and 30 mM) for 48 and 72 h determined by the MTS assay. Results are expressed as fold-variation relatively to imatinib (-) with low glucose (5 mM glucose). Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n = 5). \$ p<0.05; \$\$ p<0.01; when compared with the imatinib (+) low glucose; # p<0.05; ## p<0.01; when compared with the imatinib (-) high glucose.

8.3.2. Hyperglycemic conditions improved the pro-apoptotic effect of imatinib

In order to determine whether the diminished viability/proliferation of DU145 and PC3 cells in response to imatinib treatment is a consequence of augmented apoptosis the expression levels and activity of several apoptosis regulators were evaluated.

Bax and Bcl-2 proteins are, respectively, pro- and anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family of apoptosis regulators involved in the regulation of the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis (23). Imatinib significantly decreased the expression of Bcl-2 in DU145 cells cultured in high glucose concentrations comparatively with the imatinib (-) 30 mM glucose (0,07 \pm 0,02 vs. 0,17 \pm 0,01, Fig. 8.2.A) and imatinib (+) 5 mM glucose groups (0,07 \pm 0,02 vs. 0,16 \pm 0,02, Fig 8.2A). In PC3 cells, Bcl-2 expression was also decreased in response to imatinib under hyperglycemic conditions (0,27 \pm 0,04 vs. 0,45 \pm 0,04 in the 30 mM glucose imatinib (-), P<0,05, Fig. 8.2.B). The Bax protein was only detected in PC3 cells and its expression was increased in hyperglycemic groups relatively to hypoglycemic conditions regardless of the presence of imatinib (P<0,05, Fig. 8.2.C).

Caspase-9 is the well-known activator of the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis, responsible for cleavage of the apoptosis effector caspase-3 (24). However, caspase-9 expression remained unchanged in DU145-treated cells (Fig. 8.2.D) whereas in PC3 it was

augmented in the imatinib (-) group under hyperglycaemia relatively to the imatinib (-) in hypoglycaemia (0,60 \pm 0,04 vs. 0,43 \pm 0,04 P<0,05 1, Fig. 8.2.E).



264

Figure 8.2. Effect of imatinib (20 μ M) on the expression of apoptosis regulators and caspase-3 activity in DU145 and PC3 cells under hypoglycemic (5 mM) and hyperglycemic conditions (30 mM) for 72 h of treatment. Protein levels of Bcl-2 (A, B), Bax (C), caspase-9 (D, E) and caspase-8 (F, G) were determined by WB analysis after normalization with B-actin. Representative immunoblots are shown in panel H. Caspase-3 activity (I, J) was measured spectrophotometrically by the release of the product pNA. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; when compared with the imatinib (-) low glucose; \$ p<0.05; \$\$ p<0.01; when compared with the imatinib (+) low glucose; # p<0.05; ## p<0.01; when compared with the imatinib (-) high glucose.

Caspase-3 can also be activated by caspase-8, the main mediator of the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis (25). Hyperglycemia increased the expression of caspase-8 in DU145 cells (P<0,05, Fig. 8.2.F) independently of the presence of imatinib; caspase-8 expression was also augmented in PC3 cells under 30 mM glucose (P<0,05, Fig. 8.2.G).

Concerning the activation of caspase-3, at the convergence of intrinsic and extrinsic pathways and a remarkable end-point of apoptosis (26), it was observed that imatinib treatment significantly increased the activity of caspase-3 in both DU145 and PC3 cells. However, this effect only occurred in the hyperglycaemic conditions; $3396 \pm 435,7 vs. 1824 \pm 491,2$ in imatinib (-) hyperglycaemic or $1274 \pm 209,2$ in imatinib (+) hypoglycaemic groups in DU145 cells (Fig. 8.2.1); $6075 \pm 990,2 vs. 2123 \pm 311,7$ in imatinib (-) hyperglycaemic or $2642 \pm 321,3$ in imatinib (+) hypoglycaemic groups in PC3 cells (Fig. 8.2.J).

8.3.3. The glycolytic metabolism of DU145 and PC3 cells is altered by glycaemia conditions and imatinib

The glycolytic environment has been shown to modulate the response to therapy in different cancer cell types (12, 13). With this rational we investigated the glycolytic metabolism of DU145 and PC3 cells under treatment with imatinib in hyperglycemic and hypoglycemic conditions. Glucose consumption and lactate production were determined spectrophotometrically and WB analysis was performed to evaluate the protein levels of key transporters and enzymes involved in glucose metabolism.

Imatinib treatment increased glucose consumption in DU145 cells under hypoglycaemic conditions (57,5 \pm 1,3 vs. 36,3 \pm 0,4 in imatininb, (-) P<0,001, Fig. 8.3.A) whereas no differences were observed in hyperglycaemia. In PC3 cells glucose consumption was significantly augmented in response to imatinib both in hypoglycaemia and hyperglycaemia conditions (24,8 \pm 0,5 vs. 15,5 \pm 0,7 in imatinib (-) and 11,5 \pm 0,4 vs. 5,6 \pm 1,1 imatinib (-), respectively), Fig 8.3.B). On the other hand, it is note of worth that glucose consumption in DU145 and PC3 cells was significantly decreased in hyperglycemia conditions comparatively with the same experimental groups in hypoglycemia (Fig. 8.3.A and 8.3.B), with the exception of DU145 imatinib (-).



Figure 8.3. Glucose consumption (A, B) and lactate production (C, D) in DU145 and PC3 cells treated with imatinib (20 μ M) under hypoglycemic (5 mM) or hyperglycemic conditions (30 mM) for 72 h. Error bars indicate mean ± S.E.M (n= 5).** p<0.01; *** p<0.001 when compared with the imatinib (-) low glucose; \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared with the imatinib (+) low glucose; # p<0.05; ### p<0.001 when compared with the imatinib (-) high glucose.

Regarding lactate production, it was increased in imatinib-treated cells in both glycemic conditions. Lactate production in DU145 cells in response to imatinib in hypoglycaemia varied from $24,4 \pm 0,9$ to $46,2 \pm 2,4$ (P<0,001) whereas in hyperglycaemia conditions the variation was from $14,3 \pm 0,9$ to $22,6 \pm 1,7$ (P<0,05) (Fig. 8.3.C). In PC3 cells the imatinib treatment also increased the lactate production regardless of glycemic conditions ($14,7 \pm 0,7$ in imatinib (+) vs. $9,7 \pm 0,2$ in imatinib (-) in 30 mM glucose and $14,4 \pm 0,3$ in imatinib (+) vs. $7,2 \pm 0,5$ in imatinib (-) in 5 mM glucose, P<0,001 Fig. 8.3.D). Moreover, the lactate production was decreased in hyperglycemic conditions relatively to hypoglycemia; $14,3 \pm 0,9$ vs. $24,4 \pm 0,9$ in imatinib (-) and $22,64 \pm 1,68$ vs. $46,17 \pm 2,40$ in imatinib (+) in DU145 cells (P<0,01 and P<0,001, respectively, Fig. 8.3.C); $7,2 \pm 0,5$ vs. $9,7 \pm 0,2$ in imatinib (-) in PC3 cells (P<0,01, Fig. 8.3.D).

The transport of glucose across the plasma membrane, the first step of glycolytic process, is mediated by GLUTs, namely, the GLUT1 and GLUT3, which were previously identified in PCa cells (19, 27). The expression of GLUT1 was significantly decreased in hyperglycemic groups both in DU145 (0,09 \pm 0,03 vs. 0,31 \pm 0,05 in imatinib (-) and 0,08 \pm 0,02 vs. 0,50 \pm 0,09 in imatinib (+), Fig. 8.4.A) and PC3 (0,05 \pm 0,01 vs. 0,31 \pm 0,01 in imatinib (-) and 0,08 \pm 0,02 vs. 0,50 \pm 0,02 vs. 0,17 \pm 0,04 in imatinib (+), Fig. 8.4.B) cells. Also, a diminished expression of GLUT1 upon treatment with imatinib was observed in PC3 cells under hypoglycaemia (0,17 \pm 0,04 vs. 0,31 \pm 0,01, P<0,01, Fig. 8.4.B). Relatively to GLUT3 the results were the opposite, with the hyperglycemic conditions being associated to the



Figure 8.4. Protein levels of glycolytic metabolism-associated proteins, GLUT1 (A, B), GLUT3 (C, D) and PFK1 (E, F) in DU145 and PC3 cells treated with imatinib (20 μ M) under hypoglycemic (5 mM) or hyperglycemic conditions (30 mM) for 72 h. Expression was determined by WB analysis after normalization with B-actin. Representative immunoblots are shown in panel G. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5). * p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001 when compared with the imatinib (-) low glucose; \$ p<0.05; \$\$\$ p<0.001 when compared with the imatinib (+) low glucose.

increased expression of GLUT3. GLUT3 expression in imatinib-treated DU145 cells varied from



Figure 8.5. LDH activity (A, B) and protein levels of LDH (C, D) and MCT4 (E, F) in DU145 and PC3 cells treated with imatinib (20 μ M) under hypoglycemic (5 mM) or hyperglycemic conditions (30 mM) for 72 h. Representative immunoblots are shown in panel G. Error bars indicate mean \pm S.E.M (n= 5).* p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.01 when compared with the imatinib (-) low glucose; \$ p<0.05; \$\$ p<0.01; when compared with the imatinib (+) low glucose; # p<0.05 when compared with the imatinib (-) high glucose.

0,03 in hyperglycaemia (P<0,05, Fig. 8.4.C). A similar pattern was observed in PC3 cells (Fig. 8.4.D): imatinib (-), 0,54 \pm 0,04 in hypoglycemia vs.0,82 \pm 0,05 in hyperglycemia (P<0,05); imatinib (+), 0,53 \pm 0,06 in hypoglycemia vs. 0,86 \pm 0,11 in hyperglycemia (P<0,05).

An important step in the glycolytic flux is the conversion of fructose 6-phosphate into fructose 1,6-bisphosphate by PFK1, which is often considered a rate-limiting step in glycolysis (28). However, no differences were observed in the expression of PFK1 among experimental groups in DU145 (Fig. 8.4.E) and PC3 (Fig. 8.4.F) cells. Other crucial enzyme in the glycolytic process is LDH, which mediates the production of lactate from pyruvate upon glucose metabolization (17). LDH activity in DU145 cells, was increased in the imatinib (+) group in hyperglycaemia (49,1 ± 6,3 vs. 27,9 ± 1,6, P<0,05, Fig. 8.5.A). In the PC3 cell line, no effect of imatinib was observed but LDH activity diminished in the imatinib (-) group in hyperglycaemia (10,4 ± 0,8 vs. 15,3 ± 0,18, P<0,01, Fig. 8.5.B). We also identified an augmented expression of LDH in imatinib-treated DU145 and PC3 cells under hyperglycemia (respectively, 1,6 ± 0,1 vs. 1,2 ± 0,1, P<0,05 (Fig. 8.5.C) and 2,0 ± 0,3 vs. 1,4 ± 0,1, P<0,05 (Fig. 8.5.D)).

The lactate produced is exported to the extracellular space by a member of the MCTs family, the MCT4 that has been associated with PCa progression and poor prognosis (29, 30). In the DU145 cell line, MCT4 expression was significantly decreased in hyperglycemic groups (0,8 \pm 0,1 vs. 1,7 \pm 0,1 in imatinib (-) and 0,8 \pm 0,1 vs. 1,3 \pm 0,1 in imatinib (+), Fig. 8.5.E). However, in imatinib-treated PC3 cells the expression of MCT4 was significantly increased in the hyperglycaemia group (0,9 \pm 0,1 vs. 0,7 \pm 0,1 in hypoglycaemia, Fig. 8.5.F).

8.4. Discussion

The present study investigated the effect of imatinib on viability, apoptosis and glycolytic metabolism in two cell line models of CRPC under conditions of different glucose availability. We observed that imatinib was effective in decreasing the viability of DU145 and PC3 cells, which was restricted to the 30 mM glucose groups (Fig. 8.1.). The diminished viability of DU145 and PC3 cells in response to imatinib in hyperglycemic conditions was accompanied by the altered expression and activity of apoptosis regulators of both the intrinsic and extrinsic pathways (Fig. 8.2.). This included the down-regulation of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 protein that prevents the release of cytochrome C into the cytosol and consequently inhibits apoptosis (31); and the up-regulation of the pro-apoptotic protein Bax, at least in PC3 cells. Hyperglycemic conditions, independently of imatinib treatment, were also characterized by the increased expression of caspase-8 and caspase-9, the initiator caspases of the intrinsic and extrinsic and extrinsic pathways of apoptosis (32), respectively. However, glycaemia itself had no effect on DU145 or PC3 cells viability (Fig. 8.1.).

Both caspase-8 and -9 can activate caspase-3, the known effector protein of the apoptotic process, which activity is considered a measure of the apoptosis rate (32) (33). The

results obtained demonstrated that imatinib treatment, though not affecting caspase-8 and caspase-9 expression, strongly increased caspase-3 activity in DU145 and PC3 cells (Fig. 8.2.1 and 8.2.J). Therefore, it is expected that caspase-8 or caspase-9 activity would be increased in response to imatinib despite no changes on protein expression were detected. Moreover, the effect of imatinib enhancing caspase-3 activity was only perceived in conditions if high-glucose availability, which is in accordance with the observed down-regulation of Bcl-2 and up-regulation of Bax. These findings showed that apoptosis is augmented in response to imatinib (high glucose), and are in line with the diminished cell viability observed in the imatinib (+) hyperglycemic groups (Fig. 8.1.).

Altogether, our results revealed that imatinib is more effective inducing apoptosis and suppressing viability of CRPC lines in conditions of hyperglycemia. The exact mechanisms by which hyperglycemia potentiates imatinib-induced apoptosis of PCa cells are still unknown, but in breast cancer MCF-7 cells it was shown that this glycemic condition increased the cytotoxicity of carboplatin and 5-fluorouracil by reducing the expression of P-glycoprotein and increasing oxidative stress levels (13).

Glycaemia and the glycolytic status of the tumor microenvironment have been shown to influence the response of PCa cells to other therapeutic targets. For example, hyperglycaemia was shown to induce chemoresistance of PCa cells to the taxane docetaxel (21). Nevertheless, at least for our knowledge, this is the first study addressing the effect of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib under conditions of different glucose availability. The present findings highlight for the complex functional basis of imatinib therapy in PCa, which seems to depend on the environmental conditions and cell-specificities. Previous studies also have reported the distinct effects of imatinib controlling proliferation and apoptosis of DU145 and PC3 cells (11).

Despite not always in agreement with the *in vitro* findings, several epidemiological association studies have been indicating diabetes as a protective or a good prognostic factor in PCa (34-40). Our results showed that higher levels of glucose, the main serum alteration in diabetic patients, potentiated the effects of imatinib decreasing PCa cell viability and survival, which raises the curiosity about the efficacy of imatinib for treatment of castration-resistant diabetic patients.

Recent evidence has also highlighted for the fact that imatinib treatment provokes alterations in blood glucose levels of cancer patients with/without diabetes (41, 42). Imatinib, as well as Dasatinib, another tyrosine kinase inhibitor widely used for treatment of leukaemia, were related with scenarios of hypoglycaemia (14, 15, 41). Moreover, modifications of fasting glucose in chronic myeloid leukaemia patients have been considered as the first sign of resistance to imatinib (43). It was also shown that chronic myeloid leukaemia cells resistant to imatinib have increased glycolytic activity and lactate production relatively to sensitive-imatinib cells (44), which is typical of cancer cells with more aggressive phenotypes (19). Taking into account the influence of imatinib over glucose handling, we

evaluated its effect modulating the glycolytic metabolism of CRPC cells in conditions of hypoand hyperglycemia.

Glucose consumption was augmented in DU145 and PC3 cells treated with imatinib (Fig. 8.3.A and 8.3.B), with results more pronounced in low glucose groups. This trend was somehow expected since high glucose availability has been shown to diminish glucose consumption in different cell types (45-47).

The uptake of glucose from the extracellular medium is carried out by members of GLUTs family, which in PCa cells has been indicated to be a task of GLUT1 and GLUT3 (19, 27). GLUT1 expression was diminished in DU145 cells in hyperglycemic conditions (Fig. 8.4.A) comparatively with the 5 mM glucose imatinib-treated groups, which is in accordance with the reduced consumption of glucose observed in these conditions. However, despite the increased glucose consumption observed in imatinb (+) groups, no significant alterations were found on GLUT1 or GLUT3 expression (Fig. 8.4.), which may suggest that other GLUTs can be involved. A likely candidate would be the GLUT12, as this transporter was recently identified as an androgen target gene and the GLUT responsible for the androgenic control of glucose uptake and PCa cell growth (48).

Also, it is curious the observed shift on GLUT1 and GLUT3 expression in response to glucose availability; GLUT1 expression was decreased in high glucose conditions whereas GLUT3 levels were increased. These results are supported by other studies showing the differential expression of GLUTs dependently on glucose concentrations (49, 50). At the moment, it is not clear how imatinib facilitates entry of glucose into cancer cells, and how imatinib treatment contributes to decreasing blood glucose levels in cancer patients (14, 15, 41). However, in light of the results obtained herein in PCa cells is liable to suggest that the increased glycolytic activity driven by imatinib may sustain the diminution of blood glucose concentrations.

Another crucial step in the glycolytic process is the irreversible conversion of fructose 6-phosphate to fructose 1,6-bisphosphate, a reaction catalysed by PFK1, but no differences could be observed on PFK1 expression levels, related with imatinib treatment or glycaemic conditions.

The glycolytic flux ends with the conversion of pyruvate to lactate through the activity of LDH, and the export of lactate to the extracellular space. Following the effects observed on glucose consumption, imatinib treatment increased lactate production in DU145 and PC3 cells (Fig. 8.3.) under different glycemic conditions. Moreover, the augmented lactate production was accompanied by the enhanced expression of LDH in both cell lines (hyperglycemia, Fig. 8.5.C and 8.5.D), and by the increased enzyme activity in DU145 (Fig. 8.5.A).

The MCTs are the molecular partners involved in the export of lactate to the extracellular space, which in the case of PCa cells has suggested to be a role of the MCT4. MCT4 has been shown to be expressed in DU145 and PC3 cells and in tumour samples of CRPC patients (19, 30, 51, 52). Despite the alterations in lactate production, imatinib treatment

did not show to alter MCT4 expression levels (Fig. 8.5.E and 8.5.F). Nevertheless, hyperglycemia conditions induced a down-regulation of MCT4 expression in DU145 cells, which was consistent with the lower production of lactate when cultured in 30 mM glucose comparatively with the culture medium containing 5 mM glucose.

Overall, imatinib stimulated glucose consumption and lactate production in CRPC, independently of glucose availability, due to the increased expression and activity of LDH. These findings are particularly relevant considering the previous studies showing that the increased expression of LDH and export of lactate are associated with the resistance of cancer cells to treatment (53). Indeed, increased levels of lactate in the tumor microenvironment have been shown to favor tumor growth, invasion, and aggressiveness, as well as, suppressing the immune system (53-55). Co-treatment of CRPC cells with imatinib and an LDH inhibitor might be the next step to investigate the effectiveness of this tyrosine kinase inhibitor for treatment of PCa in hyperglycemia conditions.

8.5. Conclusion

It was demonstrated that imatinib suppressed the viability of DU145 and PC3 cells whereas inducing apoptosis, which was restricted to a glucose enriched environment (Fig. 8.6.). This was the first study addressing the effect of this compound under conditions of different glucose availability and allowed to conclude that hyperglycaemia increases the effectiveness of imatinib suppressing growth and survival of CRPC cells. The obtained results also highlighted for the complexity of the functional basis underlying the response to imatinib therapy. In addition, imatinib treatment stimulated glucose consumption and lactate production, which can be linked with cancer cells aggressiveness and mechanisms of resistance. Altogether, the present work provided a set of pre-clinical findings that raise the curiosity about the use of imatinib for treatment of CRPC diabetic patients, as well as of its administration simultaneously with inhibitors of glycolytic metabolism.



Figure 8.6. The glycolytic environment modulated the effect of the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib in CRPC cells. High glucose availability potentiated imatinib actions suppressing viability and enhancing apoptosis of DU145 and PC3 cells.
8.6. Acknowledgments

None.

8.7. Funding

This work was supported by FEDER funds through the POCI - COMPETE 2020 - Operational Programme Competitiveness and Internationalisation in Axis I - Strengthening research, technological development and innovation (Project No. 007491) and National Funds by FCT-Foundation for Science and Technology (Project UID/Multi/00709/2013). Cardoso HJ and Figueira MI were recipient of BID/ICI-FCS/CICS/Santander and FCT fellowships, respectively, SFRH/BD/111351/2015 and SFRH/BD/104671/2014.

8.8. Conflict of Interest

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

8.9. References

1. Karantanos T, Evans CP, Tombal B, Thompson TC, Montironi R, Isaacs WB (2015) Understanding the mechanisms of androgen deprivation resistance in prostate cancer at the molecular level. European urology 67 (3):470-479. doi:10.1016/j.eururo.2014.09.049

2. Penning TM (2015) Mechanisms of drug resistance that target the androgen axis in castration resistant prostate cancer (CRPC). The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology 153:105-113. doi:10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.05.010

3. Wadosky KM, Koochekpour S (2016) Molecular mechanisms underlying resistance to androgen deprivation therapy in prostate cancer. Oncotarget 7 (39):64447-64470. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10901

4. Druker BJ, Talpaz M, Resta DJ, Peng B, Buchdunger E, Ford JM, Lydon NB, Kantarjian H, Capdeville R, Ohno-Jones S, Sawyers CL (2001) Efficacy and safety of a specific inhibitor of the BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase in chronic myeloid leukemia. N Engl J Med 344 (14):1031-1037. doi:10.1056/nejm200104053441401

5. Demetri GD, von Mehren M, Blanke CD, Van den Abbeele AD, Eisenberg B, Roberts PJ, Heinrich MC, Tuveson DA, Singer S, Janicek M, Fletcher JA, Silverman SG, Silberman SL, Capdeville R, Kiese B, Peng B, Dimitrijevic S, Druker BJ, Corless C, Fletcher CD, Joensuu H (2002) Efficacy and safety of imatinib mesylate in advanced gastrointestinal stromal tumors. N Engl J Med 347 (7):472-480. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa020461

6. Tiffany NM, Wersinger EM, Garzotto M, Beer TM (2004) Imatinib mesylate and zoledronic acid in androgen-independent prostate cancer. Urology 63 (5):934-939. doi:10.1016/j.urology.2003.12.022

7. Corcoran NM, Costello AJ (2005) Combined low-dose imatinib mesylate and paclitaxel lack synergy in an experimental model of extra-osseous hormone-refractory prostate cancer. BJU Int 96 (4):640-646. doi:10.1111/j.1464-410X.2005.05699.x

8. Kimura Y, Inoue K, Abe M, Nearman J, Baranowska-Kortylewicz J (2007) PDGFRbeta and HIF-1alpha inhibition with imatinib and radioimmunotherapy of experimental prostate cancer. Cancer biology & therapy 6 (11):1763-1772

9. Choudhury A, Zhao H, Jalali F, Al Rashid S, Ran J, Supiot S, Kiltie AE, Bristow RG (2009) Targeting homologous recombination using imatinib results in enhanced tumor cell chemosensitivity and radiosensitivity. Molecular cancer therapeutics 8 (1):203-213. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.mct-08-0959

10. Kubler HR, van Randenborgh H, Treiber U, Wutzler S, Battistel C, Lehmer A, Wagenpfeil S, Hartung R, Paul R (2005) In vitro cytotoxic effects of imatinib in combination with anticancer drugs in human prostate cancer cell lines. The Prostate 63 (4):385-394. doi:10.1002/pros.20201

11. Cardoso HJ, Vaz CV, Correia S, Figueira MI, Marques R, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2015) Paradoxical and contradictory effects of imatinib in two cell line models of hormone-refractory prostate cancer. The Prostate 75 (9):923-935. doi:10.1002/pros.22976

12. Weiser MA, Cabanillas ME, Konopleva M, Thomas DA, Pierce SA, Escalante CP, Kantarjian HM, O'Brien SM (2004) Relation between the duration of remission and hyperglycemia during induction chemotherapy for acute lymphocytic leukemia with a hyperfractionated cyclophosphamide, vincristine, doxorubicin, and dexamethasone/methotrexate-cytarabine regimen. Cancer 100 (6):1179-1185. doi:10.1002/cncr.20071

13. Pandey V, Chaube B, Bhat MK (2011) Hyperglycemia regulates MDR-1, drug accumulation and ROS levels causing increased toxicity of carboplatin and 5-fluorouracil in MCF-7 cells. Journal of cellular biochemistry 112 (10):2942-2952. doi:10.1002/jcb.23210

14. Haap M, Gallwitz B, Thamer C, Mussig K, Haring HU, Kanz L, Hartmann JT (2007) Symptomatic hypoglycemia during imatinib mesylate in a non-diabetic female patient with gastrointestinal stromal tumor. Journal of endocrinological investigation 30 (8):688-692. doi:10.1007/bf03347451

15. Salaroli A, Loglisci G, Serrao A, Alimena G, Breccia M (2012) Fasting glucose level reduction induced by imatinib in chronic myeloproliferative disease with TEL-PDGFRbeta rearrangement and type 1 diabetes. Annals of hematology 91 (11):1823-1824. doi:10.1007/s00277-012-1493-3

16. Warburg O, Wind F, Negelein E (1927) The metabolism of tumors in the body. The Journal of general physiology 8 (6):519-530

17. Hirschhaeuser F, Sattler UG, Mueller-Klieser W (2011) Lactate: a metabolic key player in cancer. Cancer research 71 (22):6921-6925. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.can-11-1457

18. Vaz CV, Marques R, Alves MG, Oliveira PF, Cavaco JE, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2016) Androgens enhance the glycolytic metabolism and lactate export in prostate cancer cells by modulating the expression of GLUT1, GLUT3, PFK, LDH and MCT4 genes. Journal of cancer research and clinical oncology 142 (1):5-16. doi:10.1007/s00432-015-1992-4

19. Vaz CV, Alves MG, Marques R, Moreira PI, Oliveira PF, Maia CJ, Socorro S (2012) Androgenresponsive and nonresponsive prostate cancer cells present a distinct glycolytic metabolism profile. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology 44 (11):2077-2084. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.08.013

20. Massie CE, Lynch A, Ramos-Montoya A, Boren J, Stark R, Fazli L, Warren A, Scott H, Madhu B, Sharma N, Bon H, Zecchini V, Smith DM, Denicola GM, Mathews N, Osborne M, Hadfield J, Macarthur S, Adryan B, Lyons SK, Brindle KM, Griffiths J, Gleave ME, Rennie PS, Neal DE, Mills IG (2011) The androgen receptor fuels prostate cancer by regulating central metabolism and biosynthesis. The EMBO journal 30 (13):2719-2733. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.158

21. Biernacka KM, Uzoh CC, Zeng L, Persad RA, Bahl A, Gillatt D, Perks CM, Holly JM (2013) Hyperglycaemia-induced chemoresistance of prostate cancer cells due to IGFBP2. Endocrinerelated cancer 20 (5):741-751. doi:10.1530/erc-13-0077

22. Barbosa-Desongles A, Hernandez C, De Torres I, Munell F, Poupon MF, Simo R, Selva DM (2013) Diabetes protects from prostate cancer by downregulating androgen receptor: new insights from LNCaP cells and PAC120 mouse model. PloS one 8 (9):e74179. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0074179

23. Lee EF, Fairlie WD (2012) Structural biology of the intrinsic cell death pathway: what do we know and what is missing? Computational and structural biotechnology journal 1:e201204007. doi:10.5936/csbj.201204007

24. Kim B, Srivastava SK, Kim SH (2015) Caspase-9 as a therapeutic target for treating cancer. Expert opinion on therapeutic targets 19 (1):113-127. doi:10.1517/14728222.2014.961425

25. Stennicke HR, Jurgensmeier JM, Shin H, Deveraux Q, Wolf BB, Yang X, Zhou Q, Ellerby HM, Ellerby LM, Bredesen D, Green DR, Reed JC, Froelich CJ, Salvesen GS (1998) Pro-caspase-3 is a major physiologic target of caspase-8. The Journal of biological chemistry 273 (42):27084-27090

26. Fiandalo MV, Kyprianou N (2012) Caspase control: protagonists of cancer cell apoptosis. Exp Oncol 34 (3):165-175

27. Chandler JD, Williams ED, Slavin JL, Best JD, Rogers S (2003) Expression and localization of GLUT1 and GLUT12 in prostate carcinoma. Cancer 97 (8):2035-2042. doi:10.1002/cncr.11293

28. Mor I, Cheung EC, Vousden KH (2011) Control of glycolysis through regulation of PFK1: old friends and recent additions. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology 76:211-216. doi:10.1101/sqb.2011.76.010868

29. Choi SY, Xue H, Wu R, Fazli L, Lin D, Collins CC, Gleave ME, Gout PW, Wang Y (2016) The MCT4 Gene: a Novel, Potential Target for Therapy of Advanced Prostate Cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-15-1624

30. Andersen S, Solstad O, Moi L, Donnem T, Eilertsen M, Nordby Y, Ness N, Richardsen E, Busund LT, Bremnes RM (2015) Organized metabolic crime in prostate cancer: The coexpression of MCT1 in tumor and MCT4 in stroma is an independent prognosticator for biochemical failure. Urologic oncology 33 (8):338.e339-317. doi:10.1016/j.urolonc.2015.05.013

31. Pena-Blanco A, Garcia-Saez AJ (2018) Bax, Bak and beyond - mitochondrial performance in apoptosis. The FEBS journal 285 (3):416-431. doi:10.1111/febs.14186

32. McIlwain DR, Berger T, Mak TW (2015) Caspase functions in cell death and disease. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology 7 (4). doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a026716

33. Julien O, Wells JA (2017) Caspases and their substrates. Cell death and differentiation 24 (8):1380-1389. doi:10.1038/cdd.2017.44

34. Dankner R, Boffetta P, Balicer RD, Boker LK, Sadeh M, Berlin A, Olmer L, Goldfracht M, Freedman LS (2016) Time-Dependent Risk of Cancer After a Diabetes Diagnosis in a Cohort of 2.3 Million Adults. American journal of epidemiology 183 (12):1098-1106. doi:10.1093/aje/kwv290

35. Dankner R, Boffetta P, Keinan-Boker L, Balicer RD, Berlin A, Olmer L, Murad H, Silverman B, Hoshen M, Freedman LS (2016) Diabetes, prostate cancer screening and risk of low- and high-grade prostate cancer: an 11 year historical population follow-up study of more than 1 million men. Diabetologia 59 (8):1683-1691. doi:10.1007/s00125-016-3972-x

36. Dullaart RP (2009) Hyperglycaemia and reduced risk of prostate cancer. Diabetologia 52 (2):378-379. doi:10.1007/s00125-008-1214-6

37. Jian Gang P, Mo L, Lu Y, Runqi L, Xing Z (2015) Diabetes mellitus and the risk of prostate cancer: an update and cumulative meta-analysis. Endocrine research 40 (1):54-61. doi:10.3109/07435800.2014.934961

38. Lawrence YR, Morag O, Benderly M, Boyko V, Novikov I, Dicker AP, Goldbourt U, Behar S, Barchana M, Wolf I (2013) Association between metabolic syndrome, diabetes mellitus and prostate cancer risk. Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases 16 (2):181-186. doi:10.1038/pcan.2012.54

39. Tsilidis KK, Allen NE, Appleby PN, Rohrmann S, Nothlings U, Arriola L, Gunter MJ, Chajes V, Rinaldi S, Romieu I, Murphy N, Riboli E, Tzoulaki I, Kaaks R, Lukanova A, Boeing H, Pischon T, Dahm CC, Overvad K, Quiros JR, Fonseca-Nunes A, Molina-Montes E, Gavrila Chervase D, Ardanaz E, Khaw KT, Wareham NJ, Roswall N, Tjonneland A, Lagiou P, Trichopoulos D, Trichopoulou A, Palli D, Pala V, Tumino R, Vineis P, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Malm J, Orho-

Melander M, Johansson M, Stattin P, Travis RC, Key TJ (2015) Diabetes mellitus and risk of prostate cancer in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. International journal of cancer 136 (2):372-381. doi:10.1002/ijc.28989

40. Xu H, Jiang HW, Ding GX, Zhang H, Zhang LM, Mao SH, Ding Q (2013) Diabetes mellitus and prostate cancer risk of different grade or stage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes research and clinical practice 99 (3):241-249. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2012.12.003

41. Ono K, Suzushima H, Watanabe Y, Kikukawa Y, Shimomura T, Furukawa N, Kawaguchi T, Araki E (2012) Rapid amelioration of hyperglycemia facilitated by dasatinib in a chronic myeloid leukemia patient with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Internal medicine (Tokyo, Japan) 51 (19):2763-2766

42. Agostino NM, Chinchilli VM, Lynch CJ, Koszyk-Szewczyk A, Gingrich R, Sivik J, Drabick JJ (2011) Effect of the tyrosine kinase inhibitors (sunitinib, sorafenib, dasatinib, and imatinib) on blood glucose levels in diabetic and nondiabetic patients in general clinical practice. Journal of oncology pharmacy practice : official publication of the International Society of Oncology Pharmacy Practitioners 17 (3):197-202. doi:10.1177/1078155210378913

43. Breccia M, Muscaritoli M, Cannella L, Loglisci G, Santopietro M, Alimena G (2010) Modifications of fasting glucose values as first sign of resistance in chronic myeloid leukemia chronic phase patients during imatinib treatment. Leukemia research 34 (5):e122-124. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2009.11.021

44. Dewar BJ, Keshari K, Jeffries R, Dzeja P, Graves LM, Macdonald JM (2010) Metabolic assessment of a novel chronic myelogenous leukemic cell line and an imatinib resistant subline by H NMR spectroscopy. Metabolomics : Official journal of the Metabolomic Society 6 (3):439-450. doi:10.1007/s11306-010-0204-0

45. Riera MF, Galardo MN, Pellizzari EH, Meroni SB, Cigorraga SB (2009) Molecular mechanisms involved in Sertoli cell adaptation to glucose deprivation. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism 297 (4):E907-914. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00235.2009

46. Aas V, Hessvik NP, Wettergreen M, Hvammen AW, Hallen S, Thoresen GH, Rustan AC (2011) Chronic hyperglycemia reduces substrate oxidation and impairs metabolic switching of human myotubes. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1812 (1):94-105. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2010.09.014

47. Oleszczak B, Szablewski L, Pliszka M (2012) The effect of hyperglycemia and hypoglycemia on glucose transport and expression of glucose transporters in human lymphocytes B and T: an in vitro study. Diabetes research and clinical practice 96 (2):170-178. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2011.12.012

48. White MA, Tsouko E, Lin C, Rajapakshe K, Spencer JM, Wilkenfeld SR, Vakili SS, Pulliam TL, Awad D, Nikolos F, Katreddy RR, Kaipparettu BA, Sreekumar A, Zhang X, Cheung E, Coarfa C, Frigo DE (2018) GLUT12 promotes prostate cancer cell growth and is regulated by

androgens and CaMKK2 signaling. Endocrine-related cancer 25 (4):453-469. doi:10.1530/erc-17-0051

49. Macheda ML, Rogers S, Best JD (2005) Molecular and cellular regulation of glucose transporter (GLUT) proteins in cancer. Journal of cellular physiology 202 (3):654-662. doi:10.1002/jcp.20166

50. Klip A, Tsakiridis T, Marette A, Ortiz PA (1994) Regulation of expression of glucose transporters by glucose: a review of studies in vivo and in cell cultures. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology 8 (1):43-53

51. Choi SY, Xue H, Wu R, Fazli L, Lin D, Collins CC, Gleave ME, Gout PW, Wang Y (2016) The MCT4 Gene: A Novel, Potential Target for Therapy of Advanced Prostate Cancer. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 22 (11):2721-2733. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-15-1624

52. Pertega-Gomes N, Felisbino S, Massie CE, Vizcaino JR, Coelho R, Sandi C, Simoes-Sousa S, Jurmeister S, Ramos-Montoya A, Asim M, Tran M, Oliveira E, Lobo da Cunha A, Maximo V, Baltazar F, Neal DE, Fryer LG (2015) A glycolytic phenotype is associated with prostate cancer progression and aggressiveness: a role for monocarboxylate transporters as metabolic targets for therapy. The Journal of pathology 236 (4):517-530. doi:10.1002/path.4547

53. Miao P, Sheng S, Sun X, Liu J, Huang G (2013) Lactate dehydrogenase A in cancer: a promising target for diagnosis and therapy. IUBMB life 65 (11):904-910. doi:10.1002/iub.1216

54. Nenu I, Gafencu GA, Popescu T, Kacso G (2017) Lactate - A new frontier in the immunology and therapy of prostate cancer. Journal of cancer research and therapeutics 13 (3):406-411. doi:10.4103/0973-1482.163692

55. Pucino V, Bombardieri M, Pitzalis C, Mauro C (2017) Lactate at the crossroads of metabolism, inflammation, and autoimmunity. European journal of immunology 47 (1):14-21. doi:10.1002/eji.201646477

Chapter 9

Summarizing discussion and final remarks

Summarizing discussion

Despite the important advances in diagnosis and treatment, PCa remains a preoccupant disease, with high levels of prevalence and mortality worldwide. Basic and clinical research has contributed enormously in the understanding of the molecular basis of disease, which allowed important improvements in the diagnosis and treatment of PCa. However, the management of PCa continues to be a limitation for clinicians and a relevant scientific question. The identification of biomarkers for i) early detection of disease; ii) to distinguish indolent from aggressive disease, and iii) to predict treatment responses and progression of disease, still is need. Also, the understanding of the mechanistic driving the progression of PCa from the androgen-sensitive to the CRPC remains an unmet medical need. Currently, it is known that the initiation of PCa depends on genetic alterations, environmental pressures, lifestyle, and complex modifications in the expression or activity of several regulators of cell survival, proliferation and energy metabolism. Also, it is accepted that the establishment of CRPC is related with the reprogramming of PCa cells metabolism, as well as with resistance to ADT in consequence of disrupted AR signalling or augmented intra-prostatic secretion of androgens. Nevertheless, effective treatment approaches for PCa, slowing the progression to CRPC (usually occurring on average after 38 months of ADT) and better managing of metastatic stages of disease (lethal on average after 21 months) continue to be warranted.

Many years ago (1920s) Otto Warburg was pioneered in describing the tumour cells' capacity to increase glycolytic activity consuming high amounts of glucose and producing lactate as an energy source, the so-called Warburg effect. More recently, in 2011, the metabolic reprogramming in association with an over-activity of several oncogenes was considered a hallmark of cancer. The emergence of metabolic alterations as a cancer hallmark reawaken the research interest on cancer cell metabolism, which also has been explored in the context of therapy. The response of cancer cells altering energy metabolism pathways represents an adaptive advantage providing the resources needed to sustain survival and uncontrolled growth. Nowadays, the great discovery of Warburg that cancer cells have specificities in the metabolism of glucose was amplified, with the metabolic reprogramming involving a complex network of metabolites, growth factors, hormones, and oncogenic signalling pathways. Besides glucose, glutamine and fatty acids are major nutrients for cancer cells. Glutamine is used as an energy substrate, but also plays a role feeding glycolysis and the TCA cycle. Fatty acids, and lipids in general, are needed by cancer cells for membrane biogenesis, energy production and cell signalling. Moreover, the tumour microenvironment also has been shown to have a critical role in the metabolic reprograming, existing a crosstalk between cancer cells and other cells types in the tumour stroma.

In the case of prostate, it was demonstrated that the unique metabolism of nonneoplastic prostate cells, producing and secreting high amounts of citrate (in consequence of a truncated TCA cycle), is "corrupted" in cancer. In PCa cells, the TCA cycle and OXPHOS are reactivated, as well as other metabolic pathways such as glycolysis, glutaminolysis and fatty acid β -oxidation. However, unlike other cancer types, PCa displays a tenue Warburg Effect that only is more evident in aggressive stages of disease. Also, for this reason, other metabolic pathways have emerged as critical routes in PCa development. The present thesis contributed to clarifying the metabolic peculiarities of PCa cells, and how these features can be influenced by the sex steroid hormones androgens, as well as by nutrient availability.

In Chapter 5 of this thesis, it was characterized the reliance of androgen-sensitive (LNCaP) and CRPC cells (DU145 and PC3) on specific metabolic pathways. We confirmed that CRPC cells presented enhanced activity of glycolytic pathway and higher capacity to use glycolysis when mitochondria was inhibited (Fig. 9.1.). Moreover, we observed the functionality of PCa cells mitochondria using glucose, glutamine and fatty acid metabolites. The CRPC PC3 cells were the cancer cell line with less dependency on all metabolites and displayed the highest capacity using glutamine and glucose when the other pathways were inhibited. On the other hand, LNCaP cells were the ones more dependent on glucose, glutamine and fatty acids, exhibiting greater difficulty to readapt to the inhibition of the respective metabolic pathway. These findings demonstrated that CRPC cells have a higher



Figure 9.1. An integrative view of the metabolic specificities of androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells and castrate-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC) cells. Glutaminolysis and glycolysis are over-activated in CRPC cells relative to LNCaP (darker arrows). 5α -dihydrotestosterone (DHT) enhance the expression of different metabolic regulators, such as glutamin transporter (ASCT2), glutaminase (GLS), fatty acid (FA) synthase (FASN), and carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1A (CPT1A) in LNCaP cells. Androgens have been shown to be major stimulators of FA de novo synthesis from maloyl-CoA by increasing the expression and activity of FASN. Low-density lipoprotein (LDL)/LDLr increase the viability of PCa cells, and the combination with DHT has a synergic effect in promoting the viability, proliferation and migration of LNCaP cells. Inhibition of GLS was effective in decreasing the viability, growing and migration of CRPC cells, whereas increasing apoptosis. However, LNCaP cells were less sensitive to the GLS inhibition, likely by the reactivation ALT and decrease of glycolysis. Hyperglycaemia shifts the metabolism in the direction of FA increasing FASN expression, with a decrease in the utilization of glycolysis. Moreover, conditions of high glucose availability (hyperglycaemia) augment the effectiveness of tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib mesylate (IM) decreasing the viability, and increasing apoptosis, in CRPC cells.

ability to readapt to adverse circumstances of nutrients limitation, and to utilize alternative metabolic pathways to survive.

In Chapter 6, we investigated the relevance of glutaminolysis for PCa cells survival and growth and the effect of androgens in the regulation of glutamine metabolism. Differential expression of glutaminolysis regulators, glutamine transporter ASCT2 and glutaminase, was found in CRPC cells compared with LNCaP. CRPC cells displayed lower expression of ASCT2, whereas glutaminase expression was higher. These findings followed the expression pattern found in human PCa tissues and indicated the relevance of glutaminolysis in CRPC cells. Indeed, inhibition of glutaminase induced apoptosis, and decreased cell viability and migration of PCa cells, with effects more pronounced in CRPC cells, which raised the question considering targeting glutaminase for CRPC therapy. Androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells were resistant to glutaminase inhibition, at least for the lowest concentrations of inhibitor, which likely was related to the increased activity of ALT (Fig. 9.1.). Moreover, this study showed that blocking glutaminolysis had an impact on glycolysis and lipid metabolism in PCa cells. These results highlight the importance of fully understanding cancer metabolic remodelling whenever specific metabolic routes are inhibited with therapeutic purposes.

The development of resistance to ADT is a huge constraint in PCa treatment, which demands searching for new alternative and effective treatments. Some studies have tested the efficacy of ADT in combination with other anti-cancer drugs, namely docetaxel or cabazitaxel, though the benefits for patients were poor. Since previous studies have pointed out androgens as metabolic regulators in PCa we pursued to evaluated the androgenic regulation of glutaminolysis, and the effect of inhibiting this metabolic pathway simultaneously with the administration of an anti- androgen. In Chapter 6, it was also shown that androgens upregulated ASCT2 and glutaminase expression both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In addition, DHT treatment induced the ASCT2 localization at LNCaP cells membrane, which was underpinned by enhanced glutamine consumption. Altogether, these findings broaden the role of androgens as central regulators of glutamine metabolism concomitantly showed a synergic effect suppressing the viability of PCa cells. The present findings opened interesting perspectives for the exploitation of targeting glutaminolysis and the AR in future preclinical and clinical studies.

In the context of metabolic regulation, androgens have been shown to stimulate lipid metabolism by modulating the expression and activity of several molecular targets, from lipid uptake, to synthesis and storage. However, there were knowledge gaps in these processes. Also, it was unknown if the androgenic regulation of lipid handling could be affected by increased lipid availability, as is the case in hypercholesterolemia and obesity. Chapter 7 showed that androgens upregulated FASN and CPT1A expression in prostate cells. In addition, the effect of DHT regulating FASN was dependent on SREBP activity (lipid-depleted conditions) and blocked by LDL availability. These findings supported the broad role of

androgens in the metabolic reprogramming of PCa cells creating a favourable environment for cell proliferation (Fig. 9.1.).

Obesity has been considered a risk factor for the development of aggressive PCa, with accelerated progression to CRPC, poor prognosis and reduced survival rates. Also, hypercholesteremia and abdominal obesity were related with PCa. However, the direct influence of LDL on PCa cell fate was unknown. The results presented in Chapter 7 demonstrated that LDL-cholesterol promoted PCa cells viability, proliferation, and migration dependently on the presence of DHT (Fig. 9.1.). LDL(+)/DHT(+) treatment also induced the accumulation of lipid droplets, and LDL itself, besides suppressing FASN expression, increased CPT1A levels indicating that fatty acids were being driven to β -oxidation. In turn, CPT1A inhibition with etomoxir reverted the LDL effects promoting LNCaP cells viability, which indicated that fatty acid β -oxidation was sustaining cell viability. This thesis results first showed the interplay of LDL and androgens enhancing viability, proliferation and migration of androgen-sensitive PCa cells. These findings are supported by the reports showing that high cholesterol levels fuel the intratumoral androgen synthesis. Furthermore, they sustain the development of future strategies for PCa treatment targeting obesity and the AR simultaneously.

Previously published studies demonstrated the influence of nutrient availability and tumour metabolic environment in the regulation of metabolic pathways, and conditioning PCa cells response. Some of these articles also showed that different glucose concentrations in the cell culture medium can modulate PCa cells sensitivity to anti-cancer drugs. Chapter 8 showed that the receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib suppressed the viability of DU145 and PC3 CRPC cells whereas inducing apoptosis, restrictedly to a glucose-enriched environment. This allowed to conclude that hyperglycaemia increases the effectiveness of this drug in CRPC cells (Fig. 9.1.). Moreover, the glycolytic environment and lactate production could be related with imatinib resistance treatment. Overall, this chapter showed that hyperglycemia, the main serum alteration in diabetic patients, potentiated the effects of imatinib in CRPC cells, which raises the curiosity about the efficacy of this drug for treatment of castration-resistant diabetic patients. Gathered information strongly indicates that PCa treatment must be carefully managed concerning the metabolic environment and its interaction with drug efficiency.

Final Remarks

The work presented in this thesis confirmed the crucial actions of androgens in the regulation of metabolic pathways in PCa (glycolysis, glutaminolysis and lipid metabolism), identifying new molecular targets and highlighting the relevance of environmental influences (Fig. 9.1.). The androgenic effects were pivotal for PCa obtaining energy and, consequently, in the promotion of proliferation and metastasis.

On the relationship between PCa and obesity, the outcomes of this thesis demonstrated that cholesterol and androgens could be the "best friends" driving PCa carcinogenesis. This is of paramount importance in light of the increasing incidence of non-healthy eating habits and high cholesterol levels, and the epidemic obesity in Western societies, which in combination with the male sex hormones could be an "explosive" combination. The analysis of the epidemiological meaning of androgens and cholesterol circulating levels (high or low) and PCa risk is urgent. Furthermore, this work alerts for the particular attention clinicians should have when managing PCa disease in patients with high cholesterol levels.

Considering cancer cells metabolism, this dissertation was crucial in demonstrating the flexibility and capacity of PCa cells using different energy sources. Several metabolites are the food to feed the survival of cancer cells, which are capable of "eating" more than one aliment, adapting their habits considering specific nutrients scarcity or abundance. The findings obtained here also contributed to a better understanding of the role of lipids and glutamine in PCa cell viability, proliferation, highlighting for the molecular mechanisms underlying the metabolic support of cancer cell survival and growth. Moreover, the present thesis showed the differential utilization of metabolites in androgen-sensitive and CRPC PCa cells, a matter that deserves special attention in the future. Metabolism-based therapies for both androgen-sensitive and CRPC should be viewed with good expectations in light of these facts.

Another rationale of this work was the use of combined therapies as effective treatments for PCa. At this point, new windows were opened considering the inhibition of lipid and glutamine metabolism together with AR signalling or other metabolic active pathways. Future treatment approaches would encompass the utilization of cocktails of several metabolic inhibitors or/and indirect metabolism regulators (e.g. oncogenes, or hormones), to avoid the metabolic escape of PCa cells.

In conclusion, the metabolic environment and androgens are the perfect pair in the orchestration of PCa metabolic reprogramming and cancer development, and should continue being intensively studied with the aim of finding better PCa therapies.